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OVERSIGHT HEARING ON EXPENSING STOCK
OPTIONS: SUPPORTING AND STRENGTH-
ENING THE INDEPENDENCE OF THE FINAN-
CIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD

TUESDAY, APRIL 20, 2004

U.S. SENATE,
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, THE BUDGET, AND
INTERNATIONAL SECURITY SUBCOMMITTEE,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:33 p.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Peter G. Fitzgerald,
Chairman of the Subcommittee, presiding.

Present: Senators Fitzgerald, Bennett, Akaka, Levin, and
Lieberman.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR FITZGERALD

Senator FITZGERALD. This meeting will come to order. I would
like to thank all of the witnesses who are here today to testify.
Some of you came very long ways and made special arrangements
in otherwise very busy schedules to be here, and we definitely ap-
preciate that very much.

This oversight hearing is to examine the new Financial Account-
ing Standards Board rule which will require companies to expense
an estimate of the value of stock option compensation to their em-
ployees and management. I will state up front that I agree with
FASB’s new rule and that I favor it.

Several bills regarding this issue have been introduced in Con-
gress, both in the House and the Senate, and there is going to be
a hearing on the House side tomorrow to examine some of those
bills. We will hear today from Senator Enzi, who is a proponent of
one of these bills. The bills in varying forms would move to dis-
allow FASB’s new rule or to mandate the treatment of stock option
compensation for accounting purposes as a matter of Federal law.

I disagree with those bills, and I oppose them for two reasons:
One, I agree with the new FASB rule, although I think it could be
stronger. I think it is actually thoroughly permissive, but I none-
theless support it. But two, I believe that political interference with
our private sector standards accounting board is a dangerous prece-
dent, and one can think of all sorts of other areas in which we
could follow this precedent. What if Congress started usurping the
authority of the Food and Drug Administration to allow a new
pharmaceutical to be introduced on the market? I think it is a bad
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idea for politicians in the House and the Senate to be substituting
political decisions for an expert agency, or in this case, an expert
private sector accounting standards board.

We have been down this road before. Back in 1993-94 FASB pro-
posed a new rule that would have required the expensing of stock
option compensation. At that time Senator Lieberman introduced a
resolution in the Senate which condemned FASB’s new rule. I
think the vote was 88 to something. It was very lopsided in favor
of Senator Lieberman’s resolution. And a separate bill was intro-
duced that would have effectively put FASB out of business if they
did not back down from their new rule that would have required
the expensing of stock options. I think Congress’ interference with
that 1993-94 proposal of FASB resulted in disastrous con-
sequences.

One of my most vivid recollections in my last 5 plus years in the
Senate was sitting in on the Enron hearings in the Commerce
Committee, where we saw a company which had its top 29 execu-
tives cash in 1.1 billion in stock option compensation in the months
immediately prior to the company’s stock market collapse and
eventual bankruptcy. I think that the Senate opened the floodgates
to an anything goes accounting mentality in the late 1990’s, and
many other companies wound up like Enron, Global Crossing,
WorldCom, and so forth.

Opponents of the new FASB rule say that it is difficult to esti-
mate the value of options. I am not sure I really agree with that.
I think options can be sold for cash which makes them as good as
cash. Warrants are similar if not functionally the same as options,
and they are valued and sold all the time. Options on stocks are
traded on markets all over the world. In Chicago we have the
world’s largest option exchange, the Chicago Board Options Ex-
change. My guess is that many executives who have copious
amounts of options sometimes assign huge values to them on their
own personal financial statements when they go to borrow from a
bank. In fact, as a former banker, I recall seeing financial state-
ments where executives holding large amounts of options would list
them as a substantial asset on their personal financial statements.

In any case, it is difficult to value a lot of other things for which
we require companies to account. It is certainly difficult to estimate
pension liabilities, the value of derivative positions. If you are a
bank, it is very difficult and a matter of imprecision to estimate
what your loan loss reserve should be. Impairment of goodwill is
very difficult to assess, and even the age-old question of what is the
useful life of plant and equipment. That is a very difficult account-
ing decision. Yet no one argues that for these other items, difficulty
to estimate gives a company license to pretend that these expenses
do not exist either.

Opponents say that stock options require no cash outlay by a
company and that they therefore need not be expensed. But depre-
ciation, for example, requires no cash outlay either, and no one ar-
gues that we should not try to account for the real expense of the
using up or the exhausting of plant and equipment that a company
will have to replace. Furthermore, large amounts of stock options
often later necessitate large cash outlays. Companies sometimes
have to use more cash on share repurchases to stem shareholder
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dilution than they would have on cash compensation for their em-
ployees.

Opponents say stock options are not a real expense to a com-
pany. If that is so, why do we allow companies to take a tax deduc-
tion for the expense of issuing stock options? If the opponents were
consistent in their thinking, they would support changing the cur-
rent IRS rules which allow for the tax deductibility of stock option
compensation.

Opponents say that requiring options to be expensed would pe-
nalize the earnings of young promising companies, and thereby
make it more difficult for such companies to survive and succeed.
But as Warren Buffett has written, “Why then require cash com-
pensation to be recorded as an expense given that it too penalizes
the earnings of young promising companies?” Going further, Mr.
Buffett asks, “Why not allow companies to pay all of their expenses
in options and then pretend that these expenses don’t exist either?”
In fact, I know that many companies have in fact paid a lot of their
bills in options. I have talked to a lot of law firms in Chicago that
took stock options in lieu of cash in the late 1990’s for their legal
bills.

I would like to focus for just a moment on the shareholder dilu-
tion impact of stock options. Last night it occurred to me to pull
out the classic 1934 edition of “Security Analysis” by Benjamin
Graham and David Dodd. I looked to see if they had anything in
there about stock options, and they do in fact have a whole section
on what in 1934 they called “stock option warrants,” which seem
effectively the same thing. They said stock option warrants were
frequently paid to managers or insiders in companies or to pro-
moters of stock. In the 1920’s and early 1930’s it was common
when someone would sell your stock, you would give them stock op-
tion warrants as compensation. Benjamin Graham and David
Dodd, I think, are very eloquent in describing what the effect is
when companies issue options.

In a company that has common shares only and no options, the
common shareholders will capture 100 percent of any future rise in
the value of the company. Common shareholders have an inherent
right to the future enhancement or improvement in the value of a
company. When you issue options, you are allowing someone else
a claim on the future enhancement in the community that is dilut-
ing the formerly 100 percent claim on the future enhancement or
growth in the company that the shareholders had. If a company’s
prospects for future revenue and earnings growth are strong, the
value that is taken away from common shareholders by issuing
stock options and given to the option holders can be quite substan-
tial. In fact, if enough stock options are issued, nearly all of the
common shareholders’ stake in the future rise in the value of the
company can be taken away from them. From my standpoint, there
is nothing inherently wrong with taking a share of the future rise
in the growth of a company away from the shareholders and giving
it to the management or the employees or someone else. There is
nothing inherently wrong with that. In fact, when we pay cash
compensation, you are taking cash away from the shareholders and
giving it to someone else.
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What troubles me is that this taking away, this subtraction from
the shareholders’ interest, is not disclosed to the shareholders or to
other investors who may be looking at this. The trouble is that cur-
rent accounting standard do not require that the taking away of
value from the shareholders by virtue of the issuance of stock op-
tions be fully disclosed. Companies are not now required to reflect
the expense of issuing options on their income statements. More-
over, the dilution of shareholders’ claims to the earnings of the
company is only disclosed for so-called “in the money” options, but
is not required to be disclosed for options that have been issued
and are not yet in the money.

Benjamin Graham and David Dodd had a very simple way of
looking at this. They said that the value of common stock plus the
value of stock options equals the value of the common stock alone
if there were no stock options. Thus, the way they put it, when you
give stock options to someone, you are taking away something of
value from the shareholders and this needs to be reflected. It
should be reflected. If I could just read a paragraph from this book
because Benjamin Graham went on to describe stock option war-
rants as a very dangerous device for diluting stock values. “The
stock option”—and he refers to it as the option warrant. I am just
going to call it the stock option. “The stock option is a fundamen-
tally dangerous and objectional device because it affects an indirect
and usually unrecognized dilution of common stock values. The
stockholders view the issue of warrants with indifference, failing to
realize that part of their equity in the future is being taken away
from them. The stock market, with its usual heedlessness, applies
the same basis of valuation to common shares whether warrants or
stock options are outstanding or not. Hence, options may be availed
of to pay unreasonable bonuses to promoters or other insiders with-
out fear of comprehension or criticism by the rank and file of stock-
holders. Furthermore, the option device facilitates the establish-
ment of an artificially high aggregate market valuation for a com-
pany’s securities, because with a little manipulation large values
can be established for a huge issue of options without reducing the
quotation of common shares.”

Under current rules, the financial statements of companies that
do not expense stock option compensation are, in my judgment, fic-
titious. The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s proposed new
rule would make earnings reports more accurate and would move
financial statements from the fiction to the nonfiction section of the
public domain. When it comes to stock options, expensing them
should not be an option. Truth in financial reporting should be
mandatory.

Finally, in closing, I would like to note that there were many
companies lobbying furiously in support of the bills that would
overturn FASB’s new rule. They are all over. Lobbyists are swarm-
ing the halls of the Capitol, lobbying furiously. We asked several
of them to appear before our Subcommittee and explain their views
in public. None of them was willing to do so. I think the fact that
none of them was willing to appear publicly and explain why the
company is in favor of the bills suggests that they are sheepish
about what they are doing, and that perhaps deep down, they too
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recognize the unwholesomeness of the fiction that they are hoping
to perpetuate.

Without further ado, I would like to turn it over to our Ranking
Member, Senator Akaka from Hawaii. Senator Akaka, thank you
for being here.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR AKAKA

Senator AKAKA. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. It is al-
ways a pleasure to work with you, and I want to commend you for
conducting this hearing today.

I want to add my welcome to our friends and colleagues, Senator
Enzi from Wyoming and Senator Boxer from California, and also
our witnesses today.

Mr. Chairman, Enron, WorldCom and other corporate govern-
ance failures demonstrate the dangers of not having independent
accounting and auditing standards. The landmark Sarbanes-Oxley
accounting reform and legislation included a provision that
strengthened the independence of the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board, FASB, by providing a more secure funding mechanism
through mandatory assessments on publicly-traded companies.
FASB is intended to be independent and make their accounting
rules on the basis of its judgment.

Now that FASB has proposed that all forms of share-based pay-
ments to employees, including stock options, be treated the same,
the same as other forms of compensation by recognizing the related
costs in the income statement, the reinforced independence of
FASB will be tested.

If Congress interferes with the FASB proposal, the dangerous
precedent of intervention into accounting standards will be set.
Congressional interference is detrimental to the independent
nature of FASB, and accounting treatment of stock options is a
matter best left to FASB to determine.

We must have an independent organization establishing stand-
ards of financial accounting and reporting in an open environment
that is both fair and objective. These standards are essential to
investors having access to transparent and understandable infor-
mation.

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides the Securities and
Exchange Commission with authority over financial accounting and
reporting standards for publicly-held companies. Throughout its
history, the SEC has relied on the private sector for this critical
function. We must protect the integrity of the standards for devel-
oping the process and exercise Congressional restraint on this mat-
ter to ensure that FASB is allowed to pursue policies that it con-
siders to be in the best interest of the public.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this hearing, and look forward
to the witnesses’ testimony.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Senator Akaka. Senator Ben-
nett.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR BENNETT

Senator BENNETT. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I appre-
ciate you holding the hearings.
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This is an issue that has been with us a long time, and it is an
issue that does not seem to go away and does not seem to get re-
solved, and I am not quite sure I understand why, because there
are good people of good faith on both sides of the issue. Let me out-
line that I am in favor of expensing stock options. Let me state
that I am in favor of FASB independence, and agree that Congress
should not be the one to be making accounting standards.

Having said both of those things, and feeling very strongly about
both of those things, I think FASB has missed the boat badly on
this particular issue and is in danger of doing significant harm to
our economy, and that raises the question of whether or not policy
makers in the Congress should be heard, not because I do not be-
lieve in FASB independence and not because I am not in favor of
expensing stock options. But I go back to the fundamental rule of
medicine, which is do no harm, and there is a potential here for
significant harm.

I think the reason that there is this gulf between your position,
Mr. Chairman, and my concern, is that we are assuming that a
stock option is a stock option is a stock option, and they are clearly
not. I am glad you quoted from the 1934 book, Mr. Chairman, be-
cause it represented an attitude in 1934 that all of these things are
created equal, and they are either good or bad. They should be ei-
ther expensed of not expensed. They are very clearly, in today’s
economy and in today’s corporate world, nowhere near created
equal. The kind of stock option that you were talking about, Mr.
Chairman, which you said can be sold as cash, and you talked
about a market for options in your home State of Illinois, is not a
definition of the kind of stock option that has given rise to the con-
cern here.

Let me give you an example to illustrate this. The kind of stock
option that can be traded immediately upon being granted, obvi-
ously has a significant value and a market, not that this kind ex-
ists, but theoretically a stock option that is exercisable only in 30
years has no value whatsoever. Well, nobody issues stock options
that vest in 30 years, but I put those two as to outside parameters
of where we are. There are people who give options that vest in 3
years and options that vest in 5 years, and options that vest longer
period of time that are obviously on this continuum and somewhere
away from the options that vest the day they are granted.

When I was working for a New York Stock Exchange listed com-
pany in my youth and got some stock options, they were vested the
day I received them, and back in the 1960’s that was the norm, and
therefore, a statement that they ought to have been expensed, to
me was a logical statement. Today that is no longer the norm.
Today you have these many gradations of the kind I have de-
scribed, and so as I say, I am in favor of an expensing statement
with respect to options, and I am in favor of FASB’s independence,
but I am tremendously disappointed that from all of the comments
FASB has received from companies that extend options that vest
at different times and have clearly different values, have received
no consideration whatsoever in the FASB rule that has come down.
Maybe I just do not understand the rule and that is why I am here
at the hearings, but there is no question in my mind that the use
of stock options in creative ways that an author in 1934 never con-
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templated has created significant economic value in our overall
economy in ways that cannot be measured by either of the two
methods that FASB had adopted.

And to come back to the fundamental question that you raise,
Mr. Chairman, where I am 100 percent in agreement with you on
the principle, but in disagreement with you on the outcome. We
want our financial statements to be accurate. We want our finan-
cial statements to record what is happening in the marketplace,
and in my view, a financial statement that values an option that
does not vest for 5 years at the same price as an option that vests
in 24 hours is a financial statement that is inaccurate and mis-
leading, and therefore, a problem for our investors.

As I have talked to people on Wall Street about this, they have
said, well, we are smart enough to figure out the real impact of
these options, and we will ignore the article value being attached
to these options by FASB because we understand that that infor-
mation is wrong. So therefore, this whole thing will be a nullity.
If that is the case, why in the world are we doing it if it is going
to be a nullity?

I have not signed on to Senator Enzi’s bill. I have some problems
with Senator Enzi’s bill, but I have real problems with the way this
whole thing has come down to an either/or, yes, you are in favor,
no, you are not; yes, they should, no, they should not. I will sign
up with the “yes, they should” guys as long as we understand that
an option is not necessarily an option is not necessarily an option.
Just because it has the same name, by no means says it has the
same value. You have to look at the details of the option and value
it according to those details before I will be comfortable with the
position that FASB has taken.

Thank you very much.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Bennett, thank you. Senator Levin,
I believe you were here first.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LEVIN

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for
holding these hearings. It is a very significant subject that we are
discussing here today, and there is a long history to it. As we all
know, 10 years ago when the effort was made by FASB to address
this issue in the way that they felt was the proper way to do it as
an independent standard-setting body, the political pressure was so
heavy that they had to back off, and I admire FASB for doing what
they think is the right thing to do, and I am going to do everything
I can to protect that independence.

It is one of the toughest accounting issues that they have had in
their history, but I think for us to intervene here and to say that
we know better than they do how to set an accounting standard
here in the Congress, would be to go in exactly the opposite direc-
tion as Sarbanes-Oxley which was to try to increase the independ-
ence of FASB, as Senator Akaka said, by giving it an independent
source of revenue.

The issue for me is not whether or not Congress is for or against
stock options any more than whether or not we are in favor of bo-
nuses or other forms of incentive pay. Those other forms of incen-
tive pay, no matter how conditional they are, are all treated as ex-
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penses. They are all valued one way or another, the best way that
you can. As the Chairman said, there are many things that are val-
ued that are very difficult to value, but there are ways of valuing,
the best way that accountants can figure out how to do it. There
is an independent standards board to set those rules. Without that
independence we are going to be politicizing accounting rules
around here which is the worst thing we can do, as far as I am con-
cerned, for this market.

Stock options, since the 1980’s, have provided the majority of
CEO pay. Every year since then the CEO compensation has gone
up, good times and bad, while leaving average worker pay further
and further behind. JPMorgan once said CEO pay should not ex-
ceed 20 times the average worker pay. In 1990 the pay gap be-
tween CEOs and average workers was at 100 times the pay of an
average worker. Average CEO pay in this country is now 300 times
the average worker pay. Stock options are the largest single factor
in that pay gap. They operate as stealth compensation because
most U.S. companies do not show stock option compensation as an
expense on their books. Those companies do deduct stock option
pay as an expense on their tax returns. That is the double stand-
ard. That is the gimmick that allows companies to show a huge
compensation expense deduction on their tax returns but zero ex-
pense on their company books. Stock options are the only form of
compensation that companies are allowed to deduct as an expense
on their tax returns, although they do not appear as an expense
on their books. There are many additional forms of compensation
which are very difficult to value, as Senator Bennett pointed out,
that are nonetheless valued as an expense on the company’s books.
So there is only one exception, and that is stock options. It is not
because of the difficulty either. It is because of the political pres-
sure against doing what the accounting board has long ago deter-
mined was the only way that you could properly reflect compensa-
tion expenses on a company’s books, and that i1s to show it as an
expense.

FASB wants to end that double standard, and it seems to me
that we should not intervene and say that somehow or other we
know better than FASB. The International Accounting Standards
Board, whose standards affect 90 countries, is now requiring stock
option expensing. Canada began requiring stock option expensing
this year. A 2002 survey of financial experts by the Association for
Investment Management and Research found out that more than
80 percent support stock option expensing. All four major account-
ing firms also favor expensing.

There are many arguments that have been used against it, and
I am going to ask that part of my statement, addressing those ar-
guments, be made part of the record, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Senator LEVIN. One claim which I will spend one minute ad-
dressing is that somehow or other if we allow FASB to proceed
independently that is going to depress the share prices of indi-
vidual companies but also damage the stock market or the economy
as a whole, and well-respected financial analysts disagree. Gold-
man Sachs’s Global Equity Research recently issued a report sup-
porting stock option expensing and said: “We do not expect a mate-
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rial impact on the share prices of most firms.” UBS Investment Re-
search said that expensing is a “long past due change,” and “medi-
cine for the long-term health of companies and investors. It will
shed light on the true profitability of many companies, helping to
separate those that deserve investor capital from those that do
not.”

Merrill Lynch says the argument that expensing options will
harm U.S. technology leadership and job creation is based on “the
following faulty logic. U.S. technology leadership and job creation
depend on the systematic misrepresentation of financial state-
ments.” They went on, “One might as well argue that money spent
on R&D should not count as an expense because it provides em-
ployment and helps industries advance.”

There is one additional point I want to make, and that has to do
with the Enron investigation. I was chairing the Permanent Sub-
committee on Investigations when we had the hearings into Enron,
and even though I do not think Congress should be substituting its
judgment on accounting standards, because I do not think we are
the right people to do it, we sure as heck can reflect our experience
when it comes to investigations of Enron. I could not figure out
how it was that Enron executives could be cooking the books, mak-
ing loans, for instance, look like income, and not run into the prob-
lem of their books showing these huge revenues which therefore in-
flate their stock price, which therefore make their huge amount of
options worth more, but not have to worry about paying taxes on
those revenues.

How is it that somehow or another an executive could figure out
that we could show phony inflated revenue over here but not worry
about coughing up the bucks to pay Uncle Sam the income taxes
on those revenues which we show on our books? This is a little
known but a very important part of Enron. The answer was those
same stock options that were used to enrich those executives in a
company that went bankrupt. Those stock options, because they
are taken as a tax deduction, allowed Enron, 4 out of 5 years, to
pay no taxes despite huge apparent earnings shown on their books.
Just the year they went bankrupt, CEOs at Enron took home $123
million from exercising stock options, the same year that so many
lost their life savings.

These stock options played a very vital but yet unrecognized role
in the Enron scandal, and it was part and parcel of that scandal.
It probably could not have happened but for the role of stock op-
tions being used as a tax deduction.

For the last 5 years before it declared bankruptcy, from 1996
until the year 2000, while Enron was telling the world it was earn-
ing these huge revenues, and claiming a 5-year U.S. profit of $1.8
billion, the analysis of Enron’s public filings by the Citizens for Tax
Justice, showed that they deducted $1.7 billion in stock option com-
pensation from its tax returns as a business expense.

I think we ought to support the independence of FASB and we
ought to base that, first, on their independence, and our determina-
tion hopefully to reflect their courage with our own courage; but
second, we ought to base it on the experience that we have recently
had with Enron that shows that the role of stock options is more
than just giving huge amounts of grants mainly to executives, not
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exclusively, but probably 90 to 95 percent overall to executives, but
also to permit the kind of deceptive accounting practices to occur
without being seen for what they are, which is deceptive accounting
practices that made Enron look a lot better than it really was.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Senator Levin follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR LEVIN

Beginning in 2001, a wave of corporate scandals engulfed the U.S. business world.
Enron, Aldephia, Quest, Tyco, Worldcom—an alphabet of corporate misconduct un-
dercut investor confidence in our financial systems, our markets and our financial
regulators. To stop the wrongdoing and restore investor confidence, Congress held
hearings, issued reports, and enacted landmark legislation, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. Our work focused in particular on halting the accounting abuses infecting
so many corporate books. Among other measures, we created a new Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board, required companies to disclose material off-balance
sheet transactions, and strengthened the independence of the private sector body
that sets U.S. accounting standards, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, by providing it with independent funding.

Today, because FASB has finally tackled one of the toughest accounting issues in
its history by proposing to require companies to treat stock option compensation as
an expense 1n their financial statements like all other forms of compensation, oppo-
nents of stock option expensing want Congress to override FASB’s independent judg-
ment, politicize the standard-setting process, and roll over FASB’s independence. To
do so would be to undermine key accounting reforms, signal that accounting maneu-
vers to prop up earnings is still acceptable, and turn our backs on the lessons of
Enron. It would be a grave mistake.

The issue isn’t whether Congress is for or against stock options, any more than
whether we favor bonuses or other forms of incentive pay, but whether FASB should
be overriden when it determines that stock option pay should be accounted for on
company books as an expense, just like every other form of compensation. All other
forms of compensation—salaries, cash bonuses, stock grants, stock appreciation
rights, golden parachutes, retirement pay—appear as an expense on a company’s
books. The only exception has been stock options. The issue today is whether FASB
will be allowed to maintain its independence when it decides to eliminate that ex-
ception and treat stock options as an expense, like all other forms of compensation.

In this country, stock options have typically been provided to corporate executives.
Since the 1980s, stock options have provided the majority of CEO pay, boosting CEO
compensation every year through good times and bad, while leaving average worker
pay further and further behind. J.P. Morgan once said that CEO pay should not ex-
ceed 20 times average worker pay. In 1990, the pay gap between CEOs and average
workers was already 100 times. Last year, CEO pay at about 350 of the largest U.S.
public companies averaged $8 million, a 9 percent increase over the prior year. Av-
erage CEO pay in this country is now 300 times average worker pay, and stock op-
tions are the largest single factor in that pay gap.

Stock options operate as stealth compensation, because most U.S. companies don’t
show stock option compensation as an expense on their books. But those companies
do deduct stock option pay as an expense on their tax returns. That’s the double
standard, the gimmick that allows companies to show a huge compensation expense
deduction on their tax returns but zero expense on their books. In fact, stock options
are the only type of compensation that companies are allowed to deduct as an ex-
pense on their tax returns even if the stock options never appear as an expense on
their books. FASB’s proposal would put an end to that double standard by requiring
companies to treat stock option compensation as an expense on their financial state-
ments.

FASB proposes taking this action because it views stock option pay as compensa-
tion. It has concluded that omitting this expense from a company’s financial state-
ment produces misleading accounting results, including making the company’s earn-
ings appear larger than they really are. FASB’s view is the consensus position in
the accounting field. The International Accounting Standards Board, whose stand-
ards affect 90 countries, is requiring stock option expensing beginning next year.
Canada began requiring stock option expensing this year. A 2002 survey of financial
experts by the Association for Investment Management and Research found that
more than 80 percent support stock option expensing. All four major accounting
firms also favor expensing.
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But opponents predict a parade of horribles if FASB goes ahead with its plan.
They predict this accounting change will stifle investment and innovation, hurt our
stock markets, lead to outsourcing of high tech jobs, and wreak havoc in our econ-
omy. But a reality check shows these dire predictions are overblown. Since 2002,
nearly 500 companies have voluntarily agreed to begin expensing stock options on
their books. These companies represent about 20% of the number of companies on
the Standard and Poor’s index of companies and 39% of that index based on market
capitalization. None of the predicted horribles has happened.

Let’s look at some of the claims more closely.

Some opponents claim expensing stock options will stifle innovation in business.
But many of the 500 companies expensing options are successful, high tech
innovators like Microsoft, Netflix, and Amazon. They also include such diverse com-
panies as General Motors, Dow Chemical, Boeing, BankOne, UPS, and Coca-Cola,
each of which relies on technical innovation for business success. The CEO of
Netflix, a high tech company that began expensing stock options last year, has stat-
ed: “[Tlnnovation continues unabated. . . . We innovate because it thrills us, not be-
cause of some accounting treatment.”

Other opponents claim that stock option expensing will lower their earnings
which will, in turn, cause their stock prices to fall and devastate their investment
prospects. But the facts, again, show otherwise. Just last month, a leading executive
pay expert, Towers Perrin, issued a study examining 335 companies that switched
to stock option expensing and found that stock performance was the same, on aver-
age, as the rest of the S&P 500 and mid-cap 400 indices. Expensing did not affect
their stock prices.

Despite this factual evidence, some opponents go even farther and warn that ex-
pensing will not only depress the share prices of individual companies, but also
damage the stock market or the U.S. economy as a whole. Well-respected financial
analysts disagree.

—Goldman Sachs Global Equity Research recently issued a report sup-
porting stock option expensing and stated: “We do not expect a material
impact on the share prices of most firms.”

—UBS Investment Research has stated that expensing is a “long past due
change” and “medicine for the long-term health of companies and inves-
tors. It will shed light on the true profitability of many companies, help-
ing to separate those that deserve investor capital from those that do
not.”

—Merrill Lynch says the argument that expensing options will harm U.S.
technology leadership and job creation is based on “the following faulty
logic: U.S. technology leadership and job creation depend on the system-
atic misrepresentation of financial statements. One might as well argue
that money spent on R&D shouldn’t count as an expense because it pro-
vides employment and helps industries advance.”

—Credit Suisse First Boston Equity Research says: “We expect companies
to pay closer attention to the economic cost of their stock option plans.
Companies don’t focus much on costs that they don’t have to account for.
. . . [W]e expect to see a decline in the number of options granted, poten-
tially replaced by restricted stock, cash, incentive options, or nothing if
the company had been overcompensating its employees.”

—Congress’ own economists at the nonpartisan Congressional Budget Office
have also forecast a minimal economic impact, issuing a recent report
which concludes: “[Rlecognizing the fair value of employee stock options

is unlikely to have a significant effect on the economy . . . however, it
could make fair value information more transparent to less-sophisticated
investors.”

Honest accounting, in other words, doesn’t hurt the economy.

Other leaders in the financial and accounting world also support stock option ex-
pensing as good for investors and good for markets. They include Federal Reserve
Chairman Alan Greenspan, Treasury Secretary John Snow, SEC Chairman William
Donaldson, Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Chairman William
McDonough, former SEC Chairman Arthur Levitt, former Comptroller General
Charles Bowsher, investors Warren Buffett, John Biggs and Pete Peterson, Nobel
Prize Winners Joseph Stiglitz, Robert Merton and Myron Scholes, as well as re-
spected groups such as the Council of Institutional Investors, the Investment Com-
pany Institute, Financial Services Forum, Consumer Federation of America, Na-
tional Association of State Treasurers, Institute of Management Accountants, and
The Conference Board’s Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise.
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President Bush, who doesn’t support expensing stock options, nevertheless op-
poses Congressional interference with FASB’s independent accounting judgment.

One of the newer claims of opponents is that stock option expensing will somehow
force high tech companies to outsource more jobs. But a number of high tech compa-
nies, like Cisco, Dell Computers, IBM, and Intel, have already sent hundreds or
thousands of jobs offshore, while opposing stock option expensing. Intel began
outsourcing software research and development operations to India several years
ago; in 2003, its CEO was quoted by the Indian press as saying, “I can tell you that
the headcount in India will continue to grow and a lot of back office work is also
coming.” Cisco Systems announced in 2003 that it was “going to increase
outsourcing to India in all areas” including software development, and in October
%nnounced a “China-based staffing solution” for Cisco’s Global Technical Response

enter.

Dell Computer, which is based in Texas, recently set up customer and technical
support centers in India, China, Morocco, Slovakia, and design centers in China. It
also has manufacturing plants in Brazil, Malaysia and China. Although only 36 per-
cent of its revenue comes from overseas sales, Dell has 23,000 employees in other
countries and only 22,000 here at home.

These offshoring companies are increasingly paying third world wages for high-
end products and handsome profits. The stock option expensing proposal is no ex-
cuse for their outsourcing decisions: these companies don’t expense their stock op-
tions. Worse, by invoking outsourcing fears to justify Congress’ overriding the exper-
tise and independence of FASB, these companies undermine the integrity of our fi-
nancial reporting systems and accounting standards setting process, both of which
are critical to investor confidence and long-term capital investment in U.S. compa-
nies.

Another red herring argument is that requiring stock option expensing will elimi-
nate broad-based stock option plans and hurt average employees. The facts are to
the contrary. Companies that currently offer broad-based plans to their workforce
such as Home Depot, Wal-Mart, and Netflix, have already determined that they can
expense options without having to terminate their stock option plans. Other compa-
nies, such as Microsoft, are replacing stock options with stock grants, but I haven’t
heard of their employees complaining about getting actual shares of stock. It is also
important to remember that most U.S. employers, including many private compa-
nies, small businesses, and partnerships, don’t offer stock option compensation to
their employees; a nationwide survey by the Bureau of Labor Statistics in 2000, a
banner year for stock options, found that only 1.7 percent of non-executive U.S.
workers actually received any options that year. In short, honest accounting doesn’t
hurt average workers.

A final argument used by many opponents is that precisely estimating the value
of stock options is difficult. But that’s true of many items on a financial statement,
from the value of goodwill to the reserves required to protect against uncollectible
receivables or loans. As Warren Buffett once said, the only value that everyone
agrees is incorrect for a stock option is zero.

The valuation issue, as well as other technical aspects of stock option accounting,
ought to be resolved by the accounting experts, of which Congress isn’t one.

What Congress can add to the debate is its understanding of the role played by
stock options in too many of the corporate scandals that have come before us. I
chaired the Enron hearings before the Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
and saw how the books were cooked to make loans and fake sales look like income
so Enron could impress Wall Street analysts and boost its stock price. Stock options
were the fuel for Enron’s dishonest accounting. Enron’s CEO took home $123 million
from exercising stock options in the same year the company went bankrupt, and so
many lost their jobs and life savings.

In addition to enriching executives, stock options played a second vital, but as yet
unrecognized, role in the Enron scandal by enabling Enron to show huge paper prof-
its without having to pay taxes on them. During our Subcommittee investigation,
I wondered how Enron executives could create huge phony profits to increase the
company’s stock value and make their own stock options worth a fortune, without
sapping the company’s treasury to pay income taxes on the inflated income. I
learned the answer was those same stock options, which at the same time they were
enriching executives, provided Enron with a big enough tax deduction to eliminate
any worries about taxes.

For the last five years before it declared bankruptcy, from 1996 until 2000, Enron
told its stockholders that it was rolling in revenues, claiming a 5-year U.S. profit
of $1.8 billion, according to an analysis of Enron’s public filings by Citizens for Tax
Justice. During those same years, Enron deducted about $1.7 billion in stock option
compensation from its tax returns as a business expense—cutting its taxes by $600
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million and eliminating its tax liability entirely in 4 out of the 5 years. In other
words, the stock option double standard allowed Enron to dole out this form of com-
pensation to its executives, claim a huge tax deduction, and escape paying U.S.
taxes, while not showing any stock option expense on its inflated financial state-
ments. Enron had a lot of company, by the way, in benefiting from the stock option
double standard.

FASB and the folks we rely on to set accounting standards resisted enormous
pressure from corporate executives when they decided to end the accounting that
keeps stock options off corporate books as an expense, thereby making a company’s
earnings look better than they are. Hopefully, Congress will also stand up to the
powerful political forces being brought to bear to overrule FASB. Congress should
protect FASB’s independence and its resolution of controversial accounting issues
based on accounting expertise rather than political considerations. That’s what we
committed to do two years ago when we enacted the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and it is
critical that, in this first big test, we continue to champion, preserve, and fortify
FASB’s independence.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Senator Levin. Senator Lieber-
man.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LIEBERMAN

Senator LIEBERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for convening
this discussion, I believe, of a seriously misunderstood problem,
which is stock options and the abuse of stock options.

For much of the past decade stock options have been the subject
of an intense debate, which of course, heated up particularly after
the collapse of Enron and the succeeding wave of crime by execu-
tives of a number of American corporations. Many people obviously
believe that the silver bullet to stop this corporate crime is to
change the accounting rules for stock options, force companies to
count options as expenses when they are granted, they say, and the
scams and rip-offs would stop.

I wish it were that easy. Changing the accounting rules is, in my
opinion, highly unlikely to change the unethical, illegal or scan-
dalous behavior of a corporate executive who does not have the
scruples to stop himself or herself from taking action that satisfies
their own greed, and in the process rips off investors and employ-
ees and consumers. But I do fear that changing the accounting
rules is likely to deny access to options to average workers who
have done nothing wrong, and in the process put the brakes on the
revolutionary democratization of capital in this country that has oc-
curred over the last 20 years or more. I hope that our goal, and
I believe our goal should be to stop the abuse of stock options, not
to stop the granting of stock options. I do not believe this proposed
FASB rule will do that.

Options are a very innovative way to help expand the winner’s
circle for millions of Americans and improve the growth and pro-
ductivity of our economy. In other words, we must not throw the
options baby out with the corporate corruption bath water. I be-
lieve the way to make sure we do not do that is to reform the way
stock options are approved and distributed and ultimately widen
access to them instead of restricting it. I have introduced legisla-
tion which I believe will do that.

As has been said, my views and interest in this subject go back
more than a decade to 1993 when FASB first floated that plan to
require stock options to be treated as an expense against earnings
on profit and loss statements at the time they are granted. Many
of us who opposed that rule change did so for two reasons. First
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we believed it did not make sense; it was bad accounting. Second,
we were concerned that it would significantly deter the kind of en-
trepreneurship that grows our economy and expands the middle
class. I do not think any of us were primarily motivated by a desire
to compromise the independence of FASB, but if FASB is about to
promulgate a rule that we think, and thought then, would have an
adverse effect on a lot of people in our country and on our economy
generally, I take it to be my responsibility to express that point of
view. Our goal here again should be to stop the abuse of stock
abuse, not their granting.

Let me go back to 1993. Why did we do that? We were never con-
vinced that there is an accurate way to value an option on the day
it is granted. I know Warren Buffett has now famously said that
options are compensation and therefore compensation should be ex-
pensed. Of course options are probably compensation. I emphasize
the “probably.” They are a form of compensation, but the com-
pensation occurs not when they are granted, but when they are ex-
ercised. At the extreme, options that go under water when the
stock price drops below the price on the day that the options were
granted never become compensation at all. They are effectively
worthless, as tragically, thousands of Enron employees can tell you.
We only know, as far as I understand this, options are compensa-
tion when they are exercised. I hope most people listening to this
or watching it understand we are talking about two dates, the date
the company says, OK, John Smith, you have got options, but then
there is another day that comes, usually after a holding period re-
quired of some years, in which the options are actually exercised,
they are sold. That is when they become compensation.

Incidentally, that is when the company can take as a deduction
the difference between the price of stock on the day the option was
granted and the price when it was exercised or sold and money was
made. The employee on the date of exercise pays a tax on the dif-
ference and the company takes it as a deduction. That is the IRS.
What we are talking about is accounting rules on the day that it
is granted, and I continue to see no way you can actually value on
that day.

I wonder if the advocates of expensing stock options could point
to a single case where a company’s disclosure of stock option values
and cost at the time of granting, which is what they have been re-
quired to do under the FASB compromise rule since 1995, has
proved to be accurate. The Enron footnotes, for example, which I
have looked at, estimated stock option values and costs that proved
to be wildly inflated and inaccurate because they did not anticipate
the collapse in Enron’s stock price that came about as a result of
the corrupt behavior of some Enron executives. So that is what, in
1993, we were not convinced of, that you could value an option on
the day it was granted, but here is what we were convinced of, that
mandatory expensing of stock options would inhibit their use, and
that would hurt a lot of people who were getting stock options, not
the top executives, and it would also hurt our economy because of
the role that the options play in attracting innovative employees
away from big companies to start-up companies. Experience has
proven that options are an effective mechanism for doing that, and
for spreading wealth, because they give employees a direct stake in
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their companies, and of course business leaders, particularly from
the high tech community, made clear that they would issue fewer
options if they had to subtract their estimated value from their
profits on the statement as required.

Much has changed since that original debate and vote here in the
early 1990’s, but I say with all respect that the problems that I
have with FASB’s approach have not changed. Requiring firms to
predict the values of options at the time of granting still looks to
me like bad accounting. I just do not know how you can do it, and
I am still troubled that it would have damaging repercussions on
our economy overall, on thousands of businesses or would-be start-
up businesses, and certainly on millions of workers who would oth-
erwise get these options.

To be specific, it would significantly reduce earnings for many
companies with option plans, which in turn would reduce the value
of their stock in particular, maybe the market in general, and busi-
ness would almost certainly decide to grant fewer options. Of
course, the first to be cut out would not be the top executives in-
cluding the relatively small number among business executives in
America who have been proven to have acted unethically or ille-
gally in the recent wave of corporate crime. What would be hurt?
The guys at the top and the women at the top would be cutting
out the other workers in the company from the opportunity to have
options, and that is the last thing we need now with the average
income of American workers dropping.

I will give you an interesting statistic, Mr. Chairman. Just 12
years ago, around the time the first FASB debate occurred, a little
bit before it, one million Americans owned stock options. Today
more than 14 million people in this country hold stock options. It
is astounding. And a growing number of companies, very diverse,
like Staples, Intel, Wells Fargo and the Vermont Teddy Bear Com-
pany, to name a few that are diverse, offer broad-based plans that
distribute most of the options to rank and file workers, not senior
executives.

Are there problems with options? Yes, there are. But again, I be-
lieve the FASB rule is very unlikely to solve them and will cause
its own problems. Number one problem: Too high a percentage of
options are still rewarded to high-level executives. The National
Center for Employee Ownership estimates, “That while the growth
of broad-based options has been an important economic trend, our
data nonetheless indicate that even in plans that do share options
widely, executives still get an average of 65 to 70 percent of the
total options granted.” That is their right, but in my opinion, that
is unfair, and it does contribute to the inequity in income distribu-
tion in our country. It is this skewed distribution, not the account-
ing, that I feel is the root of the problem. Obviously, we have seen
examples where some executives, loaded up with tens of thousands
of options, have engaged in the kinds of practices that have in-
creased their earnings and their share price if cashed out at the
right time, and then very often they have left the company.

To counter these abuses, I have introduced what I believe is a
better, tougher stock option reform proposal, and the purpose of my
legislation, if you will allow me to put it this way, is to mend, not
end, stock option distribution.
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First, my proposal will prohibit a company from deducting the
cost of options when exercised if it does not offer the majority of
those options to rank and file workers. I define that in the bill as
those who make less than $90,000 a year, which is an existing
standard, and are not among the firm’s top 20 percent of highest-
paid employees.

Second, my proposal would set a mandatory holding period for
stock option grants and block top executives from selling their
shares while they are employed by the company.

Third, it would require all stock option plans to be approved by
a majority of shareholders, guaranteeing greater accountability and
transparency.

I offer this, Mr. Chairman, as a tougher, more sweeping, and I
believe ultimately more effective, response to stock option abuse
and its consequences. Rather than retard the revolutionary democ-
ratization of capitalism in our country, this proposal will help ac-
celerate it by putting more options and more wealth in the hands
of more working Americans. That is a solution we can all count on,
and I believe account for. Thank you very much.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Lieberman, thank you.

Now I would like to introduce our first two witnesses, Senator
Enzi and Senator Boxer, and I understand Senator Enzi may have
a scheduling conflict.

Senator ENzI. I do not.

Senator FITZGERALD. The normal tradition would be that Senator
Boxer has seniority in the Senate, but she is

Senator BOXER. Senator, that is very kind, but I think because
Senator Enzi has a bill that I am very supportive of, I think it is
just fine if he goes first, and I am happy to go after him.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Senator Boxer. Senator Enzi, 1
would just like to introduce you.

Senator Enzi is the Senator from Wyoming, and was here to tes-
tify at our recent hearing on financial literacy. Senator Enzi was
elected to the Senate in 1996, and he is an accountant and former
small business owner. He serves on the Committee on Banking,
Housing and Urban Affairs, where he chairs the Securities and In-
vestment Subcommittee.

Senator Enzi is the sponsor of S. 1890, the Stock Option Account-
ing Reform Act, which would require an issuer of registered securi-
ties to expense stock options granted to executive officers.

Senator Enzi, thank you. Welcome back to our Subcommittee,
and thanks for your patience as well.

TESTIMONY OF HON. MIKE ENZI,! A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE
STATE OF WYOMING

Senator ENzI. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Senator
Akaka, and Subcommittee Members, for allowing me to testify be-
fore you today.

I also want to thank Senator Boxer for all the work that she has
done on the bill that we have, and all of the interest that she has
shown and her knowledge in it.

1The prepared statement of Senator Enzi appears in the Appendix on page 73.
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I would also like to associate myself with the remarks of Senator
Bennett when he was talking about the independence of FASB, and
the need to expense stock options.

But having said that, I am here today to speak solely on behalf
of the millions of small businesses in the United States that may
or may not even be aware of the proposal by the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board to require expensing the stock options. I have
to tell you, a reporter from Wyoming today at lunch asked me if
I thought my bill would pass. I said, if FASB listens once, it will
not have to pass, and if they do not listen, it could be a landslide
to pass it. So that is the position that I am coming from.

There are small businesses in the United States that number
nearly 23 million, and they represent 99 and 7/10ths percent of the
employers. They employ half of all private sector employees and
they generate 60 percent of the net new jobs annually. In addition,
small businesses produce 13 to 14 times more patents per employee
than large patenting firms. It is not an exaggeration to state that
the health and strength of our Nation’s economy rests on the abil-
ity of small businesses, small businesses, to start and grow. Our
Nation’s entrepreneurial spirit and climate are the envy of the
world. Today many countries are trying to replicate our small busi-
ness system. In fact, news articles of late last year showed that
China is trying to build its own Silicon Valley. You know what
their business plan calls for? Stock options. Yes. We must be very
careful not to cause unintended consequences that might disrupt
small business and the job creation.

The reason I am here today is to voice small business concerns
that I believe are being overlooked or pushed aside as not relevant
to the discussion of stock option expensing. At first glance, the
question of whether to expense stock options appears to be very
simple and media friendly. However, before getting to the question
of expensing stock options, one must first ask how those will be
valued?

As the traditional saying goes, the devil is in the details. Based
upon the recent proposal by FASB one must be versed in the dif-
ferences between the fair value method, intrinsic value method, lat-
tice structures, and binomial and Black-Scholes expensing valu-
ation models. As an accountant, I found that these terms are not
in the general accounting world but are unique to this particular
accounting proposal. So for small business owners and their ac-
countants that are encountering these terms for the first time, the
evaluation of the FASB proposal will be daunting.

The valuation approach, as proposed by FASB, would set up
small businesses to wake up in a nightmare. The proposal itself is
more than 230 pages long. This is the little document that small
businessmen need to wade through to be sure they are not vio-
lating the accounting standard. Rather than addressing small busi-
ness concerns head on, FASB has just thrown together a series of
criteria for small business to consider.

Small businesses have no choice but to hire expensive experts to
delve into this voodoo valuation. Some believe that only the largest
accounting firms would be able to produce the proper valuation
models, and I am hearing that it could cost up to $500,000. Both
small business and small accountants would be victims of the
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FASB proposal. A frequent concern heard by the Governmental Af-
fairs Committee is that small business owners are very busy build-
ing and running their businesses, and cannot pay attention to
many Federal regulators in Washington, DC—I know you have
heard that a lot—for this sole reason: Congress created the Regu-
latory Flexibility and the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement
Fairness Acts. These Administrative Procedure Act laws require
Federal regulatory agencies to undertake economic analysis when
a proposed regulation may disproportionately burden small enti-
ties. In addition, the law requires agencies to conduct vigorous out-
reach and establish compliance assistance for small business.

FASB, as an independent standard setter, is not bound by the
Regulatory Flexibility nor the Small Business Regulatory Enforce-
ment and Fairness Acts. Accordingly, FASB, as a standard setter
recognized by the Federal Government, should establish equivalent
small business review practices for itself.

In November, I held a hearing in the Committee on Banking,
Housing, Urban Development entitled “FASB and Small Business
Growth.” At that hearing we heard from a variety of witnesses that
FASB’s consideration of small business concerns on several dif-
ferent FASB proposals, not just stock options, several different
FASB proposals, was severely deficient.

At the hearing I requested that a Small Business Advisory Com-
mittee be established by FASB to listen and address small business
concerns. I envision this Subcommittee to operate in the same
manner as NASD’s Small Firm Advisory Board, in that all pro-
posals would be reviewed and evaluated by the Subcommittee. I
even wrote a letter to Mr. Herz and asked if that was not the case.!
I did not get a response that said that that was not the case. But
FASB has since indicated to me that the Small Business Advisory
Committee would meet twice a year and would receive only pro-
posals on an ad hoc basis.

While I am pleased that FASB has established the committee, I
still have serious doubts about FASB’s commitment to listening on
the small business issues. For example, immediately following the
hearing, FASB conducted field tests with 18 businesses on stock
option expensing. None of the businesses were small businesses.
Now, as FASB is rushing to implement the proposal on stock op-
tion expensing by the end of the year, I am very much concerned
that small business issues will be pushed aside or not addressed
at all. For example, the proposal will apply not only to publicly
traded companies, but also to privately held companies. Many of
these privately held companies are start-ups and very small compa-
nies, and many that I have spoken to recently have no idea that
this proposal will apply to them.

In addition, FASB, without advanced warning, extended the pro-
posal to include companies with employee stock purchase plans.
Have you been talking about stock options or employee stock pur-
chase plans? That is the smallest business thing that I know of
where the mom and pop operation is trying to sell to their employ-
ees. They are going to have to pay attention to that now because

1The letter to Mr. Herz from Mr. Enzi, dated December 5, 2003, appears in the Appendix on
page 148.
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they have been included. We did not know about that. It was a sur-
prise to me when I looked through there and found that. While
some of the companies will be able to participate in the two
roundtables to be held by FASB in Connecticut and California,
thousands of others may not find out about the roundtables until
it is too late.

In addition, the first meeting of the Small Business Advisory
Committee is on May 11. However, an issue as complex as this
may not be addressed fully. It is quite possible that the committee
could spend all day on the proposal’s glossary of terms in this 230-
page book, and have very little time to discuss anything else.

For this reason, a hearing has been scheduled next week by the
Committee on Small Business and Entrepreneurship that will give
a limited number of small businesses a chance to discuss the pro-
posal on stock option expensing.

As the Governmental Affairs Committee has jurisdiction over
Regulatory Flexibility and Small Business Regulatory Enforcement
Acts, I will leave the Subcommittee with a couple of questions that
should be considered in this hearing.

First: What are the duties and responsibilities of a standard set-
ter, recognized by the Federal Government for analyzing the eco-
nomic impact of proposals? Should those duties and responsibilities
rise to the level of statutory mandates of Federal agencies?

Second: What is the level of outreach that is required to ensure
that small businesses throughout the country are able to partici-
pate in the standard-setting process?

Third: What is the remedy for when a small business believes
that the independent standard setter gets the standard wrong for
small business, or that the standard setter has completely pushed
aside small business concerns? Small businesses, pursuant to the
Regulatory Flexibility Act, may sue a Federal agency to set aside
a rule if the small business has been unjustly aggrieved. As one of
the principal authors of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, I support an inde-
pendent accounting standard setter. However, an independent ac-
counting standard setter has to live up to a very high standard.
With respect to FASB’s oversight of small business concerns, I be-
lieve there is still a significant way to go.

Finally, I should mention that in today’s Wall Street Journal
there is an account of Chairman Herz conducing a conference call
with institutional investors yesterday. In that call he urges institu-
tional investors to make your views known to the people in Wash-
ington so that FASB can go forward with its proposal by the end
of the year.

I thought we were in a period of comment when FASB should be
encouraging everybody, and particularly small business, particu-
larly the small businesses that do not even know they are about
to have this thrust on them, to be commenting on the rule, not to
be lobbying Congress not to be interested in this rule. I am really
disappointed in that. That is further evidence that Chairman Herz
will bypass the due process for small businesses in order to impose
his will upon process. I have been trying to get some recognition
of small business since this first came up, and having a little dif-
ficulty with it.
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I do have an article that I would like to have made part of the
record that covers that conference call.l

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Senator ENzI. Interestingly, Chairman Herz’s call was with insti-
tutional investors, and recent news articles have shown that insti-
tutional investors, including public pension funds, readily invest in
hedge funds. I find it extremely troubling that institutional and
pension fund managers will invest in unregulated hedge funds, but
cannot interpret stock option information that is currently avail-
able in extremely detailed notes of registered, publicly traded com-
panies.

In addition, I also would like to introduce a very recent study on
the use of stock options into the record, and that is the study of
Professors Joseph Blasi and Douglas Kruse.2 They found that stock
options are widely held by true workers and middle management
of many companies and not just used by executives.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Senator ENzI. I would mention that to give you something a little
more current than the 1934 book, that they have also written a
book called “In The Company of Owners: The Truth About Stock
Options,” which I highly recommend to everybody to understand
how this revolution to stock options has resulted in the kind of an
economy that we have come to expect in the United States and the
value that has had.

It is a matter of executive compensation. A recent article in the
Washington Post detailed that with or without stock options, top
executives will receive their compensation. Therefore, this proposal
will hurt only small businesses and employees.

I thank you for this opportunity to testify.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Enzi, we appreciate your being
here today. Thank you very much.

Senator Boxer, thank you for waiting patiently.

Senator BOXER. Mr. Chairman, you want me to try to do my tes-
timony in 5 minutes; would that be your desire? I will try that.

Senator FITZGERALD. We will not strictly enforce that, but we
would appreciate it because we have two other panels coming.
Thank you.

Senator BOXER. I am going to try to do that. So first I will start
off with putting my statement in the record, if that is OK with you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Senator BOXER. Then I will try to summarize this within 5 min-
utes or a minute over.

Senator FITZGERALD. That is great.

TESTIMONY OF HON. BARBARA BOXER,? A U.S. SENATOR FROM
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Senator BOXER. First of all, thank you so much for this chance
because this is a big issue to California, and I have been involved
with it for a long time with Senator Enzi, going before that, Sen-

1The article from the Wall Street Journal entitled “FASB Chairman Calls For Investors To
Speak Up On Options,” appears in the Appendix on page 150.

2The study entitled “Corporate Governance, Executive Compensation, and Strategic Human
Resource Management From 1992-2002, A Portrait Of What Took Place,” by Professors Joseph
Blasi and Douglas Kruse appears in the Appendix on page 212.

3The prepared statement of Senator Boxer appears in the Appendix on page 77.
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ator Lieberman, when I was a House member and I just came over
to the Senate, Senator Allen, just a whole group of us from both
sides of the aisle, and I just appreciate this chance.

What I would like to do is first of all comment on the various
presentations each of you has made, first of all, to rebut them in
some cases or to support them in others, but second, to prove to
you that I was listening to you, that I was hanging on every word.

I would start off with you, Mr. Chairman, kind of bemoaning the
fact that the lobbyists did not come up here. Lobbyists should not
be testifying in these meetings. I really believe that because there
are lobbyists on both sides of every issue. They get paid for that
and it is our job to ferret out what is in the best interest of the
people, and it is our job to come up here and not their job. It would
be awful, so I am sort of glad that did not happen.

Second, to Senator Bennett’s point, I think he makes—he is
struggling with this deal because he believes in the independence
of FASB, but yet he believes what I believe, and that is, that a one-
size-fits-all kind of rule could have tremendous ramifications. I am
the daughter of a CPA. I love accountants, so this is nothing
against the accounting profession, but they do have blinders on
when it comes to policy. That is their work. It is their job. They
see things in a narrow fashion, and policy is not their thing. That
is fine for a lot of things, but when you are dealing with options,
when you are dealing with the potential ramifications here which
have been stated by Senators Bennett and Lieberman, you are
dealing with serious business, and of course, very eloquently stated
by my colleague.

I would agree that I do not think FASB has listened to us one
bit. We gave them every chance. We had a hearing. Remember that
one? What would you call it? A seminar. And we said, well, look,
this does not make sense, and we went through how do you evalu-
ate these and so on and so on. And then they just could not care.
For those of you who wanted them to stick with what they came
up with 10 years ago, do not worry, there is not a chance they will
change to try to reach out and look at some of the ramifications of
what they are doing. It is very discouraging. For me to be told, as
a U.S. Senator who cares about jobs and cares about a middle class
and cares about making sure there is prosperity, that I should not
speak up against a group that I think is not considering the rami-
fications of their act, that is not a good approach with me because
I think that is our job. Otherwise, things could go haywire around
here, and they sometimes do.

To Senator Akaka, who mentioned Enron and WorldCom and
Senator Levin who did the same, these were crooks and thieves,
these people. They made a false electricity crisis in my State,
Enron did. I am familiar with what they did. They spent day and
night trying to thieve from people, and they did, to the extent of
$11 billion that I know of. That is what it cost my consumers in
Enron’s case. And options are not—they should be thrown I jail.
Meanwhile, what is happening, because of their acts and because
some people think options was the problem, not the fact that they
were thieves, then what you are saying is not only the people there
are at a disadvantage because they lost their jobs, they lost their
pension, they lost everything, but as a result of FASB, we are going
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to have a whole group of other workers, who had nothing to do
with these things, being punished. That would be just the ultimate
irony, being punished for the likes of Enron and WorldCom when
all they want to do is get a chance at the dream.

So I hope you will think about that. After FASB gets done with
their rule, the people at the top are going to get their options.
Make no mistake about it. But the people that I fight for in my
State, and Cisco Systems is a perfect case in point, I believe it is
95 percent of the employees there have options. So now you think
you are doing this great thing to punish the fat cats, and you are
hurting everybody else because the fat cats will still keep getting
their options.

Let me just, because I do not want to take too much of your time,
I want to give you a sample of what some of my constituents are
saying, maybe the ones that voices have not been raised yet, al-
though they have been alluded to. Bill Griffin, who works for Auto
Desk in Palo Alto, wrote to the FASB, “Stock options are the last
bastion of the hard-working middle manager. For 2 years the only
thing that helped me pay for my two kids in college has been stock
options. Without stock options mortgaging my home would have
been my only option.”

David Dorr from San Jose wrote to the FASB, “In my opinion,
stock option compensation at Silicon Valley companies is what
helped form this valley in the first place. Do not destroy it because
some companies abused it by only giving options to the top.”

Listen to what Kelly Simmons wrote to the FASB. Quote, “If you
eliminate broad-based employee stock options from hard-working
individuals like me, you are taking away more than you think. You
are taking away the dream of someday owning a home here in the
Silicon Valley.”

So FASB got lots of these letters, but they listened to them just
as much as they listened to Senator Enzi and I, and Senator
Lieberman and others. So I have respect and admiration for FASB,
but I do not want to put the future of our economic expansion in
the hands of folks who refuse to look up from their eyeshades and
see the big picture, and the big picture has an impact on hard-
working people, on shareholders and people who are only just doing
the right thing every single day.

Last, we have a great alternative. And by the way, I love Senator
Lieberman’s bill. I am going to look at it and hopefully go on it,
but we have a great bill. Senator Ensign and I have worked with
Senators Enzi and Reid, and others on legislation that would man-
date the expensing of stock options for the top five executives at
a company, but not for the options granted to rank and file work-
ers. Start-up companies would be exempt. Let me just stop here.

It just seems like everybody is frozen into their position except
for Senator Bennett, who still looks like we can grab him, one side
or the other. I just hope you will think a little bit about some of
your premises, those of you who are just saying no legislation inter-
fere. If it was a small matter, that would be one thing. This is a
huge matter. It is going to impact the lives of real people who real-
ly believe, and have told me—and a lot of them are women, by the
way, I have to tell you—who are telling me this is their only shot
at the dream, and let us not take that away because of some rule
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that we do not want to interfere with some group of folks who are
dedicated, and I respect them, but that is not their job to worry
about policy. It is our job.

Thank you very much.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Boxer, Senator Enzi, thank you
very much. We appreciate your being here and appreciate your in-
terest in the subject. Thank you so much for coming.

At this point we would like to invite our second panel to the wit-
ness table. We have two witnesses on our second panel. Our first
witness on this panel is Robert H. Herz, who was appointed Chair-
man of the Financial Accounting Standards Board effective July 1,
2002. Prior to joining FASB, Mr. Herz served as PriceWater-
houseCoopers’ North America Theater Leader of Professional, Tech-
nical Risk and Quality, and he was also a member of the firm’s
board. Mr. Herz has served as a part-time member of the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board, and has chaired the SEC
Regulations Committee of the American Institute of Certified Pub-
lic Accountants and the Trans-National Auditors Committee of the
International Federation of Accountants. Mr. Herz has also served
as a member of the FASB Financial Instruments Task Force and
the American Accounting Association’s Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Committee.

Our second witness is the Hon. Paul A. Volcker, the former
Chairman of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board, and the current
Chairman of the International Accounting Standards Committee
Foundation. Mr. Volcker has nearly 30 years of distinguished serv-
ice with the Federal Government, and served two terms as the
Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
from 1979 to 1987. More recently, Mr. Volcker served as Chairman
and CEO of Wolfensohn and Company, from which he retired in
1996 upon its merger with the Bankers Trust Company. Mr.
Volcker currently serves as chairman, director of, or consultant to,
a number of corporations and nonprofit organizations.

Gentlemen, we deeply appreciate your taking the time to appear
before this Subcommittee and we would like to invite you to offer
your full written statements into the record. We can simply have
them accepted as part of the record, and it would help if you could
attempt to summarize your comments within 5 minutes, so that we
can then proceed with questioning. Thank you.

Mr. Herz, would you please go first?

TESTIMONY OF ROBERT H. HERZ,! CHAIRMAN, FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD

Mr. HERzZ. Thank you, Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Member
Akaka, and Members of the Subcommittee.

Mr. HERZ. As you know, the FASB is an independent private sec-
tor organization. Our ability to conduct our work in a systematic,
thorough, and unbiased manner is fundamental to achieving our
role in the system—that is, to establish and improve standards of
financial accounting and reporting for both public and private en-
terprises, including small businesses.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Herz appears in the Appendix on page 80.
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The FASB’s independence, the importance of which was recently
reaffirmed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, is also fundamental to our
mission because our work is technical in nature and designed to
provide preparers with the guidance necessary to report on their
underlying business transactions.

Now, while the current efforts by certain parties to block our pro-
posed improvements to the accounting for equity-based compensa-
tion may seem attractive to some in the short run, in the long run
biased accounting standards are harmful to investors, to creditors,
to the capital markets, and to the U.S. economy.

Because the actions of the FASB affect so many organizations,
our decisionmaking process must be open, it must be thorough, and
it must be objective, as objective as possible. And so our rules of
procedure require a very extensive and public due process.

On March 31, as has been noted, we issued a proposal for public
comment to improve the accounting for equity-based compensation.
It covers not just stock options but a whole variety of equity-based
compensation arrangements because we wanted to get consistent
accounting and a level playing field between the various forms of
equity-based compensation, as well as with other compensation.

The proposal was a result of a very extensive public due propose
that began in November 2002. That process included the issuance
of a preliminary document for public comment, the review of over
300 comment letters and over 130 unsolicited letters, consultations
with our advisory councils, field visits to companies—which, by the
way, did include small businesses—public and private discussions
with hundreds of individuals, including users, auditors, and pre-
parers of financial reports, valuation experts, compensation ex-
perts, and active, open deliberations at 38 public FASB Board
meetings.

The Board believes that our proposal will significantly improve
the financial reporting for equity-based compensation transactions
in many ways, including, as has been the main topic of discussion,
the elimination of the existing exception for so-called fixed plan em-
ployee stock options, which, as Senator Levin remarked, are the
only form of equity-based compensation that is not currently re-
quired to be recorded as an expense in the financial statements.
Our proposal reflects the view that all forms of equity-based com-
pensation should be properly accounted for as such, and that the
existing exception for fixed plan employee stock options results in
reporting that ignores the economic substance of those trans-
actions.

In that regard, I would note that when enterprises use stock
options and other instruments, like long-dated stock purchase war-
rants, for purposes other than compensating employees—for exam-
ple, to acquire goods and services, as you mentioned, Chairman
Fitzgerald, to pay for legal services and the like—they have long
been required to value those instruments and to properly account
for them in the financial statements.

We believe the elimination of the fixed plan stock option excep-
tion is also responsive to the demands and concerns expressed by
numerous hundreds of individual and institutional investors, pen-
sion funds, creditors, financial analysts, the major accounting
firms, and many other parties. We also believe it will provide
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greater transparency and consistency in the reporting of various
forms of equity-based compensation and greater comparability be-
tween enterprises that compensate their employees in different
ways and between the now nearly 500 companies that have volun-
tarily chosen to account for the cost of employee stock options and
the many others that continue not to do so.

The proposal also has a secondary benefit—an important one, I
believe—of achieving much greater international comparability in
the area of accounting for equity-based compensation. In that re-
gard, as noted, our international counterpart, the International Ac-
counting Standards Board, issued a final standard in February of
this year requiring the expensing of all equity-based compensation,
including all forms of stock options. The IASB standard will be fol-
lowed by companies in over 90 countries beginning next year.

Our proposal includes a lengthy Notice for Recipients that high-
lights and describes over 20 specific issues that respondents may
wish to consider in developing their comments to us, including a
number of issues that focus on the proposal’s measurement ap-
proach and on the special provisions that we have proposed relat-
ing to small business.

The Board also plans to hold public roundtables, four of them,
with interested users, auditors, and preparers of financial reports,
and valuation and compensation experts to discuss the issues
raised by the proposal. We also will be discussing the impact on
small businesses and their views at the inaugural meeting of our
Small Business Advisory Committee in a couple of weeks.

Following the end of the comment period on June 30, we plan to
redeliberate, at public meetings, the issues raised in response to
our proposals. Those redeliberations will address all the key con-
ceptual, measurement, disclosure, and cost/benefit issues raised in
the comments and will include careful consideration of the input
received from all parties.

Only after carefully evaluating that input at public meetings will
the Board consider whether to issue a final standard. Our current
plan is to complete the redeliberations and be in a position to issue
the final standard in the fourth quarter of this year.

I would like to conclude my statement by noting that we have
all witnessed the devastating effects and loss of investor confidence
in financial information that have resulted, at least in part, from
companies intentionally violating or manipulating accounting re-
quirements. Investors, creditors, and other consumers of financial
reports are continuing to demand improvements in accounting and
financial reporting. The existing accounting for equity-based com-
pensation, not just as regards CEO compensation but the basic
flaw in the accounting model, has been an area of great concern,
and our proposal is intended to be responsive to that concern and
to what we have seen in our extensive process of looking at the eco-
nomic attributes of those instruments.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. After Chairman Volcker talks, I
would be happy to respond to any questions.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you very much, Mr. Herz.

Mr. Volcker, thank you for being with us. You may proceed.
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TESTIMONY OF HON. PAUL A. VOLCKER,! CHAIRMAN, INTER-
NATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS COMMITTEE FOUNDA-
TION, AND FORMER CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF GOVERNORS,
FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

Mr. VOLCKER. Well, thank you. I will just summarize my com-
ments briefly, but let me make two preliminary statements after
listening to the earlier conversation.

Expensing stock options is not about eliminating stock options.
The question is how to account for them properly. And to the ex-
tent that stock options have been abused—and I have no doubt
they have been abused in many cases to the extent that that abuse
is related to the fact they are not accounted for, obviously that
should be taken care of. That is in favor of expensing stock options.
And nobody is saying in the accounting world that they must be
eliminated. All we are saying is account for an expense in ways
comparable to other expenses.

The other point I would make is that small business has a prob-
lem in many elaborate accounting areas. They have gotten ex-
tremely complex for big businesses, I am afraid. That is a problem,
and in my responsibilities with the International Accounting
Standards Committee Foundation—a cumbersome word—we are
reviewing our procedures now to try to make sure that small busi-
nesses and their views and problems are sufficiently taken care of
in determining accounting standards.

I am the Chairman of the Trustees of the International Account-
ing Standards Committee Foundation. I emphasize that because
our responsibilities are to appoint members of the board that make
the decisions, not to make the decisions itself, but it is also our re-
sponsibility to satisfy ourselves that there has been sufficient con-
sultation and due process before the board we appoint does arrive
at conclusions.

I have been interested in this. The only reason that I have
agreed to become Chairman of the Foundation is that I think com-
monality in international accounting standards is a good thing. The
world is globalizing. We are not going to stop that. The financial
world is globalizing. If we are going to have an efficient system of
international capital, you better have a common set of accounting
standards. And, in part, that is what is at issue in this debate.

As Mr. Herz just mentioned, the International Board has decided
a standard on expensing stock options. That is somewhat con-
troversial in other areas of the world, but not to the extent it is
here. I have every reason to believe the Europeans will adopt that
standard and it will become compulsory in Europe and most other
major countries in the next year.

Now, oddly enough, or maybe interestingly enough, there is an-
other accounting standard that the International Board has put out
that is extremely controversial in Europe, and it is not been yet
adopted by the European Union, and there is intense political pres-
sure in the European Union to reject that standard, so-called IAS
39, which involves, importantly, accounting for derivatives. In the
European world, derivatives are not accounted for, and this stand-
ard is an important initiative to bring that important area of ac-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Volcker appears in the Appendix on page 86.
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counting on the books. It is not controversial in the United States
because the standard already exists in the United States. It was
controversial when it was applied in the United States some years
ago, but American companies are now used to it, and I don’t think
anybody is suggesting that the United States should abandon that
standard.

Now, I point this out because we have political pressures on the
standard setters, two different standards from different directions.
And I think you have to ask yourself what are the prospects for fi-
nally achieving coherent, consistent, high-quality international
standards if the political authorities, whenever they find one they
don’t like, reject it. And that will obviously have a kind of snow-
balling effect. You will lose discipline in maintaining independence
if in different cases considered important the independence is over-
come.

I am sensitive to that, and in Sarbanes-Oxley, and in all my con-
versations with the SEC and up here on the Hill when I agreed to
this assignment, I kept getting drilled into me: You must be inde-
pendent, you must have a framework that protects these decisions
from political “interference.” That is the way our system is set up.
The so-called constitution for the International Board is set up with
elaborate arrangements to protect the independence. That is sup-
posed to be part of my responsibility to protect that independence.
So I feel rather strongly about it.

I think that is the essence of my statement. I don’t comment on
the substance of the rule. I am not supposed to. That is the Board’s
idea. I am supposed to respect their independence. But I do think
this is very important in terms of the overall objective of getting
international consistency.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Volcker, thank you very much for that
statement. I appreciate both of you being here.

I would just like to make a couple of statements in the way of
response to some of the things other Members have mentioned in
their opening remarks, or the two Senators who were testifying.

First of all, the book “Security Analysis” is still in print. I just
happen to have the original edition because I wanted to buy that.
You can still buy the original edition, but it has been republished
and updated many times. It is one of the classic all-time books, and
Benjamin Graham was updating it almost to when he died in the
1970’s. Warren Buffett refers to Benjamin Graham’s book, “The In-
telligent Investor,” which I have also read, as the single best book
on investing ever. And almost all of his books, as far as I know,
are still in print and selling widely. It is just that I only have the
classic edition on my home bookshelf, and that is why I cite it.
There may well be some better language that I could have referred
to in more recent editions.

Also, I do, of course, recognize that the options that are traded
on the Chicago Board Options Exchange or other exchanges are
much different. However, they are similar in that they both rep-
resent a call on the future growth and profitability of the company.
And so I just wanted to mention that, and certainly many options
issued to employees or executives of a company may not be trans-
ferable by that employee or executive.
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I now have a few questions for Mr. Herz and Mr. Volcker. Mr.
Herz, how many of the seven FASB Board members supported the
issuance of this proposal? And how many of the seven Board mem-
bers disagreed with the conclusions contained in the proposal?

Mr. HERz. The proposal was voted out as a proposal unanimously
by all seven Board members.

Senator FITZGERALD. So there was not a single member of your
expert Accounting Board who opposed the issuance of the proposal?

Mr. HERzZ. That is correct. It was unanimous. Now, we all may
have slightly different views on particular issues, minor dif-
ferences. But you look at the proposal as a whole, its consistency,
and decide whether or not to vote for it as a whole. And all seven
Board members voted for that.

Senator FITZGERALD. And how are the FASB Board members
chosen? Who chooses them? And how do you get on that Board?

Mr. HERZ. They are selected by a group of trustees of the Finan-
cial Accounting Foundation. They are selected from diverse back-
grounds. Right now we have three people from public accounting,
two from industry, one was a senior global equity analyst, another
person with a business background.

Senator FITZGERALD. So you have two from industry.

Mr. HERZ. Yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. Who aren’t necessarily accountants? Or are
they?

Mr. HERZ. They were CFO types.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. HERz. What we call preparers.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. So they are from companies that may
be issuing options themselves.

Mr. HERZ. Yes. In fact, actually two of our Board members have
been the recipients of options.

Senator FITZGERALD. And, nonetheless, they supported the ex-
pensing of stock options.

Mr. HERz. Oh, yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. So of the seven Board members, you have
two who are from public companies. How many of the Board mem-
bers are CPAs, accounting professionals?

Mr. HERZ. Three.

b Seglator F11ZGERALD. Three. And then you have two other mem-
ers’

Mr. HERZ. A business school professor, and a person from Wall
Street who was a senior global equity analyst.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. So, it 1s fair to say that all of these
people have great expertise. If you are a CPA, a CFO of a publicly
traded company, a business school professor, or a respected Wall
Street analyst, you are very sophisticated in this area.

Mr. HERzZ. I think it is interesting to note that the International
Board, who separately deliberated this whole issue, they have 14
people on their Board from nine different countries, and, again, a
range of backgrounds in terms of preparers, auditors, users of fi-
nancial information. I believe they were also 14-0.

Senator FITZGERALD. Maybe Mr. Volcker could comment on the
composition of the International Accounting Standards Board. You
have 14 people?
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Mr. VOLCKER. Fourteen people, two of whom are part-time. But
as I look at them here, I think there are four who are basically so-
called preparers, chief financial officers; and four or five account-
ants or standard setters from other countries, past standard setters
from other countries; and three of them are so-called users, ana-
lysts, with an analyst background. One professor.

Senator FITZGERALD. Now both of you just generally, leaving
aside the merits of the proposed rule—and you saw I am in favor
of the proposed rule. Some of my other colleagues are also in favor
of it; others are opposed to it.

Leaving aside the merits of the proposal, what effect do you
think it would have on our domestic Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board if politicians were to step in, a political authority were
to step in, and block the new FASB rule? And I think Mr. Volcker
indicated in his opening remarks the likely effects on the inter-
national board if they were to see us in Congress step in. For a rule
that actually isn’t that controversial in Europe, it would have rami-
fications to the extent that some European companies which are
opposed to a new rule on derivatives accounting that has already
been widely accepted in the United States would possibly object to.

But what would be the effect of political interference in either of
your boards?

Mr. HERz. Well, I think, as I said, there are a number of issues
coming down the pike, major topics, where users of financial infor-
mation believe that the current accounting standards are not as
good as they might be, and even in some cases really need major
revision. And some of those are areas like revenue recognition and
reporting on financial performance, but also pension accounting
has been severely criticized by a number of people, lease account-
ing.
I think that any intervention at this point would kind of be a sig-
nal down the road that anytime you want to block something to
maintain the status quo and block the proposed standard, go to
Washington and lobby through the political process.

Senator FITZGERALD. Would you care to comment on that, Mr.
Volcker?

Mr. VOLCKER. Well, I think if I was a member of FASB, I would
be wondering what my responsibilities were. I know that in choos-
ing the International Board and getting the kind of quality of peo-
ple that we thought we got, what was important to them was that
they had some independence. And if they lost that sense of inde-
pendence and acceptability of their decisions, they would not be in-
terested in serving. And I don’t know who you would get to go on
the Board. You are not going to get the kind of people that we got.
I think that is simply the fact of the matter.

But I must say, I think there is a balance here which, one way
or another, much of what has been said both on that side of the
table and here is relevant. These decisions cannot be made in a
vacuum. They cannot be made by a group of abstract accountants
kind of figuring out what they think of the theoretical niceties of
an accounting rule and ending up with 260 pages sometimes. They
have to be exposed to the real world. And in a sense, I think that
is my job and our counterpart’s job in the United States to make
sure that the Boards do have the kind of consultation that Mr.
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Herz was talking about and take it seriously and do testing and
checking of their proposals.

I should not be speaking as an old Federal Reserve Chairman—
but it is easy to get isolated. We have to keep—in a way that is
impossible to avoid for the Federal Reserve because you haul them
up all the time—and you have these kinds of debates and criticism
and comments. And I think that is an important part of the proc-
ess.

We happen to be reviewing the so-called constitution of the Inter-
national Commitment now, and that is the main comment we have
had, and that is the main concern that we have in reviewing the
constitution, that there be ample and suitable consultation and
testing.

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes, Mr. Herz?

Mr. HERZ. I couldn’t help pass that by when Paul mentioned the
260 pages and Senator Enzi the 230 pages. The actual proposed
standard is eight or nine pages. The rest of the document is ex-
plaining our thoughts, rationale, alternatives we looked at and
then lots and lots of different examples to help people. So, the
whole thing of helpful guidance and explanation of our thought
process is 230 pages, but the actual standard is very short.

Senator FITZGERALD. It is eight pages, OK.

Now, just one final question before I hand it over to my col-
leagues. Both Senator Boxer and Senator Enzi talked a lot about
the effect on companies, small businesses. They raised the specter
of employees being denied stock options. And I know Senator
Lieberman talked about the democratization of company ownership
via widespread distribution of stock options.

But neither Senator Boxer nor Senator Enzi, at least the way I
understood them, seemed to mention the effect on shareholders or
investors. That is something I referred to in my opening statement,
that by granting stock options, you are taking the existing common
shareholder’s right to own 100 percent of the up side of a company,
and you are transferring it to someone else. And that is OK, I said,
as long as it is disclosed to the shareholders or prospective inves-
tors, that they know that somebody else has a claim on these fu-
ture growth prospects of the company and the stock.

But isn’t there a problem with so many Americans owning stocks
today? Just in mutual funds alone you have 95 million Americans
who own mutual funds, for example. Either directly or indirectly
today, well over half of Americans own equity securities. And many
people are investing on their own without any professional advice
and, I would venture to say, many without the ability to recognize
the dilutive effect of options that have been issued because they are
so buried.

Was that at all a part of the thinking of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board? Were you worried about that effect on share-
holders of the dilution?

Mr. HERZ. Well, we are trying to measure the instrument that
is granted as a cost to the company, and it is a cost to the com-
pany, and that cost is represented by exactly what you say. And
it is measurable. It is measurable with well-established models. It
takes a little bit of work to do it in some cases, particularly when
they are more complicated. But that is exactly the point, that there
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is a cost to the company, and that cost to the company should be
measured just like any other cost to the company.

Senator FITZGERALD. And if employees are paid in cash or in gold
bullion, you require them to expense that. But it didn’t seem logical
if they are paid in stock options, because they don’t have to reflect
the cost?

Mr. HERZ. Yes, that is right. And just to get to—I would love to
visit with Senators Bennett and Lieberman just to explain

Senator FITZGERALD. We would be happy to give you that oppor-
tunity.

Mr. HERZ [continuing]. How the measurement works and why
they have been able to do it for 8 years, in audited footnotes, why
many companies are now being able to do it, and why there are
other very long dated type instruments like convertible bonds
azvhich may be contingently exerciseable. Those are valued every

ay.

The other point I would make, which is, I think, a point that
when we discuss this people say well, gee, it didn’t turn out to be
the right value. Well, we are measuring the value at a point in
time. We are not predicting the future value of that instrument.
Just as if you award a share of stock today, that is not predicting
what it will be worth 5 years from now. It is the value of the in-
strument now. That is what is being valued, not the future pre-
diction of its value.

Senator FITZGERALD. And there is a present claim or call on the
future growth of the company’s prospects that is being——

Mr. HERz. That is exactly what the model is.

Mr. VOLCKER. And it does take account of the vesting.

Mr. HErz. The vesting also, if you don’t vest, there is no expense.
There are adjustments in our proposal for vesting, for non-transfer-
ability, for restrictions and all the like.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Akaka.

Senator AKAKA. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Volcker, there are some opponents of the FASB pro-
posal who argue that expensing stock options would slow job cre-
ation and potentially increase the use of outsourcing. What is your
evaluation of these arguments?

Mr. VOLCKER. They are not correct.

Senator AKAKA. Thank you.

Mr. Herz, accounting rules have long required companies to esti-
mate and report as an expense the cost for remediating environ-
mental contamination, providing pension and post-retirement bene-
fits to employees, settling product liability claims and litigation,
and providing warranty coverage on products sold to consumers.
The question is: Will the proposed measurement approach for em-
ployee stock options result in a more precise measurement than ap-
proaches currently used for those other costs and can you give me
the reasons why?

Mr. HERz. Well, you are touching on a key aspect of what we
considered: Is there sufficient reliability in our view behind these
measures? And by that, we mean that the range of dispersion of
the likely outcomes, if it is done correctly, is within acceptable lim-
its. And we then thought about that and compared it with some of
these other measurements that you are talking about and some
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that I think Chairman Fitzgerald talked about, loan loss reserves,
insurance reserves, impairments of good will, sometimes just depre-
ciation calculations because they involve estimates of life and sal-
vage value. And we think that certainly the established models
here—and, by the way, people say that you didn’t choose a model.
Well, they are just different parts, variations of the same financial
economic theorem. They are not different models. One is more flexi-
ble or open than the other. You can put more inputs in it and get
a more refined answer. But our basic conclusion is that these meas-
ures are of sufficient reliability to put in the financial statements
and are far better than the current situation where the current ac-
counting is totally unreliable and completely ignores an economic
transaction.

Senator AKAKA. Mr. Volcker, what lessons regarding the use and
accounting for stock options should be learned from the failures in
corporate governance by companies such as Enron and WorldCom?

Mr. VOLCKER. Well, my view is—and it has already been ex-
pressed in this hearing earlier—that I really do think stock options
have been abused, and too much concentrated on relatively few offi-
cials at the top, and the incentives that have been created have
been perverse. It has created a kind of concentration on the stock
price that has led to manipulation of earnings and other manipula-
tion in order to affect the stock price at the long-run expense of the
company itself. And we have seen that demonstrated. It is very
hard for me to justify the use of an instrument that has rewarded,
as someone said earlier, tens of millions of dollars, even hundreds
of millions of dollars, to executives of a company that went bank-
rupt that very year. It just does not make sense.

What is evident and why people like stock options so much is
that we have just in the 1990’s had the greatest boom in the stock
market in all of history. And if you had a stock option, you did very
well. You did very well whether your company was doing relatively
well or whether it was doing relatively poorly. Everything was
going up, not because you were suddenly a great genius, but be-
cause the whole market was going up.

I think we better think about it here. I don’t make up the rules,
but I think the effort is to put compensation in the form of stock
options on a level playing field with other forms of compensation
so that you do not distort the instrument that is used simply be-
cause it is accounted for differently, and accounted for in a way
that logically is hardly sustainable.

Senator AKAKA. Mr. Herz, this month the Congressional Budget
Office released a report which found that net income will be over-
stated if firms do not recognize as an expense the fair value of em-
ployee stock options measured when options are granted. What is
your evaluation of CBO’s conclusion?

Mr. HERZ. Their conclusion is exactly the same as our conclusion.
It is the same as the IASB’s conclusion. It is the same as the con-
clusion that has been reached after study by many different groups
over a long period of time.

Senator AKAKA. Mr. Volcker, if Congress intervenes to block the
FASB proposal, what impact will this have on investor confidence,
on the financial markets, and the ability of analysts to evaluate the
financial condition of public companies?
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Mr. VOLCKER. Well, I think the influence would be adverse in all
those terms. I don’t know how striking it would be. They have not
been accounted for in the past so you are not changing the situa-
tion.

What I am certain of, it would clearly undercut the efforts to get
international consistency. And I think over time that is to the dis-
advantage of both companies raising money and investors investing
money.

You want both intelligent, comprehensive accounting standards,
and you want them the same in different jurisdictions when both
investors and companies are operating in a lot of jurisdictions. It
is very difficult for our biggest companies—forget about the small
companies—our biggest companies that may be operating in 60, 70,
80, or 100 countries to follow 100 different accounting rules. And
the effort is to reduce those differences as much as possible.

Senator AKAKA. Mr. Herz, can you please describe for the Sub-
committee the shortcomings of disclosing stock options in footnotes
of financial statements compared to FASB’s proposal?

Mr. HErz. I think it is a longstanding principle in accounting
and financial reporting that disclosure is not meant to be a sub-
stitute for wrong accounting. And that has been borne out by nu-
merous academic studies in general and on this topic as well.

I think the CBO report comments that individual investors do
not comb the footnotes, and they just take the score as is. That is
the score as reported, and that is the way they look at it.

I think in talking with a number of institutional investors and
quantitative analysts, they also do that because they take numbers
from databases and don’t take as adjusted footnote numbers. They
just take the score. And so that is why we have gotten so many—
all the surveys you see of investors, analysts, portfolio managers by
an overwhelming margin say they want this number in the score.

Senator AKAKA. Thank you very much for your responses. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Bennett.

Senator BENNETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Let me say what I said in my opening statement again so that
it is clear. I am in favor of expensing stock options. I am in favor
of maintaining FASB’s independence. The points that Paul Volcker
is making are absolutely on point. We need to do what we can to
standardize around the world. So let’s not revisit that, OK? Let’s
deal with what I think the real problems are, which I think FASB
has ignored.

Let me give you a hard, firm example here. You say it is eight
or nine pages, it is fairly simple. I am delighted. I have a stock op-
tion which, according to Black-Scholes, is worth $10. It can be exer-
cised tomorrow. I give my employees a stock option with a 10-year
vesting at the same strike price as the stock option that I get.
What is that worth? What does the 10-year vesting do? What is it
worth? Look at your nine pages and give me a number.

Mr. HERzZ. OK. The first stock option would be expensed all right
now, $10. The $10 on the second one would be spread over 10
years, but if the fellow left, there would not only be no more com-
pensation, there would be no compensation.
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Senator BENNETT. OK. So it is still worth $10, even though it
can’t be——

Mr. HERZ. Not from an accounting point of view.

Senator BENNETT. You just said that it would be——

Mr. HERZ. There is a measurement——

Senator BENNETT. You just said the $10 would be stretched over
the 10 years.

Mr. HERZ. The measurement would be 10. It would be stretched
over the 10 years, but only to the extent the person worked to get
it. That was the deal.

Senator BENNETT. No. I am talking about putting it on my bal-
ance sheet as an accountant, putting it on my P&L. I have got one
P&L; I deduct $10. That is very simple. Do I deduct $1 this year
and $1 next year, etc., for the other one?

Mr. HERZ. As long as the guy kept working to get it, yes.

Senator BENNETT. So he drops dead of a heart attack in year 9,
and my balance sheet shows a cumulative expense of $9.

Mr. HERz. The balance

Senator BENNETT. In fact, do I get that $9 back?

Mr. HERZ. Yes.

Senator BENNETT. So that becomes profit.

Mr. HERZ. It is not on the balance sheet, by the way.

Senator BENNETT. Well, the P&L goes to the balance sheet. What
happens to that $9? Does it become profit? Does it run to the bal-
ance sheet?

Mr. HERzZ. Yes, it runs back through the income statement and
back through equity that was never created.

Senator BENNETT. So in year 9, magically I have got $9 worth
of income. Do I pay taxes on that?

Mr. HERZ. Do you pay taxes on $9?

Senator BENNETT. On that $9 that suddenly comes back in 9
years.

Mr. HERZ. The awardee of these stock options?

Senator BENNETT. The company. Forget the company. I have got
to keep the books.

Mr. HERZ. No, the company does not pay any taxes. It is not——

Senator BENNETT. I get $9 worth of income and I do not pay any
taxes on it? That is going to get Senator Levin really upset.

Mr. HERZz. That is accounting income.

Senator LEVIN. I would like to hear his answer to that.

Senator BENNETT. Well, I would kind of like to hear the answer,
too.

Mr. HERrz. Well, first of all, you would have estimated for the
whole group on day one how many people were going to be there
through the 10 years. So you would have made an estimate of what
is called forfeitures.

Senator BENNETT. Right.

Mr. HERzZ. But in that situation, you would take back the $9. The
deal was never completed. You had estimated wrongly.

Senator BENNETT. But I got income on my income statement.

Mr. HERZz. That is correct.

Senator BENNETT. And I do not pay taxes on that income.

Mr. VOLCKER. That would depend upon the IRS.
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Mr. HERrz. Well, it would depend on—not in the United States
you wouldn’t, because the tax deduction, the stock option tax de-
duction actually occurs for the excess, the windfall of the value
given.

Senator BENNETT. All right. Let’s go back to the first one. The
first one, no problem, Black-Scholes says it is $10. I put $10 as ex-
pense. Do I get a $10 tax deduction?

Mr. HERZ. Yes.

Senator BENNETT. So if I am a small businessman——

Mr. HERzZ. You get the $10 tax deduction or a higher tax deduc-
tion when the person actually exercises the option.

Senator BENNETT. Well, wait a minute. I am drawing up my tax
return for this year, and I have got $10 worth of expense.

Mr. HERZ. You have $10 of accounting expense.

Senator BENNETT. Right. Can I take a tax deduction to that?

Mr. HERZ. Not on your tax return. What you have is a deferred
tax benefit for accounting purposes.

Senator BENNETT. OK. When do I get to take the tax deduction?

Mr. HERzZ. As Senator Levin said, when there is an exercise of
the option by the employee. Let’s say when the employee exercises
and that employee—let’s say the stock has gone to $100, and he
makes a profit of $50, say, because the strike price was, say, $50.
The employee would declare taxable income of $50, and the com-
pany would get a tax deduction of $50 for taxable compensation.

Senator BENNETT. So I take the expense in year 1, but I do not
get the tax deduction until, say, year 5.

Mr. HERZ. Right.

Senator BENNETT. And you say that is making the financial
statements clearer and more accurate if I don’t get the tax deduc-
tion in the same year that I take the expenses?

Mr. HERz. Well, the Tax Code and accounting are not the same.
They are not designed to be the same.

Senator BENNETT. Bingo.

Mr. HERZ. Right.

Senator BENNETT. That is the point that so many people are
missing in this debate. The Tax Code and the accounting for ex-
penses are different. So you are going to say to me as a company,
you have to show in your statement to a shareholder that you just
made no profit. Let us say the total cost of the options matches
total amount I make, so you just show you have made no profit.

Mr. HERrz. Correct.

Senator BENNETT. In the footnote you have to say you have real-
ly got a lot of cash.

Mr. HErRz. We have a cash flow statement. There are four basic
financial statements.

Senator BENNETT. Yes, you have got a cash flow statement. As
a manager running a business, when I was running a small busi-
ness, I looked for every deduction I could possibly find. Why? Be-
cause I didn’t want to pay any taxes. I managed the business to
make sure that we didn’t earn a dime.

Now, this is not a public company. This is a private company. 1
have run public companies and private companies. And I will tell
you, private companies are a whole lot more fun. But we didn’t
want to earn any money, accounting-wise, because we needed every
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penny of cash to make that fledgling business survive. So I looked
for every possible deduction.

So you come along and say, Here, you can deduct the cost of your
stock options, and I say, Wonderful, do as many as you can so I
can build as many deductions so I can save cash. The IRS says, no,
we don’t recognize those as real expenses.

Mr. HERz. That is right.

Senator BENNETT. Now, as soon as I go public, yes, FASB says
they are real expenses, but IRS does not. I have to charge them
against my income statement, and, therefore, they end up on the
balance sheet as a lower reduction in retained earnings. But I do
not get any tax benefit for doing that—except in certain countries,
apparently, as we begin to go international.

Mr. HERZ. In certain countries, they have an economic valuation
like we do for accounting, rather than an outcome approach.

Senator BENNETT. OK. The point of all this—and I will quit be-
laboring it. I am late to another meeting, and I apologize for just
dumping this on you and having to leave. I want the financial
statement to be as clear as possible, and so do you. That is why
I favor expensing. But I am convinced that the way you have
drawn this up is going to make the financial statement absolutely
incomprehensible to somebody that does not have the kind of expe-
rience and background you do. And I guarantee you that Senator
Enzi’s concern about small business is not ill-placed.

Mr. HERz. Well, for Senator Enzi and small business, we have
proposed an alternative method, which is like the tax method.

Senator BENNETT. So as soon as you get above a certain level,
the rules change.

Mr. HERZ. No. It is because for a private company you do not
have liquid stock. There is a cost/benefit issue, and we think that
makes—it is not pure, but it is a decent alternative, just like what
you are saying.

Senator BENNETT. How can you be sure that we do not have lig-
uid stock if we do not have a public market? My brother-in-law
might want my stock.

Mr. HERz. Well, then we are going to let you—the alternative
then would be to do the right method and value it economically.

Mr. VOLCKER. Brothers-in-law are not usually very liquid.
[Laughter.]

Senator BENNETT. Each of us is a prisoner of his own experience.
And my experience running little companies, handling start-up
companies, one or two of which actually became big companies and
ended up listed on the New York Stock Exchange—and they were
a lot more fun to run, again, when they were private before we had
to deal with analysts. It tells me that—sorry to disagree with my
tall friend—there are some consequences that will affect the econ-
omy if this thing does not become a whole lot more user-friendly
to the brand-new kind of stock option that has just grown up in the
relatively recent future where you say we are going to have long-
term vesting and we are going to have wide participation and it is
going to be in start-ups. And that has helped fuel the growth of the
American economy, and I do not think you have paid enough atten-
tion to that.
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At the end of the day, I am still with you that we ought to ex-
pense. I am still with you that we ought not to pass legislation. But
I am very troubled that the consequences of what you have done
seem to be so skewed towards the public company, the General Mo-
tors, the Coca-Colas, and the Microsofts of this world, that you
could do significant harm in the entrepreneurial area. And that is
what Senator Boxer is saying.

As I say, I have not signed on to the Enzi bill. I have been under
a lot of pressure to do it. I look at the Enzi bill, and I see a lot
of things wrong with it. But I hope I have gotten across to you that
even though technically I am in your camp, I am very troubled at
the results that I see in the work that you have done.

Mr. HERrz. Well, if I could respond?

Senator BENNETT. Sure.

Mr. HERz. First, as I said, we have still a lot of due process left.
We are meeting with the Small Business Advisory Committee. We
have specifically crafted questions about not only private compa-
nﬁes but small business issuers as to what ought to be appropriate
there.

As I said, we have proposed an alternative method, which is clos-
er to what you are proposing, which would not require option pric-
ing models, which would be more on what you seem to favor in
general, what is called an exercise date type approach, which is
kind of the accounting version of the Tax Code. And those are all
things that we have invited comment on. So, rest assured we will
be looking at all that, and we are very sensitive to the cost/benefit
burdens, to the understandability. We have a question specifically
in the notice to recipients about understandability. That is why we
have lots of examples, as I said, in the document.

So, I hope you will also have an open mind, and maybe we can
visit with you.

Senator BENNETT. I would be delighted to. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thanks, Senator Bennett. Senator Levin.

Senator LEVIN. It seems to me there are two key issues: One is
the difficulty, allegedly, of valuing something at a date which it is
given to the employee, because you have got to estimate its value
and it is not exercisable until some future date. And I would like
to get some more examples from you as to how they work and
about other forms of compensation which are also based on uncer-
tainties where we do value. You have used two terms that I do not
think—at least I am not familiar with one of them. Long-dated
stock warrant, I think was the term. Another one was a convertible
bond. And I think if you could just give us a word or two on each
of those, it might be useful to show this is not some unusual, novel
featulre here, that we apparently do value things which are difficult
to value.

Now, we talked about good will and a number of other things
which we are familiar with, even depreciation. But just in terms
of these kinds of—I think you called them equities. What is a long-
date stock warrant? And how is that similar to

Mr. HERZ. Well, companies will use stock purchase warrants,
which are like a stock option. It gives the counterparty, the holder,
the person that you grant it to, the ability, the right to buy your
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stock, a share of your stock at a fixed price for a fixed term. And
it may have various conditions in it. For example, it may be to a
provider of services to your company that says you can do this as
long as, if you are a lawyer, we win the next following five cases.
Or if we only win four cases, then the terms of the warrant will
change a little bit. I mean, these can get quite complicated, but

Senator LEVIN. Are they valued now?

Mr. HERZ. Yes, they have been required to be valued for many
years and accounted for.

Senator LEVIN. At the time that they are granted?

Mr. HERZ. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. All right. So there are models, there are ways of
valuing those kinds of conditional grants or transfers of stock.

Mr. HERZ. Right.

Senator LEVIN. What about the convertible bond?

Mr. HERrz. Well, a convertible bond is a bond that contains a
stock option in it. It basically allows at a fixed price the person to
convert the bond into a certain number, a pre-specified number of
shares. And those terms can go out 10, 15, 20, or 30 years. There
has been in vogue recently what are -called contingently
convertibles, which not only have that feature but you can only ac-
tually do the conversion based upon some kind of formula of the
stock price in the future meeting certain target levels. It only gets
contingently triggered, yet you have to

Senator LEVIN. Those contingent triggers are, nonetheless, val-
ued in some way.

Mr. HERZ. Sure. The instruments are valued every day in the
marketplace.

Senator LEVIN. But these can’t be valued in the marketplace, 1
gather—or can they?

Mr. HERZ. Yes, they can. The convertible bonds are traded——

Senator LEVIN. No, I am talking about the stock option given to
an employee. Can they be valued in the marketplace since they
cannot be exercised by anyone other than that employee?

Mr. HERZ. No, they do not trade in the marketplace, although as
the CBO report comments, individuals, if you have enough of them,
you can find ways to extract the value, protect the value through
hedging devices.

Senator LEVIN. So through a hedging device you actually can ex-
tract, as you put it

Mr. HERZ. You can monetize the value at a point in time.

Senator LEVIN. Even though it cannot be exercised by anyone
other than the employee?

Mr. HERZ. Right.

Senator LEVIN. OK.

Senator FITZGERALD. They are not transferable, is that why they
cannot be sold?

Mr. HERzZ. That is correct. And as part of our methodology, we
recognized that, and, in fact, there is a big hair cut effectively for
that in the modeling.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Now, that is extremely helpful informa-
tion, I believe, because one of the issues we hear a lot from people
who want to override FASB is you cannot value these. And you are
saying there are all kinds of contingent instruments, conditional in-
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struments, which are valued all the time that are similar to these
instruments.

Mr. HERZ. And often more complicated.

Senator LEVIN. And even more complicated.

Now, the other issue has to do with, I think, your conversation
with Senator Bennett, if I followed it, and that had to do with there
may be an option open to small businesses where you are going to
allow them—particularly if they are not publicly owned, I gather—
to opt into the certainty of saying, OK, you do not want to do that
when they are exercised, if they are exercised, if you take a tax de-
duction at that point they show up on your books. Did I hear you
correctly?

Mr. HERZ. Yes, well, what we are doing is saying take, as you
go along, what the difference between the current value of the
stock and the strike price is, and then finally at exercise date, you
would have the final measurement there. So it is kind of each pe-
riod you would be showing what the status is.

Senator LEVIN. Would it be the same as a tax deduction?

Mr. HERz. The final measurement overall would be the same as
a tax deduction for non-qualified stock options.

Senator LEVIN. All right.

Mr. VOLCKER. Then you know what the value of the stock is, and
there is no

Senator LEVIN. Excuse me, Mr. Volcker. What were you saying?
Repeat that so we can all hear it.

Mr. VOLCKER. I don’t know how you keep adjusting the value of
the option when there is no market for the stock.

Mr. HERZ. You would value the stock just like you do for tax pur-
poses in order to figure out the tax deduction.

Senator LEVIN. But at the end of the day

Mr. VOLCKER. You don’t have a market.

Senator LEVIN. Wait a minute, if you are going to speak, which
is fine, I think we have got to get this on the record so we under-
stand what you two guys are saying. This is an unusual hearing
in this regard, but it is welcome, provided we can—I would wel-
come it on my time, providing I understand what you are saying
to each other.

Now, at the end of the day, however, the amount of the tax de-
duction would equal the amount of the expense shown on the books
under that option. Is that correct?

Mr. HERZ. The cumulative expense, yes.

Senator LEVIN. OK, but that is the bottom line at the end of the

day.
Mr. HERZ. That is right.

1Skenator LEVIN. Putting aside the difficulty that Mr. Volcker is
talking——

Mr. HERzZ. By the way, we have also said that if you are a public
company and you really don’t think you can do the grant date valu-
ation with sufficient reliability, and you convince your auditors of
that, and possibly you might get chosen for SEC review and you
would have to convince them. But you could use that alternative
method in that circumstance as well.

Senator LEVIN. That is the certainty approach. Have you gotten
much support from the business community for that approach?
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Mr. HERZ. No, and I think for two reasons. One is—I think they
believe that the value—the cost is the grant date because that is
the date the deal is made and it is based on today’s price and you
kind of figure out what the value is then.

Senator LEVIN. So the business community wants the grant date
to be the date that the valuation takes place, and yet it is the same
community that says you cannot value on that date.

Mr. HERZ. Well, I think certain elements of the business commu-
nity.

Senator LEVIN. Well, it is part of the business. But part of the
argument you get from the opponents is you cannot value on the
date that you give the right away. But part of the opposition we
also hear is you cannot value on that date. It seems to me that
those are two inconsistent arguments. At least the same person
should not make both arguments.

Mr. HERZ. T agree.

Senator LEVIN. Now, do you know how many companies now ex-
gense stock options? There are quite a few that are actually now

oing it.

Mr. HERz. The last tally I saw that either already are or said
they will be in the near future was about 500.

Se;)nator LEVIN. And those would be fairly significant size compa-
nies?

Mr. HERZ. Yes. I mean, there are, as I remember, about 115 of
them are in the S&P 500 and

Senator LEVIN. And have they shown any loss in stock price as
a result, do you know? Have you seen any studies on that?

4 (11\/11". HERz. I saw a study by Towers Perrin recently that said they
idn’t.

Senator LEVIN. Did not?

Mr. HERZ. They did not suffer a loss in stock price. I also saw
another study by some professors—I think one was at Stanford as
I remember—that said they actually got a very short-term bounce,
probably on the view that they got some reward for better account-
ing, better corporate governance.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. My time is up.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you. Senator Lieberman.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This has been a
really interesting and important hearing. I wanted to share an ob-
servation and then ask a few questions, and it is about this ques-
tion of the independence of FASB, which I respect.

We are not accountants up here. Senator Enzi happens to be the
only accountant in the Senate, as far as I know. So why did I get
interested a decade ago? Because I was concerned hearing from
people in business about the impact of the accounting change that
FASB was proposing on the economy, on millions of workers who
are benefiting from options, etc.

If T understand the history here, you are essentially a private
group—really, a professional group, exercising an authority that
has significant public effects. And if I get it correctly, this is a pub-
lic authority that was granted by statute to the SEC to set account-
ing standards, which it in its wisdom delegated to FASB.

So you have got a situation where a public authority has, for rea-
sons that make a lot of sense in most cases—because we should not
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be doing accounting standards. That is not our business. But you
have got a public authority granting this power to a private entity,
and then it makes a judgment that has, at least in my opinion, and
obviously a lot of others, in this case a big effect on public policy,
on the economy. And yet part of my concern is that with independ-
ence in this case comes no accountability. So your decisions cannot
be appealed to court, can they?

Mr. HERZ. I am not sure about that, but

Senator LIEBERMAN. Can I ask one more question and then let
you respond? Just as a factual basis, can the SEC—I assume—let
me state it as my on-one-leg opinion—that the SEC retains the au-
thority to override a FASB ruling. Is that correct?

Mr. HERZ. Yes, that is exactly correct, and we are subject at the
technical level to very detailed oversight, monitoring, and involve-
ment by the SEC staff. They have been following every aspect of
what we do on this project and every other project. They can and
have on occasion said, gee, we don’t agree with what you are com-
ing up with, either stop or we will override it. That has happened
on one occasion in the past, on another occasion back in the 1960’s
with the investment tax credit Congress overrode the then Ac-
counting Principles Board.

You raise a good point, and it is, to a certain extent, a difference
in philosophies or public goods. The view of accounting standard
setting, whether it be our Board or the International Board, is that
we really have to be unbiased and neutral as to the economic con-
sequences. The economic consequences do flow from better informa-
tion. What you measure matters and the like, and that is the best
way to assist the capital markets and the credibility of overall fi-
nancial information.

Now, there are other people who would assert another public pol-
icy good, but that is not, in fact, in the SEC document that re-rec-
ognized us after Sarbanes-Oxley, it basically said, reaffirmed that
what we do has to be objective and neutral.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Right. So that gives me some comfort, if you
will, and I would welcome your responding in writing afterward
about my assumption that FASB’s rulings are not subject to appeal
in court. But the way to balance what FASB’s independence brings
and the possibility whether in this decision or another one—let’s
assume that this decision is a debatable one. Arguably, FASB
might do something that most of us up here and in America would
think was lunacy, whatever it is.

The accountability and the public interest in that then goes to
the SEC, which has the authority to override, and obviously that
is something that they can consider as this particular proceeding
goes on.

Listening to Senator Bennett, he said he is for the expensing of
stock options, but I think his questioning really brought out why
those of us who have said we are not for the expensing of options
at the time of granting have such a problem with this, because we
do not know how you can do it accurately. At one point, I think you
said if the value—the point here is to try to put a value on the op-
tion now, on the day it is granted. But the only value that I can
see that the option has on the day it is granted that I would have
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any confidence in is the stock price on that day, the market price
on that day. But, of course, it is not going to be exercised.

You said earlier that since 1995, when FASB required the foot-
note disclosing, according to Black-Scholes, the value of the options
that people have been doing it and living with it. But is there any
basis for—in other words, they have been applying the formula, but
is there any basis for having any confidence that it is accurate,
that the result of it is accurate?

Mr. HERz. Well, it is accurate based upon the accuracy of the
valuation. Again, these valuations are based upon models that are
basic financial economic theorems and that are tested every day in
the markets for these other instruments. There are certain adjust-
ments you make for employee stock options because of the transfer-
ability aspects, the vesting aspects, and those kinds of things. But
the basic models themselves are tried and tested in the market-
place.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Let’s say that on the day of granting, the
market price is $10 a stock and, according to Black-Scholes, the
value of it is $20.

Mr. HERZ. No, it cannot be more than the stock.

Senator LIEBERMAN. I am sorry. It is the—well, OK. I am sorry.
I am going to the deductibility.

Here is my point. Let’s say that when we get to the date of exer-
cise there is an obvious difference between what Black-Scholes pre-
dicted and what the value really was to the employee. Is there any
way to alter the expenses if they turn out to be inaccurate so that
the company is not—this is, I guess, in a way what Senator Ben-
nett was asking you—is not stuck with the impact of having ex-
pensed at a greater, or even a lesser rate, in the interest of equity,
than it turned out to be?

Mr. HERZ. Well, we are continuing to talk a little bit past each
other, but because, again, the grant date value is the value at the
grant date, the model takes into account Black-Scholes, a million
different possibilities of where the stock might end, not just

Senator LIEBERMAN. Yes, but that is my problem. It is only going
to end in one place.

Mr. HERZ. That is correct. But I would commend you to read the
CBO report as to why the grant date is the right cost to the com-
pany.

Senator LIEBERMAN. I will. Let me ask this question: If the
Black-Scholes system has been working so well, why in the re-
leased exposure draft have you urged companies to use the bino-
mial or lattice model to value employee stock options?

Mr. HERZ. The lattice models are—it is like taking Black-Scholes
and opening it up. Black-Scholes is kind of hard-wired. You have
to put a set of uniform assumptions into it, and then it cranks out
a value. The binomial model allows you to, for example, say, well,
I am going to sell division and, therefore, my volatility and divi-
dend policy is going to change next year. It allows you to take the
assumptions and change them by periods, just as you would if you
were going to, for example, value an intangible or value an in-proc-
ess R&D project, which are regularly done. It is taking the Black-
Scholes and opening it up.
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So what it means is that you can, getting the right information,
you can get a more refined estimate than just the simple Black-
Scholes because it is less flexible.

Senator LIEBERMAN. My time is running out, and I want to let
the next panel come on.

Why not avoid all of these problems that we have talked about,
about the difficulty of predicting the value of a stock a year or 5
years or 10 years forward, when there are so many variables, by
requiring the expensing to occur on the day it is granted, when to
me it has no value. The value comes to the employee, as the tax
system recognizes, when he exercises it because he pays a tax on
the spread between the price of the stock on the day he got the op-
tion and the price of the stock that he exercised it—and, inciden-
tally, as has been pointed out, the company gets to deduct the
spread.

So in what Senator Levin refers to as a double standard, we dis-
agree on that—the same thing is bothering both of us but we have
come to different conclusions. Why not resolve the problem by re-
quiring an expensing of stock options on the date of exercise?

Mr. HERzZ. Well, we could do that. We do not think it is the prop-
er measure of the compensation. It is what the individual actually
gets out of it, but it is not the measure of the cost to the company.

Again, I would commend you to the CBO report to understand
why——

Senator LIEBERMAN. Talk a little bit about that. It is what the
individual gets out of it. It is what the company

Mr. HERz. As Chairman Fitzgerald said, once you issue this,
what happens is there is a wealth transfer that goes on after that
between the existing stockholders and these new equity owners.

Senator LIEBERMAN. But it is of indeterminate value.

Mr. HERZ. No, it can be valued——

Senator LIEBERMAN. It dilutes the stock to some extent, but we
don’t know how much until it gets exercised.

Mr. HERZ. You don’t know the final measure of what that is, but
you know the value at any point in time.

Now, we could do that, but then the question would be: Would
we also do that for every other instrument that takes these same
kinds of things, like a convertible? If I issue to you a convertible
and 15 years down the road you may convert that, and although
you only paid $1,000 for that bond, you may convert it—this was
a very successful company—at $30,000. Should we measure the ex-
pense to the company at $30,000?

I will give you another example: Stock purchase warrants that
are issued to suppliers. I give you 10 of my stock purchase war-
rants for 10 of your widgets, and we will agree that your widgets
are each worth $5 and my warrants are each worth $5, so we have
a fair value exchange of $50. Those warrants entitle you to exercise
or to buy the stock at a fixed price for 10 years. Nine years down
the road, I am, again, a successful company; you exercise it for
$300. Should we have said that the cost of the goods that I got
from you, the five widgets, was $300, not $50? It is incongruous.

Senator LIEBERMAN. My time is up, but I would really urge you
to do everything you can to open up the hearings that you are
going to hold and make sure you hear from people on all sides and
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think about what they say. And then obviously I hope that the SEC
will follow what you are doing and exercise the authority that it
has delegated to you if it thinks that FASB has done something
that is not right. Thank you very much.

Incidentally, this is very difficult for me to go through this debat-
ing process with Mr. Herz because he and FASB, I am proud to
say, are located in Norwalk, Connecticut.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, thank you, Senator Lieberman.

I have just a couple of wrap-up questions. Have you had any in-
dication from the SEC as to their views on this new rule? They
haven’t given any indication that they

Mr. HERz. Well, they completely support our process. I think
both the chairman and the chief accountant have said they are in
favor of expensing. Many of their staff have been involved and ac-
tually helped with crafting a lot of suggestions along the way, more
in terms of crafting the questions and the like. But they will con-
tinue to

Senator FITZGERALD. So we have the SEC, Alan Greenspan, his
predecessor Paul Volcker, Warren Buffett, and others, all sup-
porting the concept of expensing stock options.

On the Tax Code and accounting, isn’t it true that what compa-
nies tell the IRS is that their earnings are far less than what they
report to the public? In fact, companies now report to their share-
holders many times the earnings than what their earnings are that
they report to the IRS. We used to have pretty good parity between
what you reported to the IRS as your earnings, probably until the
early 1960’s or so. As an investor I would like to see the tax re-
turns that a company I might invest in submitted to the IRS, be-
cause I tend to believe their real earnings are closer to what they
report to the IRS than what they report to the public.

Mr. Volcker.

Mr. VOLCKER. I think there is no question that there is a discrep-
ancy. It seems to be increasing, and something ought to be done
about it. But if the accounting is correct, presumably something
ought to be done about it from the tax side.

Senator FITZGERALD. That is right.

Now, I just wanted to clarify one point. Senator Boxer said that
it was not appropriate for lobbyists to be testifying. I did not invite
lobbyists to testify. I invited the CEOs of Cisco, Intel, Hewlett-
Packard to testify or send a high-ranking corporate official, CFO or
other officer. None of them wanted to do that. We tried other com-
panies, as well. Nobody who was refusing to expense stock options
wanted to come and trumpet that to America in a public hearing.
I thought that was very telling because I thought they weren’t nec-
essarily really wanting—they were not really proud of what they
were doing. They are a little bit sheepish about it.

And, with that, I want

Senator LEVIN. Could I just ask Mr. Volcker if he might be will-
ing to expand for the record, perhaps, his one-word answer, “No,”
when he was asked by Senator Akaka whether or not he thought
this rule would increase the amount of outsourcing or slow job cre-
ation? I know that we have taken a lot of time now, but if he would
be willing for the record just to expand on that answer.
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Mr. VOLCKER. Well, all I mean to say is that nobody is prohib-
iting stock options, if that is considered a uniquely advantageous
way of rewarding people, and it may be for some start-up compa-
nies. But I don’t think the way they are going to account for it
should dominate that consideration, and that if it is really the right
way to compensate, go ahead and do it. If you don’t compensate
that way, do it some other way. But it will appear as an expense.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. And somebody mentioned China, too. Isn’t
it true that China will require the expensing of stock options?

Mr. VOLCKER. I believe so. [Laughter.]

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. VOLCKER. China will follow international accounting stand-
ards, which apparently will—I mean the present international ac-
counting standard requires.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, thank you, gentlemen. We are de-
lighted that you were here today, and your testimony was inter-
esting. Senator Bennett is also on the Banking Committee, and he
declined an opportunity to question Alan Greenspan at his hearing
to be here to talk to both of you. So thank you both very much for
being here.

Senator FITZGERALD. At this point I would like to invite our third
and final panel up to the witness table. I have to warn everybody
that I have to leave at 5:30 p.m. If Senator Levin is still here, I
would be happy to allow him to take over, but this is going to ne-
cessitate that we move pretty rapidly through our final panel.

Our first witness is Jack T. Ciesielski, the owner of R.G. Associ-
ates, Inc., an investment research and portfolio management firm
located in Baltimore, Maryland. Mr. Ciesielski is the publisher of
“The Analyst’s Accounting Observer,” an accounting advisory serv-
ice for securities analysts. Before founding R.G. Associates in 1992,
he spent nearly 7 years as a security analyst with the Legg Mason
Value Trust. From 1997 to 2000, Mr. Ciesielski served as a mem-
ber of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council, which
advises the FASB, and he currently serves on the FASB’s Emerg-
ing Issues Task Force.

Our second witness on the panel is Damon Silvers, who is an As-
sociate General Counsel for the AFL-CIO. Mr. Silvers’ work at the
AFL-CIO includes corporate governance, pension, and other busi-
ness law issues. He is a member of a number of boards and advi-
sory groups, including the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Standing Advisory Group, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board User Advisory Council, and the New York Stock Exchange
Stock Options Voting Task Force. Prior to his work at the AFL-
CIO, Mr. Silvers was the Assistant Director of the Office of Cor-
porate and Financial Affairs for the Amalgamated Clothing and
Textile Workers Union.

Our third witness is from my home State, Donald P. Delves, who
is the President and Founder of The Delves Group, which works to
foster the growth and development of businesses through evalu-
ating and building effective total compensation systems. Mr.
Delves, as I said, is from Illinois and he has over 20 years of con-
sulting experience in the area of compensation and incentive sys-
tems. He is a popular speaker on executive compensation, stock op-
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tions, and corporate accountability. He recently sent me a copy of
his new book, “Stock Options and the New Rules of Corporate Ac-
countability: Measuring, Managing,” which was published just last
year, in October 2003. Mr. Delves, thank you for being here.

Our fourth witness is Mark Heesen, who is President of the Na-
tional Venture Capital Association, NVCA. The NVCA is a
member-based trade association that works to maintain high pro-
fessional industry standards and foster an understanding of the im-
portance of venture capital in the United States and global econo-
mies. Since 1991, Mr. Heesen has worked on behalf of the venture
capital community to enact a wide range of policies that benefit the
venture capital and entrepreneurial communities, including the sig-
nificant capital gains differential securities litigation reform, ac-
counting treatment of stock options, and reform of the Food and
Drug Administration’s pre-market approval process.

Our final witness is someone whose columns I love reading in the
Sunday Washington Post. They are normally very insightful and
very good, and the column was very good this past week. It is
James K. Glassman, who is a resident fellow at the American En-
terprise Institute for Public Policy Research, AEI. Mr. Glassman’s
research addresses such areas as Social Security, economics, the
Federal budget, interest rates, the stock market, and taxes. During
the past 10 years, Mr. Glassman has written a weekly syndicated
column for the Washington Post on investing. He is the author of
“The Secret Code of the Superior Investor.” He has written two
books geared toward small investors and has published numerous
articles on investing topics in publications such as the Reader’s Di-
gest and the Wall Street Journal.

Again, I would like to thank you all for being here. As I said, we
are going to have to end at 5:30 sharp. I am, therefore, asking you
to please submit your lengthier written statements for the record.
But please try and summarize your remarks in 5 minutes or less
so we can finish on time. In fact, that won’t leave us much time
even for questions, so the quicker, briefer, and more succinct you
can be in your opening statements, we would really appreciate it.

Mr. Ciesielski, will you begin. Thank you.

TESTIMONY OF JACK T. CIESIELSKI,' PRESIDENT, R.G.
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Mr. CieESIELSKI. Thank you. Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Mem-
ber Akaka, and Members of the Subcommittee, I am dJack
Ciesielski, President of R.G. Associates. It is my pleasure to be par-
ticipating in this hearing, and I look forward to answering your
questions if we have time.

I have a brief prepared statement, and I would respectfully re-
quest that the entire text of my testimony and the accompanying
written statement be entered into the public record.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Mr. CIESIELSKI. Let me preface my remarks with a brief descrip-
tion of my business and how it relates to this hearing. My firm,
R.G. Associates, Inc., is primarily an independent investment re-

1The prepared statement with an attachment and an accompanying addition to the written
statement of Mr. Ciesielski appear in the Appendix on pages 89 and 97 respectively.
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search firm and is dedicated to the analysis of corporate accounting
issues. We have a small asset management business, but our main
focus is the publication of a research service entitled “The Analyst’s
Accounting Observer,” which analyzes and explains accounting
trends to both buy-side and sell-side analysts.! Frequently, Ob-
server reports are devoted to new or pending pronouncements of
the Federal Accounting Standards Board. Our client base of ap-
proximately 70 firms is diverse. Readers of our research range from
some of the world’s largest mutual fund families and well-estab-
lished brokerage firms and rating agencies, all the way down to
money management firms with only a handful of employees and as-
sets under management. In short, our client base is a unique cross-
sectional view of the many different kinds of financial statement
users.

I have been writing the Observer for over 12 years, and as I have
composed reports about new FASB standards, I have had plenty of
interaction with the Board and its staff. I have participated in the
Board’s hearings and roundtables on proposed standards, and as a
member of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council
and Emerging Issues Task Force, I have had ample opportunity to
observe the deliberations and the due process that goes into the de-
velopment of FASB standards. I have had the chance to see how
the standard-setting process benefits from the inputs provided by
accounting firms and financial statement preparers—from people
who are close to the issues being considered by the Board and
whose experience with those issues helps the Board develop more
durable standards. In my view, the FASB’s system of listening,
learning, and then improving their proposals works very well as it
exists.

With that, I would like to turn my attention to the purpose of
this hearing. On the surface, this hearing is all about an account-
ing standard dealing with stock options given to employees, but
there is a much larger issue that merits our attention. That issue
is the independence of the FASB, for if there were not attempts by
some parties to legislate action that robs the FASB of its independ-
ence, we would not be having this hearing today.

The FASB plays a unique and indispensable function in our
country’s capital market system—as is the role of any standard set-
ter. Progress in society would be impossible if there were not uni-
form standards for many of the things we take for granted: For in-
stance, something as simple as the design of electrical outlets. That
is what makes the FASB’s role critical: By being the independent
arbiter of principles at the foundation of financial reporting, inves-
tors benefit from financial information that is more comparable and
robust than would exist if every preparer had their own way of pre-
senting information.

In my years of observing the standard-setting process, I have
seen the Board develop improved accounting standards with an un-
matched level of openness and fairness. Their standards will not
make everyone happy—in addressing the complicated issues they
are charged with, it is impossible to satisfy all parties involved.
The reason we are here is because some of FASB’s constituents are

1“The Analyst’s Accounting Observer,” appears in the Appendix on page 153.
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so unhappy with their attempts to reform the accounting for stock
option compensation that they have pulled Congress into the proc-
ess. They are seeking a legislative answer to an accounting rule
they oppose and, in doing so, usurping the FASB’s authority to set
standards. I believe that the FASB’s ability to develop impartial
standards resulting in robust information for investors to use
would be seriously hampered if legislative intervention becomes the
norm for disagreeing with their pronouncements, and a blueprint
for such behavior was created the last time the Board attempted
to remedy option compensation accounting 10 years ago. While it
may benefit a few of the Board’s constituents to preserve the
present broken accounting model, in the long run our capital mar-
kets would likely suffer and result in capital being misallocated in
the economy at large.

I would like to focus the remainder of my remarks more specifi-
cally on the accounting issue under consideration, arguably the
most contentious project ever taken up by the FASB. Despite the
claims of vocal opponents, I do not view the FASB’s proposal for
equity-based compensation accounting as somehow dangerous or
reckless. In my judgment, the Board has listened fairly to the
views of its constituents and learned much as this project has
wended its way from an “invitation to comment” document in 2003
to the exposure draft of a standard at the end of March.

I believe that the issuance of a final standard requiring the rec-
ognition of stock option compensation would significantly benefit
the users of financial statements. I believe the argument that op-
tions cannot be valued and, therefore, should reflect no compensa-
tion expense when given to employees is without merit. Companies
use option pricing models such as the Black-Scholes model to value
illiquid options and warrants they hold in their corporate portfolios.
They use them to value options on their stock given as consider-
ation in making acquisitions. Yet they will claim that the same
models cannot be used to value options given to employees as com-
pensation. It seems that the only acceptable value such options can
have is zero.

Some of the opponents of FASB’s proposals claim that the option
compensation information should be relegated to a footnote as it is
currently displayed. I disagree. The current presentation is a sub-
stitution of disclosure in place of paper accounting. It resulted from
a Board that was badly compromised in 1994 due to the political
actions that interfered with its independence. The information re-
ported in the footnotes since 1996 were real transactions that oc-
curred with employees, and financial statements are supposed to
contain transactions that occurred in a firm for a given period. By
our count for the S&P 500, net earnings were overstated by more
than $175 billion from 1993 to 2002. That is information about
transactions which was presented only once a year to investors
rather than as it occurred each quarter, and it directly related to
the resources under the firm’s disposal, which management is sup-
posed to employ for the benefit of its shareholders. That is one of
the tenets of capitalism and one that has been ignored when it
comes to reporting equity-based compensation.

Opponents of the FASB proposal often claim that stock prices
will fall if option compensation is recognized in earnings. I cannot
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think of a more patronizing argument. Markets are supposed to
allow capital to flow to wherever it can best earn the best return.
Information about how capital is being managed allows capital pro-
viders to make rational investment decisions. If stock prices fall be-
cause capital is not being allocated properly in certain firms, then
markets are allowing capitalism to function as it should.

For decades, accounting standards have done a poor job in de-
picting how capital is being used when it comes to equity-based
compensation, and consequently, we have seen how capital has
been misallocated in the past.

The interference surrounding the FASB equity compensation
project is very much like a decade ago, when the Board proposed
that health care benefits promised to employees——

Senator FITZGERALD. I'm going to have to ask you to wrap up,
because we have to keep on going. We've gone past 5 minutes.

Mr. CiesieLsSKI. OK. The situation is similar to the one we had
the tussle over accounting for other post-employment benefits. The
world didn’t come to an end. We now have a referendum on how
these things should be managed.

Earlier in my comments I mentioned that a large variety of fi-
nancial statement users contacted me in connection with the ac-
counting observer. One question that they continually asked from
analysts of all stripes is not can we stop this from happening. The
most frequent question I hear is when will this go into effect. We
want to start adjusting our models.

Investors and analysts are ready now for such information, and
would like to roll back the uncertainty that surrounds the way they
will do their jobs. That will diminish if the FASB completes its
project independently.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you very much. Mr. Silvers.

TESTIMONY OF DAMON SILVERS, ASSOCIATE GENERAL COUN-
SEL, THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF LABOR-CONGRESS OF
INDUSTRIAL ORGANIZATIONS (AFL-CIO)

Mr. SILVERS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will do my best at
shortening this up. I am here on behalf of the American Federation
of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations, of our 13 mil-
lion members who have $5 trillion invested in the capital markets,
in retirement plans.

The AFL—CIO strongly supports the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board in its effort to close the accounting loophole that has
allowed corporations to radically understate the trust cost of execu-
tive compensation. We strongly oppose S. 9769, S. 1890, and other
efforts to exempt stock options from the normal accounting rules
and the normal processes by which accounting rules are made.

In the mid-1990’s, as many of the previous witnesses have dis-
cussed, FASB attempted to require option expensing but was pres-
sured by Congress into abandoning its position. We believe that
this thwarting of FASB’s role as an independent body was a key
contributor to the chain of events that led to the corporate scandals
of the last several years that did profound damage to our members
and our funds.

Ten years later, there can be no doubt that this issue has been
studied to death, most recently by the Congressional Budget Office.
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The Big 4 auto firms, the Conference Board, the chairs of the SEC
and the PCAOB and every investor organization we are aware of
agree, that at long last Congress should simply let FASB do its job.

Against this background, efforts to prevent FASB from acting on
its conclusions in the name of further study would simply lead to
continued subsidy of excessive executive compensation, and at the
cost of undermining the integrity of our accounting rules and the
processes by which theyre made.

Substantively, the AFL-CIO views stock options as one appro-
priate form of medium-term compensation for line employees. How-
ever, we think options are a poor form of executive compensation
because they do not fully expose executives to downside risk in the
same way that shareholders are. Options are also an inappropriate
substitute for the basic wages and benefits needed to support a
family. Not surprisingly, nonexecutive options are generally held by
upper income Americans, whose base salaries already meet their
fundamental economic needs.

At the height of the stock market boom in 1999, only 1.7 percent
of private sector employees received stock options, according to the
BLS, and that was heavily concentrated among individuals earning
more than $75,000 a year. Only 0.7 percent of those earning under
$35,000 received options.

Consequently, the labor movement opposes giving options pref-
erential accounting treatment over other more important employee
benefits, such as wages, pensions, or health care. Nonetheless, we
do agree with the conclusions of the CBO study, that options ex-
pensing will not end option use or anything like that at cash short
firms where they make strategic sense. And we're fine with that.
We think that’s a good thing, that those firms continue to use op-
tions.

Two bills in this Congress, S. 1890 and H.R. 3574, purport to re-
quire the expensing of stock options for the top five most highly
paid executives. However, that is a sham. These bills would require
companies using an option pricing model, like Black-Scholes, to as-
sume that the underlying stock prices has zero volatility. This min-
imum value approach allows companies to set the exercise price of
the option equal to the current market price and book the value of
the option at zero.

Of course, in real life, the prices of publicly traded stocks are
volatile, and these executive stock options have real value. Passing
a bill that says that public company stock prices do not move and
directing FASB to run an accounting system on that basis is the
equivalent of passing a bill saying the Earth does not move around
the sun, and then asking NASA to run a space program on that
basis. You can do it, but don’t be surprised if something crashes.

This slight of hand involving volatility is the latest example of
misleading arguments surrounding the technical details of option
valuation. My written statement goes into that in detail and I
would be happy to answer questions on it.

Today, the executives of the international stock options coalition
have one billion dollars in options, in the money option value held,
not one penny of which has been expensed. It should not be any
mystery as to what their motives are. What is mysterious is how
these executives of companies like Texas Instruments and Hewlett-
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Packard reconcile the expenditures they are making in the cause
of distorting their financial statements against the express wishes
of the majority of their shareholders at both companies who voted
on this, with those same executives’ fiduciary duties of loyalty and
care.

What is the bottom line of all of this? Let me refer you to the
congressional testimony of former Enron CEO Jeffrey Skilling. As
he put it, “You issue stock options to reduce compensation expense
and, therefore, increase your profitability.” Surely we have learned
enough from Enron not to mandate by statute that the Enron ap-
proach to not accounting for stock options be the law of the land.

Thank you very much.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you very much, Mr. Silvers. Mr.
Delves.

TESTIMONY OF DONALD P. DELVES,! PRESIDENT, THE DELVES
GROUP

Mr. DELVES. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

I have been advising boards of directors and management on ex-
ecutive compensation for almost 20 years. Based on my experience,
there is absolutely no question in my mind that we must have an
expense for options, and it must be meaningful, significant, and
soon. And there is no question that the FASB should decide how
that expense will be determined.

Ten years ago, the FASB tried to implement an expense for op-
tions. Congress intervened and the FASB backed down. Let’s look
at the results. Over the last 10 years, executive pay has spiraled
out of control, mostly due to excessive grants of stock options. Stock
options use has more than tripled and boards of directors have
done a poor job of getting more performance from this unprece-
dented increase in compensation.

I believe that had the FASB been allowed to do its job and imple-
ment an expense 10 years ago, we would not be in the mess that
we’re in today with regard to executive pay and corporate govern-
ance.

Now let’s look at what’s happening around the country today. Be-
cause the FASB has put this expense out there, and most compa-
nies are taking this seriously, the good news is that in board rooms
across the country boards of directors are reexamining their use of
stock options and are coming up with new solutions and, in some
cases, they’re even lowering executive pay.

Boards are asking tougher questions about the true cost of op-
tions and what they’re getting in exchange for it. For example, we
were asked to do an analysis for a company to show the board what
the total cost to the shareholders had been of their stock option
program. We were able to show that board of directors, over 10
years, $1.2 billion of shareholder wealth had been transferred from
shareholders to executives. There was no way that we could have
done that using publicly available data.

Now, interestingly, we also showed that same board that, over
that 10 year period, had they expensed options using FASB’s pro-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Delves with an attachment appears in the Appendix on page
100.
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posed method, the expense would have been $600 million, roughly
half of the total cost to shareholders.

Now, our research shows that we expect that to be true over time
and across companies, that roughly 50 percent of the ultimate cost
to shareholders will be captured in the accounting expense. How-
ever, that expense occurs up front when the options are granted.
If it’s a high performing company and the stock price goes up, the
total cost to shareholders could be much greater. But for the poor
performing company, the cost to shareholders could be much lower.
It could even be zero.

For that reason, I prefer the intrinsic value method that Mr.
Herz discussed, which is the alternative method that is allowed for
certain private companies. I think it does a better job of capturing
the true cost to shareholders. It would provide better information
to board of directors and could result in more creative solutions in
executive pay.

However, the debate over how the expense should be determined
belongs with the FASB. I look forward to engaging with them in
that debate according to their proscribed process.

So, in summary, there must be a significant and meaningful ex-
pense for stock options, and FASB must decide how.

Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Mr. Delves. Mr. Heesen.

TESTIMONY OF MARK HEESEN,! PRESIDENT, NATIONAL
VENTURE CAPITAL ASSOCIATION

Mr. HEESEN. Good afternoon.

I'm going to address this question as it really relates around pri-
vate companies and newly public companies. That’s where the ven-
ture capital industry concentrates and that’s where 11 percent of
the employment opportunities are right now.

Almost without exception, young, growth oriented venture
backed companies use options to attract the brightest talent at a
time when cash is scarce, just as Senator Bennett was saying.
These employees take a considerable risk to work at unproven com-
panies, knowing that through their stock option program they may
be rewarded, if and only if the company succeeds.

Should FASB’s proposal go through, we believe stock options will
be artificially too costly for many of these young companies to offer
to all their employees, thus seriously hindering their ability to at-
tract human capital to compete and providing a false picture of
their financial health, which will ultimately lengthen their reliance
on venture capital.

This is the important point from our angle. The longer these
companies stay artificially in the red, the longer it takes our com-
panies to be acceptable to the public. Because there aren’t analysts
following these kinds of companies, we will have to continue to
work with those companies at the expense of putting new money
into new companies. That means fewer venture backed companies
will be funded, fewer new technologies will be funded, because our
industry does not scale. There are only a certain number of venture

1The prepared statement of Mr. Heesen appears in the Appendix on page 105.
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capitalists who know how to basically grow companies, and they
will only be able to do so much in this period.

We have seen this in the past. You will see a reduction in the
numb?r of emerging growth companies being funded by venture
capital.

One of the largest challenges of mandatory option expensing for
small companies is the burden of valuation, which we’ve been talk-
ing about. FASB has put forth three models for valuation. The first
two models, Black-Scholes and the lattice method, require a vola-
tility number as a critical input. Yet, the underlying shares of a
privately held company have never been liquid, so there is no
precedent to derive a volatility number, thus creating a significant
and costly accounting quagmire.

When issuing FAS 123 in 1994, FASB agreed. They stated the
Board recognizes that estimating expected volatility for the stock
of a newly formed entity that is rarely traded, even privately, is not
feasible. The Board therefore decided to permit a nonpublic entity
to omit expected volatility in determining a value for its options.
The result is that a nonpublic entity may use the minimum value
method.

Rather than to continue to offer private companies the minimum
value method, which sets volatility at zero, FASB now advises
these organizations to use Black-Scholes, the lattice method, or as
we’ve been hearing a lot here today, the intrinsic value reporting.
We believe that this intrinsic value reporting model really is akin
to offering no choice at all.

In its proposal, FASB has modified the intrinsic value calculation
to require that the share options and similar options be remeas-
ured at intrinsic value at each reporting period through the date
of settlement. Historically, this calculation has taken place only
once, recognizing that companies rarely have the information to
reset a stock price that is not tradeable. A continuous recalculation
of intrinsic value is too costly for most organizations to bear, result-
ing in invariable accounting which is the result—which experts
have recognized is unwieldy and impractical, but a gold mine for
newly admitted valuation consultants, accountants, and let’s not
forget the trial board.

Unfortunately, GAAP is not a matter of choice for private compa-
nies. Most start up and report their financials under GAAP be-
cause they expect or hope to ultimately move through an initial
IPO process or be acquired by a public company. Again, by placing
this accounting burden on young companies, FASB is lengthening
the reliance on expensive, high risk capital to the start-up sector.

Should FASB move forward with its current stock option ac-
counting mandate, the Board will be acting in direct conflict with
its stated goals: “The cost imposed to meet that standard as com-
pared to other alternatives are justified in relation to the overall
benefits from improvements in financial reporting.” The Board has
long acknowledged that the cost of any accounting requirement
falls disproportionately on small entities because of their limited
accounting resources and the need to rely on outside professionals.

As the Chicago Tribune stated in its April 6 editorial, “Expensing
isn’t a panacea for investors and it carries a cost that could hurt
entrepreneurship.”
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Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you.

Before I go on to Mr. Glassman, because I'm from Illinois, I have
to respond to the Chicago Tribune. I have Mr. Ciesielski’s Analyst
Accounting Observer Report that shows that the Tribune Company,
which owns the Chicago Tribune—and I love the Chicago Tribune,
I've read it all my life, and they always endorse me. They’re a won-
derful paper.

But the last time I checked, their earnings were overstated more
than any other company in my State. According to this report, their
earnings in 2003 were overstated by 10 percent by virtue of their
failure to expense stock option compensation. They are heavy users
of stock option compensation. Their earnings per share, as reported
last year, were $2.61. If they had expensed their stock option com-
pensation, it would be $2.38.

I only wanted to disclose that because I thought they should
have disclosed that in the editorial they wrote opposing the new
FASB rule.

Mr. HEESEN. And I would love to see the Washington Post do the
same thing, frankly, on the other side, with Mr. Buffett owning a
good chunk of the Washington Post. That would also be helpful.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Buffett does, and he favors the expens-
ing of stock options——

Mr. HEESEN. And we would never see

Senator FITZGERALD. Also, I think they have a shareholder there,
Donald Graham, who doesn’t want to give all his value away nec-
essarily, so he’s really watching the company. He’s an owner more
than just a manager, and he’s representing the interests of the
owners. We'll leave some time for questioning, though. Mr. Glass-
man works for the Washington Post, but apparently does not share
their editorial viewpoint.

Thank you, Mr. Glassman.

TESTIMONY OF JAMES K. GLASSMAN,! RESIDENT FELLOW,
AMERICAN ENTERPRISE INSTITUTE

Mr. GLASSMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for the
kind introductory remarks, Senator Levin.

Let me just comment on what you just said. I obviously have no
reaction to what you’re saying about the Washington Post. 1 do
have a number of very good friends who work for the Chicago Trib-
une at upper management levels, and I can tell you that one of the
reasons they are there and diligently working is, indeed, because
of their stock options, which they talk to me about all the time.

Let me begin my testimony. One in two American families own
stock, and one in eight U.S. private sector workers hold stock op-
tions. Senator Lieberman calls this revolutionary democratization.
I agree with that.

The FASB proposal of March 31 will adversely affect these Amer-
icans. The proposal is likely to depress the value of securities and,
for many firms, it will lead to the elimination or reduction of broad-
based stock options, 94 percent of which, according to a new study,
go to employees below the top management level. Discontinuing or

1The prepared statement of Mr. Glassman appears in the Appendix on page 112.
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reducing these options programs will have an adverse effect on
U.S. competitiveness, innovation, and job creation. It will need-
lessly damage the U.S. economy.

In 1972, when FASB’s predecessor first looked at this question—
not 10 years ago, but 1972—it decided against expensing options
when issued. The reason, “Because of the concern that stock op-
tions could not be reliably valued at the exercise date.” That is still
true.

Now, the current regime gives investors the information they
need in the form of copious material and financial statements. Mr.
Chairman, with your permission, I would like to enter into the
record—this is the Intel Corporation annual report. You can look
at virtually any annual report of a company that issues options.
Here under earnings per share it lists the effect of the dilution of
stock options, reducing earnings per share, which is what investors
care about, and it goes on for three pages with notes on stock op-
tions. That’s more information than most companies include on
things that I think are a lot more important, such as the sources
of their revenue, other forms of compensation, patents, debt, all
sorts of things. This information is in these annual reports.

Now, I would just like to focus briefly on the issue of FASB’s ac-
countability. Much has been made of FASB’s independence. But ac-
countants need to be accountable, too. As Mr. Volcker just said,
they need to be exposed to the real world—that is, to the people’s
representatives. America’s elected representatives not only have
the authority, they have the moral and legal responsibility to over-
see the activities of FASB just as they oversee the activities of the
SEC, which in 1973 ceded responsibility itself for these standards
to FASB.

Now, this does not mean modifying or overruling common, day-
to-day decisions. Of course, not. But it does mean carefully exam-
ining the impact of a tremendously important decision like this one
on options and accounting. This is not interference. This is not
intervention. This is not tampering. This is a responsible execution
of your job.

FASB has a single mission, which it states this way: “To estab-
lish and improve standards of financial accounting and reporting
for the guidance and education of the public, including issuers,
auditors, and users of financial information.” FASB executives have
said clearly that the economic consequences of their decisions do
not concern them, and theyre right. But you, as Federal policy-
makers, have a far broader mission: Encouraging economic growth,
preserving and increasing jobs, innovation and competitiveness.

Now, even if FASB’s expensing proposal were cogent from an ac-
counting and financial viewpoint—and in my opinion it is not—it
would be the duty of Congress to consider its economic impact.

Finally, FASB on the one hand states that it is independent, so
hands off. On the other, it has been vigorously lobbying. As I be-
lieve Senator Enzi originally said, there is an article today in the
Wall Street Journal, and let me just quote from it, about a con-
ference call yesterday:

“During the conference call Monday, Sir David Tweedy, chairman
of the International Accounting Standards Board, said to institu-
tional investors, it would be a ‘real disaster’ if Congress blocked



56

FASB. ‘We would be horrified if politicians in the United States
stepped in,” he said.”

Sorry, Sir David. Congress has work to do, and I congratulate
you, Mr. Chairman, on holding this hearing and doing that work.

Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Glassman, thank you.

On your remarks about Intel disclosing their in the money op-
tions, they don’t disclose in that footnote their stock options that
aren’t in the money; isn’t that correct?

Mr. GLASSMAN. Well, they disclose the number of them that are
not in the money. In other words, they say there are—believe it or
not, there are a lot of——

Senator FITZGERALD. They’re disclosing the dilution, though, in
the earnings per share, and they disclose the dilution in the earn-
ings per share of only in the money options.

Mr. GLASSMAN. That is correct. And that is the rule

Senator FITZGERALD. And then in the footnote, do they show the
potential dilution from all the options, not just the ones that are
currently in the money?

Mr. GLASSMAN. I'm not sure they make the calculation. I can’t
actually—I think that they do. But I can tell you that in the P&L,
where they do the earnings per share, they show the dilution of
stock options that are in the money, and they tell you the number
of stock options which are not in the money—By the way, as I re-
member, I just flipped a page and missed it, but I think I’'ve got
it down within a few million. There are 100 million options in the
money, and 400 million out of the money. I think this shows the
problgm, in fact, in trying to value stock options when they are
issued.

Unfortunately, as everyone here knows, stock prices have
dropped for a lot of tech companies, and a lot of these options are
way out of the money.

Mr. HEESEN. They call that super dilution. There have been a lot
of companies who said they would love to put that information out.
A couple of business periodicals have actually said, if we could do
that, that would be fine as an additional part of the disclosure, to
put in basically the worst case scenario. If tomorrow, every option
you had was exercised, what would that impact be on your com-
pany.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Just going back to Mr. Glassman, you
are on an advisory board for Intel, right?

Mr. GLAsSMAN. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. You heard my opening statement where 1
was quoting from Benjamin Graham’s book, “Security Analysis—"

Mr. GLASSMAN. A great book. I congratulate you for quoting from
it.

Senator FITZGERALD. I haven’t read the whole thing, but I looked
up the part on what he called stock option warrants.

Do you agree with him when he said the basic fact about op-
tions—he calls them option warrants—is that it represents some-
thing which has been taken away from the common stock? The
equation is a simple one. The value of the common stock, plus the
value of stock options, equals the value of the common stock alone
if there were no options.
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In other words, if you own a company—let’s say you own 100
shares of a company and that is all the company has in out-
standing shares—you own all of it. All of a sudden the company
gives me 100 options to buy shares in your company. Something
has been taken away from you, right? You're going to share equally
with me now in the upside participation of any future enhancement
or rise in the profitability of the company.

Do you agree with that?

Mr. GLASSMAN. I do agree with it. But what is being taken away
is something that is extremely contingent and difficult to value. If
you're simply giving out warrants, which are things that anybody
can convert immediately into stock, and that are tradeable in most
cases, that’s one thing. But if you're giving me an option which re-
quires me, for example, to stay in the company and not get fired,
not leave for a number of years, and I don’t know whether the price
is going to go up or down, that’s something that is contingent,
which I think is handled quite well, and I think has been for dec-
ades——

Senator FITZGERALD. I agree it’s difficult to value, but deprecia-
tion is difficult to measure, the wearing out of a useable life of
plant and equipment, that’s an age old debate, but it nonetheless
is a real expense to a company. As a capital asset runs out of its
useful life and approaches obsolescence, the company is actually
going to have to expend cash to buy new plant and equipment. It
is a real expense and we do try to capture it. We don’t argue that
we’ll just ignore that expense and pretend it doesn’t exist, too. The
same with pension liabilities, amortization of good will or impair-
ment of good will, and the value of derivatives. Those are all dif-
ficult questions, aren’t they?

Mr. GLASSMAN. They are difficult questions, there’s no doubt
about that. I think, however, that we’re going down exactly the
wrong road here. What we’re trying to do is take a lot of informa-
tion, which is, indeed, provided to investors, and shoehorn it into
one number, which is not going to be an accurate number.

I don’t think that really helps investors at all. I think the current
regime actually helps investors a lot more than trying to pluck a
number out of the air, which is almost certainly going to be inac-
curate. All but the back testing has shown that whatever system
is going to be used is not going to produce accurate numbers.
That’s the problem.

What I find somewhat ironic, I know that Mr. Herz has made
comments in the past about the importance of really getting to
work at the true challenge for accounting, which is how, in a
knowledge-based economy, can you provide the proper information
to investors. I don’t think that proper information is one number
to represent a very complex phenomenon.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. I have a meeting I'm going to go to in
the anteroom, and I'm now going to turn the questioning over to
Senator Levin. Then I'm going to try and come back and continue
on with my questions.

Senator LEVIN [presiding]. Mr. Glassman, I think you said some-
body from the International Accounting Standards Board said he
would be horrified if Congress acted?
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Mr. GLASSMAN. He said he would be horrified. He didn’t say Con-
gress. He said if politicians—I guess he was referring to Con-
gress—in the United States stepped in.

Senator LEVIN. I thought you said, in introducing that comment,
said it was FASB that was lobbying us. Did FASB put them up to
it, the JASB?

Mr. GLASSMAN. I don’t know if they put them up to it, but there
was a joint conference call which FASB, according to the Wall
Strget Journal, held with a number of institutional investors yes-
terday.

You heard from the testimony, obviously, that part of the impe-
tus here is to have a convergence of international accounting stand-
ards and U.S. accounting standards

Senator LEVIN. That’s just stating a position, right? Is that lob-
bying, what you would call it? If they're just stating their position
as to why they’re doing what theyre doing, and we call them in
front of us today and they gave us their position—I just want to
find out something else.

Are you suggesting that FASB somehow or other has urged peo-
ple to lobby for their rule, because I would like to hear from Mr.
Herz on that.

Mr. GLAsSSMAN. I think Mr. Herz will tell you that FASB has at
least one full-time lobbyist on its—a registered lobbyist on its staff.

Senator LEVIN. Let’s find out what the lobbying is.

Mr. Herz is sitting out there. What lobbying do you do?

Mr. HERZ. Our registered lobbyist is Mr. Mahoney, who is here
as a staff person to answer your staff’s questions and help prepare
my testimony. It is to provide people on the Hill and Federal agen-
cies information when they ask——

Senator LEVIN. OK. I just wanted to clear that up. Anyway, Sir
David Tweedy is on the International Accounting Standards Board.

The next question. Is the problem that you two have, Mr. Heesen
and Mr. Glassman, is it mainly on the valuation issue, or if they
were easily valued, readily valued, would you still object to them
because theyre such a valuable incentive for folks to join compa-
nies and invest their time and so forth? Which is the bigger issue
for you?

Mr. HEESEN. We have a fundamental issue with the idea that
these should be expensed, that these options——

Senator LEVIN. Even if they were easily valued?

Mr. HEESEN. No. But having said that, under where we are at
this point, we believe that the valuation issue is extremely impor-
tant, particularly for young, privately held companies, where it’s al-
most impossible to come up with a logical number.

Senator LEVIN. Are you saying it’s more difficult than other
kinds of valuations which we’ve heard about this afternoon?

Mr. HEESEN. It’s more difficult, and it’s going to be more costly,
particularly for small companies.

Senator LEVIN. More difficult than the convertible bonds and
long dated stock warrants and all those other things?

Mr. HEESEN. A young company is not going to be using any of
those things. It’s great for Cocoa Cola, but we’re not in that boat.

Senator LEVIN. But it’s more difficult than all the other items
that are difficult to value that you heard about today?
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Mr. HEESEN. All the other things that a small community would
use at the end of the day are going to get trued up. That’s the im-
portant thing. The stock options, you put them out and that valu-
ation is wrong, it’s not going to get trued up at the end of the day.
You're going to have to carry it forward with that bad number.

Senator LEVIN. One easy way to do it is the alternative way of
valuation. Do you have a problem with that?

Mr. HEESEN. Yes. As I stated in my statement, intrinsic value is
not—what we believe, when we looked at it carefully, it is not a
way, a proper way of doing accounting.

Senator LEVIN. I was referring to the alternative way which I
heard at the end of the testimony by Mr. Herz, about small busi-
nesses being able to take the same valuation on their books as they
do on their taxes.

Mr. HEESEN. That we have not looked at. I have not specifically
looked at that at this point.

Senator LEVIN. I thought that was part of your proposal.

Mr. HEESEN. No. The intrinsic value

Senator LEVIN. No, something else.

Mr. Herz, what do you call that alternative approach that you
were thinking about having small businesses have the option to
use? Is that the intrinsic value approach?

Mr. HERZ. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. OK. Thank you. Then I'm wrong. The intrinsic
value approach I guess is what they call that.

Mr. HEESEN. Exactly. And as I stated in my statement, what
that does is force you, instead of only once, to go out and get a
valuation consultant to do this quarterly, so the cost imposed really
does not make this a choice at all at the end of the day.

Senator LEVIN. If you were given a choice, if small business were
given a choice of simply taking the same figure that they take on
their tax returns and putting it on their own books, would that be
a problem for you?

Mr. HEESEN. I don’t know. We would have to look at that.

Senator LEVIN. Well, it’s been out there for 10 years, Mr. Heesen.
I've been around and around with folks on that issue for 10 years,
and then people say they’ve got to take a look at it.

Mr. HEESEN. Well, the difference is

Senator LEVIN. Logically, is there any problem with that?

Mr. HEESEN. I don’t know, because tax accounting is very dif-
ferent, as the chairman of FASB said, as opposed to accounting.

Senator LEVIN. It usually is. But if you’re looking for certainty
and you want to make sure that no one is trying to figure out how
to do something in advance which is difficult to assess, then one
way to do it is to say, OK, we’ll give you a choice. You can either
take it the complicated way, which you think is a complicated way,
or you can take it the simple way, which is, if you want a tax de-
duction for a business expense, show that on your books. That’s
real simple.

You're not telling me that you'’re willing to do that?

Mr. HEESEN. We would have to look at that. I'm not going to say
that a small business, when they have all these other issues in
front of them, is going to take that very quickly. I don’t know.

Senator LEVIN. OK. Will you let the Subcommittee know?
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Mr. HEESEN. Absolutely.!

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Glassman, do you have a problem with that?

Mr. GLAsSMAN. No. I think that, just as a principle, I think tax
accounting, and whatever we want to call this reporting account-
ing, GAAP accounting, ought to be as close as possible to the same
thing.

Senator LEVIN. So that if we gave small businesses, let’s say, an
option of putting the same business expense on their books as they
take as a tax deduction on their taxes, you would say that makes
good sense to you?

Mr. GrLAassMAN. I guess I would have to answer the question in
a broader way, which is that tax accounting and GAAP accounting
should be the same. But I think that would mean we would need
to look at the entire Tax Code as a result. I think we should,
but——

Senator LEVIN. I don’t know that we’re going to be able to look
at the entire Tax Code as a result of looking at one bill. Since
that’s your general principle, would you apply it here?

Mr. GLASSMAN. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. OK. That’s helpful. I think that’s going to be a
very useful alternative, and I predict to you what the outcome will
be when we consider that alternative. It will be the same throwing
up of hands and saying no, we don’t want to do that. That’s even
worse than what FASB is proposing, because that frequently is a
bigger number than what FASB is proposing. But I will predict
right now, Mr. Heesen—I shouldn’t predict your answer, but I look
forward to your answer with unbaited breath.

Now, the only reason I say that, by the way, is because I've been
around that track before. About 10 years ago I made that sugges-
tion, and the immediate instinct was hey, that makes sense, and
then within 24 hours, folks who opposed FASB came back and said
they’re very much opposed to that. I hope your answer is different.

Mr. HEESEN. And I'm looking at it from a small business perspec-
tive, not from probably the people you were talking about, from the
bigger companies 10 years ago.

Senator LEVIN. No, these weren’t the bigger companies. These
were start-up companies. OK. At any rate, thank you for getting
back on that.

The only other question I think I will ask before I ask our Chair-
man to come back is the numbers, Mr. Glassman, that you gave us,
and then I would like to talk to Mr. Silvers about the number of
workers that hold stock options in the private sector. You said one
in eight employees in the private sector——

Mr. GLASSMAN. Yes. This is in my written testimony.

Senator LEVIN. It was a Harvard study or something

Mr. GLASSMAN. You had two Rutgers professors and one Harvard
professor.

Senator LEVIN. OK. Then it’s a Rutgers study in that case.

Mr. Silvers, is that your experience at the AFL-CIO, about the
one in eight?

1Letter of clarification from Mr. Heesen, dated Apri. 30, 2004, appears in the Appendix on
page 152.
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Mr. SILVERS. That’s about 12 percent. That doesn’t sound off the
track. The professor, Professor Blasi at Rutgers, is a recognized ex-
pert in this area.

Senator LEVIN. In the one question I have on that study, are
these people who own stock options as a result of getting them at
work as part of their compensation?

Mr Glassman. Yes, sir. It’s part of the compensation stock op-
tions. Actually, it’s very interesting because the figure that they
use is 13 percent. I just made it one out of eight, which is 12%% per-
cent, including 57 percent of workers in computer services, 43 per-
cent of workers in communications, and 27 percent in the finance
industry.

Senator LEVIN. And that other figure that you cite, 94 percent of
options being held by employees below the top levels of manage-
ment?

Mr. GLASSMAN. That also comes from the same study.

Senator LEVIN. What is that level? That’s a much different——

Mr. GLASSMAN. Actually, I don’t know that.

Mr. SILVERS. Senator, if I might, I think part of the confusion
here is that the 94 percent number is broad-based plans. If you
look at all options, I believe the correct number is the National
Center for Employee Ownership number that Senator Lieberman
mentioned earlier in the hearing, which is, I guess, about 70 per-
cent of the options that are out there in total, that are issued by
employers to employees at all levels, are held by the very top level
of management.

Senator LEVIN. And do we know how “top level” is defined?

Mr. SILVERS. I believe in that number—I'm not sure. My guess
is that number is looking at the SEC disclosing top five executives.
I may be wrong, though. It may be a slightly larger slice.

Mr. GLASSMAN. I'm pretty sure that is correct.

Actually, if T could just intervene for a second, you asked me the
same question you asked Mr. Heesen. I think this would be my an-
swer to your original question, which is more important. I think it’s
very important that more and more Americans have the oppor-
tunity to own stock options and other ways to participate in owner-
ship of the companies that they work for.

Senator LEVIN. I agree.

Mr. GLAsSSMAN. I think that’s a great thing, and this

Senator LEVIN. I think all of us would agree with that.

Mr. GLAssMAN. Clearly, according to just about everyone who has
opined on this subject, from whatever position, this will discourage
that. There is no doubt about that. I think you can take that
into

Senator LEVIN. How about grants of stock?

Mr. GrAassMAN. I like grants of stock. The problem with grants
of stock is that they do not provide as much of an incentive to
many employees as options, because there’s much more leverage in
options, obviously.

Senator LEVIN. Say you have a stock grant that is conditioned
upon the company reaching certain levels.
hMr. GLASSMAN. I think that’s fine, and I really do believe
that

Senator LEVIN. Is that treated as compensation on the books?
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Mr. GLASSMAN. I don’t know the answer to that.

Mr. HEESEN. Yes, it is.

Senator LEVIN. Sure, it is. So why is this different? They’re both
valuable.

By the way, I agree with you. I'm all for stock grants conditioned
on companies doing well. I think it’s great. I'm a big Aesop man.
Russell Long taught us about that. I believe in stock options. I
think it’s fine. The only question is how you account for them, and
why would we want to account differently for conditional stock
grants on how a company does and stock options based on how a
company does? What’s the logic in treating those two things dif-
ferently? Mr. Glassman.

I'm stalling here while our Chairman comes in.

Mr. GLASSMAN. It’s a good question. I guess I would turn the
question around and say, why do we need to make a change if this
information is broadly available to investors and anyone else who
wants to make a decision about valuing a company. It’s all right
there. By making the change, you are actually going to incent busi-
nesses or push businesses into abandoning these programs, which
are good programs.

Senator LEVIN. The reason for the change is honest accounting
according to the Independent Accounting Board. That’s the reason
for the change. The answer to the question is how do you logically
treat those two conditional grants differently. In fact, as I under-
stand it, even a grant of a stock option dependent upon whether
a company does certain things or the stock goes up in value is also
valued under current law, under current standards.

The one exception to all these uncertain types of compensation,
the one exception is stock options. If I tell you, if you will come
with my company, youre going to get a thousand shares of stock,
if you can double the value of this stock within the next 10 years,
at any time during that 10 years, that grant, conditional as it is,
uncertain as it is—we don’t know if the company stock is going to
go up or down or not—but I offer that to you to get you to come
to my company, to be an executive at my company, that is ex-
pensed now. But the stock option isn’t, and there is no logical basis
that I can see for differentiating there, and there’s no reason why
we ought to say you get a tax deduction for the expense but you
don’t have to show the expense on your books.

Why should we then give a tax deduction? If you want the ac-
counting to be the same, OK, maybe we then ought to say you don’t
get a tax deduction. Would that then satisfy your rule about keep-
ing tax accounting the same as regular accounting? You don’t get
a tax deduction?

1(\1/11‘. GLASSMAN. Well, the tax deduction doesn’t come until the
end——

Senator LEVIN. Right. But it’s still not shown as an expense on
your books. Wouldn’t we then, to follow your rule, say OK, we
won’t show it as an expense on the books, but we’re not going to
give you an expense on your taxes, either. That would then be con-
sistent with your generic accounting principle, would it not?

Mr. GLASSMAN. I guess it would. I think those things ought to
be consistent. But I think the main principle here is that broad
based stock options have been tremendously beneficial to the U.S.



63

economy, whether they’re exactly in concert with this kind of in-
credibly complex GAAP accounting system we have now, with some
other instrument or not. They are very valuable in real life to our
real economy. This measure will cause companies, will certainly
incent companies, to abandon these programs.

I must tell you, I don’t think that’s very good. I do think this is
the responsibility of Congress to examine and to see what it can
do about it. I don’t think that in any way impairs the independence
of FASB, not in the least.

Senator LEVIN. I'm for incentive pay of any kind, frankly. I think
it does perform a very important economic function, subject to some
of the qualifications which Mr. Silvers put out there, too, where the
main beneficiaries are, depending upon how you incentivize it. But
I happen to agree with the principle that incentive pay is a good
thing, but that is the only form of incentive pay which is treated
the way it is. That makes no sense

Mr. GLASSMAN. Well, maybe all the other ones should be treated
the same way that options are, because I think, as public policy,
we want to encourage this. We really do. We don’t want to encour-
age companies to be sloppy and to take undue risks and to do all
sorts of other things, so we would have to watch it. But in general,
we want to encourage this kind of practice, and this will discourage
it. That’s my only message.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD [presiding]. Senator Levin, thank you for
covering for me.

I now would ask for unanimous consent—and I will grant it to
myself—to introduce Mr. Ciesielski’s April 2004 Analyst’s Account-
ing Observer Report into the record.?

You developed tables, and one table shows the 50 companies
whose unreported stock compensation caused earnings to be over-
stated by 10 percent or more, ranked by descending order of over-
statement.

The company which most overstated its earnings was Yahoo!. It
overstated its earnings by 640 percent. You derived that calculation
by looking at their earnings per share as reported, which was 37
cents per share in 2003, but if they had expensed, I assume, using
the Black-Scholes model—is that right?

Mr. CIESIELSKI. I believe that’s what they used. Only a handful
had used other than binomial, and I can remember those.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. If they expensed their stock option
compensation, their earnings per share would have been reduced
from 37 cents a share to 5 cents a share. So their overstatement
of their earnings to the public was 640 percent. That’s a pretty
whopping deception in my judgment.

But when you think about it, I noticed just looking last night on
the computer, it looked like Yahoo! was now selling at a trailing
12-month PE of 128, which is a humongous PE. But that PE as-
sumes that their real earnings were their reported earnings. If one
looks at their real earnings as their earnings as reported minus an
expense item for stock option compensation—if I were to do the
math on their closing price at December 31, their closing price was

1“The Analyst’s Accounting Observer,” appears in the Appendix on page 153.
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$45.03, and their earnings per share were 5 cents a share—then
their PE at December 31, 2003 looks to me to have been 900. So
am I correct, that investors would be paying $900 to get a claim
to one dollar’s worth of earnings?

Mr. CiesSIELSKI. That’s the linear math, yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. Am I doing that——

Mr. CieSIELSKI. I think you’re doing that correctly. I don’t have
a calculator to verify, but it sounds like it’s in the ballpark.

EVENING SESSION [6 p.m.]

Senator FITZGERALD. Now, going back, Mr. Glassman, to where
we were talking about—you said you agreed with Benjamin Gra-
ham’s analysis, that the value of common stock plus options equals
the value of common stock if there were no options.

Let’s assume the new FASB rule does deter companies from
issuing as many options. Let’s assume it deters them from issuing
options altogether and a company like Yahoo! stops issuing options.
I don’t think that will happen. I think they will just start expens-
ing them and be more discreet about issuing them. They won’t be
gorging themselves on stock options any more.

Going back to that company that you and I talked about that had
100 shares, and you own all the shares, and we no longer give 100
options to me or anybody else in your company. Then aren’t your
100 shares in your company worth more because you're back to
having a 100 percent claim on the future earnings of your com-
pany, and you’re not giving options to participate in the future ap-
preciation to anyone else? Wouldn’t your shares be worth more?

Mr. GrLASSMAN. Well, except for the fact that my company, the
company whose shares I own, would not have been able to attract
the kind of people that Yahoo! has attracted, that Microsoft has at-
tracted, that Intel has attracted, that Dell has attracted, because
of employee broad-based stock options. I mean, this is the reason
these options are offered. They are offered to attract really good
people. I think anyone in Silicon Valley will tell you——

Senator FITZGERALD. Where are these employees going to go,
though, in the new world where the same accounting rules apply
to everybody?

Mr. GLASSMAN. I hope the new world is competitive so that we
don’t have converging—we could do that with the tax codes, too.

Can I just comment on what Mr. Ciesielski’s work——

Senator FITZGERALD. But isn’t it possible your stock price could
go up because now there’s no longer these options out there dilut-
ing you?

Mr. GLASSMAN. Maybe. It really depends on what investors
think. If all of a sudden Yahoo! said “well, we’re giving up our
stock options; we don’t think they’re going to work”, investors may
feel well, that’s fine, so now the value is higher or it’s the same.
But they may get very distressed by it and say, well, that happens,
ﬂng then Google is going to take all the good people that Yahoo!

ad.

This issue of Mr. Ciesielski’s work, where he found the 640 per-
cent overstatement, the information that he got, I'm pretty sure, is
public information. Every investor, every smart analyst like Mr.
Ciesielski, is——
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Senator FITZGERALD. But he had to spend a lot of time and he
has been a life time professional doing this. Do you think the aver-
age guy could do this?

Mr. GLASSMAN. Well, guess what? He just published it. So one
would expect that other people then get the information. It’s the
way markets work.

Senator FITZGERALD. They pay him.

Mr. GLASSMAN. According to your theory, that would drive the
price of this stock down to virtually nothing, or certainly about a
sixth of its value. But the fact is people already know about this.

Senator FITZGERALD. I think you’re right, and that’s why I don’t
think stock prices will necessarily go down. In fact, I think they
may go up because the shareholders of Yahoo! will then get all of
the future rise in the value of the company which inherently be-
longs to them anyway. They won’t have to give a part of their stake
in the future of the company to anyone else, so I think their stock
could actually go up.

Let’s go back to Mr. Heesen. Initially you said the longer a com-
pany stays artificially in the red—I don’t agree with you that it’s
artificially in the red; I think it’s artificially in the black when you
are bringing them to the market now, and I think we will have a
more accurate picture once the FASB rules go into effect. But you
said it will take longer to bring them public.

But don’t you think that I should be, as a government policy
maker, concerned not just about the venture capitalists—who want
to unload their investment on the public, close out their fund, and
make a big return—but about the people out there who are going
to buy the shares in this company that you're going to try to unload
on them?

Mr. HEESEN. Absolutely. If you look at the venture-backed com-
panies versus nonventure-backed companies on NASDAQ, they
have traditionally done much better. So if you're going to be look-
ing at companies between whether they're venture backed or not
venture backed

Senator FITZGERALD. Over how long a period?

Mr. HEESEN. That’s been historical for 20 or 30 years, since the
venture capital industry has been in existence by and large.

Senator FITZGERALD. They've done better than other companies
for how long, though, after they’ve gone public?

Mr. HEESEN. They have consistently gone—going out, and long
run, because they are

Senator FITZGERALD. Twenty, 30 years down the road companies
that had venture capitalists at the start?

Mr. HEESEN. When you look at the Federal Expresses, the Cis-
co’s, the Intels, the entire buyer technology industry, literally has
all been financed by venture capital at one point or another. Those
are the companies that are driving this economy and continue to
drive it.

Just this quarter, you look at the venture-backed IPOs that went
out, there were 13 venture-backed IPOs. One of those was the big-
gest venture-backed IPO ever that went public in the United
States. Unfortunately, it’s a Chinese semiconductor company, so
that’s how we’re starting to see the changes here, and that com-
pany is giving options and it’s going to be a very effective company.
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And you know what? All the institutional investors like that com-
pany and they’re putting money into it and it’s doing very well
right now. That’s kind of where we’re going in this environment.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Delves, you looked like you had your
hand up.

Mr. DELVES. Yes, thank you. I wanted to make a comment on the
discussion you were having with Mr. Glassman. You were debating
the cost to shareholders of stock options versus the benefits to
shareholders of the incentive provided by options. That debate can’t
happen and doesn’t happen, and hasn’t happened, in board rooms
because there’s no expense for stock options.

With an expense for stock options, boards of directors can now
start having that debate and balance the cost versus benefits to
shareholders.

Mr. HEESEN. I would disagree on that from a small company per-
spective, in the respect that venture capitalists happily dilute their
ownership in a company, and knowingly do that, to give those op-
tions to employees, because they know at the end of the day those
companies are going to grow as a result of it.

Senator FITZGERALD. But it also, as you said, allows you to bring
a company to an IPO sooner.

Mr. HEESEN. Yes, but also, if you look at——

Senator FITZGERALD. So you have a good reason to suffer that di-
lution because, otherwise, you might have to hold on to it longer.

Mr. HEESEN. Yes, but as a Harvard study 2 years ago put out,
a venture backed company actually takes longer to go public than
a nonventure backed company, contrary to popular belief.

Senator FITZGERALD. Now, I know venture capitalists all over the
country; I know people in the Texas Pacific Group out West; I know
the Madison Dearborn Partners people in my State. I know Ned
Heiser, who brought——

Mr. HEESEN. Most of the buyouts are not venture capital,
but

Senator FITZGERALD [continuing]. Federal Express public many
years ago. And I know Thayer Capital, the Carlyle Group, and so
forth. The venture capitalists I have talked to from the Midwest
and the East have had a different approach than those coming
from the Silicon Valley area—the Kleiner, Perkins of the world—
that are very heavily invested in high tech. I do think there’s a big
difference between the midwestern venture capitalists. They are
simply not as concerned about the expensing of stock options as the
ones out West, based on

Mr. HEESEN. Well, I think that’s a definitional issue, in that ven-
ture capital in the Midwest is more buyouts, to be perfectly honest,
than it is true venture capital.

The other unfortunate thing there is when you look at a Milken
study that just came out last week, you look at where they are
looking at, where are the next science and technology centers in
the country are going to be, and they rated each State. In the Mid-
west, there was only one State in the Midwest, Minnesota, that
broke the top 20, in the ability to attract companies that are
science and technology based to their States. Maybe there is some-
thing that the middle part of the country should be looking at, that
the East coast and West coast have been.
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Senator FITZGERALD. Clearly, there is a much greater reliance on
options in the high tech industry. The overstatement of the earn-
ings of the top 100 NASDAQ firms, last year was 44 percent, I
think it was.

Mr. CIESIELSKI. I didn’t do that study.

Senator FITZGERALD. No, I think that was Bear Sterns’ analysts
who did that study. It’s high tech firms primarily and a few other
industries that rely so heavily on options.

Going back to Jeffrey Skilling’s testimony, who brought up the
Skilling’s testimony? Mr. Silvers, I'll let you comment on this.

I remember him testifying. We were talking about how the ex-
ecutives at Enron, the top 29 executives cashed out a billion one
in options in the 3 years before the company’s stock collapsed and
it filed for bankruptcy, and there was a pattern that I detected of
executives cashing in their options and then leaving the company.
Remember the Army Secretary, Tom White, he cashed out his op-
tions and left? The fellow who committed suicide, unfortunately,
Frank Baxter, he cashed out his options and had left the company?
Skilling, of course, cashed out $70 million in options in 1991, and
then left the company in July or August.

Ken Lay cashed out about $250 million in options and had lined
up a job apparently as the CEO of another company. He had to
come back as CEO at Enron because otherwise he was left holding
the bag.

The one who blew the whistle in the Enron case, came forward,
they had made a mistake. They allowed an executive into Fastow’s
office who didn’t have stock options. Her name was Sharon Wat-
kins. She wrote that famous memo, “I ain’t getting nothing out of
this. Why am I going to go along with the deception?” Implying
that everyone else was going along with the deception. It was a
very simple Ponzi operation and the company was borrowing
money and booking it as earnings. Almost all their transactions
boiled down to that, and they parked the borrowings on off-the-
books partnerships, but they would borrow money and book it as
earnings. They had very little in the way of legitimate operations
that I could tell.

They were doing this, in my judgment, because they were getting
very rich very quickly, pumping up their share prices, cashing in
their options, and then they leave the company before the whole
house of cards collapsed.

We were talking to Skilling about the options and the fact that
they were taking tax deductions for it, that they were just gorging
themselves on stock options, and that there is no expense being re-
ported for that so their earnings were grossly overstated, just by
virtue of their failure to expense options. Skilling came right back
at us and said, I agree, the accounting rules are absurd, but it’s
Congress that interfered with FASB that allowed that to go on, so
you should be looking in the mirror.

Now, I wasn’t in the Senate when that happened. Senator
Lieberman was leading the fight against FASB back in those days.
Believe me, we met with a lot of ordinary shareholders who really
got taken in by that whole scam. They lost all their life savings,
and all the employees who had been encouraged by company execu-
tives to keep buying Enron stock and tucking it into their 401(K)
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plan, they lost everything. A lot of people lost everything on that.
A lot of that was due to the incentives of the excessive issuance of
options, in my judgment.

Mr. Silvers.

Mr. SILVERS. Senator, let me say that in the AFL-CIO I rep-
resented a number of those people who were the victims of that sit-
uation, who were left with nothing but severance, and not even
that. We were very proud to do that. I think they would have a
view on some of these discussions.

There are systematic reasons why options tended the direction
you indicated. This is why in the brief formal testimony I gave I
indicated we feel that options are an inferior form of executive com-
pensation. It’s not just that the accounting is not correct; it’s that
substantively they’re not a good form of executive compensation.

The reason is—and some of the reasons are fixable, meaning that
the typical executive stock option is a three-vesting period, histori-
cally. Some of that is changing right now. That could be changed
easily. That 3-year period makes it pretty easy to cash out and
leave. To manage the company with an eye towards maximizing
your cash out at that moment, it’s a pretty bad thing from the per-
spective of a pension fund that’s holding the company long term.

But there are other aspects of stock options that simply cannot
be fixed in relation to this problem, which is why we favor re-
stricted stock as a means of linking—long-term restricted stock as
a means of linking paid performance.

Senator FITZGERALD. Explain the difference between restricted
stock and stock options.

Mr. SILVERS. Restricted stock is simply stock in the company. It
is not an option. It is only the upside. You have the full exposure
to the upside and the downside. The restrictions around restricted
stock are similar and can be stronger than those associated with
options, restrictions in terms of when you can sell it, in terms of
vesting periods and so forth.

Th(;z critical difference here is that when an executive is not ex-
pose

Senator FITZGERALD. If you have restricted stock, then you don’t
just have a call on the future price.

Mr. SILVERS. Precisely. You have——

Senator FITZGERALD. If the stock goes down—it’s a two-way ele-
vator.

Mr. SILVERS. A two-way elevator, exactly.

Mr. GLassMAN. No, it’s exactly the opposite. If youre given re-
stricted stock—anybody can buy stock, and then there’s a down-
side. But the way restricted stock works is that you are given the
stock. So let’s say you're given the stock at $20, you pay zero, usu-
ally, and now it goes down to $15, now you've got $15, which you
never had before. That’s the difference.

In fact, if the stock price goes down and you've got an option,
you've got zero.

Senator FITZGERALD. So it’s really no better than options, except
that it does have to be expensed.

Mr. GLASSMAN. It’s not better. It’s not worse. It’s a choice. With
options, basically you're getting more leverage. In other words, if
it goes up, you make a lot more. If it goes down, you make nothing.
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Senator FITZGERALD. OK. What’s the public policy rationale for
requiring issuance of restricted stock to be expensed but not the
issuance of stock options?

Mr. HEESEN. In our view, it’s pay for—in restricted stock, it
doesn’t matter. You get it today at $20, you've got $20, and if it
goes down to $10, you still have $10. If you work a little hard, it
might get up to $30. But if you have an option, you have nothing
until—

Senator FITZGERALD. But we require the issuance of restricted
stock to be expensed because we recognize we're taking away some-
thing from the company.

Mr. HEESEN. You are taking from the company at that point, ex-
actly. That’s a very different thing than an option.

Senator FITZGERALD. You don’t think they’re taking anything
from the shareholders?

Mr. HEESEN. Dilution, absolutely. And we talk about that, and
that’s why when we look at this, we look at shareholder dilution
as being the main key here.

Mr. SILVERS. Senator, these gentleman are simply wrong. Let me
explain why, if they will allow me to do so without being inter-
rupted.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. You go ahead.

Mr. SILVERS. As a shareholder, you care a great deal if your com-
pany is in trouble, whether at the end of the day the value of your
stock—for example, say you bought it at $40. If the company is in
trouble, you care a great deal about whether or not at the end of
the day the stock price is $10, $20 or $30. It makes a big dif-
ference.

If you hold an option and the exercise price is at $40, and the
company gets in trouble, you don’t care. It’s true that options in-
volve a lot of leverage, and perhaps leverage is a good thing. That’s
a public policy decision that I disagree with. But what theyre
wrong about is that options are a better of way of aligning the in-
terests of executives with the interests of shareholders in a
stressed situation, which is what Enron was. The reason why op-
tions encourage people to cheat and lie in distressed situations is
because financially, if they can somehow get the stock price over
the exercise price, they win. And it doesn’t matter to them if the
true value of the company——

You see, if the true value of the company is, say, 30, and it’s
trading—they know it’s 30 and they’re insiders—and it’s trading at
40, they have got to figure out some way to get that thing over 40
long enough to exercise. If they do that, they win.

Senator FITZGERALD. And then they dump the stock.

Mr. SILVERS. Yes. But even if the strategy they have for getting
it over 40 is so risky, that it’s actually money losing—for instance,
cheating, that’s very risky. If you're caught cheating, things tend
to collapse completely and all the value drains out of the firm.

WorldCom, for example, is a classic instance of this. There was
real value in WorldCom. They cheated and they blew it up. This
is why stock options are so dangerous to our corporate governance
system as opposed to restricted stock.

I would like to also add another point here, which is again——
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Senator FITZGERALD. And you favor the FASB rules that impose
discipline on their issuance. You don’t favor doing away with the
stock options?

Mr. SILVERS. What we favor is the replacement—I think there
are unique issues involved in private companies, in their transition
issues, and I think those are complex and the FASB process ought
to deal with them.

In terms of public companies, we favor restricted stock over
options. We don’t favor banning options as a statutory matter. We
believe that if they are properly accounted for, that the corporate
governance process will act to reduce their use and substitute re-
stricted stock for them. In fact, that is what is going on right now.

Senator I would also add, if you will allow me, that a great deal
has been made in this debate of two points by the opponents of
stock options expensing. One point is the notion that the informa-
tion is already there and so it’s not necessary. The other point is
the notion that, if it’s expensed, somehow managerial practices in
relation to options will change radically, particularly with respect
to broad-based options at companies that are cash limited.

You can’t hold those two positions simultaneously. Either one or
the other has to be true. Both cannot be. If you believe that the
one that’s true is that there will be radical managerial behavior
changes as a result of option expensing, what you’re actually say-
ing is that the current accounting rules, and what some would urge
the public policy and law of the United States should be, is that
we will, by hiding the true cost of stock options, subsidize that form
of employee compensation. And some arguments have been put for-
ward for why we should subsidize them.

I would suggest that if we’re subsidizing employee compensation,
we might not want to focus on a form of compensation 70 percent
of which is going to the top five officers, and that perhaps we might
want to look at things like the 40 million Americans who have no
health care if we were in the business of subsidizing one form of
employee compensation over another.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Heesen, do you personally own any
stock options in any companies?

Mr. HEESEN. No.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Glassman.

Mr. GLASSMAN. I have to say that I made a very lucrative deal
with my partner, the former Chairman of the SEC, Arthur Levitt,
when we were partners in Roll Call, which is a congressional news-
paper. It is not a publicly traded company, but my incentive was,
indeed, options. I had options to buy shares of the company, which
originally Arthur owned most of, and I did so, and we eventually
sold the company.

I can tell you that the spur of options was quite substantial to
me. I think it was very important. I certainly can sympathize with
people, with the 14 million Americans who own stock options. I
think it’s a good thing.

By the way, I just want to be clear, Mr. Silvers, I am not wrong.
The reason that I intervened was because you were saying some-
thing that was incorrect about restricted stock. In fact, if you get
restricted stock and the price goes down, you lose whatever the
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price decline was, but if you get options and the price goes down,
you get nothing. That’s the whole point.

I absolutely did not say—and I'm not sure whether Mr. Heesen
did—I absolutely did not say that I prefer one over the other. Quite
the contrary. I think that those are decisions that need to be made
by businesses themselves, their boards of directors and their share-
holders: What is the best way to compensate employees. Sometimes
it’s restricted stock; sometimes, as in the case of Warren Buffett,
whose stock I own

Senator FITZGERALD. But you favor accounting rules that would
prefer stock options to any other form of compensation?

Mr. GrAssMAN. I think that’s another—I think that’s a different
issue.

Senator FITZGERALD. You don’t think the accounting rules should
be neutral, though. You believe that all employee compensation
should be expensed, except stock options, correct?

Mr. GLAassMAN. I think that the current regime, which handles
the very thorny issue of how to value stock options, by providing
investors with the kind of information I just showed from the Intel
statement and for just about any other statement you want to look
at, is the best way to do it. That is my belief right now, and that
we don’t need this change.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Delves, very quickly, and then I will
have to adjourn the hearing. I absolutely have to leave.

Mr. DELVES. Thank you very much.

My point is that it is not this simple. This is what I do for a liv-
ing, as I design incentives. Stock options work. They make people
take more risks than they ordinarily would. If you grant too many
of them, they take too many risks.

Senator FITZGERALD. Performance stock options are better,
though, right?

Mr. DELVES. Anything tied to performance is better, including re-
stricted stock.

Senator FITZGERALD. But we require performance stock options
to be expensed, but not ones that are not tied to performance?

Mr. DELVES. That’s correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. So sometimes the stock options that maybe
come into money just because the economy is good and the market
is going up, it’s like rewarding the weatherman because the weath-
er turns out well.

Mr. DELVES. If we don’t have an expense, we can’t make the
tradeoffs between one type of incentive versus another and come up
with the best one.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you. All of you have been wonderful
witnesses. You have been great, and I wish we could have had an-
other hour, but we do not.

The record will remain open until the close of business next
Tuesday, April 27, for any additional statements or questions.

If there is no further business to come before the Subcommittee,
this hearing is now adjourned. Thank you all very much.

[Whereupon, at 6:25 p.m., the Subcommittee adjourned.]
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Mr. Chairman, Senator Akaka and Committee members, thank you for this opportunity
to testify before you on the issue of expensing stock options. | am here to speak solely
on behalf of the millions of small businesses in the United States who may or may not
be aware of the recent proposal by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
to require the expensing of stock options.

Small businesses in the United States number nearly 23 million strong and they
represent 99.7 percent of all employers. They employ half of all private sector
employees and generate 60 percent of net new jobs annually. In addition, smail
businesses produce 13 to 14 times more patents per employee than large patenting
firms. It is not an exaggeration to say that the health and strength of our nation’s
economy rests on the ability of small businesses to start and grow.

Our nation’s entrepreneurial spirit and climate are the envy of the world. Many
countries are trying to replicate our small business system. In fact, news articles of late
last year showed that China was trying to build its own Silicon Valley. We must be very
careful to avoid any unintended consequences that might disrupt small business and
job creation.

| wanted to appear before you to voice the concerns of smail businesses around the
country that | believe are being overlooked or pushed aside as not relevant to the
discussion of stock option expensing. At first glance, the question of whether to
expense stock options appears to be a very simple and media friendly question.
However, before getting to the question of expensing stock options, one must first ask
how those options will be valued. That is important because, as we have hear it said so
many times, the devil is in the details.

(73)
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To fully understand the implications of the recent proposal by FASB, one must be well
versed in the differences between the fair value method, the intrinsic value method,
lattice structures, and binomial and Black Scholes expensing valuation models.

As a trained accountant, | have found that these terms are not generally in use in the
accounting world but are unique to this particular accounting proposal. For small
business owners and their accountants that are encountering these terms for the very
first time, the evaluation of the FASB proposal must be daunting and intimidating.

The valuation approach as proposed by FASB would turn the American dream of
running a small businesses into a nightmare. The proposal itself is more than 230
pages long including appendixes. Rather than addressing small business concerns
head-on, FASB has just thrown together a series of criteria for small businesses to
consider. Small businesses have no choice but to hire expensive experts to delve into
the Voodoo valuation. Some believe that only the largest accounting firms would be
able to produce the proper valuation models and maybe even charge upwards of
$500,000 for them. Both small businesses and small accountants would be victims of
the FASB proposal.

A frequent concern heard by the Government Affairs Committee is that small business
owners are very busy building and running their businesses and they cannot pay
attention to the many federal regulators in Washington, DC. For this sole reason,
Congress created the Regulatory Flexibility and the Small Business Regulatory
Enforcement Fairness Acts. These Administrative Procedure Act laws require federal
regulatory agencies to undertake economic analyses when a proposed regulation may
disproportionately burden small entities. In addition, the laws require agencies to
conduct vigorous outreach and to establish compliance assistance for small
businesses.

FASB as an independent standard setter is not bound by the Regulatory Flexibility nor
the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Acts. Accordingly, FASB, as a
standards setter recognized by the federal government, should establish equivalent
small business review practices for itself.

in November, | held a hearing in the Committee on Banking, Housing, Urban
Development entitled, “Financial Accounting Standards Board and Small Business
Growth”. At that hearing, we heard from a number of witnesses that FASB’s
consideration of small business concerns on a variety of FASB proposals was severely
deficient. At the hearing, | requested that a Small Business Advisory Committee be
established by FASB to listen to and address small business concerns. | envisioned
this Committee would operate in the same manner as the NASD’s Small Firm Advisory
Board in that all proposals would be reviewed and evaluated by the Committee. FASB
has indicated to me that the Small Business Advisory Committee would meet twice a
year and would receive proposals only on an ad-hoc basis. While | am pleased that
FASB has established the Committee, | still have serious doubts about FASB'’s
commitment to listening to the small business issues.

2



75

For example, immediately following the hearing, FASB conducted field tests with
eighteen businesses on stock option expensing. None of those businesses were small
businesses.

As FASB is rushing to implement the proposal on stock option expensing by the end of
the year, | am very much concerned that small business issues wili be pushed aside or
not addressed at all. For example, the proposal will apply not only to publicly traded
companies but also to privately-held companies. Many of these privately-held
companies are startups and very small companies and many that | have spoken to
recently are completely unaware that this proposal would apply to them. In addition,
FASB, without advance warning, extended the proposal to include small companies
with employee stock purchase plans.

While some of the companies will be able to participate in the two roundtables to be
held by FASB in Connecticut and California, thousands of others may not find out about
the roundtables until it is too late. In addition, the first meeting of the Small Business
Advisory Committee is on May 11", An issue as complex as this may not be addressed
fully, however, it is quite possible that the Committee could spend all day on the
proposal's glossary of terms and have very little time to discuss anything else.

For this reason, a hearing has been scheduled next week in the Committee on Small
Business and Entrepreneurship that will give a limited number of small businesses a
chance to discuss the proposal on stock option expensing.

As the Government Affairs Committee has jurisdiction over the Regulatory Flexibility
and the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairmness Acts, | will leave the
Committee with a couple of questions that | hope that you will consider exploring in this
hearing:

1) What are the duties and responsibilities of a standard setter recognized by the
federal government for analyzing the economic impact of proposals? Should those
duties and responsibilities rise to the level of the statutory mandates of federal
agencies?

2) What is the level of outreach that is required to ensure that small businesses
throughout the country are able to participate in the standard setting process? And,

3) What is the remedy available to a small business that believes that the independent
standard setter got the standard wrong for small businesses or that the standard setter
has completely pushed aside small business concerns? Small businesses pursuant to
the Regulatory Flexibility Act may sue a federal agency to set aside a rule proposal if
the small business has been unjustly aggrieved.
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As one of the principal authors of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, | support an independent
accounting standard setter. However, an independent accounting standard setter has
to live up to a very high standard. With respect to FASB’s oversight of small business
concerns, | believe that there is still a significant way to go.

Finally, | should mention that in today’s Wall Street Journal there is an account of
Chairman Herz conducting a conference call with institutional investors yesterday. In
that call, he urges the institutional investors “to make your views known to the people in
Washington” so that FASB can go forward with its proposal by the end of the year. This
is further evidence that Chairman Herz will by-pass the due process for small business
in order to impose his will upon process. | would like to introduce this article into the
hearing record.

Interestingly, Chairman Herz's call was with institutional investors. Recent news articles
have shown that institutional investors, including public pension funds, readily invest in
hedge funds. | find it extremely troubling that institutional and pension fund managers
will invest in unregulated hedge funds but cannot interpret the stock option information
currently available in the extremely detailed footnotes of registered publicly traded
companies.

In addition, | also would like to introduce a very recent study on the use of stock options
into the record. The study by Professors Joseph Blasi and Douglas Kruse, found that
stock options are widely held by the true workers and middle management of many
companies. They are not just used by executives. As a matter of fact, a recent article
in the Washington Post detailed that with or without stock options, executives will still
receive their compensation. Therefore this proposal will hurt only small businesses and
employees and their families.

Thank you very much for allowing me to testify today.
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U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
Subcommittee on Financial Management,
the Budget, and International Security
HEARING
“Oversight Hearing on Expensing Stock Options: Supporting and
Strengthening the Independence of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board”
Tuesday, April 20, 2004

Testimony of United States Senator Barbara Boxer

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for allowing me to testify at this hearing today.

1 have worked for years with Senator Enzi, Senator Ensign, Senator Licberman, Senator Allen, and
others to ensure that our colleagues are aware of the benefits for workers and our economy of broad-based

stock option plans.

In June 2002, the Women’s High Tech Coalition wrote to me to share their experience of what
stock options have meant to women in the tech industry. invited them to Washington to share those

stories with our colleagues.

As a result of my work with them and discussions with workers all over Califomnia, I passionately

believe that broad-based stock option programs are good for workers.

But, as you all know, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has published a proposal
to force companies to expense stock options, and the rule will be implemented early next year if we do

nothing.

FASB continues to ignore the consequences this decision will have on rank and file employees, on

our innovative technology sector, and on our economy as a whole.
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Here is a sample of what my constituents are saying:

. Bill Griffin, who works for Autodesk in Palo Alto, wrote to the FASB, “Stock options are the last
bastion of the hard working middie manager. For two years, the only thing that has helped me pay
for two kids in college has been stock options. Without stock options, mortgaging my home

would have been my only option.”

. David Dorr, from San Jose, wrote to the FASB, * In my opinion, stock option compensation at
Silicon Valley companies is what helped form this valley in the first place. Don’t destroy it

because some companies abused it by only giving options to their top executives.”

. And listen to what Kelly Simmons wrote to the FASB, “If you eliminate broad based employee
stock options from hard working individual contributors like me, you are taking away more than

you think. You are taking away the dream of someday owning a home here in the Silicon Valley.”

FASB received many letters just like these. But the FASB has made clear that it will not consider

the economic consequences of its decisions.

That is why Congress must step in. Accountants are important and I have a great deal of respect
for them. But in this case, they have blinders on — blinders that seemingly make it impossible for them to

see the real impact of their rules change.

Let’s be clear ~ the mandatory expensing of stock options will have the practical effect of harming
— perhaps fatally — any start-up company or business plan that currently offers stock-options company

wide.

As an alternative to the FASB approach, Senator Ensign and I have worked with Senators Enzi and
Reid and others on legislation that would mandate the expensing of stock options for the top 5 executives
at a company, but not for options granted to rank and file workers. Start-up companies would also be

exempt from this bill.
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In addition, the bill would require a full assessment of the costs and benefits of the expensing of all

stock options before the SEC could enforce any new FASB rule on stock options.

Our bill recognizes that stock options play an important role in encouraging entrepreneurs to take
the risk of starting up new, innovative firms. It allows companies to share the wealth they create with

their workers, And, it sends a clear message that FASB must be fair.

Requiring the expensing of all stock options will not prevent high-profile corporate scandals. All

it will do is result in rank and file workers losing their stock options.

We have a strong, bipartisan group of Senators supporting this bill and I urge the Senate to pass it

as an alternative to the draconian solution FASB proposes.
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Testimony of
Robert H. Herz
Chairman
Financial Accounting Standards Board

Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Member Akaka, and Members of the

Subcommittee:

I am Robert Herz, chairman of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB” or “Board”). | am pleased to appear before you today on behalf of the
FASB. I have brief prepared remarks, and I would respectfully request that the
full text of my testimony and all supporting materials be entered into the public

record.

The FASB is an independent private-sector orgamzation. Our ability to conduct
our work in a systematic, thorough, and unbiased manner is fundamental to
achieving our mission—to establish and improve standards of financial accounting
and reporting for both public and private enterprises, including small businesses.
Those standards are essential to the efficient functioning of the capital markets and
the United States (“US™) economy because invesiors, creditors, and other
consumers of financial reports rely heavily on credible, transparent, comparable,

and unbiased financial information to make rational resource allocation decisions.

The 1 ASB's independence. the importance of which was recently reaftfirmed b
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 15 fundamental to our mission because our work
15 technical m nature, designed to provide preparers with the guidance necessary
report information about them activities. Our standards are the basis 1o measwie

and report on the underlying cconomic transactions of business enterprses

Prepared Statement Page |
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Like investors and creditors, Congress and other policy makers need an
independent FASB to maintain and improve the integrity of accounting standards
in order to obtain the financial information necessary to properly assess and
implement the public policies that you favor. While current efforts by certain
parties to block improvements to the accounting for equity-based compensation
may seem attractive to some in the short run, in the long run biased accounting
standards are harmful to investors, creditors, the capital markets, and the US

economy.

Because the actions of the FASB affect so many organizations, our decision-
making process must be open, thorough, and as objective as possible. Our Rules
of Procedure require an extensive and public due process. That process involves
public meetings, public hearings or roundtables, field visits or field tests, liaison
meetings with interested parties, consultation with our advisory councils, and
exposure of our proposed standards to external scrutiny and public comment. The
FASB members and staff also regularly meet informally with a wide range of
interested parties to obtain their input and to better our understanding of their

vViews.

The Board makes final decisions only after carefully considering and analyzing
the input of all interested parties. The Board must balance the often conflicting

perspectives of various parties and make independent, objective decisions guided

Prepared Statement—Page 2
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by the fundamental concepts and key qualitative characteristics of sound, fair, and

transparent financial reporting.

On March 31, 2004, the Board issued a proposal for public comment to improve
the accounting for equity-based compensation. That proposal was the result of an
extensive public due process that began in November 2002. That process included
the issuance of a preliminary document for public comment, the review of over
300 comment letters and over 130 unsolicited letters, consultation with our
advisory councils, field visits, public and private discussions with hundreds of
individuals, including users, auditors, and preparers of financial reports, and
valuation and compensation experts, and active deliberations at 38 public Board
meetings at which the provisions of the proposal were carefully developed with

consideration given to the ongoing input received from all interested parties.

The Board believes the proposal will significantly improve the financial reporting
for equity-based compensation transactions in many ways, including eliminating
the existing exception for so-called fixed plan employee stock options, which are
the only form of equity-based compensation that is not currently required to be
reported as an expense in financial statements. The proposal reflects the view that
all forms of equity-based compensation should be properly accounted for as such.
and that the existing exception for fixed plan employec stock options results in
reporting that ignores the economic substance of those transactions. It s

important to note that when enterprises use stock options and similar instruments

Prepared Statement—Page 3
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such as stock purchase warrants for purposes other than compensating employees,
for example to acquire goods and services or in financing transactions, they have
long been required to value those instruments and properly account for them in the

financial statements.

Eliminating the fixed plan employee stock option exception is also responsive to
the demands and concerns expressed by individual and institutional investors,
pension funds, creditors, financial analysts, the major accounting firms, and many
other parties. It will provide greater transparency and consistency in the reporting
of various forms of equity-based compénsation. It also will provide greater
comparability between enterprises that compensate their employees in different
ways and between the nearly 500 enterprises that have voluntarily chosen to
account for the cost of all of their employee stock options and the many others that

have elected not to do so.

The proposal also has the secondary benefit of achieving greater international
comparability in the area of accounting for equity-based compensation.
International convergence of accounting standards in this important area improves
the transparency of financial information around the globe, lowering the costs of
domestic and international investors, creditors, enterprises, auditors, and
regulators.  In that regard, our international counterpart, the [nternational

Accounting Standards Board, issued a final standard in February of this year

Prepared Statement-— Page 4
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requiring the expensing of all equity-based compensation. The IASB standard will

be followed by enterprises in over 90 countries beginning next year.

QOur proposal includes a Notice for Recipients (“Notice™) that highlights and
describes over twenty specific issues that respondents might wish to consider in
developing their comments to the Board. The Notice includes several issues
focusing on the proposal’s measurement approach and the special provisions in the

proposal applicable to small business.

The Board plans to hold public roundtable meetings with interested users,
auditors, and preparers of financial reports, and valuation and compensation
experts, to discuss the issues raised by the proposal. The Board also plans to
discuss the views of interested parties representing small and medium-sized
businesses at the inaugural public meeting of our Small Business Advisory

Committee.

Following the end of the comment period on June 30th, the Board plans to
redeliberate, at public meetings, the issues raised in response to the proposal.
Those redeliberations, consistent with the FASB's Rules of Procedure. will
address the key conceptual, measurement, disclosure, and cost-benefit issues
raised by the proposal and will include careful consideration of the ongoing input

received from all parties.
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Only after carefully evaluating the input at public meetings will the Board
consider whether to issue a final standard. The Board’s current plans are to
complete its redeliberations and be in a position to issue a final standard in the

fourth quarter of this year.

[ would like to conclude my statement by noting that we all have witnessed the
devastating effects and loss of investor confidence in financial information that
have resulted, at least in part, from companies intentionally violating or
manipulating accounting requirements. Investors, creditors, and other consumers
of financial reports are continuing to demand improvements in accounting and
financial reporting. The existing accounting for equity-based compensation has
been an area of great concern for years, and our proposal i1s intended to be

responsive to that concern.

Let me assure you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Akaka, and Members of this
Subcommittee, that you, and investors, creditors, and other consumers of financial
reports can have confidence that the FASB will resolve the concerns raised about
the accounting for equity-based compensation in an open, thorough. and objective
manner that will serve the interests of consumers of financial reports and, thus,

assist in the strengthening of our capital markets and the US economy.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. [ would be happy to respond to any questions.
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STATEMENT OF PAUL A. VOLCKER
BEFORE THE
SENATE GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS SUBCOMMITTEE ON
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, THE BUDGET AND INTERNATIONAL SECURITY
WASHINGTON DC -- APRIL 20, 2004

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee

I have been asked to appear here today because of my
responsibilities as Chairman of the Trustees of the
International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation. We
Trustees are charged with oversight responsibilities and
appointing members of the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), the counterpart of the US FASB.

The essential point of the IASC Foundation is to
encourage common “‘high quality” accounting standards night
around the world. Success will reguire a high degree of
convergence between the US GAAP and international
standards. Efforts to achieve that result ~- hopefully in
time full commonality -- are well underway.

One known obstacle to that end has become even more
evident in recent months. We are not dealing simply with
“technical” or “professional” issues, difficult as they
are. Accounting standards need toc be sensitive to
legitimate business needs and practices. Both the FASB and
the IASB have elaborate consultative and “due process”
practices to understand and help resolve practical
operational questions. It is impossible, however, to
satisfy the perceived particular preferences and interests
of every business, or of groups of businesses, and retain
any hope of accounting consistency and discipline.

As members of Congress are well aware, that simple
truth does not discourage businesses that perceive adverse
consequences of a proposed accounting standard from
appealing decisions to political authorities.
Significantly, that has been the case in both Europe and
the United States in recent months. Some European banks and
insurance companies have been vigorously protesting
portions of two important international standards, IAS 32
and IAS 39, that, pending European Union approval, will
become binding law throughout the Union next year. Similar
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standards that have required accounting for financial
instruments (included derivatives) are already an accepted
part of US GAAP, so Eurcpean approval would be a key step
toward achieving convergence.

At the same time, some US businesses are vigorously
urging you in the Congress to prevent, by law, expensing of
employee stock options, as FASB now proposes. Such a
requirement is already agreed by the IASB, and will in all
likelihood be accepted and enforced in the European Union
and many other countries next year. Failure of FASB to
adopt a similar approach will inevitably set back the work
toward convergence.

We thus have a clear illustration, on both sides of
the Atlantic, of why so much emphasis has been placed on
the need for professional independence in the decision-
making processes of both FASB and IASB. Plainly, sheer
political pressures in a national context will not, and
cannot, lead to either consistency or gquality. The net
result of politicized national decisions would be to
weaken, perhaps irreparably, one of the foundation stones
of effective accounting practices in a rapidly globalizing
world economy.

Every company operating internationally, investors and
analysts generally, and regulators and governments, share
strong interest in common accounting standards in major
countries. In addition to the Buropean Union itself, most
other countries have signaled their intent to adopt
international standards. But piecemeal rejection of key
standards -- like IAS 39 in Europe or expensing employee
stock options in the United States -- would clearly erode
the basic purpose of creating a “level playing field”,
confusing and fragmenting markets and investors.

There is a broad area of agreement among accountants
and others that employee stock options are an expense and
should be so recorded in financial statements. I also
recognize there has been controversy and uncertainty as to
how to measure that expense with reasonable precision and
consistency.

The logic of both the US and international approach is
to delegate that difficult decision to the professional
standard setters. As a Trustee of the IASC Foundation, it
is the responsibility of my colleagues and me to ensure
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that the decision of the IASB is taken with due care, only
after extensive consultation, and using the Board’s best
professional judgment. The Board itself, I should
emphasize, includes not only professional accountants but
also persons experienced in the practical work of preparing
and analyzing financial reports.

I trust that legislators and other policy-makers both
in the United States and Europe will respect that carefully
conceived process. To do otherwise will surely undercut all
that is being achieved toward convergence in accounting
standards around the world, a key ingredient of a well
functioning system of international finance.

I suggest that, before acting, Senators and
Congressmen ask themselves twb simple questions:

“Do I really want to substitute my judgment on an
important but highly technical accounting principle for the
collective judgment of a body carefully constructed to
assure professicnal integrity, relevant experience, and
independence from parochial and political pressures?”

“Have I taken into account the adverse impact of
overruling FASB on the carefully constructed effort to meet
the need, in a world of globalized finance, for a common
set of international accounting standards?”
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Written Statement of Jack T. Ciesielski
Presiaent, R.G. Associates, Inc.
Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Member Akaka, and Members of the Subcommittee:
I am Jack Ciesielski, president of R G. Associates. It is my pleasure to be participating in
this hearing. The following is my written statement, which respectfully request to be entered into

the public record.

First, allow me to present a brief description of my business and how it relates to this
hearing. My firm, R.G. Associates, Inc. is primarily an independent investment research firm, and
is dedicated to the analysis of corporate accounting issues. We have a small asset management
business, but our main focus is the publication of a research service entitled The Analyst’s
Accounting Observer, which analyzes and explains accounting trends to both buy-side and sell-side
analysts. Frequently, Observer reports are devoted to new or pending pronouncements of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board. Our client base of approximately 70 firms is diverse: readers
of our research range from some of the world’s largest mutnal fund families and well-established
brokerage firms and ratings agencies, all the way down to money management firms with only a
handful of employees and assets under management. In short, our client base is a unique cross-

sectional view of many different kinds of financial staternent users.

I've been writing the Observer for over 12 years, and as I’ve composed reports about new
FASB standards, I've had plenty of interaction with the Board and its staff. I’ve participated in the
Board’s hearings and roundtables on proposed standards, and as a member of the Financial
Accounting Standards Advisory Council and Emerging Issues Task Force, I've had ample
opportunity to observe the deliberations and the due process that goes into the development of the
FASB’s standards. I've had the chance to see how the standard setting process benefits from the

inputs provided by accounting firms and financial statement preparers - from people who are close



90

to the issues being considered by the Board, and whose experience with those issues helps the Board
develop more durable standards. In my view, the FASB’s system of listening, learning, and then

improving their proposals works very well as it exists.

With that, I'd like to turn my attention to the purpose of this hearing. On the surface, this
hearing is all about an accounting standard dealing with stock options given to employees, but there
is a much larger issue that merits our attention. That issue is the independence of the FASB. For if
there were not attempts by some parties to legisiate action that robs the FASB of its independence,

we wouldn’t be having this hearing.

The FASB plays a unique and indispensable function in our country’s capital market system
- as is the role of any standard setter. Progress in society would be impossible if there were not
uniform standards for many of the things we take for granted: for instance, something as simple as
the design of electrical outlets. That’s what makes the FASB’s role critical: by being the independent
arbiter of principles at the foundation of financial reporting, investors benefit from financial
information that is more comparable and robust than would exist if every preparer had their own

way of presenting information.

In my years of observing the standard setting process, I’ve seen the Board develop improved
accounting standards with an unmatched level of openness and fairness. Their standards will not
make everyone happy - in addressing the complicated issues they’re charged with, it’s impossible
to satisfy all parties involved. The reason we’re here is because some of the FASB’s constituents
are so unhappy with their attempts to reform the accounting for option corapensation that they’ve

pulled Congress into the process. They’re seeking a legislative answer to an accounting rule they
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oppose, and in doing so, usurping the FASB’s authority to set standards. I believe that the FASB’s
ability to develop impartial standards resulting in robust information for investors to use would be
seriously hampered if legislative intervention becomes the norm for disagreeing with their
pronouncements, and a blueprint for such behavior was created the last time the Board attempted
to remedy option compensation accounting ten years ago. While it may benefit a few of the Board’s
constituents to preserve the present broken accounting model, in the long run our capital markets

would likely suffer - and result in capital being misallocated in the economy.

I’d like to focus the remainder of my remarks more specifically on the accounting issue
under consideration, arguably the most contentious project ever taken up by the FASB. Despite the
claims of vocal opponents, I do not view the FASB’s proposal for equity-based compensation
accounting as somehow “dangerouns” or reckless. In my judgment, the Board has listened fairly to
the views of its constituents and learned much as this project has wended its way from an “invitation

to comment” document in 2003 to the exposure draft of a standard at the end of March.

I believe that the issuance of a final standard requiring the recognition of stock option
compensation would significantly benefit the users of financial statements. I believe the argument
that options cannot be valued, and therefore should reflect no compensation expense when given to
employees, is without merit. Companies use option pricing models such as the Black-Scholes model
to value illiquid options and warrants they hold in their corporate portfolios; they use them to value
options on their stock given as consideration in making acquisitions. Yet they will claim that the
same models cannot be used to value options given to employees as compensation. It seems that the

only acceptable value such options can have is zero. (See Exhibits A and B).
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Some of the opponents of the FASB’s proposals claim that option compensation information
should be relegated to a footnote as it is currently displayed. 1 disagree. The current presentation is
a substitution of disclosure in place of proper accounting. It resulted from a Board that was badly
compromised in 1994 due to the political actions that interfered with its independence. The
information reported in the footnotes since 1996 were real transactions that occurred with
employees, and financial statements are supposed to contain the transactions that occurred in a firm
for a given period. By our count for the S&P 500, net earnings were overstated by more than $175
billion from 1995 to 2002. (See Exhibit C.) That’s information about transactions which was
presented only once a year to investors, rather than as it occurred each quarter - and it directly
related to thé resources under the firm’s disposal, which management is supposed to employ for the
benefit of its shareholders. That’s one of the tenets of capitalism, and one that has been ignored

when it comes to reporting equity-based compensation.

Opponents of the FASB proposal often claim that stock prices will fall if options
compensation is recognized in earnings. I cannot think of a more patronizing argument, Markets are
supposed to allow capital to flow to wherever it can earn the best return; information about how
capital is being managed allows capital providers to make investment decisions. If stock prices fall
because capital is not being allocated properly in certain firms, then markets are allowing capitalism
to function as it should. For decades, accounting standards have done a poor job in depicting how
capital is being used when it comes to equity-based compensation - and consequently, we have seen

how capital has sometimes been misallocated.

The interference surrounding the FASB’s equity-based compensation project is very much

like a decade ago when the Board proposed that health care benefits promised to employees be
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accrued on balance sheets as a liability. At the time, only rudimentary information about the
payments for such obligations appeared in the back pages of financial reports. Many feared that the
new accounting standard would virtually bankrapt many concems. As it turns out, the new
accounting didn’t bankrupt anyone - as if accounting standafds have the power to add or detract
from wealth. All that accounting standards can do is provide measurement, and that is where their
power lies. Simply put, we manage what we measure. Once their health care liabilities were
measured, American firms began managing them. I think that most would agree that the world didn’t
come to an end when accountants measured these liabilities - or when managers actually paid
attention to the consequences of promises they had made to employees. As a nation, I think we’re
better off for having faced the issue - and proper accounting, not “out of sight, out of mind”

disclosures - helped us face the issue.

Earlier in my comments, I mentioned that I encounter a large variety of financial statement
users in writing The Analyst’s Accounting Observer. There’s one question about the FASB project
I encounter more often than any other in my conversations with analysts of all stripes, and it isn’t
“Can we stop this from happening?” The question I hear most often is “When will this go into
effect? We want to start adjusting our models.” Investors and analysts are ready now for such
information and would like to roll back the uncertainty that surrounds the way it will affect them as

they do their jobs. That uncertainty will diminish once the FASB completes its project.

In closing, I would like to reiterate my support for an independent FASB to bring this project

to a timely conclusion with the accounting they have proposed.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would be happy to respond to any questions you may have.



94

Exhibit A. Financial Statement Excerpts: Firms Use of Black-Scheles Option Pricing Models to Value
Options Held or Issued (other than in compensation situations)

Intel 2003 10-K (page 57)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Fair values of cash equivalents approximate cost due to the short period of time to maturity. Fair values of
short-term investments, trading assets, long-term investments, marketable strategic equity securities, certain
non-marketable investments, short-term debt, long-term debt, swaps, currency forward contracts, equity options
and warrants are based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates. Debt securities are
generally valued using discounted cash flows in a yield-curve model based on LIBOR. Equity options andwarrants
are priced using g Black-Scholes option pricing model. For the company’s portfolio of non-marketable equity
securities, management believes that the carrying value of the portfolio approximates the fair value at December
27, 2003 and December 28, 2002. This estimate takes into account the decline of the equity and venture capital
markets over the last few years, the impairment analyses performed and the impairments recorded during 2003 and
2002. All of the estimated fair values are management’s estimates; however, when there is no readily available
market, the estimated fair values may not necessarily represent the amounts that could be realized in a current
transaction, and these fair values could change significantly.

Apple Computer 2002 10-K (page 79-80)

Acquisition of PowerSchool, Inc.

In May 2001, the Company acquired PowerSchool, Inc. (PowerSchool), a provider of web-based student
information systems for K~12 schools and districts that enable schools to record, access, report, and manage their
student data and performance in real-time, and gives parents real-time web access to track their children's progress.

The consolidated financial statements include the operating results of PowerSchool from the date of acquisition.

The purchase price of approximately $66.1 million consisted of the issuance of approximately 2.4 million shares
of the Company's comnmon stock with a fair value of $61.2 million, the issuance of stock options with a fair vatue
of $4.5 million, and $300,000 of direct transaction costs. The fair value of the common stock options issued was
determined using a Black-Scholes gption pricing model with the following assumptions: volatility of 67%, expected
life of 4 years, dividend rate of 0%, and risk-free rate of 4.73%.

Total consideration was allocated as follows (in millions):

Net tangible assets acquired $02
Deferred stock compensation 12.8
Identifiable intangible assets 2.6
In-process research and development 10.8
Goodwill 397

Total consideration $66.1

Critical Path 2003 10-K (page 42)
Acquisitions

Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and assuming a term of 7 years and expected volatility of 90%,
the initial fair value of all the warrants on the effective date of the agreement approximated $26.4 million, which
is included as a component of the purchase price of the acquisition.
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Reprinted from BARRON'S

May 5, 2003
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EDITORIAL COMMENTARY

JACK 7. CIESIELSKI

Another Options War

The political defense of stock options threatens accounting standards

Mark Twain said that history doesn't repeat wself, but 1t rhymes. For example, 11

N

vears after the 1991 Gulf War, there’s the current lragi contlict. History s thyming
faster when it comes to another war of the 1990s. The first stock-options war took
place in 1994 ~the second 1s going on right now The first stock- options war left the

Financid Aecounting Slandards Board
badly beaten. Haning called far compen-
sation expense paid w stock options to be
recogruzed in earnngs. the FASB was
mancvered Lo 3 COMProruse reqUNng
comparued merely to make annual disclo-
sures of what they shounld have been
reparting in earnings

The weapon that won the war for Sg-
wcon Valley and its alhes was pohtical
hot-awr power ramed on the FASBE and
the Securites and Exchange Commussion
Senator Jeseph Licberman, the Con-
necticut Democrat who now s ruunning
for President, proposed to put every
movement of the FASD under the thumb
of the SEC, fully aware that the SEC s
eastly influenced by Congreas—as no less
than former Chauwrman Arthur Lewitl coit-
fessed i his recent book.

Lieberman in effect wus proposing the
federalization of the mdependent account-
ing standard-setting process Compared
to a blunder of that magnitude, stock-
option accounting was trivial, The SEC
and the FASB swrrendered

Smart Bomb

The weapons of air power have been

refined n the last nne years; fewer
Iraqs died and viclory was more o
plete. In the stock-ophions war, 2 new
weapon of hol-aw combat 15 also some-
what smarier The new pobitical weapon 13
a bill named for Reps. Dand Dreser and
Anna Eshoo, Republican of California and
Democrat of Calfornia, respectively.
would profabit the SEC from recogmzng
as Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-
aiples any new accounting standands re-
lated to the treatment of stock oplions for
al Jeast Un.e years. That's an effective
moratonum on anything WASB develops
n its current aplion acecunting praject.

Like a smuut bomb, the Bill is & bit
more largeted than Lieberman’s 1994
blockbuster, but the result is no different.
It would put the ndependent FASB un-
der the purview of the SEC so Congress
can force the commission o provide the
answers members ke for thew lobbymng
eonshtuents.

Downg her part, Senator Barbara Box-
er, the California Democrat, 15 working
on the Semate serswn of the Drefer-
Eshoo bill and she proroses that her ver-
sion “will send this whole malter to the
SEC for review before the proposed rule
goes into place and we are dealing with
S R deri 1ewative economic conse-

JACK SIESIELEK arites The Ana-
tyst's Accounting Otserver. & noosletter,
snd manages Investments v Baltunore, He
is 1 member of the FARE Emenang s

quences.”

{t's not the upmtended conseque:
that she and Ghcon Valley fnends are
worried about. {t's the fully mtended con-

sues Task Force, bist e views expresse
here are his own.

THE PUBLIKER'S SaLE OF
Custom Reprints (699)570-4728 .0,

sueh o less-nflated carnings
reports, better-justifind cxecutive com-

pensabion and redaced corporate obses-
sion wath the vagaries of the stock mar-
ket

The eagerness of lawmakers to work
sath Siheon Valley executives on leg:
tion o control accounting standard-s
ting is a frightening sight to behold: it
provitles more evidence of the need for
standard-setting that's out of their dwect
political grasp. An wndependent FASB &
the best hope of America’s mdmidual
investors, who don't have a wel-oiled lob-
bymg machine and aren't wel-represent-
ed by elected officals.

Math Phobia

Another Silicon Valley weapon that has
been refined in the last nine vears i the
anti-Black-Schales mussfle, amed at the
well-known of povrly undersiend oplion-
pricing madel Call it a weapon of muss
distraction, Rather than attempt 1o refuie
the inconvenient fact that an option rep
resents something given to an employes
in return for service, the opponents of
ophion expensing muddy the issue by
claiming that the accounting doesn’
work, They wnvoke math phobia related >
the Black-Scholes model's complex for-
mula A recent Wall Street Journal opin-
ion piece by Intels chuef executive officer
derided its use in valuing employee stock
options, claiming that it produces “resulis
that are inherently inaccurate and unrel
able for this purpose” and that the medel
is “unworkable.”

it pieas
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Intel's pwn financial statements, bow-
ever, say that when it comes 1o deter-
muning the farr value of equity options
and warrants, Infel uses a Black-Scholes
option pricing model. {Incidentally, war-
rants have longer lives than the Black-
Scholes model was designed to handle—
just like employee stock “options) How
can the model be “inberently naccurate
and unrcliable” and “unworkable” when
applied to employee stock options, yet
perfectly fine when valuing financial in-
struments held by the company as assets?
1f they despise the Black-Scholes model
when 1t comes to employee stock opions,
why hail its validity for valuing similar
instrureents appearing elsewhere m the
finaneials?

Intel wsn't alone in its utter hypocrisy
(ther crities of option expensing are guil-
ty of the same contradiction In a 2001
acquisition, Apple Computer issued stock
options—with a four-year Ife, same as for
its employee stock options—as part of the
consideration given to the shareholders of
the acquired company, and valued them
vamng 2 DBlack-Scholes option-pricing
model. In the same year, Medlronic eapr-
tahized the cost of employee stock options
exchanged 1n an acquistion—and in re-
cording the acquisition, valued them using
the Black-Scholes model. Paln issued a
five-year warrant to 3 customer i 2001,
and valued it with the Black-Scholes
model And QLoge wssued warrants to
customer Sun Microsystems, valued by~
you guessed it~the Black-Scholes option-
preing model Acenunting standards gov-
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erning those transactions did not require
the use of thal much-demonized mathe-
matical formula, firms have htitude in
choosing the muethodology used to esti-
mate fair values.

How come the Black-Scholes meodel 15
acceptable for recording other option val-
ues when it's'unaceeptable for employee
compensation , options? The answer is
clear. When you do aption math in Stheon
Valley, the unly swtable’ value an option
can have al the tume it's given lo an
employee is “zero.”

But stock options are compensation.
Employees are happler when they have
them. (If you want to make employees
unhappy, Just try taking them away.)
Options give an employee the right to
buy shares of stock al a fixed price for,
usually, the next ten years—a pretty pow-
erful economic benefil. Wouldn’t you like
to be able to Jock i the price of a car, 2
house, or a college education for a
decade? Would you expect to get that
right —that option—{or free? Well, maybe
of you're a technology company executive,
but the rest of us who lve 1 a more
rational economic world know there's a
price to pay for that nght.

A stock option’s nunimum value should
be the current stock price diserunted by
the risk-free rate over lhe option term,
less the present value of divideads fore-
gone, if any, by holding an eption nstead
of stock That boils down to the ophion's

tume value, If compames had a genune

interest i developing reasonable values
for aption compensation, they might pro-

pose solutions to the valualon problem
starting with this fundamental financial
preise—but because the mimmum value
wair't equal zere, they continue 1o present
absurd quast-metaphysical reasons a3 to
why options “can't be valued” Or even
more bizarrely, they contend that options
are Yalréady accounted for.”

Dire Consequences
Lo T

Maybe history sn't rhyming this time;
maybe the outcome of this stock-options
war will be different. The market and the
economy certainly provide a different
backdrop this time. Obviously, Enron
changed a Jot of investor perceptions—
and even a few political minds~aboul the
moportance of honest accounting.

Self-righteous  Silicen Valley types
whine that by recognizing the cost of
option compensation, they're being made
to suffer for the sins of Enron, Global
Crossing, WorldCom and so on. That's a
misplaced argument. Whether the cost of
option compensation is fuir is for the own-
ars of companies to decide, and they must
realize that they need W see the cost
first.

The FASE's 1994 defeat couldn't have
happened without the apathy of mvestors,
Neither institutional ner individual in-
vestors supported the FASB much in itz
quest to end dysfunctional sceounting for
stock- eption compensation. If history ix
to be kept from rhyming, both kinds of
investors must make their voices heard at
the FASB and in Congress M
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Addition to Written Statement of
Jack T. Ciesielski
President, R.G. Associates, Inc.

Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Member Akaka, and Members of the Subcommittee:

1 appreciated the opportunity to serve as a witness at the hearing yesterday afiernoon, and
would like to add to my written statement. There were a number of issues that I did not have the
opportunity to comment upon; I would like to do so now. I respectfully submit this document to be
entered into the public record.

{am deeply troubled by Senator Enzi’s assertion that the proposed FASB standard on equity-
based compensation imposes great costs on small businesses. I have a hard time seeing just how this
could be true. The vast majority of small, privately-held businesses - the kind that Senator Enzi
claims will be somehow harmed by this pronouncement - should be totally unaffected by this
pronouncement for the simple fact that they do not usually issue stock options. There may be facts
available from the Bureau of Labor Statistics that bear this out; but in my experience, stock option
plans simply do not exist in these kinds of firms.

1t is possible there are very large privately-held companies that issue options to employees -
the kinds of businesses taken private by leveraged buyout firms with the intention of eventually
bringing the companies back to public ownership. Conceivably, these firms would be affected by
the proposed accounting rule - but these firms would also likely possess a degree of scale and
sophistication such that the new accounting would present no great hurdle.

Senator Enzi is concerned that the FASB has not sought the input of these “affected
constituents,” for instance, in the planned roundtables. For the reasons just stated, I believe his
concern is misplaced. The privately-held firms he champions are just not affected by this proposal.

Senator Bennett stated that an option with a thirty-year life has zero value today. This simply
cannot be so. The right to buy anything at a fixed price for thirty years is very valuable. In the case
of stock options, people want them because they expect the price of the underlying stock to increase.
Nobody wants to hold stock options because they expect the price of the stock to decline. So - a
thirty-year option to buy stock at current prices would be a very valuable item indeed.

Senator Bennett also gave an example to FASB Chairman Robert Herz contrasting an option
that vests today with one that vests in ten years; he claimed they would have the same value under
the FASB proposal. Again, this cannot be so. The expected life of the two options would be radically
different; the one that vests tomorrow might be exercised tomorrow, and the one that vests in ten
years couldn’t be exercised for at least ten years. The expected life of an options has a direct bearing
on its value, so there is no possible way the two different options could have the same value today.
Any point being made was based on a misinterpretation of the proposal. I believe Chairman Herz
interpreted the Senator’s example as a question of how the expense would be recognized over time.
I am not sure that there was a genuine meeting of the minds.

There were numerous assertions that the valuation methods required by the FASB model
attempts to predict the successful exercise of options; in fact, I believe one of the subcommittee
members asked if studies had ever been performed to validate the effectiveness of the Black-Scholes
or lattice models in such predictions. This is a grave misunderstanding of the fundamental purpose
of such valuation models. The objective is to estimate what such options are worth today, not
whether they will be exercised. If a firm is going to issue illiquid options or warrants in a private

Page 1
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placement with, say, an institutional investor, they would estimate their fair value in order to assure
themselves that they are not selling them too cheaply. They - or their investment bankers - would
be quite likely to use one of these models to estimate what such instruments should fetch, before
bargaining with the potential buyer. It is this estimated value of the options - what the instrument
would sell for today - that represents the compensation being earned over the period the employee
provides service.

1 find it contradictory that firms claim such models can’t be relied upon for estimating the
value of options given to employees - yet they use such models in valuing securities in their own
corporate portfolios. I present from page 57 of the 2003 Intel Corporation 10-K (emphasis added):

. Fair values of cash equivalents approximate cost due to the short period of time to maturity. Fair values of :
! short-term investments, trading assets, long-term investments, marketable strategic equity securities, certain |
‘ non-marketable investments, short-term debt, long-term debt, swaps, currency forward contracts, equity |
| options and warrants are based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates. Debt |
| securities are generally valued using discounted cash flows in a yield-curve mode! based on LIBOR. Equity |
| options and warrants are priced using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. For the company’s portfolio of |
| non-marketable equily securities, mapagement beligves that the carrying value of the portfolio approximates
| the fair value at December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002. This estimate takes into account the decline
| of the equity and venture capital markets over the lastfew years, the impairment analyses performed and the ]
impairments recorded during 2003 and 2002. !

There are instances when firms use such models to value options given in consideration for
business combinations. I quote from pages 79-80 of the Apple Computer 2002 10-K (again,
emphasis added):

Acquisition of PowerSchool, inc.

in May 2001, the Company acquired PowerSchool, Inc. (PowerSchool), a provider of web-based student
information systems for K-12 schools and districts that enable schools to record, access, report, and manage
their student data and performance in real-time, and gives parents real-time web access to track their
children's progress. The consolidated financial statements include the operating results of PowerSchool from
the date of acquisition. |

The purchase price of approximately $66.1 million consisted of the issuance of approximately 2.4 million |
shares of the Company's common stock with a fair value of $61.2 million, the issuance of stock options with
a fair value of $4.5 million, and $300,000 of direct transaction costs. The fair value of the commgon stock !
options issued was determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: |
volatility of 67%, expected life of 4 years, dividend rate of 0%, and risk-free rate of 4.73%. H

| Total consideration was aliocated as follows (in millions):

Net tangible assets acquired $0.2
Deferred stock compensation 12.8
Identifiable intangible assets 28
in-process research and development 10.8
Goodwill 39.7

Total consideration $ 66.1

Are these firms trying to predict the future exercise of stock options? Certainly not. They are
using models to estimate the value of a holding (Intel) or consideration given (Apple). Options are

Page 2
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given to employees as consideration for services they will provide the firm. Firms can estimate the
value - they’ve demonstrated they can. They simply don’t want to acknowledge that they are
providing compensation in this fashion.

Another frequent misconception that needs to be clarified. There were panel members and
committee members who asserted that this pronouncement would prohibit the issuance of stock
options. There is no truth to this statement. The pronouncement would only address the accounting
for stock options. Though it is apparently viewed as all-powerful, even the FASB cannot issue a
standard that would bar the creation of certain types of financial instruments. Firms might be more
careful about the level of shareholder resources they devote to such instruments once they account
for them - but this is not a prohibition brought about by an accounting standard.

Mr. Delves made a point that I believe was severely overlooked, and it can be reduced to this
statement: we manage what we measure. Option compensation has not been measured effectively,
therefore it cannot be managed effectively. The FASB proposal provides a method for effective
measurement, and provides markets with the chance to monitor the stewardship of shareholder
resources. That leads me to the final point I wish to make. Much was made of the effects of
recognizing option compensation on earnings, that the recognition of such expense would bring
about the destruction of sharcholder wealth. This was an assertion about stock prices made with
great certainty - and I believe that it was made by the same parties asserting that option values
cannot be determined. It seems rather contradictory to me that some folks “know” stock prices will
decline if option compensation expense is recognized in financial statements - but the same folks
say stock options cannot be valued - and stock options derive their value from stock prices.

The truth is, nobody can say for sure what stock prices will do if option compensation is
recognized. Nobody can say for sure what happens when any new accounting standard brings new
information to the markets. There’s been a decidedly negative take on this by the opponents of the
FASB proposal, naturally. It’s entirely possible that well-designed stock option plans that are
transparent to market participants might even be very well-received by the market. So far, there’s
no apparent evidence that any of the hundreds of companies that have adopted a policy of option
expense recognition have seen their stock price harmed because of this choice.

Once again, I would like to reiterate my support for an independent FASB to bring this

project to a timely conclusion with the accounting they have proposed. I would be happy to respond
to any additional questions you may have.

Page 3
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Testimony of

Donald P. Delves
President
The Delves Group

Infrod uction

Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee, and distinguished guests, thank you for

inviting me to speak with you today regarding this important issue.

My name is Don Delves. [ am the President of The Delves Group, a Chicago-based

consulting finn specializing in corporate governance and executive compensation.

Stock option expensing is truly one of the most pressing issues facing Corporate America
today. Because the FASB has finally started to address the critical issue of stock option
expensing in a meaningful way, long overdue change is happening in boardrooms across
the country. In order for this process to continue, and in order to promote healthy
executive compensation and higher levels of accountability to shareholders, it is critical
that the FASB remain fully independent of the political process. The FASB and the
business community must be free to debate this issue and determine the best possible

cutcome for the benefit of corporations and their shareholders.

As an expert in the compensation field with 20 years of experience, I see this issue as
central to helping boards of directors hold management accountable, and to expect — and
get — the best performance on behalf of the shareholders. Without stock option
expensing, boards of directors have been seriously hampered in their ability to address
the basic question of how much pay for how much performance. That fundamental
capitalist equation — how much for how much — has been subverted for too long by bad

accounting.

It is the board’s job to marshal and allocate sﬁmeholder resources in the most effective
way possible. Boards have at their disposal a very powerful tool - stock and stock
options -- which they have the right and the ability to share with management and
employees. Until now, however, boards of directors have not had the means to
accomplish this goal in the most effective and responsible way. They have lacked a
reliable way to quantify how much ownership and shareholder wealth was being given to
executives and employees through stock optién grants. As a consequence, boards have
not effectively done their jobs of requiring commensurate performance in exchange for

that ownership interest.
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Wdrking with companies and boards of directors as a compensation expert, I have been
stymied in my efforts to design and implement pay-for-performance packages. The
reason is simple: A bad accounting rule allowed a very narrow definition of a derivative
security called an employee stock option to be granted without expense to the company.
With no expense, these “free” options were liberally given out to executives and
employees (although mostly to executives) with very little rigorous thought about the

effect on shareholder value and future shareholder wealth.

This has had dramatic consequences for thousands of companies and boards of directors
across the country. From 1994 to 2002, mainstream American companies tripled their
use of stock options. In eight years, stock options exploded from 3%-5% of a company’s
stock on average to 13%-15%.! And what did we get in return? The sad answer is that

we don’t know — and neither do the boards of directors of America’s corporations.

Also as a result of the proliferation of stock options, we have seen the dominance of one
very narrowly defined form of compensation in executive pay. Not only have vast
amounts of wealth been shared, with no commensurate demand for performance, it’s
been done in an extremely uncreative, one-size-fits-all way. Why? Because there was
only one, very specific definition of stock options that allowed them to be free. The old
accounting rules not only limited accountability, they almost entirely eliminated

creativity in how compensation systems were designed.

The good news, however, is that because of the likelihood of the stock option expense, in
boardrooms across the country companies are rethinking and redesigning their executive
compensation programs. While the process is extremely healthy, some of the results are
good and some are not. Many companies have made very positive moves toward
requiring greater performance in exchange for valuable ownership interests. Other
companies, however, have merely replaced stock options with stock grants that vest with

the passage of time. Compared with stock options, this is clearly a step backwards.

The other good news is that the FASB’s proposed expense for options has prompted
companies to begin taking a hard look at the wealth transfer that has occurred from

shareholders to executives through stock option grants. My firm has been working with

! Investor Responsibility Research Center (2002).



102

companies, and in particular with boards of directors, to help them calculate the sheer
size of this wealth transfer. In many cases, the findings have been a shocking but

necessary eye-opéner for the board.

For example, in our work with a major corporation, my firm was able to demonstrate to
the board that over a 10-year period, $1.2 billion in wealth had been transferred from
shareholders to executives. Importantly, there was no readily available way that the
board could have ascertained this number without our in-depth analysis. That’s because it
is impossible with existing financial statements to figure out how much wealth has been
transferred from shareholders to executives. We had to really dig into the company’s

numbers to figure it out.

For the same company that had transferred $1.2 billion in wealth, we also calculated what
the expense would have been over the same 10-year period using the FASB’s proposed
method. The result was a cumulative expense of approximately $600 million - roughly

half the amount of the wealth transfer.

This is fascinating. Based '_on our analysis and work with a variety of companies, we
believe that the FASB’s proposed method will result, on average, in an expense

equivalent to 50% of the wealth transferred over time.

What’s interesting, though, is that while the FASB’s proposed method captures half the
wealth transfer over time, there is a problem here. This method requires companies to
record that expense upﬁont regardless of what the wealth transfer ultimately will be. For
some companies, the wealth transfer to executives will be very large and greater than the
expense. For others, if the stock price goes down it will be less than the expense. And in

some cases it could be zero.

My concern is this upfront expense could overly discourage the use of stock options.
That would be too bad because stock options, if used appropriately, are a powerful
incentive to increase the value of the company. Because of this, I like the FASB’s
alternative method that is allowed for certain non-public companies. This method, called

the intrinsic value method, measures the expense over time as the stock price fluctuates.
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The total expense, however, reflects the gain from the actual transaction when —and if -

the executive exercises the option.

The intrinsic value method, while it may end up with a larger and more unpredictable
expense, does a better job of reflecting the real cost to shareholders. So from the
standpoint of gocd governance and effective compensation design, this method could
produce better results, and more creative ways to use options and other ownership

incentives.

The essence of the stock option issue is integrity and accountability in corporate
governance. My job is to help management and boards of directors to understand the true
cost to sharcholders of using these incentives and to help ensure that they are getting the

highest performance possible from executives in exchange for that cost.

In summary:
e Ttis critical for the FASB to debate and make decisions without government
intervention.

+ Since the FASB last tried to introduce an expense for options 10 years ago, vast
amounts of shareholder wealth have been transferred to executives with little

accountability or measurement.

* An accurate and meaningful expense for options is essential for America’s

corporations to operate with accountability and integrity.

THE DELVES GROUP

216 South Jefferson, Suite 600
Chicago, Illinois 60661
Website: www.delvesgroup.com
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Hearing of the Senate Government Affairs Committee
on
Oversight Hearing on Expensing Stock Options

Tuesday, April 20, 2004

‘Written Testimony of Mark Heesen

President, National Venture Capital Association

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, good afternoon. I am Mark Heesen,
president of the National Venture Capital Association (NVCA), which represents 460 venture
capital firms in the United States. As you know, venture capital is the investment of equity to
support the creation and development of new, growth-oriented businesses. Venture capital
backed companies are critical to the U.S. economy in terms of creating jobs, generating reve’nue,
and fostering innovation. This segment of the economy, the entrepreneurial segment, is the true
differentiator for the U.S. in terms of global competitiveness. U.S. companies originally funded
with venture capital now represent 11% of annual GDP and employ over 12 million Americans.
These organizations include AOL, Intel, Cisco, Home Depot, Amazon, Starbucks, Genentech,

and Federal Express.

I am here today on behalf of the Federal Express’ of tomorrow - our country’s venture
backed start-up companies whose futures are being threatened by implications of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Exposure Draft, Share-Based Payment, an Amendment of
FASB Statements No. 123 and 95. This proposal mandates the expensing of employee stock
options. The NVCA has a long history of working with FASB on the issue of stock options and

our opposition to mandatory expensing is well known. We continue to assert that the lack of a
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reliable valuation method to measure the “expense” of options will result in inaccurate financial
statement;, and will cost American companies biltions of dollars in additional, unnecessary
accounting and valuation fees. The proposed rule will most seriously hamper the start-up
business community, which may be forced to choose between using a tool that has made our
entrepreneurial activity the envy of the world or wasting significant resources to produce reports

that essentially misrepresent a company’s financial heaith.

Within the last year, the FASB has demonstrated an increasing disregard for the effects of
its stock option accounting proposal on these private, emerging growth businesses. Despite
countless calls from small companies to make distinctions between themselves and large,
publicly traded entities, the FASB has actually regressed significantly in this area. The most
recent exposure draft is a stark contrast to FASB’s stance in 1994 when it issued the current rule,
FAS 123, in which exceptions were made for private companies. Most assurances from FASB
Chairman Robert Herz on addressing these issues have gone unmet with the one exception of the
creation of a Small Business Advisory Group. Unfortunately and perhaps conveniently, this
group will not begin to meet until May of this year and will certainly not be functional in time to
contribute to the current debate. Other issues for privately held companies including those on
valuation, the cost of compliance, and the risk to jobs at US start ups have been ignored. I would

like to share with you the problems associated with these areas.

Employee stock options are a critical factor in fueling entrepreneurial innovation and
economic growth. Entire industry sectors such as biotechnology, software, and microprocessors
simply would not exist today without venture capital and employee stock options. Almost
without exception, young, growth oriented companies use options to attraf;t the best and brightest

talent at a time when cash is scarce. These employees have the pioneering spirit that the US
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economy has been built upon. They take the risks to work for unproven organizations, knowing
that throu‘gh their stock option programs, they may be rewarded if the company becomes a
success. Employee stock options foster this American entrepreneurial spirit at all levels of
organization, with an estimated 14 million workers holding these incentives. Should the FASB
proposal go through as is, stock options will be too costly for most young companies to grant to
all employees, seriously blunting an economic tool that has given U.S companies a competitive

advantage over our foreign counterparts.

One of the largest costs associated with the mandatory expensing of employee options is
the cost of valuing these incentives. Despite acknowledgement from both sides of the expensing
debate that no accurate model for valuing employee stock options exists, the FASB has put forth
three “acceptable models™ for deriving an expense number. The first, the Black Scholes model,
has been widely discredited as being inaccurate for valuing employee stock options. The second,
the lattice or binomial method, uses inputs similar to Black Scholes but is even more complex,
asking for more assumptions by the company. Notably for start-ups, both Black Scholes and the
lattice method require volatility as a critical input. Yet, the underlying shares of a privately held
company have never been liquid, so there is no precedent to derive a volatility number, thus
creating a significant and costly accounting quagmire. From a formulaic perspective, if one uses
the “wrong” volatility, there will be a meaningful distortion of the value of the stock option.
FASB is familiar with this issue. In promulgating the current stock options rules contained in
Statement No. 123, FASB determined that measuring volatility for private companies was too

difficult. The FASB stated:

"An emerging entity whose stock is not yet publicly traded may offer stock options to its

employees. In concept, those options also should be measured at fair value at the grant date.
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However, the Board re_cognizes that estimating expected volatility for the stock of a newly
formed er;tity that is rarely traded, even privately, is not feasible. The Board therefore decided to
permit a nonpublic entity to omit expected volatility in determining a value for its options. The
result is that a nonpublic entity may use the minimum value method . . .. Basis for conclusions §

174. (The minimum value method allows the volatility input to be set at zero.)

Rather than continue to offer minimum value as an option for privately held companies,
FASB’s new treatise neatly advises these start-ups to make a “policy choice™ use the same fair
value accounting as public companies (Black Scholes or lattice method) or use a third option,
“intrinsic value” reporting. At first blush, the nod to-intrinsic value may seem an
acknowledgement by FASB of the particular valuation challenges faced by venture-backed
companies. However, offering intrinsic value — as defined by FASB in its exposure draft —is

akin to offering no choice at all.

FASB defines “intrinsic value™ as the amount by which the fair value of an equity share
exceeds the exercise price of the option. Historically, when granting options, both public and
private companies set the fair value at the exercise price resulting in a “zero™ intrinsic value for
the options. Of critical importance, however, is that the historical intrinsic value calculation took
place only once, at a single snapshot in time ~ the time of the options grant. Now, however,
FASB has modified the intrinsic value calculation to require “that share options and similar
instruments be remeasured at intrinsic value at each reporting period through the date of

settlement.”

Valuation of a private, venture-backed company’s stock is a process, which at best is

costly, complex, and inexact. Absent new rounds of financing, venture capitalists rarely have
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information upon which to base changes of the set stock price because the stock is not tradable
and the ct;mpanies tend to be unique, with no like comparisons to benchmark. It is this
continuous and repeated recalculation of intrinsic value that results in a Sisyphean challenge for
venture-backed companies, requiring a constant analysis and calculation of the underlying stock

value. And, in the end, the final number will be an inaccurate, inconsistent and incomparable

guess.

In addition to inaccurate financials, another serious concern is the monetary and human
cost that will be required for young companies to undertake the valuation process. These
organizations cannot afford the outside expertise required to work through complex valuation
models nor can they afford to spend the time to do this themselves. Yet, FASB’s mandate will
force small companies to address these accounting issues, distracting management, raising
expenses and lowering the bottom line. Implementing mandatory stock option expensing also
imposes a financial reporting credibility cost that heavily impacts small companies. Public
company analysts have said that they will “look through” numbers impacted by stock option
expensing to a éompanies’ underlying financials. Yet, over 50% of the NASDAQ companies
and virtually ALL private companies do not have analyst coverage. Who is going to look
through their numbers? By placing this accounting burden on young companies, FASB is

lengthening the reliance on expensive, high risk capital to the start-up sector.

In response to these issues, Chairman Herz has remarked that for non-SEC registrants,
following GAAP is a matter of choice not a requirement. However, venture-backed start-ups
genérally report their financials under GAAP because they do expect to one day move through
an initial public offering or become acquired by a public company. Further, it is a mistake to

think that all the stakeholders in venture-backed companies are sufficiently sophisticated that
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they can make adjustments for this non-cash expense. Private company financial statements are
used by many constituencies, many of whom lack the data or sophistication to make adjustments,

including customers, vendors, and employees.

NVCA understands Congress’ reluctance to involve itself in the setting of accounting
standards. However, private companies are in‘a unique situation with virtually no recourse and
FASB’s deadline looming. While public companies can look to the SEC for additional guidance
on many issues, private companies do not fall under SEC purview and have nowhere to turn for

support. We see an urgent need for checks and balances in our system at this time.

We believe The Stock Option Reform Act (S. 1890) seeks to preserve broad-based
employee stock option plans and addresses the serious implications of expensing for emerging
businesses. By limiting mandatory expensing to the top five executives, the Act targets
executive compensation while simultaneously preserving the ability of companies to deliver
option plans to rank and file workers. By exempting the expensing requirement for small
businesses until three years after an initial public offering, the Act relieves the compliance
burden from young companies seeking to go public and allows a company stock to settle down
from the volatility of the [IPO. By sefting the volatility at zero for valuation purposes as allowed
under current FASB rules, the Act removes a key variable that creates a highly inaccurate
expense figure. Finally, by requiring the Secretaries of Commerce and Labor to complete a joint
study on the economic impact of mandatory expensing, the Bill thwarts a “rush to regulate”
effort by the FASB and prevents severe, unintended consequences for our economy and our

international competitiveness.
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Should the FASB move forward with its current stock option accounting mandate, the

Board will be acting in direct conflict with its stated goals:

“The Board strives to determine that a proposed standard will fill a significant need and

that the costs imposed to meet that standard, as compared with other alternatives, are

justified in relation to the overall benefits from improvements in financial reporting....The

Board has long acknowledged that the cost of any accounting requirement falls

disproportionately on small entities because of their limited accounting resources and need to
rely on outside professionals.” (FAS 126, Exemption from Certain Required Disclosures about Financial

Instruments for Certain Nonpublic Entities, basis for conclusions §§ 9, 10, emphasis added.)

The inability to accurately derive volatility, and the difficulty in determining a common
stock price for young private and newly public companies has not changed since the last FASB
stock options pronouncement in 1994, If FASB’s proposal is allowed to stand, what will change
is the entrepreneurial energy that now accounts for over 10% of the U.S. economy. This energy
will be drained at a time when our global competitiveness is increasingly challenged by growing
economies overseas. International convergence of accounting standards such as mandatory
expensing will touch the US and Europe, not China and India where accounting standards are
more supportive of stock options. Today, we applaud Congressional leaders for addressing the
practical impact of FASB’s stock option expensing proposal. We urge the passage of The Stock
Option Reform Act as it seeks to protect our country’s entrepreneurial spirit while upholding the

financial integrity and enhanced transparency sought by all.

Thank you for the opportunity to express NVCA’s views on these vital issues.
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Testimony by James K. Glassman
Resident Fellow, American Enterprise Institute

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee:

My name is James K. Glassman. I am a resident fellow at the American Enterprise
Institute, where much of my work focuses on financial regulatory matters and economics.
1 am also host of the website TechCentralStation.com, established in 2000 to address the
nexus among finance, technology and public policy. Since 1993, I have written a
syndicated financial column for the Washington Post that seeks to inform small investors.
I am also a member of the Policy Advisory Board of Intel Corp.

Today’s hearing is critical. On March 31, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB), a private-sector board that sets U.S. accounting rules, published an
exposure draft of a proposal that would require stock options be treated as an immediate
expense in financial statements of corporations.’ The comment period for the proposal
ends June 30.

FASB intends to move swiftly to implement the proposal. The immediate result of
expensing will be a reduction in reported earnings for thousands of U.S. corporations.
Earnings for companies that comprise the benchmark Standard & Poor’s 500 Index
“would have been 10.6 percent lower in 2003, 19.2 percent lower in 2002, and 21.5
percent lower in 2001 if all of the member companies had treated options as an
expense.”

One result, which we may already be seeing, is lower stock prices than would otherwise
obtain. Another result, as many corporate managers have already stated, is that, if the
FASB proposal is enacted, companies will discontinue or reduce options programs,
which have provided important incentives for employees well below the top management
level. Discontinuing or reducing options programs will have an adverse effect on U.S.
competitiveness, innovation and jobs.

1t is my view, as this testimony will show, that mandated expensing of stock options is a
serious mistake. The current regime -- which allows companies to choose whether to
expense options immediately or to provide extensive disclosures and record the dilutive

! Financial Accounting Standards Board, Exposure Drafi, Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, Share-Based Payment: An A d) of FASB Stat ts No. 123 and 95, March 31, 2004, p.
i

% “Congressman Disappointed in FASB, Sets Hearing,” Phil McCarty, Wall Street Journal Online, April 1,
2004.
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effects of options on earnings per share — is a far better approach. I also believe strongly
that Congressional and executive-branch policymakers have the responsibility to exercise
their own judgment in the matter of options expensing. The issue is far too important to
be decided alone by an accounting board in Norwalk, Conn.

The purpose of this hearing is: 1) to explore “the importance of FASB’s independence,”
2) to “evaluate its proposal for mandatory expensing of stock options” and 3) to
“determine the economic and accounting/financial reporting impact” of the proposal.’ Let
me take each of these three items in turn. First, however, some background is in order,

Background

An option is literally a choice. The owner of a fixed employee stock option typically has
the choice of purchasing shares at a fixed time in the future at a price that was fixed at the
date it was granted. Often, that price is the market price at the date of the option grant, for
example, $30 per share. Employee stock options — unlike call options traded on
exchanges — usually have a vesting period of around three years. If the employee is still
working at the company, he or she may exercise the option by paying the company $30
per share. The employee can then either sell the stock at a profit or hold it for a longer
period. It is not difficult to see how such options help align the interests of employees
with those of shareholders, whose main concern is that the value of their stock increase.

Over the past 10 to 15 years, smaller businesses, as well as large, have turned to
employee stock options as a reasonable means to achieve success:

“Offering stock options in lieu of cash compensation allows companies to attract highly
motivated and entrepreneurial employees and also lets companies obtain employment
services without (directly) expending cash. Options are typically structured so that only
employees who remain with the firm can benefit from them, thus providing retention
incentives.... Stock option plans give executives a greater incentive to act in the interests
of shareholders by providing a direct link between realized compensation and company
stock-price performance,”™

Encouraging managers, especially, to adopt a shareholder orientation became a major
concem in the 1970s when managers, who often owned little stock, were appropriately
criticized for using corporate assets for their own benefit and paying scant attention to the
interests of institutions and individuals who were the actual owners of their companies.
By the end of the 1990s, roughly one-third of the comgensation of CEOs came in the
form of stock options, up from one-fifth in the 1980s.

3 Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs, website at http:/govt-
aff.senate.gov/index.cfm?Fuseaction=Hearings.Detail&HearingID=170

* Hall, Brian J., and Murphy, Kevin J., “The Trouble With Stock Options, ” Journal of Economic
Perspectives, Summer 2003, 17:3, p. 49.

* Byran, S., Hwang, L., and Lilien, S., “CEO Stock-Based Compensation: An Empirical Analysis of
Incentive-Intensity, Relative Mix, and Economic Determinants, ” Journal of Business, 2000, 73:4, p. 661.
The authors also report, at p. 687, that “the percentage of firms with no CEO stock option awards steadily
decreased from 46 percent in 1992 to 28 percent in 1997.”
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“Options,” as two distinguished economists, William Baumo! and Burton Malkiel, wrote
last year, “are needed to insure compatibility of the interests of stockholders and
management, whose divergence has recently been so dramatically demonstrated.” This
principle received a boost in 1993, when tax legislation disallowed “the deductibility of
compensation paid to executives that exceeds $1 million — unless that compensation is
‘performance-based.” Fixed stock options are deemed performance-based compensation
for tax purposes.™

Most holders of employee options, however, are not in upper management. A new study
by Joseph Blasi and Douglas Kruse of Rutgers University and Richard Freeman,
professor of economics at Harvard, found that 94 percent of options are held by
employees below the top levels of management. About 13 percent of the nation’s private-
sector workforce holds options, including 57 percent of workers in computer services
companies, 43 percent of workers in communications and 27 percent in the finance
industry.® Another study found that options are mainly used by “New Economy” firms.
The average grant-date value of options per employee of such firms was $18,882; for
“Old Economy” firms, $2,856.° This disparity explains part of the interest of many more
established firms in pushing for an options-expensing regime. Older firms may want to
deny New Economy firms a powerful competitive tool.

The controversy over the accounting treatment of stock options goes back more than 30
years. In 1972, the Accounting Principles Board, predecessor to FASB, issued Opinion
No. 25, which stated that no compensation expense need be recognized for fixed stock

options granted to employees at the time of the grant “because of the concern that stock
options could not be reliably valued at the exercise date.”'

As the use of such options increased, FASB in 1984 began to reconsider the earlier ruling
by its predecessor. The current standard was spelled out eventually in October 1995 in
FASB Statement No. 123 (FAS 123). It allows companies to choose between two
methods of valuing stock options: “fair value” or “intrinsic value.”

Companies that use “fair value” — about 500 of them at last count, including about 100 of
the components of the S&P 500 Index — record an estimate of the fair, or market, value of
the options as an expense at the time they are granted. Calculating fair value is
necessarily difficult, if not impossible, since no established method exists. The “Black

8 «A False Cure for the Ills of Stock Options,” William Baumol and Burton Malkiel, Financial Times
(London), April 3, 2003.

’ Congressional Budget Office, “Accounting for Stock Options,” April 2004, p. 4.

8 «As Regulators Propose New Stock Option Rules, Rutgers Professors Have New Data on Who Owns
Them,” press release, March 31, 2004, See www.rci.rutgers edu/~blasi.

° Hall and Murphy, pp. 51-52.
' Dechow, P., Hutton, A., and Sloan, R., “Economic Consequences of Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” Journal of Accounting Research, 1996, 1:2, p. 2-3.
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Scholes” model, which won its inventors, economists Robert C. Merton and Myron S.
Scholes, the Nobel Prize in 1997, is the dominant method for valuing call options that are
traded on major exchanges. But “employee stock options differ from call options in
several respects.”’! For example, employee options have a vesting period, are non-
transferable, extend for long periods (two to four years) and are corporate securities.
While FAS 123 makes reference to Black Scholes (and to the similar “binomial model”
for options pricing), these models have been shown to have significant deficiencies for
valuing long-term instruments such as employee stock options.

Even Warren Buffett, an advocate of expensing options, derides the most popular
options-pricing model for these purposes: “It’s crazy to use Black-Scholes,” he said.”?
The investment firm of Warburg Pincus advised FASB: “We feel very strongly that these
models [Black-Scholes and binomial] do not recognize the fact that employee options are
non-transferable [and] are not liquid.”*> And, as an SEC commissioner stated recently, “I
have yet to meet anybody who suggests that Black-Scholes is a good or even a fairly
good indicator of the value of long-term compensation options, especially those in broad-
based option plans.”** Thus, as two think-tank scholars concluded, “Financial economists
are still uncertain how to value these options.”'>

Companies that use intrinsic value usually record no expense at the time of grant. “The
intrinsic value of an employee stock option” is defined as “the extent to which an
option’s strike price — the specified price at which the underlying stock may be purchased
— is below the stock’s current market price.”'® In other words, if the strike price is $30
and the stock currently trades at $35, then the intrinsic value is $5, but if, as is usually the
case, the strike price is equal to or higher than the current trading price, then the intrinsic
value is zero.

Under FAS 123, however, companies that elect the intrinsic-value method must “disclose
the effects of fair value recognition on their income.”"” Such recognition comes in
footnotes to financial statements, which are read closely by analysts and investors.
Footnoted information on stock options can run to several pages (three pages, for
example, in the annual report of Intel Corp.) and lists such details as number of options at
various exercise prices, weighted average of the remaining contractual life of the option,
and the weifir,hted average exercise price — both for options outstanding and those
exercisable.'® Footnotes also explain methods of estimating the value of the options and

' CBO, p. 6.

1 «Buffett and Munger: In Their Own Words,” Andrew Hill, Financial Times, May 5, 2003.

' FASB Comment Letter No. 194,

' Remarks by Paul Atkins at the American Enterprise Institute, Jan. 8, 2004, unedited transcript available
at www.aei.org/events/filter.all,eventID.710/transcript.asp.

' Hassett, Kevin A., and Wallison, Peter J., “The Economic and Legal Consequences of Requiring the
Expensing of Employee Stock Options Without Specifying the Valuation Method,” unpublished paper
presented at a conference at the American Enterprise Institute titled “Expensing Employee Stock Options
Looks Like a Major Mistake,” Jan, 8, 2004, p.

“CBO, p. 2.

" Tbid.

s See, for example, the annual report of Biogen, Inc., Cambridge, Mass., 2002, Financials, p. 29.



116

state the estimates. Many corporations provide more information about their stock
options than about the sources of their revenue, their debt outstanding, and the other
forms of compensation for their employees.

On March 12, 2003, FASB moved ahead on its long-held desire to require the mandatory
expensing of options. On March 31, 2004, it issued its exposure draft, stating in a press
release that the proposal came “in response to requests from investors and many other
parties to improve the current accounting standards relating to employee stock
compensation in financial statements.”"”

FASB says that the proposal “provides more complete, higher quality information for
investors.”?

That statement is highly questionable, as I shall explain.
The Role of FASB

Mugch has been made of the importance of maintaining the independence of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board,”' which is a private organization of trustees and executives.
But the board is, by law, subject to oversight by the SEC, the federal agency with
responsibility for financial markets and, thus, to the executive branch and the Congress,
which oversees that agency. As FASB’s website states: “The Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) has statutory authority to establish financial accounting and reporting
standards for publicly held companies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
FASB was designated in 1973 by the SEC to set financial standards for U.S.
corporations.

America’s elected representatives not only have the authority but also the moral and legal
responsibility to oversee the activities of the FASB, especially when its decisions can
imperil the U.S. economy. FASB has a single mission, which it states this way:

“...to establish and improve standards of financial accounting and reporting for the
guidance and education of the public, including issuers, auditors, and users of financial
information.”*

Federal policymakers have a far broader mission. For example, they are responsible for
encouraging — or at least not discouraging — economic growth, for preserving and

1% “FASB Publishes Proposal on Equity-Based Compensation to Improve Accounting and Provide Greater
}‘;ranspatency for Investors,” press release, Norwalk, Conn., March 31, 2004.

Tbid.
' Examples abound of claims that FASB’s independence will be compromised through activity by federal
policymakers. For example, two years ago, Edmund L. Jenkins, then FASB’s chairman, stated, “We
caution Congress that any legislation mandating particular actions or procedures by the FASB can
compromise the very independence that the legislation seeks to enhance.” (“FASB Chairman Comments on
Proposed Legislation,” press release, Norwalk, Conn., March 19, 2002; emphasis in original.)
2 From the FASB website, at www.fasb.org.
? Ibid.
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increasing jobs, innovation and competitiveness. Even if FASB’s expensing proposal
were cogent from an accounting and financial viewpoint (and it is not), it would be the
duty of Congress to consider its economic impact. I do not have to remind you, as
members of the national legislature of this responsibility. It is your job. You can’t
abdicate it. You can’t farm it out to a group of unelected accountants.

Beyond economic matters, policymakers have a legitimate role in examining FASB
decisions on their financial and accounting merits as well, as this subcommittee is now
doing. Certainly, Congress does not wish a role in the day-to-day operations of FASB,
but, in a decision of the magnitude of the proposal on options expensing issued March 31,
Congress would be derelict if it did not review FASB’s assumptions and reasoning and
their new rule’s consequences.

Evaluation of the Expensing Proposal

In 1972, FASB’s predecessor determined that options should not be expensed when
issued because they could not be “reliably valued.” As a result, the majority of public
companies provide copious information for investors to make their own judgments. In
other words, instead of shoechorning vast amounts of information into a single, necessarily
inaccurate number, firms give investors the data and fet them come to their own
conclusions. Over time, dilution reduces earnings per share accordingly.

This approach is perfectly sensible, and it offers investors what they need to know to
establish sensible market prices for shares. The key to determining market prices, at any
rate, is cash flow, not accrual accounting statements based on GAAP, or Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (which are the issue with the FASB proposal). As
Charles Calomiris, Henry Kaufman Professor of Financial Institutions at Columbia
Business School, and Glenn Hubbard, the dean of that school and former chairman of the
President’s Council of Economic Advisors, have written:

“Market prices are determined by informed buyers and sellers who devote their energies
to estimating free cash flow and deriving the appropriate discount factors to apply to free
cash flow estimates. Even if informed investors constitute only a small fraction of the
total number of buyers and sellers, they play a central role in determining securities
prices on the margin as buyers and sellers because they can marshal substantial resources
to buy when prices are low and sell when prices are high relative to their informed view
of appropriate valuation.”*

Calomiris and Hubbard argue, therefore, that the “potential benefits of developing a
single accounting standard for measuring the cost of stock options are small (or non-
existent).” Investors already have the information they need. Of course, if a single
standard were readily apparent, then it would probably do no harm to adopt it. But there

2 Calomiris, Charles W., and Hubbard, R. Glenn, “Options Pricing and Accounting Practice,” unpublished
paper presented at a conference at the American Enterprise Institute titled “Expensing Employee Stock
Options Looks Like a Major Mistake,” Jan, 8, 2004, p. 3.

*Thid., p. 5.
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1s no such standard. We are in the same position as the earlier accounting standards board
in 1972. “The valuation of stock options is a highly complex endeavor, an area where
reasonable people can, and do, disagree significantly.”?®

The Congressional Budget Office states that “employee stock options are difficult to
value precisely.””’ But this is surely an understatement. They are impossible to value
precisely at the time of issue. “The likely value of employee stock options,” says the
CBO, “is likely to be different from the value predicted by models developed for
exchange-traded options.””® But those are the only models we have.

How different are the results likely to be? Calomiris and Hubbard use, as an example,
options with a strike price of $45 that were issued to Microsoft employees and “were
expected to be purchased” by J.P. Morgan for 25 cents, according to a report in the
Seattle Times on July 9, 2003. Microsoft’s 10-K report, filed on Sept. 5, 2003, Calomiris
and Hubbard note, “valued its average stock options granted in 2001, 2002, and 2003,
using the Black-Scholes formula, at prices ranging from $12.08 to $15.79.” According to
updated Black-Scholes analysis, using reasonable assumptions of volatility, the options
were worth $8 — still, very far from the 25-cent market value.

So how does FASB handle the problem first identified in 1972? By fudging. The
exposure draft says that “the fair value of equity share options awarded to employees
[must] be estimated using an appropriate valuation technique.” And what is that? First,
the board says that since “closed-form models” (i.e., Black-Scholes and similar models)
“may not be the best available technique,” its members decided that a “lattice model...is
preferable.” (A lattice model attempts to take into account past records of early exercise
and forfeitures of options.) But then the board decides “not to require the use of a lattice
model at this time.””* In short, “companies can choose from a variety of mathematical
models, so long as they take certain factors into account, including estimates of a stock’s
volatility.”*°

The absurdity of FASB’s decision is in full view. Robert Herz, FASB’s chairman, stated
in a speech in December that he agrees that accounting “should better reflect economic
reality” and that “we are very cognizant of the real-world issues and concerns over fair
value measurements, particularly the farther one gets from traded markets.”' But those
real-world issues are brushed aside in the effort to find a number — any number! — to stick
onto a financial statement to represent the complexities of the fair value of an employee
stock option.

* Ihid., p. 6.

7 CBO, p. 5.

* Ibid.

» FASB Exposure Draft, p. ii.

% “FASB Unveils Expensing Plan on Option Pay,” Jonathan Weil, Wall Street Journal, April 1, 2004, p.
Ct.

3! Robert Herz, “The Financial Reporting Partnership,” speech to The American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, Dec. 12, 2003, p. 15, at www.fasb.org/herz_aicpa_12-12-03.pdf.
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As Calomiris and Hubbard write, “Option valuation is a complex valuation problem that
is best left to market analysts to estimate and debate. It is disingenuous, and not helpful to
investors, to pretend that this difficult valuation can be solved adequately by an
accounting rule.”* Indeed, it is worse than unhelpful. It is downright misleading and
confusing. Instead of shining a light on a company’s financial health, expensing of
options “may leave hapless investors blinded by a fog of incomprehensible calculations,”
writes Howard Gleckman in Business Week.>

Perhaps if a single method were prescribed — even an imperfect one — investors could
gain a small benefit, at least knowing that every company is using the same system of
calculation. But FASB rejects that approach and, within broad parameters, allows firms
to make the choices themselves. Thus, FASB is introducing a new element of noise and
distortion into reported earnings. The opportunities for manipulation by unscrupulous
managers are enhanced, and no analyst will be able to take the GAAP accrual earnings of
an options-using company seriously. Instead, FASB will, unwittingly, make pro-forma
statements, which pull out the fair-value options estimates, the coin of the financial
realm,

In their paper, Kevin Hassett and Peter Wallison write that, without a single options-
pricing methodology, corporations — forced to choose among many possibilities — would
open themselves up to expensive class-action lawsuits by disgruntled shareholders: “The
state of affairs creates a serious legal risk for both companies and auditors to which the
Board [FASB] seems oblivious.™*

The shame is that all of these adverse consequernces (and more, which I will explain
below) are utterly unnecessary. Kip Hagopian, a well-known venture capitalist who sits
on the board of several technology companies, says that, while “the fact that [employee
stock options] may be a cost to the issuing company or to its shareholders has never been
in dispute,” the cost is contingent on many factors — such as whether the employee is still
with the company and whether the stock is above or below the strike price years from
now. Investors can see the effect of the contingency examining potential “diluted
earnings per share,” a figure that takes into account shares that are likely to be
exercised.*® They can also examine the extensive footnoted detail on the options
themselves.

32 Calomiris and Hubbard, p. 14.

** “The Imperfect Science of Valuing Options,” Howard Gleckman, Business Week, Oct. 28, 2002, p. 122.
** Hassett and Wallison, p. 22.

% Kip Hagopian, “Stock Option Expensing: Getting the Accounting Right,” unpublished paper, March 29,
2004. Two years ago, President Bush came to a similar conclusion, saying, “I think once options are ‘in the
money,” they ought to be calculated in the dilution, that they ought to be dilutive in their earnings-per-share
calculations.” That’s the current system. Options are “in the money” when the stock’s market price is above
an option’s exercise price.” A reporter at the time wrote that the president “said stock options shouldn’t be
treated as a corporate expense” and instead “should be handled precisely the way they currently are in
annual reports.” (“Bush Supports Businesses in Debate Over Changing Options Accounting,” Michael
Schroeder, Wall Street Journal, April 10, 2002.)
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Again, there is no reliable method for valuing employee options. But FASB marches on.
Why?

“My own fear,” said Paul Atkins, an SEC commissioner, “is that FASB is basically
getting into an area that’s more of a political issue than a technical or accounting issue.
Atkins implied that the aim of FASB was to improve — according to its own vision —
corporate governance and management. In the wake of the Enron scandals, some
observers have argued that stock options were an incentive to the excesses and deceptions
committed by managers.”’ In fact, the rise of stock options coincides with the greatest
period of prosperity in American history, a stretch of more than two decades with only
two shallow recessions. Still, at a time when roughly half of Americans own stocks,”®
Congress has become appropriately concerned about finding ways to discourage abuses
like those at Enron.

36

But the role of rectifier does not lie with FASB. As Atkins said, “One thing that I am
certain of...is that FASB should not be in the business of dictating what type of
compensation should be paid by corporations to their employees. So T hope that this new
stock options approach is not an attempt to dissuade companies from using stock options
as a form of compensation.”

The reasons behind the FASB proposal — other than the professed clamor for accounting
change (strikingly absent from public-opinion surveys) — are unclear. The effect will
certainly be to “dissuade companies” from issuing options. And that discouragement may
have adverse effects on the economy.

The Economic Impact of the Proposal

The expensing proposal raises an important question: If, as nearly all economists agree,
the information currently provided about options by firms in their financial statements is
adequate for investors to make sound judgments about the value of those firms, then how
can the new proposal — which adds no new information — change the value of those firms
in the stock market and, thus, have an effect on the economy?

3 Atkins.
*7 Typical is Charles Munger, vice chairman of Berkshire Hathaway, Inc., who has said, “In 90 percent of
the cases, the handing out of options is excessive.” (Quoted in “Options Vigilantes,” Forbes, Dec. 23, 2002,
p. 67.) In addition, the U.S. Secretary of the Treasury, John Snow, derided stock options in an Oct. 15,
2003, speech as a “freebie,” claiming that, in many cases [options] shortened the time horizon of
management and accentuated the ‘short-term-ism’ that addicted the markets in the *90s.” There is, not
surprisingly, no economic evidence for such views. In fact, the problem in the 19905 was that investors
took too long a view, not too short. They were encouraged by long-term-thinking managers that companies
that were losing money would make money somewhere in the future — lots of money - and bid up stock
prices accordingly.
3% American Council for Capital Formation, “Equity Ownership in America,” October 2002, at
www.accf.org. At the time of the study, some 52.7 million households, representing 49.5 percent of all U.S.
gouseholds, owned stocks — up from 36.6 percent in 1992 and 19 percent in 1983,

Atkins.
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The Congressional Budget Office, in its new report, says, indeed, that the economy is
“unlikely to have a significant effect on the economy” specifically “because the
information has already been disclosed.”*

But, with this judgment, the CBO raises a paradox: If the information is already
disclosed, then why change the rule? It has only a weak answer: The FASB proposal
“could make fair value information more transparent to less sophisticated investors.”*! In
fact, the proposal will make that information far more confusing, as Calomiris and
Hubbard show.

But what about the basic argument? No new information; therefore, no economic effects.

I believe this analysis is dangerously wrongheaded. I have spoken with many chief
executives of companies that rely on stock options to lure the best and the brightest to
their firms. Nearly all of these CEOs have the same reaction to expensing. It will reduce
their reported earnings and thus their stock prices.”? They will move quickly, therefore, to
pare back their stock option programs, especially to employees below the top five
corporate officers.

For example, America’s best-known venture capitalist, John Doerr, said in testimony that
he thought “broad-based employee stock ownership...will disappear if expensing is
mandated.”™ A study by consultants at Mellon’s Human Resources & Investor Solutions
found that companies intend to cut back significantly on options programs for employees
below the top executive level if expensing is enacted,** A review of the economic
literature by Brian J. Hall and Kevin J. Murphy concluded that “parties on both sides of
the debate agree that such a change [expensing options] would result in granting fewer
options, especially to rank-and-file workers.”** Dozens of chief executive officers have
publicly stated that their firms will reduce or eliminate options if expensing is enacted.
Typical is the CEO of Advanced Fiber Communications, who wrote in a letter to FASB:
“The expensing of stock options would likely require AFC to discontinue its broad-based
stock option plan that helps us to retain and motivate our employees.”*

And what will happen if options are reduced or eliminated? According to Andrew S.
Grove, chairman of Intel:

“ CBO, p. vii.

* Tbid,

2 Using Black-Scholes would cut the reported earnings of high-tech firms by 70 percent, reported The
Economist (“Now for plan B: expensing share options™), March 15, 2003.

** Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs, U.S. Senate, May 8, 2003; transcript at p. 55. Doerr
has been a partner in the firm of Kleiner, Perkins, Caulfield & Byers since 1980. The firm has sponsored
investments in such companies as Compaq, Cypress, Intuit, Lotus, Netscape, Sun Microsystems and
Symantec, which have led to the creation of over 30,000 jobs.

“ Mellon, “SFAS 123: Responding to Mandatory Option Expensing,” September 2003 survey, p. 9.

“5 Hall and Murphy, p. 68.

“ EASB Comment Letter No. 185. See also many others (Staples, Altera, Genentech, etc.), including,
poignantly, FASB Comment Letter No. 29: “If options are expensed, | can tell you that a small company
like the Vermont Teddy Bear Company will no longer grant them.”
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“For years, the U.S. economy has increasingly been driven by the contributions of
knowledge workers. Broad-based stock option plans offer the opportunity of ownership
and provide owner-like motivation to knowledge workers. After 40 years in a knowledge-
based industry, I do not know a better way to achieve this sense of ownership — not even
a close second.... [W]e routinely grant more than 97 percent of our stock options to
employees other than the top five members of management; by doing so, we are using a
powerful incentive and retention tool for the benefit of all of our stockholders.”™’

Doerr, the Silicon Valley venture capitalist, says that the fallout from expensing options
“is a big competitiveness issue.... The innovation economy is where we’re going to get
the growth in jobs and the economic security for Americans.... The use of broad-based
employee stock ownership, which I contend will disappear if expensing is

mandated. ..delivers higher returns to the shareowners of the companies who use them,
produces higher productivity, higher returns on equity, higher returns on assets,
accounting the effects of dilution.”*

At a time when Americans worry that jobs are going overseas, the expensing of options
could encourage the exodus. In an article in Barron’s, George Chamillard, the CEO of
Teradyne, a Boston-based maker of automatic testing equipment for the electronics
industry, wrote that one major factor in the “flight of the semiconductor industry from
Route 128 [near Boston] to Silicon Valley” was “stock options.” Bay Area start-ups
“were romancing East Coast talent with the opportunity to strike it rich through
options.... Stock options were a low-cost way to draw talent away from mature
companies and into stat-ups. In return for assuming higher risk, the options-givers offered
the recruit the chance for high rewards through equity ownership and a piece of the
action.... Other industries learned the lesson well, using options to drive new companies
and inject excitement into older ones.™

Now, writes Chamillard, the next cycle of “Go West, Young Man” has begun. “While
options are under attack in the U.S., elsewhere the stock option as a recruiting tool is on
the rise.” Options are drawing scientists from the U.S. to Asia — Taiwan, in particular. As
a result, he writes, the U.S. is losing “engineers educated at MIT and Stanford and
CalTech.”®® Asian nations understand the attraction of options, and they do not have the
same fetish for expensing them as American regulators have.

Even China, in its 2001-2005 five-year plan, officially encourages the use of stock
options to motivate managers.”’ And a recently study by the consulting firm Towers
Perrin found that, in Asia, with the exception of Singapore, “stock ogtions still remain
companies’ most popular long-term incentive for their executives.”

:; Andrew S. Grove, “Letter from your chairman,” Intel Corp. annual report, 2002, www.intc.com.
Doerr.
* “Go West Again? Lured by Stock Options, Techland’s Best and Brightest Moved to California; Next
5Sotop, Asia?” George Chamillard, Barron's, July 21, 2003,
Ibid.
%' Five-Year Plan of the People’s Republic of China (2001-2005).
R Agence France Presse, Sept. 24, 2003.
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With the economic recovery in the United States still young and unstable, this is not the
time to be gambling with a measure that could chase jobs to Asia.

The Impact of the Proposal on Investors

FASB’s proposal is more likely to confuse investors than to enlighten them. For
companies that retain options plans, investors will have to rely on pro-forma statements
that eliminate the distortions caused by huge, non-cash options-cost estimates. Go back to
first principles. William A. Sahlman writes, “What an investor cares about most is her
percentage claim on the after-tax free cash flow generating capacity of a company.
Accounting machinations often affect reported income but not cash flow. [Stock options]
affect the percentage claim someone has on a company’s cash flows - the more options
outstanding, the lower the potential ownership of the outside investor.”> And that effect,
of course, is duly noted under the current regime, which both discloses the potential
shares that would have to be issued to satisfy the exercise of options and, at the
appropriate time, shows the dilutive effect on earnings per share. In other words, stock
options are a cost, not to the company, but to its shareholders.*® This is a point made
cogently as well by Walter P. Schuetze, former chief accountant of the SEC, who told
Sen. Charles Schumer in a letter two years ago that “I would not charge expense for stock
options issued to employees.”

There is another side to options that is missing in the accounting debate. “Granting stock
options,” writes Prof. Sahlman, “will also affect the level of...prospective cash flows.”
And this is what investors should care about. “The CEO will have strong incentives to
increase value per share because of the stock option grant.” Others who receive options
will have similar incentives.

In other words, whatever cost is assigned to options, it should - in the case of well-run
companies — at least be balanced by the likelihood of higher cash flow. “A number of

academic studies,” write Baumol and Malkiel, “support the observation that employee
stock options have an incentive effect sufficient, or more than sufficient, to cover their
market vatue.”’

Because of the change in accounting rules, small investors are apt to get the impression
that serious expenses are at last being charged to companies that had previously evaded

* Sahlman, William S., “Some Thoughts on the Accounting for Stock Options, July 24, 2002, p. 2.
Sahlman if the Dimitri V. d"Arbeloff-Class of 1955 Professor of Business Administration at the Harvard
Business School. See also his article, “Expensing Options Solves Nothing,” Harvard Business Review 80,
no. 12, pp. 90-96.

** This point was made forcefully by Dennis Powell, chief financial officer of Cisco Systems, in testimony
before the Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs, U.S. Senate, May 8, 2003, p. 25: “In the
last six months, I have surveyed in face-to-face meetings over 50 of our largest investors, and I've asked
them that specific question: Who bears the cost of the options that are outstanding? Is it the company or is
it the shareholders? One hundred percent of them recognized that this is 2 cost that is borne by the
sharcholders. It’s not an expense of the company.”

35 Letter from Walter P. Schuetze to Sen. Charles E. Schumer, March 25, 2002.

* Sahlman, p. 3.

*7 Baumol and Malkiel.
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them. In fact, the change will not affect cash flow at all - except, perversely, by lowering
the prospect of future cash flows as firms are pressured to give up their options plans.

The Impact of the Proposal on Accounting

The accounting profession faces a crisis. But it has nothing at all to do with stock options.
My AEI colleague Peter Wallison, with Robert Litan of the Brookings Institution, argue
forcefully in their book, The GAAP Gap, that GAAP accrual earnings by themselves do
not reflect corporate health and cash-flow prospects.”® One reason is that the assets of
companies in a knowledge-based economy do not show up on balance sheet. “An
estimated 80 percent of the value of the Standard & Poor’s 500 is made up of intangible
assets of all kinds. [As a result], the earnings of companies in today’s knowledge
economy are of higher quality than the earnings of traditional companies. Whatever their
absolute amount, the eamings produced by internally generated intangible assets have
already been reduced bjy costs that in traditional companies would be capitalized and
written off over time,”

In other words, while intellectual work by designers, researchers and engineers provides a
business with productive, revenue-producing assets, this work does not appear on the
balance sheet; instead, “salaries of employees are written off as they are incurred.”*

The great challenge for accounting is reconciling this new reality with the antiquated
tools of GAAP, developed at a time of large industrial companies with easily identifiable
tangible assets like factories and machine tools.

Unfortunately, the response to the scandals at Enron, WorldCom and elsewhere has led
accounting policy off the path toward meeting this challenge. Instead, the reaction has
been “to enshrine the audited financial statement...as the principal disclosure of
companies whose shares are traded in the public securities markets.... [But, in fact,] there
is strong evidence that investors are relying on many other factors other than audited
gamingls in making judgments about the value of companies, particularly free cash

ow.”

Rather than trying to quantify the unquantifiable, as FASB is attempting in its options-
expensing proposal, accounting policy should follow a different strategic path, moving
instead toward other, non-GAAP metrics, which can tell investors more. Indeed, the use
of intrinsic-value, as opposed to fair-value, disclosure is on the right track. But FASB
wants to derail it.

3% Wallison, P., and Litan, R., The GAAP Gap (2000), American Enterprise Institute.

s “Accounting Lags Behind a Knowledge Economy,” Peter J. Wallison, Financial Times (London), March
8,2004.

% Ihid.

¢ “Poor Diagnosis, Poor Prescription: The Error at the Heart of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,” On the Issues,
Peter J. Wallison, American Enterprise Institute, March 18, 2003. See www.aei.org,
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Conclusion

The FASB proposal for options expensing must be significantly modified or, better,
withdrawn. Congressional and executive-branch policymakers have a responsibility to
step in — because FASB’s own mandate, which extends only to accounting rules, is so
limited and because the law establishes the SEC as the agency to set accounting policy, a
role it has assigned to FASB. Elected policymakers must take into account the impact of
accounting rules on the economy — and the impact of the proposed rule could be
significant, harming U.S. competitiveness and growth and chasing jobs overseas.

FASB’s proposal would be more cogent if it provided a single methodology for valuing
stock options at the time of issue. But FASB cannot do this, just as its predecessor could
not in 1972. No such methodology exists. The result will be confusion for investors and
the possibility of expensive class-action lawsuits.

It is remarkable that FASB’s proposal has come this far. There is no public clamor for it,
and there is much opposition from America’s most innovative firms — for good reason.
Instead of misleading investors by insisting on a single number for a complex
phenomenon, FASB should devote its considerable intellectual capital to solving more
significant problems of accounting policy in a knowledge economy.

Thank you.
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AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants is the national, professional organization
of CPAs, with more than 330,000 members in business and industry, public practice, government
and education. It sets ethical standards for the profession and U.S. private auditing standards.
The AICPA believes that setting accounting standards must remain in the private sector with the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The failure to do so will lead to less
transparency in financial statements, hurting investors in public companies.

The issues of the use of stock options and their treatment for accounting purposes has been
highly controversial for over a decade. Many companies argue that the use of stock options is
essential to their ability to attract and retain the best and the brightest to their workforce.

Further, they argue that there is no accurate way to measure the cost of stock options and that the
mandatory expensing of those options would severely limit or eliminate their ability to use stock
options.

Conversely, many companies and investor groups argue that stock options have a real cost that
must be reflected on the income statement. They argue that failure to do so distorts the true
financial condition of the company and thus misleads investors. Many of these companies
currently account for stock options in their financial statements on a voluntary basis.

Currently, the FASB is considering the issue of whether the expensing of stock options should be
mandatory, and if so, how they should be measured. The AICPA believes it is imperative that
the FASB be allowed to complete its process without the intervention of Congress.

Since the enactment of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
Congress has recognized that the private sector, pursuant to a delegation of authority from the
SEC, should set accounting standards for publicly traded companies, subject to SEC oversight.
FASB was created in 1973 to continue the process of promulgating GAAP rules. In 2002,
Congress once again recognized the importance of maintaining a strong and independent body to
set accounting standards in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. It strengthened the FASB by requiring that
it has a truly independent board of trustees, an independent source of funding, and has
procedures in place to ensure the prompt consideration of accounting principles necessary to
reflect emerging accounting issues and changing business practices.

Congress has taken these actions because it has recognized the value in having accounting
principles set by an independent, objective body of financial reporting experts who would not
allow political considerations to influence the content of accounting rules. Accounting rules are
based on the concept that the financial statements of a company need to fairly represent the
financial condition of the company in order to safeguard investors. They are not, and should not
be, based on a concept of rewarding or discouraging a company from acting in a certain way.

The use of stock options is a perfect example of this principle. Ten years ago stock options were
held in high regard as a means of giving management and employees a stake in the company,
thus providing an incentive for loyalty. They also became a means for cash poor start up
companies to hire and retain workers where the company was unable to pay the large salaries
necessary to retain workers.
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Today, it is alleged that options were subject to abuse by some corporate executives who
manipulated earnings in order to increase the stock price and make their options more valuable.
If Congress wants to address the issue of the abuse of stock options it should not do so by micro
managing the content of the financial statement. Financial statements must be structured to
fairly represent the financial condition of the company in order for them to be transparent, and
thus serve the interests of investors. Using financial statements for any other purpose than fairly
representing the financial condition of the company makes them more opaque and thus masks the
true financial condition of the company from investors.

Allowing FASB to determine the proper accounting treatment for stock options will mean that
the treatment will be fairly reflected in the financial statements. For Congress to intervene in the
issue of the proper treatment of stock options would mean that accounting rules would reflect
considerations other than fairly representing the financial condition of the business. This does
not promote transparency in financial statements and thus is not in the best interests of the
investor. Therefore, we urge you to oppose all legislative initiatives that would undermine
FASB.
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The Association for Investment Management and Research®

Senator Peter G. Fitzgerald

Chairman

Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security

U. S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs:

446 Senate Hart Building

Washington, DC 20510

Senator Fitzgerald:

The Association for Investment Management and Research (AIMR®) is pleased to present its
views on the importance of an independent Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in
setting financial reporting and accounting standards. We hope that our comments will assist the
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security (the
Subcommittee) to evaluate FASB’s proposal to réquire mandatory expensing of employee stock

options at their fair value, and to better understand the economic and financial reporting impacts

of such expensing.

AIMR is a global, non-profit organization whose members include more than 70,000 investment
professionals and educators in 116 countries, as well as 129 affiliated professional societies in 48
countries. The AIMR mission is to lead the investment profession globally by setting the highest
standards of education, integrity, and professional excellence. Most notably, AIMR is known for
the Chartered Financial Analyst ® (CFA®) curriculum and examination program, the globally
recognized standard for measuring the competence and integrity of financial analysts and fund
managers. Almost 57,000 AIMR members arc holders of the CFA® designation. AIMR is also

known for the development and implementation of AIMR’s Code of Ethics and Standards of
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Professional Conduct. Additional information about AIMR is available through its website

(www.aimr.org) or in its annual report.

Fundamental Principles

An integral part of AIMR’s service to investors and the investment community has always been

advocacy on behalf of investors and in support of the efficiency and effectiveness of global

capital markets. Recognizing the centricity and importance of financial statements to investment

analysis and decision-making, AIMR has, for more than 25 years, provided comments and other

input to financial reporting standard-setters, including the FASB, on the needs of investors.

These comments have been based on several core principles:

(1) Investors’ needs for information must come first. There should be reasonable

@
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disclosure of information to the capital markets to permit well-informed decision-
making.

Financial statements exist, first and foremost, to help investors make informed
investment decisions. Efforts to improve the quality of financial reporting and
disclosure must be assessed in light of what benefits those who use financial statements,
not those who prepare them. Perhaps even more iraportantly, the cost to users of having
inadequate information for decision making must also be measured and included in any
cost-benefit analysis undertaken.

Al markets should be transparent and regulation should operate to this end. Financial
statements, therefore, must be unbiased and complete. No one should be permitted

to manage financial reporting information to make companies appear more (or less)
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profitable than they are. Financial statements must not be distorted or provide selective
information even to support worth endeavors like more easily attracting employees or
increasing compensation. That is not the function of financial statements.

There should not be a two-tiered disclosure system. The same information should be
available to all market participants at the same time. When information is important
for decision-making, it should be made accessible to all market participants, not
just those with the expertise, time and resources or who know where to look.
Regulation and legislation, if any, should be designed and enforced to maintain and
enhance market credibility, openness, and investor confidence, thereby helping lower the
cost of capital. Politics and financial reporting standards don’t mix. Accounting
standards should be set by an independent and objective group of experts, free from
political pressure, after careful study and an open comment period in which feedback is
invited from all constituents. That is the FASB’s mandate. Elected officials must
overcome the temptation to intervene and set a “politically correct” agenda for an

independent standard-setter.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board Must Be Independent and Free from Political

Intervention

AIMR actively supports the work of the FASB. Prior to the change in the FASB’s funding

mechanism, AIMR, as a constituent organization of the Financial Accounting Foundation,

provided financial support. Recognizing the critical nature of financial statement information to

the investment decision-making process, AIMR staff and its member-volunteers continue to
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work hard to ensure that the investor viewpoint and user community needs are included in the

deliberation and debate that result in financial accounting standards, such as the proposed Share

Based Payments.

Individual investors rarely have the political influence that corporations have and, hence, are
disadvantaged when corporate influence adversely affects the information on which they rely
when investing their savings. AIMR strongly believes that U.S. legislators must demonstrate
their conviction, so adequately articulated in Sarbanes-Oxley, that only an independent standard-
setter can achieve the necessary balance across divergent interests and needs. Furthermore, we
are convinced that the FASB process is inclusive and fair to all affected parties: corporations
and other preparers of accounts, auditors, investors, regulators, and others. As investor
advocates, we can testify to the FASB’s continuing adherence, in the face of strident opposition,
to precepts of objectivity and fairness, and to its efforts to carefully balance the costs and

benefits to users against the costs to preparers and auditors.

Now is the time for legislators to support the FASB in its endeavor to achieve a financial
reporting result, one that investors and their advocates have been waiting for 10 years to be
implemented. After the billions of dollars that investors have lost in the last four years, due
partly to weaknesses in the financial reporting system, AIMR urges Subcommittee members and
their colleagues to refrain from intervening in the independent standard-setting process and

permit the FASB to move forward with its proposal for expensing employee stock options.
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Investment Professionals Use Fair Value Information About Employee Stock Options;
Individual Investors Deserve Easy Access to the Same Information

There is compelling evidence that investment professionals use the information currently
available in the footnote disclosures to adjust expenses and earnings. In 2001, as the debate about
expensing employee stock options heated up, AIMR sent a survey to 18,000 of its members to
determine the relevance of information about the fair value of employee stock options. Over
1,900 investment professionals responded, including equity and fixed income analysts at
investment management firms (26 percent of respondents) and brokerage houses (15 percent), as
well as fund managers for institutional or private clients (38 percent). Seventy-five percent of
respondents were from North America, 13 percent from Europe, and 10 percent from the Asia-
Pacific region. Disclosure of information about stock option plans was shown to impact a
significant number of analysts and portfolio managers, with 85 percent of respondents saying the

companies they evaluate have such plans.

The survey results support our hypotheses and provide considerable evidence to support
upgrading the required accounting treatment:
+ 88 percent of respondents believe share-based or stock option plans are compensation
+ 83 percent said the accounting method for all share-based payments (including those given
in employee stock option plans) should be expensed in the income statement
+ 74 percent said that the current accounting requirements need improving; a majority said

that expensing should be required while some said disclosures should be enhanced to give
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better information about potential dilution and the cash impact of related stock repurchase
plans and exercised options.

+ 81 percent use information about the value of stock options when evaluating a firm's

performance and determining its value. Two-thirds use the information wherever it is

disclosed, while 15 percent use it only when recorded as an expense.

(These results are available on the AIMR website at www.aimr.org/pressroom/surveys.html).

With the confirmation that investment professionals are “expensing stock options” on their own
(even without the conceptual accounting arguments in favor), AIMR gave its full support to the
FASB proposal because it is our firm belief that all investors, no matter how unsophisticated,
would be better off if this information were made transparent by recording it as an expense.
When so many investment professionals use this information, we believe it is simply a question

of fairness to make it easily accessible to individual investors.

Investors Need Companies to Expense Employee Stock Options at Fair Value

It is well understood, and unarguable, that investors need accurate, complete, consistent,
comparable, and unbiased information from competent sources to make informed investment
decisions and to allocate their hard-earned money wisely among investment alternatives. In other
words, when financial information lacks these characteristics, investors cannot make appropriate
investment decisions, and markets cannot be efficient or effective in their primary role of
allocating capital. Indeed, these principles underlie the Congressional mandate, in the Securities

and Exchange Acts of 1933 and 1934 and later amendments, to the Securities and Exchange
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Commission (SEC) to oversee the formulation of accounting standards and the required audit of

all SEC registrants.

Traditionally, the best source for this information is a company's financial statements. These and
other corporate communications are indispensable to investors for developing a picture of a
company's financial position, stewardship of assets, current performance and future outlook.
Therefore, it seems logical that if investors identify specific information that would make the
"picture” more accurate, companies would not only provide the information, but do so in the
most “transparent” way — meaning the information is readily accessible to the most readers and
is communicated in a clear, understandable way. Expensing stock-based compensation can only

improve transparency and increase accessibility for all investors.

AIMR Response to Arguments Against Recognition and Fair Value Measurement
Opponents of expensing employee stock options at fair value have put forward several
arguments that we would like to address:

1. Stock options are not really compensation, or at least they shouldn’t be treated as such.

2. Investors don't or won't use this information, or will be confused by it.

3. Estimating the fair value of stock options is too costly for companies to provide.

4, The fair value of stock options can't be measured, or estimates of its measurement would

be too unreliable.
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5. Recognizing an expense will have negative effects on small, growth, and start-up

companies' ability to attract high-quality management and, hence, the end of
entrepreneurship.

AIMR believes that none of these arguments is sufficiently valid to warrant prohibiting the

FASB to finalize this standard and we will address each in tum.

Stock Options Are Compensation and Should Be Reported as Compensation Expense

First, it is imperative that we agree that stock options awarded to employees are compensation.
In the past, some opponents of stock option expensing have argued that stock options aren’t
really compensation. But this spurious claim has been largely abandoned because its adherents
are unable to explain what else stock options are, if not compensation, and why executives and

other employees are so anxious to accept them, oftentimes in lieu of cash compensation.

Even J. Carter Beese Jr., former SEC commissioner and opponent of expensing stock options in
the 1993-94 debates, admitted that "employee stock options provide unique benefits that salaries,
commissions, and other pay forms lack. These benefits — which include linking pay to
performance and allowing cash-poor start-up companies to hire and retain key employees, as
well as providing incentives for all employees to be more productive — are valuable to all

companies and to the economy as a whole."

AIMR agrees that it is important for all companies to attract high quality management and

employees. Hiring and retaining these employees requires good, competitive compensation
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packages. Certainly, prospective employees weigh the trade-offs between cash and other forms
of compensation when valuing the total offering. While some types of options contracts may be

less than optimal from an investor perspective, there is no reason for companies to eliminate

stock options from their compensation repettoire.

However, because employee stock options are useful compensation tools does not mean they
should get a dispensation from good accounting. When compensation is paid in cash, it is
expensed. When paid in goods or services, it is expensed. When stock options are awarded to
non-employees, such as attorneys, for services rendered, they are expensed. Since it can't be the
fact of the compensation or its form, per se, that explains why less transparent accounting should
be permitted, we question why the nature of the person being compensated (in this case, an
employee) would do so. We believe that shareowners and investors have the right to know the

full cost of executive and employee compensation.

Under existing accounting rules, performance is primarily measured on the income statement,
and costs of production are recorded as expenses. As compensation, stock options are a cost of
the production of goods and services. All costs of production should be recognized appropriately

for accurate measurement of a company's performance.

Investors Are More Easily Misled When Expenses Are Hidden and Income Qverstated

If employee stock options are compensation and should be treated as such, the question still

remains whether the information is relevant to investor decision-making. Even if there were no
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evidence that investors used this information, failure to recognize and measure stock option
awards as compensation expense is conceptually bad accounting. Not recording employee stock
options as an expense understates not only the cost of compensation, but also the cost of
production. Consequently, a company's net income is overstated. Without making the necessary
adjustments to net income, investors risk making poor decisions about whether to buy, hold, sell,
or avoid a particular company's securities. Failure to accurately measure compensation and net
income also impairs investors' ability to compare companies with different compensation
structures, and it unfairly inflates the performance of companies that rely heavily on stock

options (whether or not they are cash-poor) relative to those who pay their employees in cash or

other "hard" assets.

In 1994, opponents of recording employee stock option expense won a political victory when the
Financial Accounting Standards Board agreed to require only footnote disclosure of the value of
employee stock options rather than requiring options to be expensed. As we reported in the
discussion of the AIMR survey results, investment professionals have determined that the
footnote disclosure information on the fair value of employee stock options is both relevant and
sufficiently reliable to use in their analyses and valuations. Therefore, we believe that it’s past
time to reconsider the FASB’s earlier decision, bring the information out of the obscurity of the
footnotes, and put it on the income statement where it will be transparent and accessible by even

the least astute financial statement reader.
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Companies Already Bear the Cost of Estimating the Fair Value of Emplovee Stock Options

Because companies generate the required information already, any increased cost of recognition
should be marginal relative to the benefit to investors from improved transparency and
comparability. If the numbers currently being reported in the footnotes are reliable, a "too costly”
argument isn't credible. If the footnote numbers are not reliable, then those investors currently
using the footnote disclosures deserve better information, and companies have a responsibility to

provide it.

Rather, the cost that we should be most concerned about is the cost to the investing public of
relying on inadequate or inaccurate information, inappropriately assessing a company's risk and
return profile, and making poor investment decisions has already been measured by the millions

of dollars lost in the failures of Enron, WorldCom, et al.

Almost All Financial Reporting Numbers Are Estimates: Estimates of the Fair Value of Stock

Options Can Only Improve If Expensing Is Required

Those knowledgeable about financial reporting understand that each and every number in the
financial statements, including at times "cash and cash equivalents," can be an estimate. The
values of receivables, inventories, fixed and intangible assets, as well as pension liabilities, lease
obligations, etc., are based on recorded historical costs (sometimes estimated or allocated) which

are adjusted, either initially or over time, using various assumptions and estimation methods.
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For example, we ask that you consider the reliability of the book value of an aircraft engine
whose initial cost required allocation of the total cost of an aircraft to its various parts, an
estimation of its useful life and its salvage value, potential impairment and write-down over time.
Yet companies that own aircraft must make these assessments and estimations all the time, and
expect investors to rely on them. Therefore, we cannot understand companies' specific concerns

about estimation error with respect to stock options.

We understand that companies are more comfortable estimating useful lives, salvage value, and
depreciation expense because they have a lot of experience using the methods. We believe that
companies will gain similar experience with using the available option pricing models and
confidence with the resulting fair value estimates, too. Valuation methodologies will improve
over time — and in fact have a better chance of doing so — when companies have a real need for

them.

Despite their concerns about the reliability of estimates for financial reporting purposes,
companies trust these valuation methods in other areas. Trillions of dollars in options are traded
worldwide using estimates based on the Black-Scholes model or other option valuation
techniques. Some of the same companies that object to use of these models for financial
reporting purposes in fact use the very same ones to value exchange-traded or over-the-counter
option contracts for hedging or speculation purposes. Furthermore, when compensation contracts
with executives and other employees are under negotiation, these same models are used to

determine the number of options the employee will receive, and for internal and external
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contracting, including compensation awards. If the measurements provided by these models are
good enough for the individuals who accept stock options in lieu of other compensation, they are

reliable enough for investors.

Financial Statements Must Not Be Distorted to Achieve Other Objectives

This leaves the argument: that some companies — especially start-up companies, entrepreneurs,
and those that rely heavily on such compensation — will be unable to attract quality management
if they have to decrease net income by the fair value of employee stock options. AIMR believes
that this argument does little but act as a distraction from the real issue: the purpose of financial
reporting information and the right of investors to complete and comparable information about a

company's financial position and performance.

Attracting and hiring high quality employees is a worthy and necessary objective for all
companies. Designing compensation packages to do so is a necessary element in that process.
Recognition and measurement of an expense in the company's income statement should not
prevent it from using employee stock options to compensate employees. Rather recognition and
measurement will make the estimated value of those options explicit to the employee, company
management, its shareowners, and potential investors so that each can use that information in

their respective decision-making.

Entrepreneurs existed before stock options as we know them were available as a compensation

tool, and we have every confidence that bright, creative, risk-taking individuals will continue to
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develop their ideas and create successful business enterprises. To attract external investors with

integrity, these entrepreneurs must provide the highest-quality accounting and disclosure

information so that investors can assess the real risks and rewards of such companies.

Summary

Since 1993, AIMR has publicly advocated recording the fair value of employee stock options as
an expense on the income statements of companies that use them. We believe that failure to do
so violated the conceptual framework that underpins all financial reporting and disclosure and
distorts financial statements to achieve ends that are not only inappropriate but act contrary to the

needs and rights of shareowners and investors.

Companies continue to argue that this information will not be used or is not reliable. Since there
is compelling evidence that investment professionals do use this data, we believe that it must be
made more accessible to individual investors. In addition, its use by investment professionals
also provides evidence that the footnote disclosure measurements have sufficient reliability for
investment decision-making. We believe improvements in reliability will only occur when

measurement and recognition are mandated.

Finally, we urge the Subcommittee members and other senators and congressional
representatives to fully support the independence of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
and avoid the temptation to interfere in this independent process by passing legislation on this

issue. The standard-setting process does not always create standards that fully meet the needs of
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investors and shareowners, but we strongly believe that the process is fair and works to balance
the often conflicting needs and concerns of its constituents. Politicizing the process will only
work to destabilize it, to the detriment of investors who have the least ability to gather political
influence.

AIMR appreciates the opportunity to comment to the Subcommittee on the independence of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board and the need for expensing of employee stock options at
fair value. These issues are of critical importance to investors and other users of financial
statements as well as to financial markets generally. If you, the Subcommittee members, or their

staffs have questions or seek additional comments, please feel free to me at 1.434.951.5315 or

patricia. walters(@aimr.org.

On behalf of the Association for Investment Management & Research,

Patricia Doran Walters, PhD, CFA

Senior Vice President, Professional Standards & Advocacy

Cc:  Thomas A. Bowman, CFA, President & Chief Executive Officer
Raymond DeAngelo, Executive Vice President, Member & Society Division

Rebecca T. McEnally, CFA, Vice President, Advocacy
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To: Chairman Peter G. Fitzgerald and Ranking Member Daniel K. Akaka:

We are pleased to respond to your request to provide written testimony to the Senate
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security (the
“Subcommittee™) detailing EDS’ position on the expensing of stock options and other
stock-based compensation to employees. EDS supports all accounting standards that
promote accurate financial reporting, improve the usefulness of financial information
and enhance the comparability of financial information among companies and
industries. Accordingly, we support the current efforts by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) to improve the accounting for stock-based compensation to
employees.

We recognize a growing number of shareholders and other financial statement users
believe expensing options and other stock-based compensation will more fully
represent the economics associated with these transactions. Expensing options would
also be an important step towards the standardization of global accounting rules, an
important priority to EDS. However, measuring the true economic value of employee
stock-based compensation is inherently difficult. Creating a standard that will ensure
the accurate valuation of an employee stock option that has no realizable value when
issued and may ultimately be forfeited or expire worthless is a significant challenge.
Nonetheless, EDS supports this position as long as such accounting involves the use
of a practical valuation methodology that will yield accurate and comparable results
among companies and industries.

As part of their ongoing effort to address these concerns the FASB issued an exposure
draft on March 31, 2004. The FASB’s stated objectives for the exposure draft include
simplifying the accounting requirements, improving the comparability of reported
information and increasing the usefulness of the stock-based compensation
information reported in financial statements. The exposure draft would require
companies to expense employee stock options and other employee stock-based
compensation and provides guidance for measuring employee stock-based
compensation.

We fully support the objectives and independence of the FASB and will continue to
do all we can to play a constructive role in their efforts to improve financial
accounting. In that regard, we are reviewing the FASB’s exposure draft on stock-
based compensation and will provide our comment letter on such draft to the FASB
within the next few months. While all such letters are publicly available on the
FASB’s website subsequent to submission, we will be pleased to provide the
Subcommittee with a copy of our letter upon its submission to the FASB.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide our testimony.
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Why Stock-Option Compensation Stunts Growth and Destroys Jobs.

Statement of the Coalition to Stop Stock Options
for Hearing on Expensing Stock Options,
April 20, 2004, U.S. Senate Committee on
Government Affairs, Subcommittee on
Financial Management, Budget and Security

Compensation with stock options has mushroomed over the last decades because
current accounting standards treat stock options as if they were free. Reporting stock
options as if they were free is deceptive accounting. The options have value when issued
and they mature into stock that diverts significant cash from other investors.

The sacred mission of accounting is to help channel capital toward the projects
that are best on their merits. The lie that stock options are free gets in the way of that
sacred mission. Treating options as free lures investors into bad companies. Top
managers also exploit the rule by paying themselves too much, schnookering more
money out of their shareholders than they could otherwise get. Both effects waste
precious capital. When precious capital is wasted and diverted, the growth of the whole
economy is stunted. Deceptive accounting stunts growth and destroys jobs.

Support the FASB. The Financial Accounting Standards Board has just proposed
a revision to accounting standards that would require the company to report the fair value
of an option as a cost. FASB has tried to end the zero-costing rule in the past. But top
management likes reporting their compensation as free (Wouldn’t you?) and they have
defeated prior reform. They are trying to defeat honest accounting now too.

Zero costing. Under current accounting standards, options set up to have no
initial bargain at the time the option is granted can be reported by the corporation at zero
cost. The rule dates back to 1972 when there were no well established markets for
options nor good valuation theory and option compensation was of trivial importance.

Options aren’t free. Zero cost for an option with no initial bargain is not a good
faith effort at measuring cost. When the company proves successful, the holder gets the
stock, and at a tremendous bargain price -- the value of the stock ten years before. If the
company fails, the option holder avoids all loss, just by not exercising the option. An
option is like betting on the horses, after the race is over and without having put up the
capital that allowed the horse to run. For high-risk companies, the holder of the option
holds most of the value of the underlying shares.

Just a proxy for cash. The stock issued in response to an option is certainly not
free, from the perspective of the issuing company or its shareholders. All stock shares in
the corporation’s cash flow. The new shareholders divert cash of the corporation from
the old shareholders. The value of stock and stock options is nothing but the discounted
present value of the cash that the corporation is expected to pay. The option is no more
free than the cash the corporation must ultimately pay out and divert from others.

Bad Business: Hurt the Company. Stock options are bad business, first, because
they give CEOs incentives to hurt their own corporation. Option holders participate in
gains, but not losses. CEOs with substantial stock options have an incentive to go into
projects with too much risk. Projects that have negative expected value to the
shareholders because of the loss possibilities can have very strongly positive value to the
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CEO option holder. An option-holding CEO, looking only to his own personal stake,
will rationally send the company into ventures that should scare the flesh off a
shareholder.

Bad Business: Stop Dividends. Options are also bad business because they give
the CEQ an incentive to stop dividends. Accumulation of earnings will enhance the
value of the options. Distribution of earnings will lower the value of the option.
Shareholders are often richer when they get dividends, especially under recent tax law
changes which enhance the after-tax value of dividends. But a CEO with options has a
personal incentive to withhold dividends even while hurting shareholder value.

Bad Business; Excessive discount rates. Options are also bad for business
because the discount rate used to calculate the value of stock and stock options is brutally
high. If the corporation would avoid the high discount rate, by other kinds of
compensation, either executives would get more present value from the cash the
corporation will pay or the company would have to pay less cash, or both.

Toxic volatility. The market demands high discount rates in valuing stock and
stock options because of unwelcome volatility in the price of the stock. Executives will
take anything free, but, in truth, executives hate the volatility even more than the average
stockholder because executives tend to be tragically under-diversified. The volatility on
employer stock hits the executives like an electrical shock. Most of the unnecessary
volatility can be filtered out of compensation by subtracting industry-average
performance, but only if management gives up the accounting pretense that their
compensation is free. The high discount rate also comes also comes because the discount
rate does not give interest deductions to the corporate employer, whereas other forms of
incentive compensation do.

Measuring the bargain. The value of an option when it is granted is just an
estimate and estimates turn out wrong. But that objection can be easily met just by
measuring the bargain the option will give, as it arises and fluctuates. Measuring the
bargain on the option as it arises is easier and more accurate than estimating the value at
first. The difficulties of estimating value at first, in any event, are not a reason for using a
clearly wrong and deceptive value, zero cost.

Summing up. Stock options, in sum, are bad business because they rely on
excessive discount rates to determine value. Better management of the discount rate
would improve the corporation’s wealth or the executive’s wealth or both. Stock options
give the CEO a private stake in destroying shareholder value, by withholding dividends
and taking on too much risk. The deceptive accounting now available for stock options
are bad, not just for the company, but the country. Zero costing allows the CEO to suck
too much compensation from out of the company and allows the company to sucker
investors into the company. Stock options waste capital, stunt growth and destroy jobs.

Respectfully Submitted,

The Coalition to Stop Stock Options

Calvin H. Johnson, Chair 2003-2004 and contact person
Andrews & Kurth Centennial Professor of Law

The University of Texas School of Law

Austin, Texas

chjohnson@mail.law.utexas.edu

(512) 232-1306

Professor Linda Beale Professor Jim Cox, Brainerd Curry
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December 5, 2003

The Honorable Robert H. Herz
Chairman

Financial Accounting Standards Board
401 Merritt 7

P.0. Box 5116

Norwalk, CT 06856-5116

Dear Chairman Herz,

Thank you for testifying before the Subcommittee on Securities and Investment of the
Committee on Banking, Housing, Urban Affairs at the hearing on November 12, concerning the
“Financial Accounting Standards Board and Small Business Growth.” I understand the demands
of your schedule and appreciated your presence at the hearing.

As you know and heard at the hearing, small businesses play a vital role in the health of
the U.S. economy. It is essential that small businesses’ concerns are brought forth and
considered by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) as part of its decision making
process. Accordingly, I applaud the commitment that you made at the hearing to establish a
Small Firm Advisory Committee to advise the FASB on small business issues. I am confident
that 2 Small Firm Advisory Committee representing a broad cross section of the small business
community will accomplish this objective.

An example of a similar successful relationship is the Small Firm Advisory Board
(SFAB) created by the NASD. The NASD created the SFAB so that small broker/dealer firms
have a voice in matters effecting them. NASD rules are reviewed by the SFAB before they are
submitted to the NASD Board of Directors. After review by the Board, all rule proposals go
through the NASD public comment process before being submitted to the SEC for an additional
public comment process. Both the NASD and the SEC must review all the comments prior to
any NASD rule proposal becomes final. The SFAB viewpoint is essential in making sure that
small broker/dealer firms are adequately represented.

With respect to the proposed FASB Small Firm Advisory Committee, I strongly believe
that all draft statements and interpretations prior to issuance by the FASB for public comment
and that these comments will receive thoughtful consideration by the FASB. There also should
be collaboration between the Small Firm Advisory Committee and the Financial Accounting
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The Honorable Robert H. Herz
December 5, 2003
Page 2

Standards Advisory Committee (FASAC) to ensure that the FASAC understands and takes into
consideration the small firms’ concerns. In addition, the comments of the Small Firm Advisory
Committee should be made publicly available through the FASB website. 1believe that the
establishment of the Small Firm Advisory Committes could be accomplished in time for the June
2004 FASAC meeting.

Thank you again for testifying before the Subcommittee. Ilook forward to working with
you and the rest of the FASB on accounting and small business issues.

Sincerely,

Michael B. Enzi é
Chairman

Subcommittee on Securities
and Investrnent

€€ The Honorable William H. Donaldson, Chairman
The Honorable Paul S. Atkins, Commissioner
The Honorable Roel C. Campos, Commissioner

The Honorable Cynthia A. Glassman, Commissioner
The Honorable Harvey J. Goldschmid, Commissioner
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NEW YORK -- Financial Accounting Standards Board Chairman format. ) o
Robert Herz, acknowledging as "very well organized" the high- + Order 2 reprint of this article now.
tech lobby against expensing stock options, called for investors to
"make your views known."

During an investor conference call Monday hosted by Glass Lewis & Co., a San Francisco-based
institutional investor advisory firm, Herz said "there definitely are risks” that the board's efforts to
require stock-option expensing could be thwarted by congressional intervention.

"While we believe we will go through, I know one thing I can't control is Congress," Herz said, a
remark reminiscent of FASB's failure a decade ago to require companies to treat employee options
as a business expense. In the face of congressional pressure as well as strong opposition from
corporations, the board compromised on the current rule that encourages expensing but doesn't
require it. Companies do have to disclose the options expense in their financial footnotes.

Under the new standard FASB proposed at the end of March, companies will have to count the
value of options against earnings, starting next year. The proposal is open to public comment until
the end of June; FASB expects to put a final rule in place by year-end.

However, amid the heavy tech lobbying, two bills associated with stock options have been
introduced in Congress. One would deter FASB from making the accounting change for three
years, while the other would limit the expensing requirement to a company's five highest-paid
executives.

"All we can do is to continue to march along with our (standard-setting) due process,”" Herz said.
In the meantime, he said, investors and analysts, the very beneficiaries of the proposed rule
change, should also make sure that "you make your views known to people in Washington."

A recent survey conducted by Broadgate Consultants found that the vast majority of the 302
portfolio managers and analysts polled support the FASB expensing proposal, saying the rule
change will improve financial transparency and corporate governance.

There has also been a growing movement among sharcholders of tech companies to demand
stock-option expensing. Among them: Texas Instruments Inc. (TXN), PeopleSoft Inc. (PSFT),
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Hewlett-Packard Co. (HPQ) and Apple Computer Inc. (AAPL).

Among those who participated in Monday's discussion with investors were Sir David Tweedie,
chairman of the International Accounting Standards Board, the European counterpart to the
FASB, and Lynn E. Turner, former chief accountant of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and now managing director of research at Glass Lewis.

IASB already has passed a rule on stock-option expensing. The two boards have been working
together since 2002, with the ultimate goal of having a single set of high-quality accounting
standards worldwide. "We would be horrified" if Congress stepped in and blocked FASB's reform
efforts on stock options, Tweedie said.

The chairmen of both boards have acknowledged that the biggest challenge for them to achieve
convergence has so far come from heavy business lobbying for politicians’ intervention in
accounting standards. On the IASB part, the European Commission has threatened to reject its
two standards on financial instruments, thanks to heavy lobbying by European banks and insurers.

During the call, in addition to calling for more involvement from investors in the standard-setting
process, both chairmen also went through some details about how exactly to account for the
compensation expense.

They noted that currently there is a slight difference between the IASB rule and the FASB
proposal on how to account for the income-tax benefits derived from stock options. Tweedie,
noting the willingness from both sides to solve the difference, said "hopefully next year, we both
will have exactly the same standard.”

-By Lingling Wei, Dow Jones Newswires; 201-938-2089; Lingling. Wei@dowjones.com

URL for this article:
hitp:/fontine.wsj.com/article/0,,BT_CO_20040419_006291,00.htmi

Copyright 2004 Dow Jones & Company, inc. All Rights Reserved

This copy is for your personal, non-commercial use only. Distribution and use of this material are governed by our
Subscriber Agreement and by copyright law. For non-personal use or to order multiple copies, please contact Dow Jones
Reprints at 1-800-843-0008 or visit www.djreprints.com.
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INJVIC A

National Venture Capital Association

April 30, 2004

Honorable Carl Levin

United States Senate

269 Russell Senate Office Building
‘Washington, DC 20510

Dear Senator Levin,

At the hearing Wednesday, April 28, 2004, you requested that I consider the issue of whether
treating ermployee stock options as an expense at the date of exereise would be appropriate. Asa
preliminary matter, I think it is irmportant to clarify that exercisz date accounting for financial
reporting purposes will not result in financial accounting that is identical to the income tax
consequences that flow from employee stock options. A company receives a tax deduction when,
and if, the employee exercises the option and only if the employee recognizes taxable income. For
example, if the option is an incentive stock option within the meaning of the Internal Revenue
Code, and the employee satisfies that holding period requirement, then the employee does not
recognize income and the corporation never gets a deduction, regardless of the difference between
the stock price at the date of exercise and the exercise price. As a result, exercise date accounting
for financial accounting purposes will not be identical to the tax treatment afforded employee
stock options.

That being said, we also think that there are additional issnes with exercise date accounting, To
account for an option only when it is exercised is problematic tecause the item that is provided,
the option, no longer exists at exercise. We are unaware of any item that is accounted for only
when it is disposed of. FASB specifically considered whether exercise date accounting should
apply when they deliberated the current standard, FAS 123, and rejected this approach. We agree
with the FASB that exercise date accounting is not appropriate.

As I mentioned in my testimony, small businesses and private companies also have significant
issues with fair value accounting and what FASB has termed “intrinsic value” accounting for
stock options. Of course, we do not believe that stock options represent an expense at all, but
putting that aside, and also putting aside all of the valuation issues that I discussed in my
testimony, the costs that would be imposed on small business and private companies under
FASB’s Exposure Draft would dwarf any perceived benefit.

Thank you for your consideration of my tcstxmony and Tlook forward to continued deliberation on
this important matter.

Sincerely,

Mark Heesen
President, NVCA

1655 North Fort Myer Drive » Suite 850 = Adington, Virginia 22209 » 703.524.2549 * Fax 703.524.3940 « wwwnvca.org
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The Pendulum Swings Again: 2002 Option Compensation

The most hackneyed accounting subject in the financial press is stock option compensation and the limitless
debate over the proper treatment for it, It’s no wonder the topic became so over-exposed, though: the option
compensation pendulum arced almost forever in one divection while the tech/telecom-industry miracles of the
1990°s unfolded. In the 2000's many of those miracle firms simply folded, and no great intellectual leap is required
to make the connection berween option compensation and reckless munagerial behavior. “Alignment with
shareholders” provided the alibi.

For the first time since the option footnote information has been made available in 1996, the pendulum has
started to swing in the opposite direction. Perhaps due to the bad publicity generated by Enron and its fellow
scoundrels in the Class of 02, compensation denominated in options wasn 't awarded nearly as frequently in 2002.
Another push on the pendulum: in 2001, only two companies treated stock option compensation as a legitimate
expense In earnings; now, ninety-three companies plan to do the same.

Until everyone accounts for similar transactions in similar fashion, however, 95 out of 500 just won't do.
This report unifies the stock option accounting for the S&P 500, and presents trends in the way stock options are
being handled by companies in the post-Enron era. One prediction: 2003 will see the first decline in stock option
compensation expense.

1. A Turning Tide - For Now

Year after year, for as long as the footnote information provided by FASB Statement No. 123 has been
around, companies have been routinely chosen to report earnings without recording the effects of option
compensation. Only two companies in the S&P 500 - Boeing and Winn-Dixie - voluntarily chose to record the
expense of compensation paid in stock options. The routine has been broken in 2002: since Coca-Cola’s
blockbuster July announcement that it would elect expense recognition, throngs of companies joined the
bandwagon. Including Coke, ninety-three of the companies are in the S&P 500.
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The Analyst’s Accounting Observer volume 12, No. 647 May 27, 2003
The Pendulum Swings Again: 2002 Option Compensation

As the FASB takes on the momentous task of examining the accounting for stock option compensation, it's
as important as ever to see where it's been going in the past year. Examining the “expense in a footnote™
information provided by Statement No. 123 presents the full cost earnings story that you haven't seen in the
quarterly reporting throughout all of 2002. The information for the S&P 500 is examined in this report, with some
surprising trends and findings.

Highlights:

« Option compensation expense increased again in 2003, but not quite as dramatically as usual. The after-
tax option compensation expense approached $48 billion in 2002, up another $4 billion from 2001. The rate of
increase slowed; the expense grew only 9% in 2002 compared to 34% in 2001,

= Earnings were overstated 23% due to the non-recognition of option compensation expense. In 2001, the
overstatement was 25%. See the table below for the overstatement by sector.
» Significant declines in option

Overstatement As % Of “Fully-Costed” Earnings .
compensation expense appeared.
Partly due to lower fair values of

Consumer Discretionary 1823}5 3;:;0, 8% i:;a :Ze option grants in 2002 and 2001,
Consumer Stales P . . °| and lower amounts of grants in
Energy I6%:E 3% 4% 0% . h d
Financals PO7% 6% 4% 1% '002." 180 companies sl owel
Health Care Po10%; 10% ] 10% 8% 29 | declining stock compensation
Indusirals POo8% 7%: 5% 1% | expense - an increase of $1% from
Informaton Technology  ©  51%: 24%: 249 14% 3%| 2001.

Materials Po22%; 15%1 8% 1%

Tetecom §os%i NA 5% 1%| * Grants  dropped
Utlites Po21%: 3% 4% 2% 0% | significantly in 2002, They were
Aggregate S&P 500 23%  25% 8% 6% 1%§ off 19% from 2001 levels. That

combined with lower relative fair
values on the grants, make for a high probability of lower option compensation expense in 2003.

« Concentration of grants to the top executives varied widely in 2002. The most broad-based grants were in the
technology sector, while grants in the utilities sector were more concentrated in the hands ofthe top five executives.

« Estimates of option fair values contained some conflicting principles. Some firms shortened the expected lives
of new options granted, some lowered their volatility estimates, and some did both, which doesn’t make perfect
sense in terms of the Black-Scholes model used so frequently by companies.

« A new trend: companies started to adopt expense recognition as an acc ing policy. That was the good news.
The bad news was that option compensation wasn’t much of an issue for most of the firms, and the majority of them
chose the least robust method of implementing the change.

« Underwater options are a big fact of life. At the end of April, over half of the S&P 500 companies - 263
companies in all - with option exercise prices for their outstanding options at year-end with lower than the current
stock price.

o Tax benefits from option exercises decreased in 2002, They amounted to $11.3 billion, down from $22.6 billion
as opportunities for profitable exercises became more elusive.

* “dlignment with shareholders” remains a pipe dream. A greater percentage of firms with low “options
overhang™ in their capital structure outperformed the firms with high “options overhang™ for the five year period
ending in 2002,

Jack T. Ciesielski, CPA, CFA Phone: (410)783-0672
R.G. Associates, Inc. Fax: (410)783-0687
201 N. Charles Street, Suite 806 Internet: jciesielski@accountingobserver.com

Baltimore, MD 21201 Website: www.accountingobserver.com



155

Recognizing these costs remains an election -
¢ Caitoopbarh.cam =, = for now. The FASB and the JASB have both reached
T ) - tentative conclusions on separate stock compensation
projects that such costs are calculable and must be
recorded in earnings, possibly as soon as 2004 for all
companies. That has not gone down gently with Silicon
Valley types, who have been playing their political
cards as vigorously as in 1994 when they handily
outmaneuvered the FASB in Congress.

They’ve enlisted allies such as Senator Mike
Enzi (Wyoming - R.) and Senator Barbara Boxer
(California - D.) into holding a Senate roundtable on
the importance of stock options in the American
economy - a roundtable totally stacked against the
“expense treatment” point of view.

They’re playing other cards. They’ve invoked

g en the argument that expense recognition of option
T have the sux figures, the stock options, and the lomo. bt compensation will end “partnership capitalism”
wwhere are fhe letters o gratefil schoolhddren?” between workers, stockholders and management, to
1] whip employees into a populist frenzy so they’!f lobby
First appeared in the New Yorker. Cartoonbank.com 2003 their congressmen for action.

They're playing the “death by delay” strategy by goading representatives David Dreier (California - R.)
and Anna Eshoo (California - D.) to introduce a bill forbidding the FASB to issue new standards on option
accounting while requiring the SEC to enact “enhanced disclosures” for three years - and to perform a study on their
effect afterwards.

They're trying cast doubt on the veracity of any expense figures tied to option compensation expense by
trashing the Black-Scholes option pricing model - perhaps most famously in an April 22 Wall Street Journal
editorial by Intel Corporation’s CEO Craig Barrett, where he proclaimed that the “kind of right” results from using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate fair values aren’t good enough. He then proceeded over the
edge of the cliff by sanctimoniously invoking the Sarbanes-Oxley Act: if the Act requires CEOs to attest to the
accuracy, how can they comply with the law if they certify Black-Scholes “guesstimates?” Perhaps Mr. Barrett
should huddle with his general counsel: he already certified last year’s financial statements which include Black-
Scholes-estimated values for options and warrants held as assets. Apparently his distaste for such “guesstimates™
doesn’t extend to options unrelated to compensation.

No matter where the FASB and IASB go with their projects. there won’t be absolute certainty present in
any value estimate for options at the date of grant. Companies and investors need to grow up when faced with that
fact: the truth is that with the possible exception of cash, precious little else in the financial statements is an
absolutely precise figure. They’re all riddled with estimates, some good, some not so good.

1,

Option comy fon accounting reform Id provide a window into how companies pay executives
and employees with only one particular medium of exchange. Consider this: any infor ion about
compensation is extremely rare in income statement reporting. Labor is one the most critical inputs to
production, but outside of a few industries, how often do you see “compensation & benefits” as a line item in
the income statement? Not very often. The same visceral corporate reaction would occur if an accounting
proposal required companies to disclose the cash cost of compensation. Perhaps the FASB and the IASB should
require improved disclosure of cash compensation as well as recognition of stock-based compensation; investors
would then be able to effectively assess the management of those resources.
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For now, let’s concentrate on what we can know: how stock option compensation was handled in the S&P
500 during the past year and ever since the Statement No. 123 footnote disclosures have been available. The table
below summarizes the big picture.

Sa&xP 500 Reported Earnings & Unrecorded Compensation
1998 1997 ~ 1996

5Yr. CAGR 3 Yr. CAGR

(§ in hillionas) 1995

Earnings as reported $253.8 $219.8 $436.7 $3736 $316.3 $2854 $2622 §2157
Unrecorded compensation 47.6 438 32.5 2311 138 98 48 22
Net earnings $206.2 $1762 $4042 $3525 $3025 $2756 $2574 $2135
Earnings overstatement 23% 25% 8% 8% 5% 4% 2% 1%
YTY change in:

Earnings as reported 15%  -50% 17% 18% 11% 9% 22%
Unrecorded compensation 8% 34% 54% 53% 41% 104% 118%

Net earnings 17%  -56% 15% 17% 10% 7% 21%

The computational ground rules: “earnings as reported” is shorthand for earnings available to common shareholders,
on a diluted basis, from continuing operations. It's figured as the diluted EPS times the number of diluted shares cutstanding.
{tincludes all costs in earnings: no "pro forma-ing " of figures for one-time charges. The unrecorded compensation is the amount
of the stock compensation that would have been recognized had all of the S&P 500 firms employed Statement No. 123
accounting. Finally, net earnings are called that because they really are net of all expenses incurred to produce them. “Net
earnings” for companies that do not apply Statement No. 123 accounting beyond footnote disclosures is a misnomer: they're
not net. They're presenting earnings without important inputs.

Another ground rule: the information in 2002 is slightly incomplete due to the fact that at the time of this writing, six
component companies had not yet reported their 2002 resuifs. They are Allegh Energy, Ci ins Engine, Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Company, King Phar i Qwest, and Symbol Technologies.

As you can see, reported earnings may pause now and then (look at 2001) but stock option compensation
never rests. It might be starting to abate however: 2002 was the first year of single-digit growth in option
compensation since the information became available.

Bear in mind there’s a built-in bias when looking at the growth pattern because Statement No, 123 expense
information is only related to options granted after December 135, 1994 - even though there were plenty in existence
at the time. The fair value of those options is to be spread over the period of expected service by the employees
receiving them, The expense figures for 1995 will reflect only the option compensation expense for options granted
that year and the portion of the service period included in 1995; some would be deferred into 1996, which would
include some expense from 1996 grants and some carried over from 1995. Note that neither year would include
any expense related to service provided under grants made in 1994 and earlier. The pro forma compensation
expense will be understated until all of the older options “roll off” through exercise, forfeiture or expiration. It’s
less of a problem in recent years.

The trend may Jook the same but there’s a curious undercurrent, The overall rate of stock compensation
increase is slowing, but it actually declined in 2002 for a number of companies. Be aware: this is nor due to the fact
that some companies announced adoption of Statement No. 123 expense treatment in 2002. The footnote data

Options Really Were Popular In 1995...

Award It just doesn't look that way because of the phase-in of the
1995 $25,000 z , X disclosures. Example: Awards of $25 million worth of stock
1986 25000 X 3 3 options per year, with expected service period of five years,
1897 25,000 X . 3 will resuft in increasing expense recognized each year unti
1998 25,000 2 5 fully loaded expense is reached. It's like depreciation
1998 25.000 e oz = 9000 Y exnense for companies that continually buy equipment,
taking five years until the annual figure shows the full effect.
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The Pendulum Slows Down

Increases $9.4 $145 $137 $86 X 3 $3.2 2002 saw a couple of strange
Decreases B4 (34) (24 (15 ; . (0.5)] phenomenons, one of th_emdbeting t;‘ra;_:
) . some companies promised to sta
Option compensation change  $40 $111 $114  §7.1 . : 27 recognizing stock o;tion compensation
# of companies: in their earnings. Less noticed, yet still
increases 303 368 370 372 385 355 345 surprising, was the fact that the growth
No change 17 13 29 44 57 83 118 of “hidden” stock compensation slowed
Decreases 180 118 101 84 8 62 371 dramatically in 2002 - and over 50%

500 500 500 500 500 500 500} more companies than last year
experienced decreases in stock
compensation. The expense pendulum
increases 8% 1% 1% 2% 3% 3% may well have reached the end of its arc
Decreases 51% 18% 20% 8% 26% 68% in 2002.

YTY Change in # of companies:

provides completely level information for all companies whether or not they were on Statement No. 123 accounting
or APB Opinion No. 25 accounting. The table above summarizes some of the surprising currents just below the
surface of the figures.

There are a couple of reasons why the option expense didn’t grow so rapidly as in the past, the most obvious
one being that perhaps they’re just not the emolument of choice in a bear market. We’ll see confirming evidence
of that in the following section on grant information: suffice it to say for now that option grants dropped
significantly in 2002. Ditto for the fair values of the options, which one would expect in a bear market: the current
stock price is an input into the Black-Scholes option pricing model used by so many companies. The lower the stock
price at grant date, the lower the estimated option fair values; in turn, the compensation expense based on the fair
value estimates is lower than it would be if stock prices were at bull market highs. The decline in both grants and
the fair values of grants had a braking effect on 2002 stock option compensation expense. Below, a look at how
much the 2002 stock option compensation expense increased or decreased by sector.

Ups & Downs: Directions The Expense Went In 2002

Decreasers: #  $ohifions | Increasers: #  $biliions At left, the number of companies in

Information Technology 29§ ($20) | information Technology 47 $38 | each S&P sector showing dollar
Financials 30 i (0.9) || Financials 51 { 24 |decreases or increases in 2002
Telecom Services 6 i (08) | Telecom Services 6 | 04 |stock option compensation
Consumer Discretionary 30 i (0.6) || ConsumerDiscretionary 56 | a6 |compared to 205"1'“;? f’s;,'l mtay
Consumer Staples 11 i {04) || Consumer Staples 23 04 | SEEM Surpnsing that the tech sector
Erergy 12 ©.2) | Energy 49 01 showgd such significant declines,

R i ’ ¢ " | but since so much of the total stock
Health Care 11 ; (02) | Heaith Care 32 i 08 compensation is tied up in that one
industrials 25 H {0.1) || Industrials 40 | 04 sector, it's reasonable to expect
Matenals 12 1 (@) § Matenals 19 | 03 | that any overall frends in the S&P
Utilites 14 1 {01} | uthties 18 0.3 1500 will have some tie-in io

Total 180 {$5.4) Total 363 $9.4 | technology.

The appetite for comp ion is insatiable, however, and it would be highly unlikely that the decline
in option grants was because managers in 2002 were suddenly feeling ash 1 of previous piggish behavior.
Without any information about cash compensation, one can’t tell if their appetites were satisfied through more
con ional pay hods i d of continuing option grants. Disclosures about restricted stock were scarce,

so it was hard to tell if an increase in expense tied 1o restricted stock grants offset the decline in option
compensation expense.

The table on the next page shows 49 companies with estimated decreases in option compensation expense
from 2001 in excess of $20 million.
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Option Compensation Decreasers Of 2002

. I 2001 2000
Yahoot Information Technology {3400} (56843 $1.118 $307 $45 $4 54
ACL Time Warner Consumer Discretionary {377 795 155 412 (78} 117 17
Ciena Corp information Technology (364) 218 Fal 12 20 4 1
ATET Telecom {321) 151 247 59 84 | 8) a8
Cisco Systems Information Technology (238) 811 551 299 141 65 B0
Coca-Cola Consumer Staples. (2245 25 25 24 43 25 25
Agiient Te T {192} 222 244 18 8 11 0
Bank One Financials (1763 ¢ 73 79 ) 35 11 25
Apple Computer tnformation Technology {142) 85 220 28 4 11 27
Exxon Mobit Energy {142y {4) 141 {1 34 57 50
Merniti Lynch & Co. Financials (138} 545 56 191 44 28 18
Oracie Informatian Technology (131) 167 242 28 74 46 30
Morgan Staniey Financials {126) {122) 145 130 4 152 {107}
U S Bancorp Financials {98) 99 [§8] 68 30 22 3
Altria Group Consumer Staples 93 85 84 {26) 25 {1y 49
Spant PCS Group Telecom {86 (53) 187 74 0 0 0
Applied Micro Circuits Information Technalogy {85) 217 24 4 1 [ 0
Amencan inlt Group Financiats {80} 80 0 8 3t 18 0
Pfizer Heaith Care 73} (255) 323 251 124 86 84
Alcoa Matenals (72} 24y 64 103 10y [ 8
Providian Financials {64} 8 30 20 10 3 a
Corning information Technotogy {58} 266 39 16 0 16 2
Sprint Corp FON Group Telacom {53 {183} 161 133 o 0 0
Avaya Information Technology {44} {18} 42 3 29 o 0
Gap Consumer Discretionary {42} {46} 2% 23 48 15 12
Comverse T¢ T 37 99 39 19 15 9 3
Limdted Brands Consumer D.scretionary 37 4 4 4 4 8 3
Gateway Information Technology {36} (224} 185 63 26 14 I3
Motorola Information Technology (35} 174 114 {80) 57 0 87
Chevron Texaco Corp Energy {32y 42 {75} 72 92 (46} (7
Xihnx infarmation Technology 31 42 6 10 6 21 ¢
Comenca Financials (34 20 2 11 6 3 3
Torchmark financials {3n 33 {7} 14 {21 17 3
Charles Schwab Fnancials (30} 56 44 28 28 12 0
interpublic Consumer Discrebonary (28} 28 1 18 10 1 3
Federat Homeloan Mtg Fnancials (28) 7 7 0 0 7 0
Rockwall Automation Indusinais (28) 9 {87} €4 a 13 4
Ebay Consumer Discretionary {26} 39 111 63 4] ¢ o
Honaywali industnals {24y 17 8 1% 1] 26 &
Amenican Power Conversion  industnais (24) 13 1 12 10 4 0
Symbot Tech Technok (2% 4 5 7 2 4 [}
IMS Health Heaith Care 22y (54} 54 18 3 20 7
Delpht Consumar Discretionary (22) 12y 35 44 0 ] o
Anadarke Petroleum Energy {22} 4 29 {2) 5 2 5
Guidant Health Care {21} 23 18 18 39 B 7
Novett information Technology {21 23 27 4 11 21 7
Computer Sciences ion T {21} 17 2 2 7 8 3
Regions Fin't Corp Financials {204 23 4 {2y 7 ) 2
General Motors Consumer Discretionary (20) {31} 52 21 44 70 23

Notrce that the drop in option compensation expense was new for most of these comparies

Don’t think the decreases related only to 2002 actions. If you picked up only one lesson from the “ramp-up”
description on page 4, it should be that any one year’s option compensation expense is an amalgam of current and
previous years’ grants and their fair values. Likewise, the decreases in the above table are an amalgam of grant
activity in past and current years, and the fair values of the grants in past and previous years. We’ll fook at those
issues separately later, but one preview: both grants and the estimated fair values declined in a big way in 2002.
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The following three tables address the earnings overstatement by sector due to unstated stock option
compensation expense. First, the plain vanilla figures: as-reported GAAP earnings.

S&TP 500 "As Reported" Income from Continuing Operations

(§ in billions) 2001 2000 1899

Consumer Discretionary $22 3197 $500 $519 $58 5 $383 $345 $324
Cansumer Staples 4256 363 346 322 272 292 267 25
Energy "7 304 358 153 104 214 165 89
Financials 107.1 86.3 107.6 1023 78.5 706 597 446
Health Care 482 429 372 336 298 275 254 201
industnals 38.5 387 46.3 394 34.9 287 296 246
Information Technology (212 851 704 493 336 313 262 209
Materials 50 53 18 88 8.1 9.9 1.5 158.3
Telecom 160 24 315 238 225 149 178 131
Utiities 3.7 219 119 172 14.1 138 143 133
Total $253.8 $219.8 $438.7 $373.6 $316.3 $285.4 $262.2 $215.7
YTY Change 15% -50% 17% 18% 11% 9% 22% --

Not a bad year: a nice rebound from the 2001°s misery and in the same profitability league as in the salad
days of the 1990°s. Next, a look at how that picture changes if alf costs of production are included in earnings.

"Pro Forma" Income from Continuing Operations
{$ in biflions) 2001 2000

Consumer Discretionary $27) $147 $46 3 $490 $56 8 $37 1 $339 $32 1
Consumer Staples 406 343 33.0 310 260 285 263 224
Energy 1o 296 350 147 99 209 163 89
Financals . | 100.6 812 104.1 98.2 7490 69.0 59.1 443
Health Care 438 390 337 311 278 267 248 198
industrials 35.6 37.0 44.0 375 33.5 273 28.1 243
Information Technology (43 %) {85 6} 567 432 297 288 249 204
Matenals 4.1 4.6 106 79 8.9 94 112 15.1
Telecom 139 00 293 27 219 145 176 131
Utihties. 3.0 214 115 16.9 40 13.5 143 133
Total $208.2 $176.2 $404.2 $352.2 $302.5 $275.7 $257.5 $213.7
YTY Change 17% -56% T 15% 17% 10% 7% 21% - -

The earnings trend is pretty much intact but what a change in the figures: over the eight year stretch,
earnings were overstated by $175.4 biition - the sum total of the after-tax stock compensation. See the table below.

A History: Unrecorded After-tax Stock Option Compensation Expense

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 986
Consurner Discretionary $49 $50 $37 $29 $17 ! $12 $06
Consumer Staples 20 240 16 12 1.2 o7 05 0.2
Energy 07 08 08 06 05 05 02 00
Financials 6.5 5.1 3.4 40 25 16 07 0.3
Health Care 45 39 35 25 17 09 06 03
industriais 29 286 22 18 14 14 05 03
tnformation Technology 223 208 137 61 39 25 13 05
Materials 09 07 09 08 6.2 0.5 0.2 0.2
Telecom 21 24 22 11 06 04 02 01
Utilities 08 08 05 03 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0
Total $47.6 $43.6 $32.5 $21.1 $13.8 $9.8 $4.8 $2.2
YTY Change 9% 34% 54% 53% 41% 104% 118% --
C i ded exp $175.4 $127.8 $84.2 $51.7 $30.6 $16.8 $7.0 $2.2
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One can make numerous scary inferences about the $175 billion of unrecorded expense. The least subtle
inference is that if earnings were so overstated, then the stock market was also overvalued by, say, a muitiple of
twenty or more times that much in any single year. It’s a frequent argument made about the effect of non-
recognition of stock option expense - but stocks aren’t always valued at an iron-clad multiple applied equally to
every component of earnings. There’s no way to prove it absolutely wrong or right, of course, but it’s hard to refute
the fact that some companies certainly got more credit than they deserved at some point in the last eight years
because their earnings were untainted by these costs, One counterpoint to the argument that stocks were overvalued
because of this missing expense: during the pro forma reporting craze of the late 1990°s, one cannot help but believe
these expenses would have been “pro forma-ed away” by willing market participants simply because they were non-
cash items. Market fluffiness might have occurred anyway.

Or maybe not. The only certainty is that investors were handicapped in setting fair prices in fair stock
markets because they were denied relevant information. The Silicon Valley defenders of financial statement
opaqueness bleat about the innovation produced by stock option incentives and the joys of home ownership
provided by option exercises for those who otherwise could never afford homes, and how expensing options will
bring all of those social positives to an end. Even if they really believe that would happen, those social engineers
never consider other sociul positives that affect more than just their constituents: namely, the benefits to an
entire economy when capital is allocated to where it is served best. That’s accomplished when the capital market
participants have access to financial statements that let them to make decisions based on all available facts. That
couldn’t happen in the late 1990’s.

One more table demonstrates a little differently how unrecorded stock option affected the different S&P 500
sectors. The table below shows the swing in profitability between “as reported™ earnings and “fully-expensed”
earnings. Would the stock market performance of each sector been exactly the same each year if the full-expense
figures had been reported? A lockstep decline in market value might not have occurred for each company based
on the additional expense reported - but the full expense amount would have certainly conveyed new information
to investors about the way 1 nent treated th lves as well as how the boards of directors treated
management. Perhaps more likely than simple lockstep changes in share value, this information might have
provoked institutional investors to take more critical views of relationships among board members and
managements.

Percentage Swing: “As Reported” Earnings To “Fully-Costed” Earnings

# 2002 2001 2000 1998 1998 1897 1996
88 I Consumer Discretionary -223% -25% 7% 6% -3% 3% -2% -1%
35 || Consumer Staples -8% 5% -5% -4% 4% 2% -1% 0%
23 || Energy 6% -3% 2% 4% -5% 2% -1% 0%
82 | Financials 6% 6% -3% 4% -3% -2% 1% -1%
46 | Health Care -10% -9% -9% 1% 6% -3% -2% -1%
67 | Industrials -8% 7% 5% ~5% ~4% -5% ~2% 1%
76 | Information Technology -105% -31% ~19% -12% -12% -8% 5% 2%
34 | Materials -18% ~13% -8% -8% -2% 5% -3% A%
12 || Telecom -13% ~100% 7% -6% -3% ~3% -1% 0%
37 | Utilities -19% -2% -3% -2% 1% -1% 0% 0%
500 | Aggregate S&P 500 -19% -20% -7% -6% -4% -3% -2% 1%

The shaded portion of the table represents the early years of the SFAS No. 123 information As descnibed on page 4, they're
“light” on stock option compensation because the phase-in tied to only the options issued after 12/15/94. When did expense
became fully charged? it can't be told for sure: it's related to the vesting period of options issued. Given that the customary
vesting period is three years at many companies, the “loading period” could have been complete in 1997 if firms made granis
at the beginning of 1895, or complete at the end of 1998 for options granted at the end of 1995. Even during this likely “option
expense lite” period, the information technology sector was still the one thaf would have seen the biggest swing in earnings
had they reporfed earnings more honestly - a trend that continued right to this day.
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Earnings ebb and flow, but stock option compensation
never seems to take a rest.

The chart at left shows the year to year percentage
change in the "as reported” earnings of the S&P 500,
plotted alongside the annual after-tax amount of
unrecognized stock option compensation. Eamnings
-10% 1§ fook a breather in 2001 and rebounded a bit in 2002,
-20% 1§ but the growth in stock option compensation remained
0w || relentless.

30%
20%
10%

$ Billions

-40% 1§ The compensation expense will likely decrease in
-s0% {§ 2003. The reasor: the fair value of the amount of
awards has been decreasing, partly because fewer

1955 1907 19\99 2001 options were granted this year and because the fair
values attached to grants work out to lower amounts in
B unrecognized option compensation (Y1) a bear market. If grants and fair values follow the same

" Change in "As Reported” Earnings (Y2) pattern in 2003, the ﬁr§t down year could occur for
- stock option compensation expense.

Stock Option Compensation Expense (After-tax) & YTY Change
($inbilions) 200 2000 1938 1998 1997 1998 1995

Utiltes 67% $03:200% $0

Materials | i 50% | i200% 0.

Financials -15% 60% 2

Health Care | i 0% | Parl 1

Industrials i22% [ 29% 1 H

Info Technology 25% | i 56%; 3. 1.3 160%
Consumer Staples 33% 0%, 1 05 150% 02
Consumer Discretonary | 28% | friel 1 06} 100% ' 0.3
Energy P0%: 3% P 20% 0 0z; NA 00
Tetecom | 21i93%! 247 o%l 22%100%] 11i83%' 06! 50%]| 021100%| 01

AgzreéateS&PSOO $476 9% $436 34% 9325 54% $21.1 63% $13.8 41% $9.8 104% $4.8 118% $2.ZJ]

The table above summarizes the after-tax stock compensation expense for the ten different S&P 500 sectors;
it's sorted in decreasing order of percentage change compared to 2001, Tt might seem surprising that the biggest
percentage increases in stock option compensation took place in the utilities, materials and financial sectors, but
in the grand scheme of things, those were increases on pretty low previous year amounts; naturally, the percentage
change will be high. When it comes to sheer dollar bulk of buried compensation, the information technology sector
has no match. In fact, it takes almost all the other sectors combined to match the dollar amount of stock
compensation of the tech sector: it accounts for 46% of the total.

Overstatement As % Of “Fully-Costed” Earnings

GCELIRGC I CC Y/ a firm misses its earnings by a
. penny, the stock wilts « and a
1% | penny is not always a material

Consumer Discretionary
Consumer Staples

Energy g% | percentage of most firms’ EPS.
Financials 1% | When it comes fto option
Health Care 2% i compensation, firms’ earnings
Industnais 1% | are way off on a percentage

3%, basis-with no discipline from the
19 | Stock market to make managers
1o, | mind.

0% | {Shaded portions of the table are
1%]) vears where expense figures
were stilf ramping up for grants.)

information Technology
Materials

Telecon

Utilites.

Aggregate S&P 500
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A perennial question when the Statement No. 123 information becomes available: which firms would have
been unprofitable had expense recognition been required? The table below shows those firms.

Earners To Losers Of 2002, Continuing Operations

2002 % EPS P Aside from being an ineffective way of

Overstmt. informing investors about the costs of
Network Apphance  Information Technology 8000:/? ’:égg;‘l’,g?f;)jgiaagzéﬁf ﬁ;?;gg?:;;?rrz’a;z;
Rabent Haif Industrials 1800% to pet income, not income from continuing
Vertas Software  information Technology 514% operations - usually more interesting to
Yahoo! information Technology 450% mvestors. A firm is not required fo disclose
Apple Computer information Technology 356% the amount of pro forma stock compensation
Novelflus Systems  Information Technology 313% expense tied to discontinued operations. That
Anajog Devices  information Technology 218% was the case with Intuit. The pro forma
Nwvidia Corporation  information Technology 193% effects were (_ﬂsp fayed only for net income -
Citrix Systems information Technology 167% b‘f" some of it may hfive been affocated to
N N N o, discontinued operations. Qne can only
Mercury Interactive Information Technology 166% deduce the net amount of option
Charles Schwab  Financials 157% compensation and figure that it went lo
Autodesk informaton Technology 146% continuing operations - a safer guess than
intuit Information Technology 128% figuring all of it went fo discontinued
Applied Materials  Information Technology 119% operations.

The issue of “earners 1o tosers” is a bit overdramatized in the press at times: most of the companies in the
table above were barely profitable to begin with, so stock option compensation would surely be the last straw. Of
the fourteen companies in the table, twelve of them were in the technology sector. (Notice a pattern yet? Hmmm... )

At the same time, if firms had to record the cost, would managers have managed differently to avoid red
ink? Would they have worked harder at finding price increases, or cutting out unprofitable projects or trimming
overhead expenses? One would hope so - but not facing up to all of the costs of production leads to managerial
sloth. Make no mistake about it - option costs are a factor of production. Try taking thent away from employees
and see if they stick around. Ignoring their value, though, is ignoring a big, secularly growing fixed cost - and
you don’t manage fived costs by hiding them.

In the table below, thirty-five companies in the S&P 500 not quite in the “earners to losers” category. These
firms’ earnings were overstated by 100% or more by suppressing the cost of stock option compensation,

Firms With Overstatement Of 100% Or Greater (Continuing Operations)
2002 % EPS EPS As Pro 2002% EPS EPSAs

_ _______ Overstatement Reported Forma  Firm _Overstatement Reported _Forma_|
PeopleSoft 3600% $057  $001 Qualcormm 175% 3044 $016
Siebel Systems 2738% {0.08) (227) PMC-Sierra, inc 158% {0.38)  (0.98)
Adobe Systems 2533% 079 003 Tektronx 154% 033 013
Altera 2200% 0.23 00t Appiera - Apphed Bio Grp, 152% 078 0.3
Jabil Circust 1600% 017 001 KLA-Tencor 134% 110 047
Boise Cascade 800% (B 03) (0.21) National Semiconductor 129% {0.69) (1.58)
PerunElmer 567% (003) (020) * || Comverse Technology 116% {069) (149)
Cisco Systems 400% 0.28 0.05 J P. Morgan Chase 116% 0.80 037
EMC 340% (005) {(022) Texas Instruments 115% {020) (043)
Ebay 305% 085 021 Allergan 113% 049 023
Symantec Corp 275% {020y (079 Sun Microsystems 111% {0 18) (038)
Eiectronic Arts 255% 071 0.20 Parametrnic Technology 108% {036} (0.75)
Calpine 250% 014 004 * i MeadWestVaco Corp 100% {001y (o~
ACE Limited 217% 0.19 006 Novell 100% {028) (0.56)
Ford 200% 015 005 * | Amencan Electnc Power 100% 008 003"
Scientific-Atlanta 200% 086 022 Xerox 100% 010 0.00
Andrew Corp 200% 012 004 * [ Xinx . 100%  (034) (068)
Maxim Integrated 192% 0.73 0.25 *ingicates discontinued operations. See Intult, discussed above.
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Coke opened Pandora’s box in July 2002 when they announced that they would start recording option
compensation expense: the imitators swarmed. There are 93 born-again compensation recorders in the S&P 500,
which sounds impressive - but there’s less than meets the eye. First of all, there are three methods of adoption
available to those companies adopting Statement No. 123 accounting - and they have different effects on earnings
presentation. In brief, an adopting firm can choose to implement the new method only for new options granted -
leading to the ramping-up “phase-in” problem discussed earlier. (Call it “adoption lite,” or the pure prospective
treatment.) A firm can choose to recognize the remaining expense tied to unvested options and new options, which
will create a break in comparability with previous years which contain no option compensation expense. (Call it
just a fully-loaded prospective treatment, or simply “unvested.”) Lastly, a firm can go with the second approach
and restate prior years to keep things comparable. (Call it the full-strength approach.) Out of the 93 new adopters,
81 of them are choosing “adoption tite.” Six have chosen the unvested, fully-loaded prospetive treatment, four have
selected the full-strength treatment, and the remainder did not disclose their choice in their 2002 annual reports. All
else equal. it could take years to see meaningful stock option compensation expense information in carnings.

There’s even less here than meets the eye. The median overstatement of 2002 earnings per share in the
S&P 500 companies was 7%. The median overstatement for the new adopters was 4%, meaning that the most
severely distorted presentations of earnings will not be improving any time in the near future, as long as

recognition of stock comp expense ins an elective,

Below, the new adopters, their choice of implementation method, and their 2002 overstatement.

Firms Committing To Recognize Option Compensation

______Method WMethod _

Calpine Lite  25C% § Computer Associates tite 7% Lite 2%
Ford Unvested  200% || FleetBoston Financral Lie 7% § Generai Electnc Lite 2%
J.P. Mcrgan Chase Lite  118% j| Centex tite 7% || Emerson Electric Lite 2%
Lincoln Nationat Full 58% | Lowe's Companies Lie 7% {| Paccar Lite 2%
Travelers P&C Lite 53% i Home Depot Lite 7% fj PPL Lite 2%
AT&T Lite 45% §| CSX Lite 6% § Comenca Lite 2%
Merrill Lynch & Co. NA 44% i Entergy Lite 6% i Fannie Mae Lite 2%
Cendant Lite 37% | AES Corp Lite 6% §| Pulte Homes Lite 2%
Chubb Unvested 33% || Mallon Financial Corp. Lite 6% i United Parcal Service Lite 2%
Dow Chemical Lite 23% §| Hartford Fini Lite 6% | Washington Mutual Lite 2%
Sprint - PCS Group Lite 21% || State Street Lite 5% || Johnson Controls Lie 2%
Goldman Sachs Lite 21% || Safeco Lite 5% | Wachovia Lite 2%
XL Capiat Lite 16% | Moody's Lite 5% § Target Lite 2%
Temple inland Lite 16% § Bank Of Amenica Lite 5% | Suntrust Banks Lite 2%
American Express Lite 14% || Bear Slearns Lite 5% || Pinnacle West Capital Lite 1%
John Hancock Lite 13% | Natonal City Corp Lite 4% § Transocean Lite 1%
Gereral Motors Lite 12% || SBC Comm. Fult 4% § Prncipal Financial Gp Lite 1%
Costco Lite 12% § Alistate Lite 4% || Genuine Parts Lite 1%
Apartmt. Inv. & Mgmt. Lite 11% | Prudental Financial Lite 4% || Equity Office Propts. Lite 1%
Unocat Lite 11% §| BeliSouth Fult 4% i American inf1 Gp Lite 1%
Verizon Lite 11% {| May Dept Stores Lie 4% || Bank One Lite 1%
Morgan Stanley Lite 10% § Metlife Lite 4% ji Wal Mart Stores Full 1%
Rohm & Haas Lite 10% | AMBAC Fmancial Lite 3% | CMS Energy Lite 0%
Du Pont Lite 10% || Anadarke Petroleum Lite 3% § Cwergy Lite 0%
Concco Phillips Lite 10% §| Ashiand Unvested 3% || Coca-Cola Unvested 0%
Jones Apparel Lie 9% 1| Leggett & Platt Lie 3% §| Sunoco Unvested 0%
Sprint - FON Grp. Lite % || Cigroup Lite 3% | MBIA Unvested 0%
Tupperware Lite 8% | Visteon Lae 3% §i Simon Properly Gp Lite Q%
Bank Of New York Lite % | PNC Fint Lite 3% § USX-Marathon Lite %
Block, H&R NA 8% § Masco Lite 2% || Plum Creek Timber Lite 0%
Cooper Industies Lite 7% | Keyspan Lite 2% |} Ameren Lite 0%
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Expensing: Only If It’s Easy
Don't be toa quick to congratulate firms that choose to
Total Granted  Unvested 1M 00 stock option compensation as an expense. Not
Consumer Discretionary 16 14 1 1 | many of them will he making significant changes.
Consumer Staples 1 o ! ¢ For the most part, the commitment fo elect expense
Energy 7 5 ! O | treatment of options by the S&P 500 members looks
Financials 490 36 3 11 more like a public relations ploy than an attempt at
Health Care 0 0 ¢l 0 | improving financiaf reporting.
Industrials 8 8 0 08 1 As the table on the previous page shows, most of the
Information Technelogy 1 1 ¢ O | firms have below average option compensation
Materials 4 4 0 G | expense - and at the table at left shows, mast of them
Telecom & 4 0 2 | are choosing the lightweight method for adopting such
tilities 9 9 0 o | a policy, with expense recognition effective anly for
93 31 5 4] newly-issued options instead of existing unvested
instruments.

The fact that the least affected firms are the ones that volunteered to treat option compensation as a
legitimate expense only underscores the fact that standards need to be standard for all companies - and that
when if comes to applying 1

"

ism makes for lousy results in financial reporting.

A
'as,

The chart at left shows the number of companies with
overstated earnings per share of 100% or more ever since
the Statement No. 123 information became available, it
also shows the average earnings overstatement of those
comparnies.

As has been mentioned several times in this report, one
should not be misied by the trend in the early years: it's not
that firms were issuing fewer options in those years before
Y 1899, it's just that the option compensation expense didn’t
|~ 400% yet reflect the vesting of all options issued since the start of

Overstatements: Becoming The Norm
i o e 1000%

- 800%

- 600%

H the pro forma information.

- 200% Alse do not be misled by the decline in the number of

{ overstaters in 2002; while it looks like that there were
0 marginally fewer than last year (49 versus 51), the figures

do ot include six firms that had not yet reparted. inclusion
of the data for those six could have tipped the balance the
other way.
0 - | . : If firms overstated earnings by means of say, recognizing
: y Lot revenue early or understating depreciation, would investors
stand for it? Of course not. But when it comes to
1 #0f100% or more (Y1} B Avo. overstatement (¥2} understating compensation costs, they practically acceptis
as a norm, Call it defining deviancy down.

1998 1556 1987 1008 1999 2000 200t 2002

ok kK K Rk K K kK ok K K K ok K ok k ok Rk

Without grants, there would be no stock compensation expense to analyze. Let’s take a look at what
happened in the way of grants in the past year.
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II. Giving Away The Store: Grant Activity

Investors can kick themselves: option grants are compensation cocaine for executives, and shareholders et
them cultivate their addiction. Managements have been hooked on them for years, always serenading investors with
the ingratiating tune of “alignment of management with shareholder interests.” Investors, always eager to believe,
willingly went along with the newest option plan presented. There’s another reason investors have always been
agreeable to increases in grants. Because they’re often obsessed only on whether or not earnings beat estimates,
investors tend to miss things that happen below the surface of the financial statements. A gradual ceding of their
ownership to management is one of those things that is not apparent from an intensive study of “beating estimates.”

If only investors cared to look deeper into the annual report footnotes, they’d find bountiful information
about the way options were dispensed, Obviously, it would be far more timely to get such information on a quarterly
basis, but one can still learn much from the annual information. In this section, we’il look at the grant activity
through a couple of different prisms: actual quantity of options granted, concentration of grants at executive levels
and the value of the options granted.

Actual quantity of options granted
Start with the actual options granted. The table below shows the distribution of the grants by sector for the

last eight years. For each year, the left column is the amount of options granted; the right column is the percent
change from the previous year.

Option Grants/YTY % Change

tnformation Technology 1 2
Financials C. 7% O 0.3
Consumer Discretionary 4 7%] O a7
Health Care 0 0% 0 03
industrals 0 0%} © 03
Consumer Staples a 0% 0. a2
Telecom 0 0% ¢ 1
Energy Q. 0% %1 0. 0.1
Matenals H Q 0% %) 0 01
Utifities P-50%, 021100%1 01 0%} O 0% -] 0 H 00
Aggregate -18% 1 6.6 2%! 65 33%i 49 4% 6%] 48 20%| 4.0 14%i 35

After cresting in 2001, the number of options granted tumbled in 2002 - dropping 18% compared to the
2001’s peak. The tech sector, always in the lead when it came to getting more options, was in the lead when it came
to taking less (at least in sheer number of options foregone.} Don’t be deluded into thinking that firms were simply
being more conscientious or more chaste in dispensing options
in 2002 than in past years. Option compensation was hot simply
because the market was hot, and options produced immediate
wealth in the go-go years of 1995 through early 2000. When
markets turned cold, starting with the bursting of the internet
bubble in 2000, the payoff to stock options seemed a lot less
assured and managements demanded fewer. “Alignment with
shareholder interests” be damned when the going gets tough.

Option Grants

{Biftions/Year)

Fading chances of a fat quick payoff may be one reason
option popularity diminished - but there are other possible
explanations, First, firms may actually believe that required
expense treatment is on the way through the FASB and IASB
efforts. If they do believe so (despite the obstruction efforts of
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Silicon Valley), they might be concerned that huge amounts of overhanging options will crimp future earnings if
accounting transition requirements require them to recognize expense related to unvested options. A second
possibility: by showing more restraint in issuing options, firms opposing “expensing” efforts might be able to point
to their current good behavior as a reason why no reform is needed. A third possibility for diminishing option
popularity might be that other forms of compensation - cash and restricted stock - might be increasing in popularity.
The problem is that there’s no way to track down increases in cash compensation between years, and only sketchy
disclosure of restricted stock was found in this survey. A final possibility: there are stitl six firms not included in
the figures, which might skew things. (Given the size of the firms, not much distortion is likely.)

The New Options Chastity: Grant Changes From 2001

What's wrong with this picture? The number of

Option Option firms giving fewer options in 2002 compared to
Decreases #Firms 5 2001 o bered the ones i ing the
Consumer Discrelionary 2185 44 1033 44 | option grants - a counterintuitive trend. Even the
Consumer Staples 906 20 690 15 technology sector, h/stoncjally the most vocal
proponent of stock option issuance, decreased
Energy 43 " 332 11| the number issued in 2002.
Financials 2585 44 204.5 36 | Note: the number of companies does not total
Health Care 733 23 812 20 | 500 because fourteen comparnies either did not
Industnals 90.4 32 112.5 34 | provide sufficient information or had no change.
information Technology 11278 45 2229 30 | /'s possible that firms give a really blg grantqnly
Materials 206 15 30,4 4 | Orce every few years, but even taking that into
o account, the aggregate options issued were skl
Telecom 795 7 93 4 1 down in 2002.
Utilities 898 14 349 19 Below, a summary of 54 companies in the S&P
Totals 2,063.3 255 900.9 231 { 500 with share decreases in option grants of at
Total ti : d, 1999 - 2001 (mifi 9.4 least 4 million compared to 2001, and a
o arve rage.op Ons ISsue mitfons) 59781 percentage decrease of 40% or more. Notice the
Total issued in 2002 / % Change 54405 2% many technology firms.

2002 Options Dieters

2062 2002
Grant 2002
Chg. % Grant

2002 2001
__Crant_Grant

{Grants in millions)

Lucent 140 3476 {333.6) “98% || Baxter int1

Microsoft 410 2240 {183.0) 82% 1§t Marriott

Sevet Systems 59 1108 {105.0) -95% || Alcoa

Applied Matenals 88 830 84.2) -93% I POSE Comp.

AOQL Time Warner 1150 1933 {78.2) -41% || Clear Channel

J.P. Morgan Chase 858 162.8 77.1) -47% 4 LSl Log

Charles Schwab 260 680 (42.0) -62% || Symantec Corp

SBC Commiunicatians. 36.0 8.0 {40 0} -53% || Delphi 124 219 {8.5) -44%
U S Bancorp 297 651 {35.4) -54% i Dormon Resources 31 122 9.0 -74%
Allria Group 33 356 {32.4) -81% || Coca-Cola Enterprises .79 16.3 {8.4) -51%
Neveli 55 360 (30.5) -85% || Kellogg 92 171 {19 '46%
Yahoot 328 60.3 7.7} ~46% il Radioshack 15 9.4 1.9 ~84%
Ef Paso Energy 34 283 {24.9) -88% | Ommcom Group 23 93 {70) ~75%
Avaya 10.4 318 (1.2} -67% }t Nwidia Corporation 85 152 {66) ~44%
Gateway 151 351 (20.0} -87% I} Compuler Associales 45 111 {€6) -60%
AES Corp. 1.1 212 0.0 -35% || Camival 0.0 6.8 68); -100%
Spnnt  FON Group 242 438 (13 6} ~45% | Occdental 49 Mo ®.1 -56%
Guidant 12 207 {19.6) -94% Il PerunElmer 33 93 ®.1) -85%
Gap 142 308 (163) -54% §I Lmear Technology 18 78 (6.0} T%
Capstal One Financial 88 211 {14.5) -69% | Regions Fin'l Corp. 38 86 {5.7y -59%
Apphied Micro Crcuts 03 246 {143) -58% || Southern Co 80 1386 {5.6) 41%
PMC-Slerva. inc 0.7 14.8 (14.2) -96% §i Lowe's Campanies 55 108 {5.3) ~49%
Sears. " 149 (139) “43% || Metuife 73 123 &0 ~41%
Dynegy 23 158 (13.5} -88% § Union Planlers [ % 91 (4.8) -83%
Goldman Sachs Group 159 290G {13 ~45% I Burington North S F 25 74 {45} -61%
Lilly, Bl & Co. 141 289 {12.8) -47% || Power-One 0.6 50 {4.4) -88%
Honeywell 390 155 {12.5) -81% Ji Watson Pharm 18 60 (4.2) -70%
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Not everybody went on an options diet, Relative to their three-year average of options granted, some firms
still showed healthy increases in grants in 2002. Below, a look at 126 firms where the 2002 grants exceeded 20%
of the three year average options granted. Why a three year average? Simply because firms may grant options on
acyclical basis, perhaps taking into account vesting provisions. Three years is acommon vesting period, so it’s used

here as foundation for averaging.

Where 2002 Options Issuance Increased Relative To 3 Year Average Issuance
Avg.

Avg.
1999~
2001

Conoco Philips 288 41 Starwood Schiumberger &

Sysco 305 486 Medtronic State Street 71 51%39%
Southwest Airhnes 528 9¢ int1 Paper 87% §| Alistate 8.5 6.1 39%
Safeco 33 a8 Cvs 86% | Lousiana-Pacific 19 1473 39%
Campbelf Soup 152 38 Thermo Electron 66% || Marsh & McLennan 210 154i37%
Ken-MuGee 2.5 0.7 Bnstol-Myers Squibb 401 65% || Verttas Software 259 180 38%
Wilrams Corapanies 58 46 246% || CenturyTel 20 64% I Baker Hughes 21 1.51 36%
Amercan Greetings 53 1.5 244% | Etectromc Data Sys 25 64% || Marshail & lisley 48 361 35%
Union Pacific 21 07} 202% {| Bank Of New York 144 62% || Navistar int1 18 131 35%
Compuware 314 10.7 § 184% || Johnson & Johnson 481 82% || Amsouth Bancorp 89 663 35%
Aliegheny Technologres At 11§ 177% | Tellabs 16.8 G1% || Wait Disney 500 373: 3%
Peoples Energy 0.8 Q2% 172% || Transocean ”2 57% §| Puonacle West Caputat 08 05: W%
Apaniment invt & Mgt 21 08: 165% || Comcast Corp. 1686 52% | Paychex 22 1.7 33%
Delta Arr Lines -3 3.2: 163% || Ciena Corp 288 52% §| Hilion Hotels 75 56 33%
Analog Devices 281 114 147% §| Fresport McMoran 37 52% || Micron Technology 245 185:32%
Eastman Kodak 202 85: 138% {| Weyerhaeuser 30 51% i| Nabors Industries 55 42:32%
Ford 506 2201 130% || XL Capital 35 51% || Coming . 269 203: 32%
BJ Services 4.1 18 123% || Procter & Gamble 250 51% || Bowse Cascade 20 16 31%
Northrop Grumman 23 10 118% j| Bank Of Amenca 858 51% || ACE Limited §2 481 30%
Textron 5.1 2.4} 117% | Ar Praducts & Chem 55 36} 50% || FPL Group 17 13:28%
Sanmina 168 79§ 113% || Caors, Adolf 19 1.3} 49% || Amencan Standard 23 18:20%
Genuine Patts 31 1.5 109% | Wells Fargo & Co 418 2811 49% | Target 61 473 28%
Du Pont 246 1191 107% §| Wyelh 326 223% 48% || EQG Resources 18 14i28%
USX-U 8 Steel Group 18 09 106% || Dover 21 15 48% || Alhed Waste Inds 46 361 28%
Dow Jones 25 121 104% | CMS Energy 1.5 101 47% || Equity Office Prop. 8.5 5.1 28%
Cooper industries 28 14 101% || Tribune Co 136 93] 47% | Rohm & Haas 45 35127T%
Motorota 100 1 5201 02% § Devon Energy 28 1.8} 46% §| Caterpiltar 81 6.4 27%
Cueut Cly Group 4.4 23% 92% §| Northern Trust 45 311 45% | SLM Corporation 91 73} 25%
Tyco 600 3151 91% | Intl Game Technology 16 1.1 44% | Wrigley, William Jr 20 165 25%
Moody's 38 20 80% {| Computer Sciences 41 29; 44% i TJX Companies 114 91 25%
Washington Mutual 209 114 83%§ Eastman Chemical 1.8 1.3: 43% | American int Group 57 461 25%
North Fork Bancorp 12 Q7: 83%j Teco Energy 18 131 42% || Hawah's 29 231 24%
Qualcommn 265  147% B1% §| Ganeral Motors 223 157 42% | Sigma-Aldrich 11 09; 24%
Solectron 261 1457 80% | Becton, Dickinson 55  38i 42% | Comenca 32 26} 24%
Kroger 14.5 8.1 80% §§ Family Dallar Stores 15 105 42% § Ebay 189  13.6: 24%
NiSource 22 12: 77% j Huntington Bancshares 58 391 41% || Biogen 40 32i23%
Home Depot 317 18.1: 78% | Jabd Cwcut 44 31§ 41% | AbboitLabs 247 202:22%
Unisys 139 791 T5%§ Viacom 225 159 41% § Broadcom 407 336 21%
Wal Mart Stores 153 8.8 73% {| Tranklin Resources 4.2 3.0 40% || Applera (App Bic} 82 76 21%
Parker Hannifin 21 12 T2% || General Mils 146 104 40% { MBNA 207 171§ 21%
Comverse 159 83: 71% Y IBM 800 429 40% | Tiffany & Company 22 183 21%
Calpine 90 53¢ 83% || Exelon 39 281 40% | Wendy's Intl 35 291 21%

%
incr.

Note that a three year average makes for a pretty gentle comparison: because options issuance had been rising over the last
eight years, using a longer averaging period would have made for a lower benchmark - and make for a more dramatic contrast
against the current options issuances.
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Concentration of Grants at Executive Levels

One of the traditional rationales for stock option compensation, aside from the “alignment” angle, is that
broad-based options programs will motivate employees to work harder - and for less cash. which would be recorded
as compensation expense. Some managers hope to create a virtuous circle whereby they convince enough
employees to prefer options over cash, lowering recorded cash compensation costs and in turn, improving earnings.
The circle would continue when the stock market gives credit for those rising earnings, raising the stock price and
making options more valuable - and hooking employees more deeply on the options cocaine.

That’s the theory, anyway. Obviously, it hasn’t worked too well in practice for the last few years. The
inquiring analyst or investor ought to wonder just how much the employees share in option grants in the first place.
In the S&P 500, there were 456 firms with 2002 grants to the top officers. as displayed in their proxy statements;
the totals for these recipients were compared to the total grants made for the firm to measure the concentration of
the grants. The degree to which the plans were “broad-based” depended on what one means by “broad-based;”
it’s a term that means something different to everyone. A worker might think a broad-based plan awards 95% of
an option grant to rank-and-file employees; an exec might consider 50% of a grant for workers to be broad-based.

s e e No attempt is made here to define what is or is not “broad-
2002 Officer Grants Distribution based:” the reader is left to make his or her own judgments, Findings
are presented here in such a way as to help make those judgments.
Look at the table at left: the percentage of a total company’s grant

% To Top Number % of Cumulative
__ Officers:  of Firms _ Total % of Total |

10% 146 32% 32% going to officers in 2002 is displayed in increments of 10% in the
20% 160 35% 67% | shaded area on the left. The number of firms in a particular percentage
30% 2 18% 83% | range is in the next column, followed by the portion of the total each
40% 2 7% 0% | range represents. For instance, 146 of the firms awarded 10% or less
50% 27 5% 95% | of the total grant to top officers, representing 32% of the total firms.
60% 8 2% 96% | Another 160 firms awarded from 10% up to 20% of the total grant to

- 0% 8 2% 98% | top management, or 35% of all firms. Thus, 67% of the firms awarded
80% 6 2% 99% | jess than 20% of total option grants to top management. If you think

. 80% 1 0% 99% | that 20% is broad-based you might be happy; if you think that’s too
. 100% ] 2 9% 100% | narrow, it gets worse. The inverse is that one-third of the firms (150
L _a58__100% | of them) gave more than 20% of grants to the top officers - stretching

the definition of “broad-based.”

Don’t be intimidated by the table below: it’s the same distribution as above, but describes which sectors are
awarding options to top officers at a given level, For example, there are 150 companies awarding 20% or more of
total options awards to the top five officers - and 27 of them were in the consumer discretionary sector, 9 were in
the consumer staples sector, and so on.

Distribution Of Executive Concentration In Grants, By Sector

Congentration
9

i _ Upto<=10% >30%
Consumer Discretionary 86 28 33%f 58 67% 27 3% 16 19% 10 12% 4 5%
Consumer Staples a3 B 20%§ 25 76% 9 2%} 5 15% 2 6% 1 3%
Energy 19 3 16%Y 16 84% 11 ‘ 58% § 5 26% 3 16% 3 16%
Financials 7 31 40%) 46 60% 25 32% 12 16% 8 10% 4 5%
Health Care 42 17 40%f 25 60% 10 24% 3 7% 2 5% 1 2%
industrials (3] 16 26% | 45 74% 22 36% 10 18% 4 7% 2 3%
Information Technology 67 28 42% | 39 58% 13 19% 4 6% 2 3% g 0%
Materials 28 5 18%4 23 82% 14 50% 8  20% 4 14% 3 1%
Telecom k&) 5 I 45% 6 55% 1 4 3% 3 _21% 2 18% 1 9%
Utilities 32 5 15%) 27 [ 8a% 15 47% 12 [ 38% 9 [ 28% 6 19%
4586 146 310 150 78 46 25
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Observe the shaded panel - the bold figures are the total companies making 2002 option grants to top five
executives by sector. Still in the shaded panel, the next column is the number of companies making grants to the
top five officers, followed by the percent of companies out of the total. Look at the telecom sector, outlined in the
table: 5 of the 11 companies making grants to the top five executive officers awarded them less than 10% of the
total options granted. That means 45% of the total companies gave most of the 2002 options to employees other
than the top five. (That doesn’t necessarily mean the options made it all the way down to the telephone operators.
The breadth of the distribution cannot be fathomed from publicly available data. Ninety percent of the grants might
well be given to the next eight executive officers.) The flip side: 35% of the telecom companies gave 10% or more
of the 2002 grant to the top five officers. You can follow it in the next set of columns, which shows the number and
percentage of companies in each sector awarding 10% or more of the 2002 grant to the top five officers. The
columns continue the progression up to the 50% or more level,

Enough about how to look at the data - what does it show? There are a couple of surprises. First, notice
that the utilities sector has more companies making “top heavy” grants (ones with a relatively higher proportion
of grants going to the top five executive officers) than the other sectors. As you move to the rvight in the column
pairs, the utilities sector consistently showed the highest proportion of companies giving the most options to top
officers, relative 1o the total granted for 2002. (They're “boxed"” in the table for easy spotting) Second, the
techmology sector’s claim that their option plans are well-dispersed within firms is validated here - 42% of the firms
awarded less than 10% of the total 2002 grants 1o the top officers, and the proportion of the technology firms
towards the right-hand side of the table - where the heavier officer grants appear - is slight.

The table on the facing page shows the 2002 grants. in total and to the top five executive officers, and their
proportion of the total grants. It’s ranked in descending order of concentration. (To keep the presentation
presentable, the list was cut off at 78 companies with a 30% or greater level of executive concentration.)

T Ao

Even if companies were to expense their option comy ion, nothing will ever happen unless
Sfirms grant them to employees. Looking at the issuance of options can give you at least a rough idea of where
option compensation expense will be heading in the future - as well as potential dilution of existing shareholders.

* kK ok ok ¥ ok ok Kk ok ok ok ok ok k ko k ok ok ok ok ok R % X

Option Grants: What They’re Worth

That’s enough about the grant activity; onward to the fair values of the options granted in 2002. Knowing
that grants of options decreased in 2002, and that prices of stocks were generally lower in 2002, there’s only one
direction that the fair values of granted options can head: down. (Keep in mind that firms use the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to estimate the fair values of option grants. A lower stock price will result in a lower estimated
option value, all else equal.) The table betow confirms that guess in spades: the estimated fair value of the options
granted in 2002 tumbled 39% compared to 2001, which in turn represented a decrease from 2000.

Option Grant Fair Values By Sector

Consumer Discretionary | $76  -40% 4§ $127  53% $83 7% | 389 81%L $49 59% L $31  27% | $25
Consumer Staples 386 -13% 41 18% 35 10% 31 4% 23 49% 16 %% 15
Energy 10 -17% 12 -6% 12 20% 10 6% 10 21% 08 118%§ 04
Financials 109 -21%Y 138 30% 10.6 19% 88 62% 55 40% 39 106% 4 1.8
Health Care 77 -15% 90 24% 73 9% 67 48% 45 38% 33 79% 18
Irdustrials 53 4% 5.1 8% 48 13% 4.2 7% 398 21% 32 104% 1y 186
information Technology 208  -54%y 455 -32% 666 213% 4§ 213 49%§ 143 53% 93 107% 45
Materials 12 9% 11 .36% 1.7 43% 1.2 100% 06 -15% 07 2%} 08
Telecom 18 -56% 42 -42% 72 133% 31 98% 16 48% 10 90%§ 06
Ut ies 0.8 -81% 19 108% 0.9 30% 0.7 149% 03  41% 02 95%4 01
Total $606 -39% ) $986 -12% 2112.1 89% §59.2 52% &.9 43% §7.2 77%1$15.3 |
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Executive Concentration In Option Compensation:2002 Grants
Total Total

Options Officer % To Options Officer % To

- _ Cranted Grants  Officers Granted Grants Officers
Oynegy =~ . . ‘ 2.28 2.180 954% | MBIA " 185 0780 42.1%
Rowan Companes 025 0239 93.7% || McDermott Int? 160 0656 41.1%
Betnis 0.07 0.059 80.2% | Alitel 3.15 1.275 40.5%
HCR Manor Care 101 0807 79.6% | Meredith 089 0359 40.5%
Radioshack 1.52 1.202 79 3% i Psoples Energy 0.55 0222 40.3%
AES Corp 114 0875 76 5% | Urion Planters 431 1734 40.2%
PG&E Corp. 0.20 0.150 750% | BigLets 183 6775 40.1%
Jones Apparet Group 200 1500 75.0% | Engelhard 135 0533 39.4%
Honeywelt 300 2.202 735% | Pinnacle West Capital 0.69 0.234 38.8%
Nicor 018 0123 67 8% | FiServe 152 0574 37.8%
Freeport McMoran 37 2483 &7 0% Y| Yorchmark 117 0438 37.6%
Sunoco 073 0477 650% Y Snap-On 086 0324 37.5%
American Standard 227 1445 63 7% | Ascher Daniels Midland 283 ¢ 987 37.5%
Consteliation Energy Group 375 2385 637% 1§ Clorox 376 1415 37.4%
Apartment Inv. & Mgmt. 2,07 1315 63 5% | Center Pomnt Energy 312 1163 37.3%
Fanmie Mae Q87 0 549 63.4% | Equity Residentiat 226 03843 37 3%
Marriott 1.40 0885 63.2% | Crane 118 €440 37.1%
Nabors Industres 550 3280 59.7% | AMBAC Financial Group 154 0560 36.3%
North Fork Bancorparation 122 0.692 56.6% | Anadarke Petroleum 140 . 0500 35.7%
Curcuit Cty Group 442 2500 56 6% § MGIC Investments 082 0200 35.5%
USX-L.S. Steet Group 1.83 1.004 55.0% | Great Lakes Chemical . 880 0308 342%
AFLAC 208 1119 54.4% | Phelps Dodge 080 0273 34.0%
Winn-Dixie Stores 0.55 0.288 52.8% §{ AT&T 1518 5.020 33.1%
CenturyTel 198 1003 50 6% | Bausch & Lomb 186 0613 33.0%
Sempra Energy 3.44 1.742 50.6% |} Paccar 0.68 0218 33.0%
PPL 084 0414 48 2% { Cooper Industnes 281 0914 32.6%
Lucent 13.95 6.844 48.0% 1 intt Game Technology 1863 0.525 32.3%
Jefferson-Prlot 144 0685 47.7% 1§ Apple Computer 2324 7 500 32.3%
Puite Homes Inc 1.39 0.653 47.0% | Black & Decker 1.28 0410 32.0%
Pium Creek Tumber Co 048 0225 46.9% | Centex 170 0545 32.0%
KB Home 1.96 0.906 46.2% § Dehuxe 1.28 0,396 31.6%
Gap 1417 6 500 459% § CMS Energy 149 0465 31.1%
Navislar lnt1 1.81 0.331 45.8% § Praxair 132 0.408 30.9%
Dillard's 23 1050 454% § UST 675 0232; 308%
Thermo Electron 532 2403 45 1% § Hasbro 476 1.460 30.7%
Altria Group 325 1424 43.9% 1§ Northrop Grumman 226 0692 307%
Public Service Ent. 1.88 0.815 43.1% i Bed Bath & Beyond 34 1.050 30.5%
Zimmer Holdmgs 183 0785 42.8% | Novelt 545 1652 30.3%
Louisiana-Pacific 1.89 0.795 42 2% || Noble Corp 1.63 0.490 30.1%

One postscrpt note on the above. Apple Computer’s entire grant of 7 5 miflion options was for one person, CEQO Steven Jobs
In March 2003, Jobs cancelled all of lis outstanding options and also recewved five million shares of restricted stock.

We’ve explored the quantity side of option grants in enormous detail and provided perspective on the size
of the guantities issued in different ways - but until you compare the value of what's being given o employees to
the market capitalization of the firm. you really don’t have any idea of the magnitude of wealth being turned over
to executives and employees. Purely for the sake of perspective, put aside whatever beef you may have with the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and live with the fair values estimated by the firms in developing the Statement
No. 123 footnote data. The table at the top of the next page compares the estimated fair value of the total options
granted in 2002 to average market capitalization for the year - and even with the decline in the fair value of the
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Comparison: Estimated Grant Fair Values To Market Capitalization
Options Fair Value at Total Grant  Average 2002 Grant Value/

Granted X GrantDate __ FairValue __MarketCap _Market Cap |

_(Optioa grants in millions)
Broadcom

Applied Micro Circuits
Travelers Property Casualty
Compuware

Nvidia Corporation
Parametric Technology
Peoplesoft H
Ciena Corp 26.62 488 : 129.9 2,458 5%

option grants, it’s still surprising to see companies sending 5% or more of their capitalization to a favored group
other than shareholders or creditors. Would these firms have tried to sell stock at the kinds of prices they gave to
employees - would they have impressed anyone as smart sellers of their stock with their timing? Probably not -
selling stock would be a visible financing transaction. Under the camouflage of non-expense treatment, however,
they dispense the equity instruments freely.

Another fair value perspective: the total fair value of options granted in 2002 was 360 billion - about the
same average market capitalization for the year as Bristol-Myers Squibb. If Bristol-Myers Squibb were to
disappear all at once in a change of control, it would be noticed (maybe even expected). When 360 billion of
spent market value is parsed among the companies in the S&P 500, no one can notice.

There’s no end in sight to the debate about the value of options. There are three numbers representing option
values embedded somewhere in the financial statements: zero, in the income statement for most firms; the estimated

fair value, tucked into the footnotes; and the implied “exercise value” also buried in the footnotes. Exercise value
is simply the exercise price of the options, usually the price of the stock at grant date. It represents what the
company would receive if the options were exercised, and it’s a fairly inarguable value: no assumptions about
volatility or exercise, just a dollar amount of equity that might be turned over to a group of employees if they
exercise their options. No argument is offered here that this is the “right” way to value options for expense
recognition - just an attempt at putting another perspective on the size of the option grants. Looking at the exercise
price of the options gives you an estimate of the upper limit of cash inflows if a) all options become profitable to
the holders for exercise and b) all of them are exercised.

“Exercise value” also gives you an idea of the
extent to which options transfer value to employvees

from shareholders at current prices. The chart at left
shows that, consistent with declining stock prices and

fewer options granted, the exercise value ofall options

$300 -
5250 - issued is declining as well. It’s still a substantial
number: the face value of the options issued in 2002
o 3200 totaled $167 billion, down 30% from 2001’s level of
’%5150' $240 billion. That $167 billion of exercise value is

worth 2% of the entire S&P 500 market capitalization
at the end of April, 2003.

L0 S LA o3 Naotice also that the exercise of options was a

1996 1908 2000 20062 lot harder to accomplish in 2002 than in previous
B coercise vaive of grans 3 Faivae years: only $34 billion of fresh equity came from
) Valus of options exercised option exercises, down 87 billion from 2001.

“ 3100
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Time to sum up a few observations and think about what it means for the future. We know that any one
year’s expense is an amalgam of fair values of current and prior option grants. We know that the fair value of grants
has declined in 2002 and 2001 - partly because the quantity issued was lower in 2002, and partly because the fair
values per option were lower (on average) in both years.

Unless the fair value of options for 2003 zoom back to the levels seen in the boom years, the option
compensation expense in 2003 will have nowhere to go but down - for the first time. One can capture the
relationship between fair value of grants and after-tax option compensation expense easily with a regression
equation. Regress the fair value of grants from the current year, previous year and two previous years against the
after-tax expense, and the result is an equation with pretty good explanatory power. See the box below.

Regression Results
N N A regression equation describes the refationship between the option grant fair values
Option Compensation: for the S&F 500 as an gate and the affer-tax option ion exp
U I I T B i Ll ever since 1998 - and it produces some fairly accurate results, as shown at left. (The
T S equation is of the form:

y= 2.00849 + 118165 (X,) +. 160395 (X,) +.202030 (X3}
The equation’s R:. a measure of how well the equation fits the relationship, is
99.97%. A measure of 1 is perfect.
Don't try to use this equation on a single company.The equation is based on the
agglomeration of 500 companies attributes. To do the same thing for one specific
company, you need to use only that company's data.

If the relationship described by the equation holds true for 2003, what does it mean for the option
compensation expense? Two years of declining grant fair values should give us the expected direction, but the
equation provides some answers for various levels of 2003 grants. If the fair value of grants bottomed out in 2002
and the same amount is awarded in 2003 - $60.6 billion - then the option compensation for 2003 should work out
to $38.8 billion (“boxed” in the table), about $9 billion less than in 2002. If the relationship holds true, notice that
the grant fair values would have to get back to levels higher than during the bubble years just to get back to the same
after-tax expense seen in 2002.

Where Option Comp Might Go

Change From Assumed  Estimated 2003
2002 2003 Grant Option Comp The upshot: unless 2003 sees option grants in
Grant Fair Value __Fair Value ISIELLM magnitudes that would be incredible in light of all the
-30 $30.6 $35.3 | attention now being turned on option plans, the “options
-20 406 36.4 | diet” undertaken by many companies in 2002, coupled
-10 506 37.6 | with the decline in fair values options granted in the last
[} 60.6 38.8 | few years will assure that 2003’s option compensation
10 70.6 40.0 | expense is lighter than 2002’s. If the grants in 2003 are
20 80.6 41.2 | lower than in 2002, that augurs for a continued lightening
30 90.6 42.3 | expensetrend in 2004 - meaning, at least in the aggregate,
40 100.6 43.5 | that any move to required option compensation expense
50 110.6 44.7 | recognition might not be nearly as dramatic as critics

60 1206 45.9 | make it out to be.
70 130.6 471
80 140.6 483
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111. Option Valuation
The Black-Scholes option pricing model has come in for its share of criticism as the new options war heats
up. The model does have a lot of attributes that make its use less than perfect for valuing employee options: its
robustness relates only to options with lives of nine months or less, it requires application of an estimated option
life, and of course, there’s the infamous “expected volatility” input. That’s a very subjective figure possessing big
" impacts on the ultimate calculated values. There’s no “right” volatility figure to plug into the Black-Scholes black-
box, no magic number to pull out of a reference book. Try getting managements to discuss the operating prospects
of their firm over a time frame longer than a year; the volatility input requires them to assess what might be the
prospects of their firm’s stock for up to ten years. If mandatory expense treatment becomes the norm, managements
could be easily tempted to manage down their option compensation costs by shading the assumptions.’

How To Influence Black-Scholes Estimates

Change Change in Some of the inputs to the Black-Scholes model are pretly

much cut-and-dried, and verifiable. The exercise price

input in input _ Option Value  Relationship and the current stock price are inarguable, as is the risk-
EXercise price A A Direct free rate. Expected dividends can af least be compared
Current price A A Direct to current dividends for reasonableness. Expected life is
Expected Ife A a Direct one that leaves a Igt of room for "tallo;_'mg:‘f changes pfrom

o - past observed history can be rationalized in either
Expected volatlity A A Direct direction. The same goes for expected volatility, in
Expected dividends A M Inverse spades. Justification for what you believe will be the
Risk-free rate A A Direct stock market treatment of a particular firm is simply

conjecture.

While it’s reasonable that firms have experienced lower fair values for options in 2002, one has to wonder
if they might take the Boy Scout approach - “always prepared”- and start taking more aggressive approaches to
some of the inputs to the Black-Scholes option pricing model just in case option compensation expense moves out
of footnotes and into the income statement. The expected life of the options and the expected volatility factor are
two of the most “rubbery” assumptions in the Black-Scholes model, so a look at some of the changes from last
year's assumptions might be interesting. Changes in the assumptions are not conclusive by themselves: they might
mean that firms are anticipating coming changes and starting to manage their costs, or it might simply mean they
are being more critical of their past assumptions now that the stakes are being raised.

Shorter Lives By Sector

Shortening the expected life of an option will decrease its
value, with consequent lower option compensation expense. At left

Consumer Discretionary 9 16% | is the sector distribution of the 57 companies employing shorter
Consumer Staples 0 0% | option lives for 2002 grants than in 2001; the table on the next page
Energy 3 5% | shows the firms and their changes.
Financials 12 21%
Health Care [ 11%
Industrials 9 16%
Information Technology 11 19%
Materials 4 7%
Telecom Q 0%
Utities 3 5%
57 100%

'For a discussion of various methods of valuing options and recording the expense, see Volume 11, No. 12, “Accounting Essentials:
Compensation Paid In Stock Options.” An example of how assumptions could easily be shaded to achieve desired results is on page 10.



2002 Expected Life Shorteners

SLM Corporation 30 10.0

Swnon Properly Group 690 0o
Comwerse Technology 26 43
Capital One Financial 50 85
DTE Energy 8.0 100
Hercules 80 80
Avery Denmson 70 100
Stantey Works 50 70
PMC-Siema, inc 21 30
Ocadental s 50
Gotdman Sachs Group 50 70
HCA 40 80
Consolidated Edison 8.0 8.0
Etectronic Data Systems 38 57
Zimmer Holdings 58 70
Health Management Assoc 50 70
Compuware 4.1 5.0
Boston Scientific 50 80
Home Depot ., . 50 8.0
Cooper Tire & Rubber Co 42 55
Countrywide Financial Corp 42 §0
Danaher 8 100
Coming 50 8.0
Federated Investors, Inc 67 83
FleetBoston Financlal 40 50
Union Planters 3¢9 §1
Texas Instruments 50 €0
Teliabs 58 70
Hiiton Hotels 50 8.0
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-70%
-40%
~40%
~40%
-40%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-30%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-20%
~20%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-20%

Newell Rubbermaid
Apollo Group

Delta Air Lines

Linear Technology
Merck & Co.

EOG Resources
National Sermconductor
Deluxe

B8all

Deere

Chubb

Office Depot

Paychex

Charter One Financial
Power-One

Meredith

Ryder

Sigma-Aldnch

Apachs

Armerican Express
Solectron

Centex

Newmont Mining {Hidg Co.)
Novellus Systems
Torchmark

int't Game Technology
Uniied Health Group

6.9
28
6.7
61
87
53
5.1
60
48
37
50
44
47
60
58
65
6.0
61
4.5
45
3.0
70
8.0
3t
45
35
45
6.0

«10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
-10%
~10%
~10%
~10%
~10%
-10%
-10%

Volatility Decreasers

Consumer Discretionary 12 18%
Consumer Staples 3 5%
Energy 6 9%
Financials 8 12%
Health Care 10 15%
Industrials 8 12%
Information Technology 12 18%
Materials 1 2%
Telecom 0 0%
Utilities 5 8%

Just as shortening the life will decrease the estimated value
of an option with the Black-Scholes option pricing model, so will
a decrease in the volatility factor. The table at left shows the
distribution by sector of the 64 firms that decreased their volatility
inputs in 2002 versus 2001; the table on the next page shows the
changes in the volatility inputs by company.

The distribution at left displays a curiosity: the
technology sector is notorious for its stock market volatility, yet
in 2002, many firms in the sector implicitly believe their stock
prices will become less volatile over the expected life of options
granted.



2002 Volatility Decreasers

Black, H&R
ustT
Watson Pharmaceuticals
United Parcel Service
Forest Labaratories
McKesson HBOC
Compuware
Tupperware
Apoilo Group
Ciena Corp
Delt
Hilfon Hotels
ADC Telecommunications
Medtroruc
Zimmer Holdings
Siebel Systems
B4 Services
AON
Stanley Works
Oracle
Harralv's Enterlamment
Medimmune
Procier & Gamble
Constaltation Energy Group
Keyspan

Broadcom
Applied Micro Circuits
AES Corp

Bausch & Lomb

Ford
KeyCorp
Pinnacle West Capital

28.8%
17 2%
38 0%
20 2%
76%
315%
84.6%
27 5%
42.0%
82 0%
43.0%
34 0%
87.0%
27 2%
30.3%
65 0%
46.2%
21 0%
30.0%
57 0%
32.0%
830%
200%
31 9%
225%
70 0%
105.0%
68 0%
38.4%
350%
26.4%
22 6%

T61.2%

30 3%
65.0%
324%
436%
48 5%
95.6%
40 0%
61.0%
1310%
61.2%
48 0%
93.2%
378%
41.7%
833%
63.0%
28 0%
40.0%
76 0%
42.0%
69 0%
26 0%
413%
290%
90 0%
133.0%
86 0%
48.2%
439%
33.0%

27 7%
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Change % Ch

-324%
~131%
-27.0%
-122%
-16.0%
-17 0%
31.0%
-125%
-18.0%
-39 0%
~18.2%
-14 0%
-20 2%
-10 6%
-11.4%
24 3%
-16.8%

7 0%
-10.0%
-19 0%
-10.0%
-16 0%

-8.0%

-9 4%

-8.6%
<20 0%
-28.0%
-18 0%

-8.8%

-8 8%

6.6%

-5 1%

-52.5%
-43 2%
-41.5%
=37 5%
~36.6%
235 1%
-32.4%
~31 3%
-31.1%
-29 8%
-28.7%
-29 2%
28.4%
-28 0%
-27.3%
-272%
-26.7%
-25 0%
-25.0%
-250%
-23.8%
-232%
-23.1%
-22 8%
-226%
-222%
~21.1%
-20 8%
-20.4%
-203%
-20.0%
-18 3%

Agilent Technologies
Norfotk Southern
ACE Limited
Huntington Bancsh
Southtrust

Loews

McCormick & Co
Ker-McGes

Ebay

Fortune Brands
Genuine Paits
Power-One

tiz Claibome

Baker Hughes
Snap-On

FedEx

Adobe Systems
Principal Financiat Gp
HCR Manor Care
Avery Dennison
Unted Health Group
Hasbro

Malex .

Chewron Texaco Corp
SLM Corporation
Burlington Resources
Millipore

American Power Cony
AOL Time Warner
Allegheny Technot
Apache

Nicor

83.0%
320%
35.2%
33 8%
28.0%
292%
21.6%
38 0%
88.0%
3086%
220%
94 7%
39 0%
450%
33.1%
30 0%
890%
32 5%
40.0%
29 1%
40 2%
43 0%
52 0%
216%
31.0%
31 0%
40.0%
74 0%
52.9%
350%
372%
21 1%

-17 9%
-17.8%
-17 6%
-17.6%
17 0%
-16.9%
-16 1%
-16.0%
-159%
“15.4%
-154%
-16.2%
-15 1%
-14 5%
-14 3%
-13.8%
-13 3%
~13.0%
-12 8%
-124%
-122%
-HM7%
11 5%
-11.4%
-11 4%
“11%
-10 8%
-10.8%
-10 3%
-102%
-10 2%

Consumer Discretionary
Consumer Staples
Energy

Financials

Health Care

Industriats

Information Technology
Materials

Telecom

Utilities

w

P RN N N I )
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Assumption Double-Dippers
# Firms % of Total

13%
0%
4%

17%

22%

17%

17%
4%
0%
4%

100%

Lastly, there were a few companies that decreased both

assumptions - which contains an implicit contradiction. Decreasing
volatility in a Black-Scholes world means a lower likelihood of

exercising an option profitably: if the stock will fluctuate less, there
won’t be as many chances it will be above the strike price. On the other
hand, decreasing the life of the options implies that an earlier exercise
is expected. The two assumption changes simply don’t mesh together.
Below, the sector distribution of these kinds of assumption changers;

the companies are presented in the table on the following page.




176

24

Firms Employing 2002 Assumptions Of Shorter Lives 82 Lower Volatility

Expected

ADC Telecommurucations 3

Apache 5 -0.5
Apotlo Group 31 0.3
Avery Denmison 10 30
Boston Scientific 6 1.0
Compuware 8 0.8
Comverse Technology 43 -7
Danaher 10 -20
Electronic Arts 232 0.1
Federated tnvestors, Inc 83 pNK:
FirstEnergy 83 " 02
HCA 3 2.0
Hercules 8 =20
Hilton Hotels 6 -1.0
Home Depot 13 10
Power-One 85 . 0.7
SLM Corporation 10 <70
Stanley Works 7 20
Stryker 5 . 6.6 s <01
Torchmark 317% 16% 451 475§ 02
Union Planters _ 29.8% 0.1% 3.9 51 - a2
United Health Group 45 9% -5.7% 45 48 ) 03
Zimmer Holdings 41.7% -11.4% 5 7 ) 20

r v/ " * N . . .
Sea Hunt” Sectors: Underwater Options There’s one last point of view of option valuation
i XLl that’s worth mentioning, one that has to do with the

Information Technology 55 21% 1 current value of the options rather than esoteric
Consumer Discretionary 43 16% | arguments over what they’re worth at the grant date, Call
Financials 32 12% | it the “Jacques Cousteau” point of view, for what we're
ndustrials 31 12% | considering is the options that are below strike price or
Materiais 22 8% | more colloquially, the underwater options. There are 263
Utilties 21 8% | of these options out there, based on the closing price at
Health Care 20 8% | the end of April, 2003 and the average exercise price of
Consumer Staples 19 7% | options outstanding as disclosed in the most recent annual
Telecom 10 4% | report footnotes. The table at left shows that the greatest
Energy 10 4% | proportion of them are in the technology sector. Maybe
263 100%§ Mr. Cousteau would be happy, but nobody else is.

The table on the next page shows the 90 companies whose options were underwater by a margin of 40% or
more.
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Underwater Options

Price, Exercise % Price, Exercise %

_ 430103  Price Difference . 4/30/03 fference

1873 -B9% || PerkinElmer B $992 | 23321, ~58%
JDS Uniphase 323 26 11 -88% | AOL Time Warner 1368 3191 -57%
El Paso 7.50 49.18 -85% || Centerpoint Energy 7.90 1826; -57%
Gateway 288 1868 -85% §i Scientfic-Atlanta 1625 3613 -55%
Solectron 3.19 18.50 -83% || Gooenich 14.07 30.93 T-B5%
Mirant 331 1768 -81% | Sprint- FON 1151 2478 -54%
Goodyear 572 3028 -81% || Applera: Applied Biosys 17.53 37.40 -83%
Sprint - PCS 350 18 44 -81% || Visteon 701 1478% . -83%
Allegheny Technologies 4.15 2042 -30% i| MicrosoRt 2556 8375 -52%
Corning 542 2647 -80% || Ford 1030 2088 5%
Sun Microsystems 331 15.86 ~79% § Teradyne 11.60: 23.41 -50%
McDenmoll 325 1538 ~79% || Swebel Systems 866 1742 -50%
Dynegy 4.40 20.74 -79% { ToysRUs 1025 2043 -50%
CMS Energy 823 2718 <T7% || Apple Computer 1422 2817 -50%
Circunt City Stores 5.73 23.60 -76% | Hewlett-Packard 1630 32.00 -49%
ADC Telecommunications 238 954 ~75% §| Schenng-Plough 18 10 3540 -49%
Avaya 3.90 1546 -T5% § Xcel Energy 13.52 26208 1 -49%
Ciena 488 1920 ~75% || Duke Energy 17 58 3400 -48%
Tellabs 6.16 2248 ~73% | Safeway 1662 3170 -48%
AT&T Wireless Services 646 2309 ~72% | Unisys 10 40 1973 v A7%
Providian Financial 7.37 2618 -72% | Georgia-Pacific . 1544 S84 48%
Delta Air Lines 1279 4400 “T1% || Cisco 1500 27171 45%
LSt Logic X 536 18.24 <71% | Delphi 840 15.18 ~45%
Parametnc Technology 330 112 ~70% §| Unded States Steel 1432 25845 -45%
Dana 926 30.14 -69% | Power-One 5.86 10.51 -44%
Micran Technology 850 26986 -69% || Charles Schwab 863 1538% ° ~44%
Hercules 10.15 3048 -67% | Pheips Dodge 3118 5536 ~44%
Electronic Data Systems 1815 5300 66% | Computer Associates 1624 28831 -44%
Sanmina-8C! 480 13.99 -66% {| Sabre Hidgs. 2091 37.06 ~44%
Andrew Corp 767 2220 £6% | Dilard's 1398 2472 -43%
Williams Cos. 8.95 1985 -85% || Thomas & Betls 16.81 27.83 -43%
Novelt 275 775 -65% | NCR 2192 3821F - -43%
Compuware 437 12.30 -B65% | BMC Software 14.92 2600 .. | -a43%
Applied Micra Circuits 447 1233 84% || Calpine 537 930 R " 42%
AES 501 16.37 ~63% | TMP Worldwide 1676 28.91 ~A2%
UnumProvident 1150 3111 -63% || Broadcom 17 88 3084 42%
Xerox 986 26.00 -62% | Tenet Healthcare 14.84 25.45 -42%
Interpublic Group 1140 2900 -81% || Vertas Sofware 2207 3785 , -42%
Motorala 7.91 20.00 , -81% || Convergys 16.22 2770 -41%
Agtlent Technologes 1602 4000 -80% | Winn-Dixie Stores 1253 2138 T -41%
Advanced Micro Devices 7.44 18.58 -60% | CIGNA ‘ 52.30 88.71 -41%
EMC 9038 22 56 -60% || Textron 29 49 49 62 T4y
Tyco 15.60 37.80 -59% | Honeywell 2360 ., 3950 . -40%
TECO Energy 1079 2592 . -58% | Baxter 2300 3844 " -40%
ATET 17 06 40.64 -58% || Louisiana-Pacific 8.08 13.51 -40%

Optionvaluation will aiways be a slippery subject, no matter what direction the FASB or IASB head. That
doesn’t mean zero is a better answer; as pointed out earlier, companies and investors have to be willing to apply
their acceptance of pervasive estimates in financial statements to the area of options just as they accept it in the
area of say, loan loss reserves or depreciable lives.
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IV. More Hidden Effects: Tax Benefits

So far, we're well aware that the present option compensation accounting leaves much information hidden
in the footnotes. Some of it will never leap out at you even if mandatory expensing occurs, like the information
about grants - yet it’s useful if you’re trying to understand what makes option compensation expense what it is.

The same is true for the tax effects. The Federal tax code permits firms with “non-qualified” plans to take
a tax deduction for the difference between the exercise price of stock options and fair value at the date of the
exercise. To encourage more widespread employee ownership, the tax code provides rewards. Those rewards are
not visible in the income tax provision in the income statement. Because they relate to transactions involving
stockholders - remember, an employee exercising an option becomes a stockholder - the tax benefits are recorded
as a component of stockholders’ equity. They also show up in the cash flow statement in the “operating” section.
Sometimes those tax benefits exceed a firm’s operating cash flows - but you have to root around to find out.

The tax code fosters the promotion of compensation plans that are heavily weighted towards options. Firms
are denied tax deductible status for CEO compensation and compensation of the four other highest ranking officers
in excess of $1,000,000, uniess it includes “performance-based compensation.” (Read: options.) To achieve
deductibility, one or more performance goals must be reached, but only if:

+ the performance goals are determined by a compensation committee of the board of directors of the firm
which is comprised of two or more outside directors,

+ the material terms under which the remuneration is to be paid, including performance goals, are disclosed
to shareholders and approved by a majority of the vote in a separate shareholder vote before payment, and

» before any payment of such remuneration, the compensation committee certifies that the performance
goals and any other material terms were in fact satisfied.?

The road to hell is paved with good intentions. While trying te narrow the pay gap between executives
and workers, this 1993 amendment of the tax code kindled the rise of the options culture in the mid-to-late
1990°s. The director provisions made it even more important for a CEQ to stack the compensation committee
of board with chums or at least, tractable fellows, instead of skeptical watchdog types.

The tax benefits have amounted to a government subsidy determined by how well the stock price of the firm
performs: a strange criteria for providing tax rewards. Call it another perverse incentive for managements to do
“whatever it takes” to get the stock price higher - including accounting chicanery. Below, the tax benefits
attributable to stock options in the last five years for the S&P 500 in the aggregate, sorted by change in 2002.

Tax Benefits From Option Exercises

Telecom 163%
information Technology 58%
Energy -13%
Utiiwes 82%
Consumer Discretionary 7%
Financrals 2%
Heath Care 128%
industrials 3%
Materials -34%
Consumer Staples -8%

Aggregate 47%

*Adapted from the Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.



179

-27-

As you might have expected. the tax benefits tied to option gxercise were down for 2002 - completely to
be expected. If stock prices are in a funk, you can’t expect as many profitable exercises - or that any of them would
be as profitable - as when the stock market was smoking in the late 1990’s. The size of the decrease is startling on
the other hand: a 50% drop after a decrease of 34% in 2001. That makes for bigger cash outflows for profitable
firms sans a foamy stock price: their stock market tax shield is gone.

One note about the figures in the previous table: some of
the figures contain estimated amounts of tax benefit for individual
firms. Though accounting standards® require the disclosure of the
tax benefit, some firms nevertheless do not report the amount. The
chart at left summarizes the headcount of the reporters, the non-
reporters and those without any discernible tax benefits. The table
below it summarizes the amounts disclosed and estimated.

Option Tax Benefits:
Disclosed Vs. Estimated
800 -
500 -
400 -
306 -
200 -
100
0-L : ' M
1997 1998 1899 2000

The estimate of the tax benefit was a straightforward affair:
the low price for the year was assumed to be the exercise price,
only for the sake of minimizing the estimates. The difference
between the two prices was multiplied by the number of options
exercised, then multiplied by the 35% federal tax rate. The result
{sinbiions) 1997 1998 VRN was the estimated tax benefit. Below, an example using Altria
Disclosed $  $6.1 $31.1 8201 Group’s information.

Estimated $ _38 37 _41 29 28 . . Y
e s Estimating Altria Group’s Tax Benefits

2001 2002

" o tax barett M o cisciosea baures
# of estimated figures

$50 §i45 $21 a5 s §iis

The tax benefits in 2002 were small relative to past | 2002 Low stockprice §35.40
government largesse - and as usual, a handful of the biggest | Veighted average exercise price 3033
firms received the most tax benefit. Put it this way: a mere 50 Tax‘deductton‘ - 507
firms received an estimated $7.6 billion of tax benefits in 10_‘1“?253’@;“5“ (millions) x—%ﬁ;—i
2002 - about 70% of the total. (See table below.) Maybe the Sfafmoe ‘t‘:x“:;e o
tax code writers were hoping to spur innovation by giving EstimatZd tax benefit @
smaller firms a tax break but it’s the big ones who enjoy the =

most benefit.

Tax Benefit Concentrations

Information Technology $29 1 21%] $63 28% 18125 37% 1 $68 31% | $38 24% 1 $21 21%

12
8 || Financials 186 12%] 29 13% 33 10% 20 9% 1.7 12% 12 12%
8 || Heaith Care 125 25% 14 6% 26 8% 13 % 10 7%i 085 5%
& | Consumer Discretionary 0.8 6% 2.1 8% 14 4% 11 5% 03 2% Q1 1%
7 | Consumer Staples 06 4% 05 2% o1} 2% 06 3% 04 3% 03 3%
6 || Indusbiials 05 % 05 2% o7 2%1 06 2%| 05 3%| 03 3%
1§ Energy 01 1%{ 01 0% 02 1% 01 1% 02 1%) 01 1%
0 | Materals 0.0 0%| 00 %) 00 0% 00 0% 00 0%| 00 0%
0 || Telecorn 00 0%} 00 0% 00 0%| 00 0% 00 0%f 00 0%
O {| Utlites 00 0%) 00 0% G.0 0% 00 0%4{ 00 0%] 00 0%
50 | Top 50 companies $7.6 : 88% (%1339 62% {$21.2 62% %125 56% | $7.7 53%| $4.7 48%
308 § Remaining firms 37 : 32% 87 38% ) 128 38%) 97 44% 68 47%f 52 §2%
359 i Aggregate $11.3 : 100% [$22.6 | 100% |$34.0 | 100% 1$22.5 | 100% |$14.5 | 100% | $9.9 : 100%

*Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus No. 00-15, “ Classification in the Statement of Cash Flows of the Income Tax Benefit Received
by a Company upon Exercise of a Nonqualified Stock Option.”
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Below, a table showing the top fifty firms and their tax benefits. (Note: the table is keyed in terms of the
top 50 for 2002 only.) The previous years are presented to provide a comparison.

Top 50 Beneficiaries Of Stock Option Tax Deductions

indicates estimated amount)

Microsoft information Technology 1,596
Citigroup Fnancials 381
Lehman Bros. Financials 347
Morgan Stanley Financials 282
intet Information Technology 270
Dell Information Technotogy 260
Amgen Health Care 252
Pfizer Health Care 238
Viacom Gaonsumer Discretionary 210
Memilt Lynch & Co financials 196
Tenet Healthcare Health Care 176
AOL Time Warnier Consumer Discretionary 161
Johnson & Johnson Heaith Care 160 E
MBNA Financials 150 69 59 35 43
Pepsico Gonsumer Staples 143 212 177 108 109 111
Maxim integrated Information Technology 140 239 136 114 74 52
iBM information Technology 136 502 422 345 365 428
Urited Heaith Group Health Care 133 133 116 23 47 37
Procter & Gamble Consumer Staples 128 E 82 E ME 196 E 138E 185
Bear Stearns. Fmnancials 128 143 73 91 86 0
General Electnc Industrials 122 £ 206 E 514 E 508 E 404 E 224
Sun Mice T 98 816 708 222 112 B4
Ebay Consumer Discrationary 83 82 I 11 ] ¢
Exxon Mobil Energy 87 E 108 E 187 E 134 E 175€ 130
United Parcel Sarvice Industnials 86 E 0 ] o 0 0
Best Buy Consumer Discretionary 86 93 79 40 11 1]
Wal Mart Stores Consumer Discretionary 84 106 118 125 49 3
SLM Corporatiory Fiancials 83 119 25 8 4 23
Merck & Co. Heaith Care 83 153 538 423 351 237
HCA Heaith Care 82 60 40 3 0 14
Busch Ci Staples 7 el 4 49 M 22
it ndustnals 77 57 55 23E 19E 63
Apphed Matenals information Technology 75 107 387 161 28 83
Lockheed Martin Industrals 75E 21 E OE 0 15E 22
Cardinal Heatth Health Care 74 158 47 85 35 21
‘Weils Fargo & Co Finangials 73 88 112 88 102 93
Homae Depot Consumer Discretionary 68 138 137 132 83 26
McDonald's Consumer Discrebonary 61 76 80 185 154 79
Tisco Systems information Technology &1 1,307 3.077 837 422 274
Yahoo! nformation Technology &0 1 108 118 23 ND
KLA-Tencor information Technology 60 56 132 14 21 10
Block, H&R Industrals 58 2 4 4E 1E Q
‘Waigreen Consumer Staples 57 87 39 27 25 10
Tyco indusinals 54 231 126 15 55 10
Intuit Information Tachnology 53 60 24 58 22 7
General Mills Consumer Slaples 53 38 3% 34 38 26
Xiktnx information Technology 52 159 112 35 16 17
Colgate-Paimative Co Consumer Slaples 51 54 92 169 (19) 28
Krogar Consumer Staples 50 52 39 28 101 40
Yum! Brands Consumer Discretionary 49 13 5 4 2 1

Try to spot the struggling upstart in the top 50 tax benefit beneficiaries in the list above. All of these firms would be considered
by most folks to quite well established.
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One of the traditional rationales for stock option issuance is that they help small cash-poor innovative firms
to “attract and retain” the best minds for their businesses and save on cash, both through the substitution for
compensation and from the tax benefits as well. It’s a perfectly logical rationale and no doubt there’s some truth
to it. The problem arises when their bigger competitors get the same benefits: not only do they get to “attract and
retain” able personnel, they get to “deduct and drain” from the Treasury Department in a big way - adding one more
tool to their arsenal that might help them overpower less established competitors.

Some companies depend a great deal on the benefits of stock option tax benefits: during the tech boom, there
was no shortage of stories about companies whose cash generated from operations was minor compared to their tax
benefits. Even after the tech boom ended, companies like that still exist: in 2002, there were 15 companies whose
stock option-related tax benefits exceeded their cash from operating activities. You might expect it to happen
occasionally - say in the case of an unusual merger where holders exercised their options all at one time - but some
of these firms have had option tax benefits greater than cash from operations for as many as four years in a row.
Look at the table below and you can see this was the case for Morgan Stanley and Lucent.

Cash From Option Tax Benefits: Better Than Operating The Business In 2002

Cash From Operations Option Tax Benefits Benefits > Cash From Ops.

2002 2001 2000 1999 2002 2001 2000 1999 | 2002 2001 2000 1999
Morgan Stanley (5,054) :(24,091)1(2,384) { (29.271) 282 480 467 367 5336 24,5511 2851 29,638
Bear Stearns {1,368); 6,552(4,239) 235 128: 143 73 G141 1.496: (6409); 4.312F (144)
Wilhams Companies {542) 1,694 506 1,488 32 48 37 32 575 (1,645) {469} {1.456)
Sears {505): 2,262: 2,702 3,697 24 14 3 8 529; {2,248) { (2,689)} {3,689)
Countrywide (3.672): {8,950):{3.310) 2,445 22 9 17 24 3,694; B8958: 3,328: (2443)
Applied Micro Cireuit (36) 200 65 22 18: 189 18 4 54 (31) {50} {18)
Navistar Int} {(74) 220 686 302 7 a 0 2 81 {220): (686); (300)
Broadcom ©9) 49 201 86 7 23 466 154 76 {26y;. 265 a8
Goldman Sachs (10,077} :{15.176): 11,135 : (12,589) 2 o 0 0 10,079 15,176 {11,135} 12,589
TMP Woridwide {15} 191 187 94 2 22 17 12 16F (189): (170) (82)
Lucent {756} (3.657) 40 (276) 1 18: 1064 394 757 3675: 1,024 670
Gateway (25)i (270 289 731 1 1 56 80 25§ 271i (233) (651)
Parametric Tech {23) 51 52 151 4 2 18 3 23 (45} (34) {148)

Cash from operations dafa drawn from Compustat Research Insight database. All other information drawn directly from 10-K's
or estimated as described above.

Executives like to gripe that required options expensing will kill a derful employee incentive, but if
there was one rule change that would effectively kill option issuance, it would be the elimination of their tax
benefits. By now, you've probably picked up the fact that there has been a marked decrease in options issuance
even without the stimulus of required expense treatment or a change in tax laws. Maybe a cool stock market does
the trick just as well.
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V. Options: The Out-Of-Alignment Incentive
If you say something fong enough and loud enough, people begin to accept it as gospel truth - even if it’s
patently untruthful.

So it is with options supporters and their “alignment with shareholders” argument. Maybe there’s alignment
with shareholders in that both the option holders and stockholders benefit when the price of the stock goes up - but
in wildly varying degrees. (See the example in the box.) There certainly is a difference in “alignment” when the
stock goes down: the option holder, not being out of pocket for cash doesn’t feel pain quite the same way as a cash
equity investor.

Fortunately, it’s not too hard to check up on such an unquestioned article of faith, Figure it this way: if
management’s interests are heavily aligned with sharcholders by option grants, then the companies with the most
option grants in their capital structure should be the ones most firmly focused on profitable projects for
shareholders. Abundant options should insure that the management will want to partake in the benefits they provide
to shareholders, which will be recognized in the stock market - or so the theory goes. If more alignment is a good
thing for management to have, then managers of “high-option” firms should be engaging in projects that will better
reward sharcholders, and so be recognized in the stock market with a better-than-average stock price. Conversely,
managements of firms with low option presence don’t have as much interest in engaging in actions that will be
recognized by the stock market, and so low-option firms would be expected to perform worse than their high-option
counterparts.

We can see if this theory holds up by parsing the S&P 500 into two camps: those companies with above
average option levels in their capital structure and below average levels of capital structure. Then their stocks’ five
year total returns can be compared to that of the S&P 500 as a whole.

There were 450 companies in the S&P 500 that were publicly traded for a full five years, and we can define
“degree of option presence” by dividing the average options outstanding’ by the basic shares outstanding for a firm.
The popular term for this measure is “overhang;” not as descriptive, but easier to say. The table below shows the
degree of option presence in capital structure by sector for the 450 companies.

Options Presence; Average Options Qutstanding To Basic Shares

# Firms 2002 2001 2000 1999 1898
fnformation Technology . 70 15.3% 14.3% 13.4% 13.1% 12.6%
Health Care 43 10 3% 3 8% 92% 82% 8 0%
Consumer Discretionary 84 9.9% 8.5% 8.6% 7.4% 8.8%
industnals 83 91% 87% 81% 71% 8 2%
Financials 69 8.7% 7.9% 7.1% 6.3% 5.7%
Materials 31 7 8% 7 4% 6 6% 5.5% 46%
Telecom 8 7.7% 6.4% 5.1% 4.5% 4.3%
Consumer Staples 32 7 6% 7.0% 8 3% 5 5% 52%
Energy 23 5.5% 5.0% 4.8% 51% 4.5%
Utihities 27 4.5% 4 1% 3.6% 29% 2.5%
Average Options “Overhang” 450 9.3% 8.6% 7.8% 7.3% 7.1%

*Simple average of all beginning of year options outstanding and end of year options outstanding; no other data available to smooth average
further. Also, all options used whether or not exercisable or “in the money.” The objective is to determine the maximum amount of potential
difution in the capital structure, rather than the existing dilution at a certain point in time.
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“Alignment” Is A Matter Of Degree
Year1 ... Year5 In Year 1, a shareholder pays cash for
Shareholder - cash out in beginning of Year 1 $20 20.1%

stock while an employee receives an
) N option with no cash outlay. The
Employee - option award in Year 1 $20 150.0% shareholder hangs on for five years and
realizes a $50 sale of the stock at the
end of Year 5. The employee exercises his option on the same day in Year 5. Both put out the same amount of cash, though
the timing was far different - resulting in witdly different rates of return on cash invested. Option holders will always have a
huge advantage over shareholders in terms of return rates, a mathematical fact due to the timing of cash flows. If the stock
goes to zero, the cash investor has a 100% loss. It's not much of an “alignment of interests.”

Not surprisingly, the technology sector is far and away the one with the greatest degree of options overhang.
and the one that would dilute its sharcholders the most should they all be exercised. (Note that the calculation is
based on all options outstanding, whether they’re in the money or not; it’s a measure of potential ditution.)
Consistent with the run-up in options grants in years 1998 through 2001, the option overhang increased in every
sector in every year shown in the table. Remember that these figures are averages: there are some companies out
there with really pumped-up option overhangs. In fact, 119 of them are above the average for each of the last five
years. The companies are listed in the table on the next page, and the sector distribution of them is shown below.
No surprises again: the technology sector leads the pack, while the telecom and utility sectors are no-shows.

High “Options Overhang” By Sector

2002 2001 2000

14.0% 12.8% 13.7% 13.5% 13.8%
120% 11 5% 11 5% 10 5% 10 8%

Consumer Discretionary ' 25
Consumer Staples 2

Energy 1 14.9% 13.3% 14.5% 18.3% 16.4%
Financials 12 17 5% 15.1% 13 6% 12 4% 11 3%
Heatth Care 15 13.8% 13.3% 12.4% 11.1% 10.9%
industnals 13 16 3% 15 5% 155% 14 6% 133%

information Technolagy 48 15.7% 15.0% 13.8% 13.8% 14.0%
Materals 3 118% | 125% F 123% 1 107%  88%
119 155% | 14.5% 1 13.7% ' 134% 13.4%]

According to the “alignment” proposition. the managements of these 119 firms are more aligned with their

stockholders than the other 331, so the question must be asked: did the market recognize that these managements
were motivated to do more for shareholders? Did the stocks of these firms perform better over a five year period

than those firms whose managers were less “aligned with shareholders?”

High-Overhang Market Beaters High-Overhang Market Losers The a"swe'r is in the table at left" 7 4
_ # Sector % Sector [ of the 119 high-overhang companies

29 information echnology 40% || 191 Information Technology ~ 42%| outperformed the market, or 62% of them.
14 Consumer Discretionary 21% | 11} Consumer Discretionary  24%| Sounds impressive, buf true believers in the
7

131 Health Care 13% Y 9] industrials 20% gl it hould be di ;
10 Financiais 1% | 2} Financials 4%| e story ¢ il

o , .
4! industrials 10% | 2 Health Care oy There shouldn’t have been 45 companies that
2} Consumer Staples 3% | 1! Energy ou,| were beaten by the market - all of them
2} Materials 2% ] 1} Materials 29| should be market-beaters. One curiosity: the
01 Energy 1%l 0 Consumer Staples o%| technology sector often cites the alignment
0: Telecom 0%} 0: Telecom 0%| story as an excuse for grants gone wild - but
0; Utiities 0% 0 Utitties 0%\ they represent nearly identical proportions of

74 100% | 45 180%] the market-beaters and beaten.
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High “Options Overhang” By Company

Siebel Systems
Defla Arr Lines
Lehman Bros.
Apple Computer
Maxim integrated
Parametric Tech
Quintles Transnat!
Autodesk

Marcury Interactive
Meradl Lynch & Co
Adobe Systems
Capital One
Network Apphance
Citrsx Systems
Yahoo!

Hashro

T. Rowe Price
Nationat Senu
Cendant
PeopleSoft
McKesson HBOC
Symantec

Novell

Arnalog Devices
General Mitis

J P Morgan Chase
Starwood

New York Times
Tuppeiware

LSt Logic
Yum'Brands
AutoNation
Teradyne

Apphed Materals
Hercules

Fust Tennessee
Guidant

Novellus Systems
TMP Worldwide
intuit

Advanced Micro Dey,
Xilnx

St Jude Medical
BMC Software
NCR

Sun Microsystems
Electronic Arts
Robert Half
Vertas Sofiware
Eastman Kodak
Microsoft
Comverse Tech
Cisco Systems
Reebok
McDonald's

KB Home

Darden Restaurants
Toys RUs

Altera

Southwest Arines

2002

45.5%
44 7%
31.0%
29 1%
28.2%
27 0%
26.9%
25 9%
252%
24 1%
23.7%
232%
22.9%
228%
22.7%
226%
225%
22 5%
22.3%
21 9%
21.7%
21 1%
20.7%
20 5%
20.3%
19 4%
19.3%
18 3%
182%
17 7%
176%
17 5%
17.3%
17 3%
17.4%
17 1%
16.9%
16 8%
18.7%
16 6%
16.6%
16 6%
18 5%
16 3%
16.3%
16 3%
16.2%
16 2%
16.1%
159%
15.7%
15 5%
15 5%
15 4%
18.4%
153%
15.2%
15 2%
15.1%
15 1%

2001

48.3%
41 4%
25 3%
24 3%
26.5%
24 0%
24.1%
25 8%
224%
227%
20.8%
207%
228%
223%
22.4%
229%
21.5%
20 3%
23.3%
207%
20.7%
200%
21.3%
18 1%
214%
153%
15 2%
16 4%
17.1%
185%
18.3%
17 2%
14 9%
16 8%
168%
16 6%
14.5%
14 2%
16.1%
16 1%
14.6%
16 7%
16.0%
13 5%
168.3%
14 8%
16.6%
16 1%
14.3%
16 4%
16.2%
18 5%
14.1%
150%
14.3%
160%
14.6%
14 0%
13.8%
12 8%

41.3%
38 7%
20.3%
16 6%
27.4%
212%
19 4%
257%
187%
235%
17.5%
18 8%
24.0%
232%
221%
210%
203%
197%
25.6%
21 2%
17.0%
17 8%
18.7%
138%
18.8%
127%
12.2%
13 9%
13.5%
16 7%
17.3%
150%
12.1%
14 3%
14 5%
14 7%
11.3%
130%
18.7%
157%
13.8%
18 7%
14 6%
11 8%
16.0%
139%
182%
14 5%
13.7%
13 4%
154%
15 5%
13.4%
14 7%
12.9%
136%
12.8%
153%
12.3%
13 4%

1998

41.8%
346%
14.3%
130%
29.6%
19 4%
124%
247%
153%
223%
18.5%
16 8%
23.3%
212%
246%
18 0%
19.2%
17 2%
24.0%
1986%
1.6%
17 5%
15.5%
14 4%
18.8%
126%
10.3%
120%

8.7%
15 2%
153%
12 3%
12.0%
14 0%
12.2%
11 5%
10.3%
13 5%
13.2%
155%
14.0%
20 7%
126%
121%
14.1%
139%
17.5%
128%
14.4%
11 2%
16.5%
15 4%
13 3%
157%
12.1%

84%
11.6%
156%
12.3%
13 5%

1998

35.6%
226%

8.9%
14 1%
34.6%
18 2%

9.3%
24 9%
18 2%
19 7%
14.0%
128%
19.7%
16 2%
28.6%
17 1%
192%
119%
206%
190%

9.2%
16 4%
12.8%
132%
15.8%
12 1%

2%
106%

7.2%
119%
124%
113%
11.5%
11 8%
10.0%

98%

8.5%
14 5%

8.2%
17 3%
13.2%
19 1%
1.3%
129%
12.6%
14 1%
15.4%
10 4%
16.9%

9 1%
19 0%
17 3%
13.4%
17 2%
1M7%

72%
10.9%
115%
13.5%
14 0%

32

2002 2001
Compuware 15.1% § 125%; 13.1% [ 13.8%; 14.6%
KLA-Tencor 150%: 131%; 128%: 136%; 128%
Nabors Industries 14.9% i 13.3% 145% i 183% 164%
Donnetley, RR 148%: 149%; 129%: 100%: 94%
Qualcomm 14.8% ; 144%: 164%; 25.7%: 20.7%
Morgan Stantey 145%; 133%: 123%: 118%: 111%
AOQL Time Wamer 14.4% F 11.4%% 165%; 18.0%] 24.6%
Dett 143%; 133%: 129%: 135%: 158%
Ryder 142%; 147%: 130% 8% 17%
Lucent 14 1% 164%: 111% B89%: T76%
Marsh & Mclennan 14.9% . 120%: 112% i 10.7%; 8.9%
Eaton 138%: 145%: 132%: 112%i 100%
United Health Group 134% F 12.3%{ 128% 116%: 93%
Sungard Dala Systems 133%: 117% 9 9% 87%: 83%
‘Waters Corp. 13.2% i 127%% 14.0% i 18.6% i 18.0%
Counirywide Financial 131% 1 123%% 120% i 113%: 102%
Meredith 129% | 125%; 1186%; 106%i 8.5%
Genzyme Carporation 129%; 122%i 138%: 140%; 158%
Bank Of America 12.8% ¢ 114%; 10.2% 82%: 7.6%
ADC Tetecomm 128% 1 122%; 130%: 121%) 98%
Linear Technology 12.7%F 12.9%) 135% 1 143% 135%
Chiron 127% ;. 108% 98%: 103%: 124%
PMC-Saerra. inc 127%; 187%; 151% ] 147%; 120%
Jones Apparet Group 125% i 136%: 119%: 103%: 102%
PerldnElmer 12.5% 3 124% 9.6% 886%: 8.3%
Biogen 12 4% T17%: 117%: 134%: 151%
Kmgnt-Redder 123%; 18.2%; 11.8% B7%i 82%
Bausch & Lomb 122%; 103% 86% 82%{ 92%
Clena Corp 122% { 12.5% 10.8% 92%: 7.9%
Charter One Financiat 122%: 106% 9 1% 82%; 75%
intef 121%; 10.5% 8.3% 8.3% .8%
JDS Unphase 121%: 143%; 162%: 223%: 170%
Micron Technology 11.8% 9.3% 8.9% 9.0% 10.2%
IMS Health M7%3 132%; 136%: 102%: 112%
C8X 11.6%; 10.3% 9.1% 8.2%i 73%
Centex 11 6% 121% 119% 10 1% 0%
Becton, Dickinson 11.4% 3 114%: 12.0% ] 120%f 122%
McDermott Infl 114% 9 4% 81% 74%: 83%
Staples 1.3%; 10.8% 87% 88%; 9.7%
Scentfic-Attanta 111% 95% B4% 79%: 82%
Millipore 10.9% ; 123%; 11.5%; 100% 6%
Starbucks 108%;: 112%: 117%: 116%: 106%
Office Depot 10.8% 1§ 12.0%i 11.3% 90%: 82%
Gap 108%: 120% 112%; 111%; 102%
Mattel 10.7% : 27%: 13.7% 135%: 13.3%
interpubhc 107% 99% 97%: 102%: 107%
Boston Saentific 106% § 11.0%i & 9.4% 79%: 83%
Pepsico 10 5% §9%; 103% 95%: 99%
Puite Homes Inc 10.8% i 124%: 132% i 11.5%i 11.0%
Wendy's inf't 105%: 109%; 103% 90%: 79%
Lexmark 10.3%: 102%; 10.3%: 104%] 10.2%
Apariment Inv & Mgt 10 3% 11 4% 12 5% 136%; 11 1%
Medwimune 998% 9.9%i 103% 123%: 149%
Cancord EFS 7% 93% 90% 80%: 74%
United Technologias 9.7% 9.1% 83% 9.2%: 8.9%
1T industnes 95%: 121% 134%; 134%: 104%
Engethard 5% 11.8%: 135% 11.5%: 90%
Forest Laboratones 94%: 104%; 115%; 127%: 139%
Egolab 84% 95%: 91% 87%: 77%
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A corollary to the alignment story: companies with low option overhangs (below average option presence
in their capital structures) are not as aligned or concerned about their sharcholders; their managements might be
more interested in empire-building or featherbedding instead of making the stock price dance. So, returns for
option-light firms should be subpar. There are 151 firms in the S&P 500 with below average option overhangs in
each of the last five years; let’s look at their last five years’ returns.

Surprise: a greater

Low-Overhang Market Beaters Low-Overhang Market Losers proportion of companies with lower

% # Sector %

227 Financials 21% | 19! Information Technology _ 42% | ['4r average h”p"”" overhang
19: Consumer Discretionary 18% 11: Consumer Discretionary 24% outperformed the market over the
13! Utiies 12% 9! Industrials 200 | Sive year stretch - 106 out of 151, or
12} industriats 1% 2} Financials 4% | 70% of them. Another curiosity:
10 Consumer Staples 9% 2§ Health Care 4% | out of the low-overhang losers,
10} Energy 9% 1} Energy 2%| most of them were in the
9: Materials 8% 1 Materials 2% technology sector. Maybe that
61 Health Care 6:& 0% Consumer Staples 0:/;; means that for Iechnology ﬁrms,
3} Telecom 3% 0} Telecom 0% excessive option grants are needed
21 Information Technology 2% 0} Utllitles 0%
to outperform the market.
106 100% 45 100%

In sum, if one looks at the returns of the firm that would tend to support the alignment theory, the evidence
is pretty far from conclusive that lots of options wind up meaning anything good for shareholders. In fact, over this
five year stretch, sharcholders received better treatment from firms with relatively low options issuance.
Shareholders should not accept the alignment story; by approving compensation plans resulting in large option
grants to executives and employees, they’re not necessarily doing themselves a favor,

Additionally, they may be only hurting themselves by creating a class of insiders that can block a takeover
and protect their jobs. Look at the options everhang on the companies in the first column on page 33; you have
to wonder if some of these grants can amount Yo creeping management takeovers.

d ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok ok % koK ok ok k H ok & K ok ok

As always, this has been one of the more challenging pieces to write. Before I ever get to do write it,
however, it’s a Herculean task to gather the underlying data. Fortunately, I’ve have a team full of Hercules clones
to help clean the EDGAR-ean stables. The cast of interns was ably managed by Paula Tanabe, who kept the players
on task and on time; to my delight, this is the earliest we’ ve ever been able to complete this report. The team rotates
every year, and this year I've been very fortunate to have a very deep bench: it’s the second go-round on this
assignment for departing interns Brian Egan and Scott Thompson, who now know more than they ever wanted to
know about stock option compensation, its ramifications and where secrets reside in the financial statements. The
same goes for Jesse Harlan, also tremendously efficient in his second go-round, but staying right here (and itching
to work on something else!) Newcomer Brian Neuner had his eyes opened to the secrets of “option compensation
in a footnote” and contributed mightily in his first few months on the job. Finally, Brenda Rappold orchestrated the
reference material you see in the back of this report (which I hope you will find handy in the coming year.)

Thanks to all of the cast, especially for their unflagging good humor during the “check this again, please”
phase of the stable-cleaning.
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.34
Appendix. Reference Data For S&P 500 Companies

The following section is a compendium of some of the Statement No. 123 data used in the production of this
report. Pages 35 through 46 present the last three years® diluted earnings per share on both an “as reported™ basis and
a Statement No, 123 pro forma basis, as well as the number of options outstanding, the number of options granted, and
the number of options exercised in each of those three years.

Pages 47 through 58 present the weighted average fair value of options issued in the last three years, as well
as the valuation assumptions companies used in computing fair values: volatility, expected life, interest rate, and
dividend rate.
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Introduction

As the future of executive compensation and corporate governance is
debated, it makes sense to do some comprehensive retrospective research on
what took place over the last 11 years. This is the kind of study that was not
easily doable because the Securities and Exchange Commission only
required detailed reports on executive compensation in proxy statements
after 1992. The database which is considered the gold standard on boards’
of directors’ decisions executive compensation, Standard & Poors
Execucomp was created thereafter to make these data widely available to
analysts, institutional investors, the media, and academic researchers. Only
the passage of 11 years allows more comprehensive backward and forward
examinations of the salient relationships between total shareholder return
and various measures of executive compensation decided upon by corporate
boards of directors. We conceive of this study as mainly a study of boards
of directors decisions over the period about executive compensation and

their impact on the firm.

The Study

This study examines the potentially 20,000 boards of directors’
decisions that have created important executive compensation patterns in the
economy for the entire population of the top 1500-2000 U.S. public
companies from 1992-2002 using the entire universe of Standard & Poors
Execucomp. (see Appendix I). It continues an earlier study of the
relationship between boards’ of directors decisions on the percent of all

employee stock options granted to the top five executives as a group and
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total shareholder return. (Blasi, Kruse, and Bernstein 2003: 200-202; also
reported in Morgenson 2002). In this current study, we explore the extent to
which percentage increases in various types and formats of executive
compensation made by boards of directors top to the CEO and the top five
executives as individuals relate to future total shareholder return (TSR).
The analysis is provided for CEOs separately and then, in some cases, for
individual members of the top five executives reported to the SEC as
separate individuals (with one exception noted below). We also explore the
extent to which past or current total shareholder return predicts decisions
which boards of directors made about these elements of executive
compensation.

The authors caution that this study does not examine whether profit
sharing or stock option grants or stock option profits for executives make
any sense or whether executive pay should be aligned with the profits of
shareholders. Obviously, an entire body of principal-agent theory strongly
suggests that it does make sense that executives do well if shareholders do
well. Moreover, one of the positive developments that took place since the
classic owner-manager enterprises at the beginning of the last century
passed to professional management was precisely to not pay these managers
as bureaucrats (to refer to the theme of the Hall and Liebman study).
Executives have important leadership responsibilities and deserve significant
rewards when their companies use investors’ funds wisely.

This study does not attempt to comment on or set the optimal size or
scope of those rewards. That is a complex question which is now receiving
the attention of a lot of theoreticians and practitioners and members of
boards of directors. A new societal consensus on this matter would represent

an important innovation on corporate affairs. The classic article on stock
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options by Hall and Liebman (1998) shows with a smaller sample several
years ago (1.e. the period 1980-1994) that executives indeed do well when
their company’s total shareholder return performs better. They also proved
that most of this reward came from stock option profits. As the authors of

that study noted:

...we document a strong relationship between firm performance and
CEO compensation. In addition, we show that both the level of CEO
compensation and the sensitivity of compensation to firm performance have
risen dramatically since 1980, largely because of increases in stock option

grants (1998:653)

They also found that the level of CEO compensation and the responsiveness
of CEO compensation to firm performance had also risen dramatically since
an earlier study by Jensen and Murphy (1990). Murphy subsequently (1999)
provided a comprehensive review of research on this and other important
studies on executive compensation before 1999. Since then Core and Guay
(2001) look at non-executive employee stock options in 756 firms from
1994-1997 and Mehran and Tracy (2001) have looked at the wider role of
stock options in pay in the country.

This study -- while concerned to some extent with similar issues in
some respects -- is focusing on a very different set of issues and one under
current discussion in public policy debates about corporate governance
involving corporations, shareholders, academics, politicians, and citizens in

general:

a) Do increases in total shareholder return (TSR) in the current year
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meaningfully predict systematic boards of director actions on increasing the
percent of the entire employee stock option pie or marginal increases in total
executive compensation that is awarded to the CEO or other top five

executives as individuals?

b) Do marginal percentage increases in the various types of executive
compensation, particularly types of stock option compensation or executive

profit sharing, predict future total shareholder return?

¢) How should we think of these findings in light of how the entire

“incentive” pie is divided among all employees?

d) What does this imply about how boards of directors have functioned in

the past?

Questions a and b can be empirically tested. Questions ¢ and d will be
addressed in light of current corporate governance discussions in our
interpretation of these empirical findings. Why do we think that this
particular perspective on the problem and the historical data of executive
compensation has merit? On one hand, it is our view that the current public
debate has been overly influenced by an anti-corporate and anti-executive
bias which somehow -- because of a combination of suspicion of corporate
power or class jealousy or national politics -- seriously tries to imply that
captains of industry do not deserve generous rewards in proportion to
corporate performance. Any worker whose job depends partly on high
quality corporate leadership realizes that not rewarding them well is

obviously an imprudent policy. Surely, one does not want an economic
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system which, as Hall and Liebman earlier questioned, pays corporate
leaders like bureaucrats, where their fate is divorced from the fate of
shareholders and society, and employees, as a whole. On the other hand, the
startling rise that has taken place in all forms of executive pay (Table 1
below) and stock option profits and paper wealth (Table 2 below) from
1992-2002 does lend itself to several other questions. Has the magnitude and
rate of compensation increases for the executive group leading major U.S.
corporations been related to sensible shareholder corporate governance? In
the past, have proportional marginal increases in the percent of the incentive
pie that boards allot to corporate executives properly drive future
performance? Is there any evidence of some kind of “leap-frog” process
taking place where the rate of the rewards are being bid up without an
adequate explanation and a prudent judgement? In short, our focus is
mainly on the range of issues dealing with the impact of boards of

directors decisions related to marginal increases in executive compensation.

The Main Findings

Here is a brief summary of the main findings of the study relative to

the key questions of inquiry:

a) Do increases in total shareholder return (TSR) in the current year
meaningfully predict systematic boards of director actions on increasing the
percent of the entire employee stock option pie or total compensation that is
awarded to the CEO or other top five executives as individuals in the current

year?
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For stock options, the evidence indicates that on average
boards of directors set up the executive compensation system for CEOs so
that proportional increases in the percent of the entire company-wide
employee stock option pie awarded to individual executives rewards
increases in the current year total shareholder return.  From 1992-2002 a
large number of boards have used increases in the CEOs or the top five
executives’ share of the total employee stock option pie as a short-term perk

related to improvement in TSR during that year.

For total compensation, (including salary, bonuses, Long-term
Incentive Plans, the value of restricted stock, and EITHER the value of
stock options granted or the value of stock option profits), it is also the case
that when the company’s total shareholder return goes up in any particular
year that this does predict marginal increases in the percent of total
compensation (with either stock option grant value included or stock option
profits included). This is according to the basic idea of stock options that
executives should do well when companies do well and that their interests
should be aligned. This, however, is, as noted, not the main focus of this

study.

b. Do marginal percentage increases in the various types of executive
compensation, particularly types of stock option compensation or executive

profit sharing, predict future total shareholder return?

The evidence indicates that proportional marginal increases in the percent
of the annual stock option pie that goes to the CEO or top five executives as

individuals do not systematically predict positive increases in total
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shareholder return in the next year, or average increases in total shareholder
return in the next 3 years or the next 5 years. Neither do marginal increases
in the Black-Scholes value of the options granted. Also, profit sharing as a
percent of salary for the CEO and the top five executives does not predict
future 1,3, and 5 year total shareholder return performance. (Since profit
sharing is supposed to reward for past performance, this makes sense to us.)
The same general pattern holds for marginal increases in total
executive compensation when either the value of stock option grants or the
value of stock option profits is included. For CEOs and top five executives,
marginal increases in total compensation (including the value of option
grants or profits) do not predict future 1,3, and 5 year improvements in total

shareholder return.

¢) How should we think of these findings in light of how the entire

“incentive” pie is divided among all employees?

Cash profit sharing for top executives in American corporations appears
to be pervasive and very significant to executive wealth as it has been
reduced to insignificance among other employees in the society in general.
(Appendix III establishes this with an examination of executive profit
sharing from 1992-2002.") Equity compensation for top executives in
American corporations, particularly in the form of stock options, is
pervasive and very significant to executive wealth. This evidence suggests

that profit sharing for executives is functioning as it was conceived, namely,

! For a comparative examination of profit sharing among workers in the entire population see the results of
a 2002 survey of the entire work force by the General Social Survey that we carried out with Richard
Freeman of Harvard University at http://www.rci.rutgers.edu/~blasi
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as a short-term reward. However, marginal increases in the executives share
of the total annual employee stock option pie are more often used as a perk
for improved total shareholder return in that year (or even as a prod to
improve performance when total shareholder return for that year has been
sub-par.) Because there is no evidence that these marginal increases in the
CEOs or the top five executives’ share of the total employee stock option
pie drive future 1, 3, and 5 year total shareholder return, this raises
questions about whether boards of directors have been too focused on
increases in the top executives share of the incentive pie. Since it is also true
that marginal increases in total executive compensation (including the value
of stock options granted or the value of stock option profits) do not appear to
drive better 1,3, and 5 year total shareholder return, it would appear that this
is evidence of some level of excess in executive stock options. Indeed, this
phenomenon may have contributed to a “leap-frog” phenomenon in
executive pay over the decade.

Not all companies this approach of concentrating options on the top. Ina
recent book (Blasi, Kruse, and Bernstein, 2004) and a new study (Blasi and
Kruse 2004) we have examined companies that include broader ranges of
non-executive employees in their stock option and profit sharing plans in the
technology sector. While this study also documents evidence of some
excess and corporate governance problems in this sector, it does demonstrate
that an alternative approach has been used. Boards in other industries have

also used broader-based stock option strategies.”

d) What does this imply about how boards of directors have functioned in
the past?
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The evidence presented here strongly suggests that boards of directors
have been too focused on identifying and dividing up the incentive pie
among the CEO and top executives when marginal grants of added
incentive power to this group do not appear to drive future total shareholder
returns. This study lends strong support to SEC Chairman Donaldson's push
for the ability of shareholders to nominate some board members directly.’

We suggest that this can be partly a result of a bias introduced into
the corporate governance process by a lack of true independence of
directors, the reality that compensation consultants which they retain have
had their attitudes and behaviors shaped in the past by collecting fees from
just the same top managers and their staffs which they seek to consult about,
and a long history of cultural attitudes which suggest that it is only or mainly
people at the top who drive corporate performance.

This last view is entirely out of touch with the growing role of
intellectual capital and team work in our increasingly knowledge-oriented
corporation, and with academic evidence. While lack of evidence of the
impact of marginal increases in certain components of executive
compensation for the top five executives does not automatically imply that
broadening these incentives out in any way would be better, this study does
raise the issue of whether boards of directors have properly evaluated the
strategic human resource management of all the firm’s human capital and
whether this kind of evaluation merits becoming a subject of board-level

discussion. We will discuss these implications at the end of this article.

? See hitp:/www.rci.rutgers.edu/~blasi for a recent survey on broad option programs in the U.S.
* These proposals are summarized and discussed in a roundtable on Mr. Donaldson’s proposals at the SEC
web site, www.sec.gov, available at htpy/www.scc.gov/spotlight/dir-nominations htm

10
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The Context

There has been a startling increase in total executive compensation for
the 7500 executives (the CEO and the next four executives making up the
top five most important leaders of the firm) over the past decade. Table 1
{(Executive Compensation: The Top Five Executives) below documents the
rounded dollar values from Standard & Poors Execucomp. Total
compensation for this group over the period according to Execucomp has
been $177. Billion. The value of stock option profits and restricted stock
grants have comprised almost $100. Billion of this $177. Billion. It
becomes immediately apparent from examining this table, as Hall and
Liebman (1998) observed for a period before the mid-nineties, the profits on
stock including the central role of options, play a key role. (These scholars
also looked at increases in the value of direct stock ownership which we do
not examine in this study.) Having said this, after the significant market
correction of 2000, there has clearly been a significant drop in total
executive compensation and stock option profits, but not salary and bonus
and the value of restricted stock grants. (Note however, in Appendix 111 that
profit sharing by executives spiked after the market drop of March 2000 for
some years.)

Table 2 below (Option Paper Wealth and Profits For The Top Five
Execs of U.S. Corporations) firmly establishes that the promise of future
stock option profits -- as a result of unexercised shares of the stock option
pie which the executives were still holding -- insured continuation and

perpetuation of this system of shared capitalism for America’s executives.

11
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Paper wealth from stock options represents an added multiple of 4-10 (i.e.
400%-1000%) of current year stock option profits in most years. Thus, by
the end of 2002 after a significant market correction, paper wealth on all
unexercised stock options can be estimated at $24.4 Billion which is a
multiple of 4.6 of the $5.3. Billion of stock option profits in that year for the
top five executives. Table 3 below (The March of Stock Options in the
1500-2000 Largest Public Companies) also establishes that the number of
stock options granted to all employees has increased by a multiple of ten
over the period and that the annual run rates of stock options granted
annually have steadily increased over the period, although there has been a
slowing in the last two years. Table 4 below (The Share Of All Employee
Stock Options Going To The Top Five Executives of America’s
Corporations) shows that over this period five individuals have on average
have received about 30% of the entire stock option package to all
employees. As other scholars have also noted (Tracy and Mehran 2001), the
average and median has gone down. While this is true, Table 5 below
(Annual Stock Option Grants To U.S. Top Executives As A Percent of
Total Shares Outstanding) demonstrates that boards of directors have
actually significantly increased the run rate or the percent that annual grants
of stock options to the CEO and the top five executives represent of total
shares outstanding over the period. This last observation is an important one
because the decline in stock options as a percent of total shares outstanding
might lead to a corollary notion that top five executives reduced their own
draw on total shares outstanding. That does not appear to be the case. (An
additional part of the context is demographic evidence on who holds stock
options, their occupational positions, income levels, and the degree to which

broad-based option programs are common in the economy. Thisisnota

12
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focus of this paper but the authors have made recent data from collaborative
research on this question available as noted above.)

Given the level, the growth, and overall societal size of these rewards,
one can certainly make a case to examine their etiology far more
systematically. Nevertheless, an element of skepticism must be introduced
into any such analysis. During the same period the stock market expanded
significantly. One must be careful yet again not to fall into the fallacy that
says that executive wealth does not deserve to expand with improvements in
the stock market and company performance. (Although some concerns have
been raised, such as those by Hall and Liebman (1998) that executive pay
might vary with an index to market-adjusted performance only.} One must
also be careful to posit that there are appropriate civil, societal, and
economic limits to incentives., We recently heard this second argument put
succinctly for one Chairman and CEO who made $1. Billion in total
compensation over the 1992-2002 period and whose shareholders mitially
made handsome profits and are now on hard times. The skeptical remark
was this: “Did he really need the second $500. Million to do what he did?”
Fnally, if anyone was wondering whether there are special established
interests that executives and current boards have a strong incentive to
protect, one only has to consider what was (is) at stake for these 7500

persons as an institutional segment of American society to consider this

question.
TABLE 1.
Executive Compensation: The Top Five Executives
in The 1500 Largest Corporations in the U.S. Billions of $$
Salary Bonus LTIP Restricted Stock  Other Total
Stock Option compensation
Grants Profits

13



1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
Sum

SUM
1992-
2001

2.2
2.7

3.3
3.5
3.7

3.8
3.5
377

1.3
1.8
21
24

3.3
3.4
3.9
4.1
3.3
3.2
31.8

0.3
0.3
04
0.6
0.8
0.9
0.8
0.9
0.9
0.6
0.6
71

225

0.5 24 0.3
0.6 24 0.6
0.6 1.9 0.6
0.8 27 0.7
1.1 4.3 0.9
1.5 6.8 12
2.8 9.6 1.2
1.9 10.7 14
22 17.7 1.7
1.9 9.2 1.4
1.9 53 2.3
15.8 73 12.3
$177. Billion

7.0
8.4
8.8
10.5
13.6
17.4
218
22.8
30.6
20.2
16.8
177.7

Source: Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, analysis of Standard & Poors Execucomp, 2002-2004.

Note: Numbers are rounded. 2001 numbers are based on
approximately 25% of executives reporting only.

TABLE 2.
Option Paper Wealth and Profits For The Top Five Execs of U.S. Corporations

# of cos.

1992 1497
1993 1631
1994 1666
1995 1708
1996 1861
1997 1916
1998 1986
1999 1924
2000 1793
2001 1482
2002

# of execs.

6193
7836
8429
8668
9274
9520
9922
9850
9454
8699
8372

Paper wealth by year

Profits on stock
options exercised
of top 5 execs

CEOs

$1.477,460,000
$4,351,563,000
$4,793,273,000
$8,931,706,000
$12,458,694,000
$19,384,171,000
$26,049,128,000
$43,356,378,000
$38,420,784,000
$38,146,579,000
$11,931,356,000

All top 5 execs

$6,710,039,000
$11,500,890,000
$10,850,253,000
$20,418,621,000
$28,953,579,000
$45,054,953,000
$57,466,666,000
$92,995,005,000
$79,208,106,000
$61,688,898,000
$24,463,285,000

$2,424,487,000
$2,374,903,000
$1,898,414,000
$2,667,728,000
$4,295,531,000
$6,797,300,000
$9,597,443,000
$10,747,381,000
$17,723,900,000
$9,153,283,000
$5,282,023,000

Source: Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, analysis of Standard & Poors Execucomp, 2002-2004.

Information is from company reports to the SEC.

Covers 1700 largest US corporations that are more than 95% of the stock market.

14
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Notes:

Paper wealth is paper profit on all unexercised options if they were exercised.*

Profits are the reported profits on actual stock option exercises in that year to the SEC.

*This involves simply adding two values that each corporation reports to the SEC in its Proxy
annually and are reported as variables in S&P Execucomp. They are: IN MONEY EXERCISABLE
OPT or “the value of Exercisable in-the-Money Options. This represents the value the officer
would have realized at year end if he had exercised all of his vested options that had an exercise
price below the market price.” and IN MONEY UNEXERCISABLE OPT or “the value of
Unexercisable In-the-Money Options. This represents the value the officer would have realized at
year end if he had exercised all of his unvested options that had an exercise price below the
market price.

Table 3. March of Stock Options in the 1500-2000 Largest Public Companies”

Year  Annual Grants Run Rates Run Rates For the 500 Estimated Option
(actual #)* For All 500 Largest Profits of All
Companies*  Companies® Options Exercised

By Ali Employees*™
(from Desai 2002)

1992 843,187,000 1.03% 0.77% $14. billion
1993  1,474,532,000 1.31% 0.94% $15.3 billion
1994  1,509,664,000 1.33% 1.00% $10.4 billion
1995  1,903,990,000 1.44% 1.22% $17.6 biltion
1996 2,710,167.000 1.89% 1.42% $32.4 biiion
1997  3,810,516,000 2.33% 1.59% $42.6 billion
1988  4,915,995,000 2.82% 1.90% $73.5 billion
1989 7,238,668,000 2.91% 2.74% $74.8 billion
2000 9,305,324,000 3.13% 2.41% $106.2 billion
2001 9,358,933,000 2.85% 2.43%

2002 8,522,365,000 2.46% 1.86%

Source: Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, analysis of Standard & Poors Execucomp, 2002-2004.

*Figures computed from Execucomp by the authors.

**This is the average of the run rate for each individual company, however the figures do not
exclude cancelied options, so this is typically called the annual burn rate of options.

**Computed by Desai (2002), Tabie 2, National Bureau of Economic Research. Note that these
figures refer only to the 1500 largest public companies. Desai expiains the computation of this
column as follows: “Exercises for all employees are estimated by grossing up exercises of the top
five executives by the average across all years of the median share of all exercises excepting that
if the average is less than 1% then exercises are grossed up using 20%.

Table 4. Share of the Entire Stock Option Pie Granted To Top Five Executives.

MEDIAN MEAN
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1992 23.7% 28.8%
1993 26.5% 31.4%
1994 28% 32.3%
1995 27.1% 31%

1996 26.9% 31.5%
1997 26.4% 31%

1998 24.7% 29%

1999 25.5% 29.1%
2000 23.3% 27.6%
2001 18.2% 23.4%

Average of means for all years: 29.51%
Source: Analysis of Execucomp by Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, 2002-2004.

Table 5. Annual Stock Option Grants To U.S. Top Executives As A Percent of Total Shares
Qutstanding.

For the top 1500 corporations

For The Chief Executive Officer For The Top Five Executives

Mean Median Mean Median
1992 .025% 0 .307% 1]
1993 126% 0 .404% .091%
1994 203% 041% 447% A13%
1995 185% .043% 442% .00126%
1996 220% .049% .595% .198%
1997 240% .057% .670% .269%
1998 279% .077% T79% .360%
1999 .301% 112% .790% .405%
2000 .322% .138% 813% A27%
2001 .310% 154% T27% 414%
2002 .283% 143% .656% .389%

Note: All companies reporting are inciuded even if they granted zero stock options.

Source: Analysis of Execucomp by Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, Rutgers University, School
of Management and Labor Relations, 2004

16
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The Data

The data used for this study is the entire universe of Standard &
Poors Execucomp from 1992-2002. Execucomp builds these files from
company’s proxy filings to the Securities and Exchange Commission and
generally covers the largest 1500 companies filing with the SEC. Appendix
I provides the actual number of companies that provide data for boards of
directors decisions on the CEO and the top five executives. Rutgers
University has a subscription to this dataset. Definitions and means and
medians for the variables used in this study are shown in Tables 6 and 7

below.

Table 6. The Execucomp Data: Executive Compensation and Total Shareholder Returns.

Variable Mean Median Standard Minimum/Maximum
($ figures in 000's) Deviation

1)Salary 522 466 330 0/5294
2)Bonus 527 233 1368 2/102015
3)Long-Term Incentive Plan 132 0 788 -2361/31325
4)Stock Option Percent to Total 101 67 127 0/100
5)Stock Option Value Realized 1543 0 10270 -100/706077
6)TDC1 (Total Compensation) 3761 1556 11365 0/655448
7)TDC1 Percent Change (trimmed)* 39.1 106 1119 -87/811
(includes value of options granted)

8)TDC2 Percent Change (trimmed)* 56.0 116 158.1 -88/1318

(includes value of options profits
from options exercised)

9)Return To Shareholder 1 Year 16.7 10.1 495 -79/299
(trimmed)”

10)Return To Shareholder 3 Year 13.7 117 254 -53.0/111.5
(frimmed)*

17



229

11)Return To Shareholder 5 Year 134 126 177 -36.8/78.3

(trimmed)*

12) Black-Scholes Vaiue of
Stock Options issued

Definition Variables:™

e)
f)

g

h)

i)

k)

m

et

n)

The salary is the dollar value of the base salary (cash and non-cash earned by the named
executive officer during the fiscal year

The bonus is the dollar value of a bonus {cash and non-cash) earned by the named
executive officer during the fiscal year

The Long Term incentive Plan is the amount paid out to the executive under the company's
long-term incentive plan. These plans measure company performance over a period of more
than one year (generally three years).

The Stock Option Percent to Total is the percentage of the grant this’ executive received
relative to the total stock option pie granted to all employees in the fiscal year

The Stock Option Value Realized is the net value realized from exercising options, namely,
the difference between the exercise price of the options and the market price of the
company's stock on the date of exercise.

Total Compensation (TDC1) is comprised of Salary, Bonus, Other Annual Compensation, the
Total Value of Restricted Stock Granted, the Total Value of Stock Options Granted (using
Black-Scholes), Long-Term Incentive Payouts, and Ali Other Total.

TDC1 Percent Change is the year to year percentage change in TDC 1 which is comprised of
Salary, Bonus, Other Annual Compensation, the Total Value of Restricted Stack Granted, the
Total Value of Stock Options Granted (using Black-Scholes), Long-Term incentive Payouts,
and All Other Total.

The TDC2 Percent Change is the year to year percent change comprised of Salary, Bonus,
Other Annual Compensation, the Total Value of Restricted Stock Granted, the Total Value of
Stock Options Exercised (i.e. option profits net of exercise price), Long-Term Incentive
Payouts, and All Other Total.

The Return To Shareholder 1 Year is the Total Shareholder Return including monthly
reinvestment of dividends as computed by Standard & Poors and made available in the
database for each corporation.

The Return To Shareholder 3 Year is the gverage Total Shareholder Return including
monthly reinvestment of dividends as computed by Standard & Poors and made available in
the database for each corporation.

The Return To Shareholder 5 Year is the average Total Shareholder Return including
monthly reinvestment of dividends as computed by Standard & Poors and made available in

the database for each corporation.
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p) Black-Scholes Value of Stock Options Issued is the value of the option grant using the
modified Black-Scholes method as computed by Standard & Poors and made available in the

database for each corporation.

*Trimmed means that the top 1% and bottom 1% of values was trimmed in computing this in
order to contro! for the effect of outliers.

**These descriptions are edited and expanded definitions of the variables made available by
Standard & Poors Execucomp with the dataset.

In addition to these Execucomp variables we have derived a number
of measures of executive compensation for the purpose of our analysis.

They are listed in Table 7.

Table 7. Derived Variables On Executive Incentives.

Mean Median Standard Minimum/Maximum
Deviation
1) The Annual Stock Option
Share That The Top Five Executives
As A Group Receive Of All Employee
Stock Options Issued That Year 240 188 219 0/100
2)The Average Share That The Each
Of The Top Five Executives
Received Of All Employee Stock
Options Issued In Any One Year
CEOQ 101 67 12.7 0/100
Top Five as Individuais 4794 396 438 0/100
3)Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary
for CEQ (only bonus) 78.0 611 821 0/576.5
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A)Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary
for CEO (bonus plus Long-Term
incentive Plan) 9398 671 105.9 -145/715

5)Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary
for top 5 executives (only bonus) 634 502 633 0/574.6

6)Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary
for top 5 executives
(bonus plus Long-Term Incentive Plan) 76.0 543 951 -38/3022

Definition of Variables

1) The Annual Stock Option Share That The Top Five Executives As A Group Receive Of All
Employee Stock Options Issued That Year is the total percent of the entire employee stock option
pie that the top five executives receive s a group.

2)The Average Annual Stock Option Share of the Top Five Executives is the percent of the total
employee stock option pie granted to the top five executives as individuals, namely the average
of the actual percents of the pie granted to each executive. For example, if in Corporation X five
executives received 3%, 5%, 4%, 3%, and 5%, the average percent of the pie received would be
20%/5 or 5%.

3)Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary (only bonus) is the bonus of the executive as a percent of
the CEQ's salary,

4)Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary (bonus plus Long-Term Incentive Plan) is the bonus and
L.ong-Term Incentive Plan payout of the executive as a percent of the CEQ’s salary.

5) Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary (only bonus) is the bonus of the executive as a percent of
the executive's salary for top five executives as individuals.

6) Profit Sharing As A Percent of Salary (bonus plus Long-Term incentive Plan) is the bonus and

Long-Term Incentive Plan payout of the executive as a percent of the executive's salary for top
five executives as individuals.
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Methodology

This analysis examines the within-firm change in total shareholder
return as it relates to the within-firm change in marginal increases in a
variety of executive compensation measures, such as the percent of the
entire employee stock option pie granted by the board of directors to the
CEO or a top five executive in any year or profit sharing as a proportion of
salary for a top executive. This analysis is used for several additional
measures of executive compensation. This analysis is based on fixed effects
regressions with an AR1 correction for autocorrelation, with year dummy
variables to control for general stock market movements in total shareholder
return in any particular year. Both the upper and lower one percent of
total shareholder return values have been trimmed to remove the undue
influence of outlying values. By examining within-firm changes, this
approach controls for any factors that remain constant in the firm over this
period such as management quality, firm technology, product-market
conditions and other influences upon firm performance. This approach
does not control for a particular upward or downward movement in one year
in an entire industry. In addition, in some specifications a no fixed effects
OLS regression and a no fixed effects median regression is employed. All
the regression results are provided in Appendix II (or the attached Excel file
if this paper was available electronically). The analysis was conducted using

STATA.

Total Shareholder Return and The CEOs & Top Five Executives Piece
of The Stock Option Pie

21



233

Does the total shareholder return in the current year predict the
percent of the entire employee stock option pie that boards of directors

allotted to CEOs during that year?

Corporations have said that they introduced executive stock options to
reward long-term shareholder return. One approach to studying this
philosophy over the last eleven years is to analyze how short-term total
shareholder return has influenced board of director decisions about marginal
increases in the CEQ’s portion of the entire employee stock option pie.
Specifically, what kinds of decisions have boards of directors made about
their CEQ’s piece of the stock option pie during any particular year when
total shareholder return went up during that year? The analysis begins by
regressing the change in percent of all employee stock options awarded to
the CEO during each year on the change in total shareholder return during
that year. (This is adjusted for the change in Total Shareholder Return in the
entire market as noted above.)

This analysis examines the stock option allocation in every year for
every company in the entire universe of Standard & Poors Execucomp for
the 1992-2002 period. In effect, we are analyzing potentially 16,500 boards
of directors decisions (i.e., 11 years times about 1500 companies each with
one CEO decision per year) In fact, over the period some corporations did
not grant stock options to executives in a particular year or did not use stock
options in their executive compensation systems at all. Thus, this analysis
actually looks at 13,334 instances where stock options were used in the
executive compensation system and where the board made a decision about

changing the percent of the stock option pie that went to the CEO from one

22



234

year to the next. The result of the analysis is that a one percent increase on
this year’s market-adjusted total shareholder return predicts 2 0.011%
increase in the percent of the total employee stock option pie awarded to the
CEO in the current year. The finding is highly statistically significant.*

One question which a journalist or a stock market analyst or a
compensation consultant might raise is: “How practically meaningful is this
finding? Are you simply averaging the results of thousands of cases so that
many companies do not actually behave in this manner? Are your results
practically irrelevant or do the boards of directors of a lot of firms in the
stock market actually behave like this?” This is a fair question. To answer
it we explored precisely how many boards of directors actually did increase
the percent of stock options awarded to the CEO in a particular year when
the total shareholder return went up in that year, how many did not do that,
and how many did nothing. We also looked at what the boards did when
total shareholder return went down. The result of this exploration is that
boards are clearly more likely to increase the CEO portion of the entire
employee stock option pie when total shareholder return goes up than when
it went down. Let’s look at these findings in more detail.

As noted we looked at 13,334 board of director decisions. In 6,876
cases, the market-adjusted total shareholder return of the corporations went
up in any particular year. We found that for all years, 42.9% of these boards
did in fact take the step to increase the CEQO’s share of the stock option pie at
some time during that year, 16.9% kept it the same, and 40.2% decreased it.
Obviously, diverse behavior does exist in what boards of directors did, but

more boards increased the CEO’s share than did not and quite a large

* This is at the .001 level.
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number did. So, it appears that the finding does have some practical
significance and really does describe something that many real boards have
actually done in the past. Our interpretation of this finding is that boards of
directors quite commonly used an increase in the portion of the entire
employee stock option pie to the CEO apparently as a reward for short-term
total shareholder return in that year. This does not appear to be consistent
with the stated purpose of executive stock options to reward long-term total
shareholder return.

Next we focus only on the group of firms that had increases in
market-adjusted total shareholder return in any particular year and dividing
them into quartiles in order to see how each quartile actually dealt with the
increases in the CEQ’s stock option slice of the pie during that year. This
will provide more insight into the actual behavior of these companies and
respond to any concern that we are reporting one average effect that has no
practical implications. There were 2,947 instances where the market-
adjusted total shareholder return went up in a particular year and the board
of directors increased the portion of the total employee stock option pie that
it awarded to the CEO. Table 8 below provides some descriptive statistics
about the average and median increases in the CEO’s share of the stock
option pie that boards awarded in companies with various market-adjusted
total shareholder returns.

Table 8 below illustrates that a significant number of boards of
directors over the period chose to increase the CEO’s portion of the entire
employee stock option pie in the same year that total shareholder return went
up. The fact that roughly the same phenomenon is observable in each

quartile of market-adjusted total shareholder return performance with similar
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means and medians indicates that the general regression described above is

not some statistical artifact but a reflection of actual behaviors.

Table 8. Corporations Where Market-Adjusted Total Sharehelder Return Went Up and Boards Of
Directors Increased The CEOs Portion of the Total Employee Stock Option Pie, 1992-2002.

Market Adjusted TSR The CEOQs Share of The Total Employee
Went Up By This Amount Stock Option Pie Went Up By This Number
Of Percentage Points At The:

Mean Median
1. Above zero and below 14.64% 9.64% 4.31%
II. Above 14.64% and below 32.58% 9.49% 4.69%
111 Above 32.58% and below 62.55% 9.78% 4.86%
V. Above 62.55% 11.85% 6.26%

Source: Analysis of the entire universe of Standard & Poors Execucomp by Douglas Kruse and Joseph
Blasi of Rutgers University. This includes all cases of favorable total shareholder retwrn in the year, for
example, such as a change a -9% total shareholder return to a —-8% total shareholder return. Note that there
were 4272 instances of increased TSR, however in only 2,947 of these cases did the corporation use stock

options, or award stock options in that year.

It is possible -- although we think (in the context of our
understanding of how stock options are supposed to function) not persuasive
given the stated mission of executive stock options -- to understand the case
that a board of directors might make for an increases in the portion of the
entire employee stock option pie awarded to the CEO as a perk or reward for
same year increase in market-adjusted total shareholder return. Below we
will address this issue in more detail by examining whether this had an
impact on 1,3, and 5 year future total shareholder return. For now, we wish

to look at the phenomenon of board increases of the CEO’s share in more
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detail. It would however be much harder to understand that boards of
directors would use increases in the portion of the entire employee stock
option pie awarded to the CEO when market-adjusted total shareholder
return in the same year went down, Oddly enough, this was a fairly
common phenomenon also.

The finding that boards of directors tended to increase the stock
option portion to the CEO when total shareholder return went up in the
same year takes on importance when we consider that 39.6% of boards
increased the CEQ portion when the total shareholder return went down in
the same year. Boards are clearly more likely to increase the CEO portion
when total shareholder return went up than when it went down.

In 6,458 cases, the market-adjusted total shareholder return of the
corporations went down in any particular year. We found that for all years,
39.6% of these boards did in fact take the step to increase the CEO’s share
of the stock option pie at some time during that year, 16.9% kept it the
same, and 43.5% decreased it. Obviously, diverse behavior does exist in
what boards of directors did and more boards decreased the CEQ’s share
than did not but, in this second scenario, it is notable that quite a large
number did. Our interpretation of this finding is that boards of directors quite
commonly used an increase in the portion of the entire employee stock
option pie to the CEO apparently to reward a CEO even when there was no
short-term total shareholder return in that year. This does not appear to be
consistent either with the stated purpose of executive stock options to reward
long-term total shareholder return.

Why are increases in the portion of the entire employee stock option
pie being rewarded to CEOs in years when they are doing a poor job? It is

actually more difficult for us to see a cogent argument for this approach and
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it would seem not consistent with the interests of investors. It may be that
some boards thought that more stock options would turn around poor total
shareholder return in the future, so that the “dividing up” of the employee
stock option pie was used as a short-term nudge to the CEO for future
performance. However, in light of the stated mission of stock options in
executive compensation, this makes even less sense than increasing the
portion as a short-term perk.

More insight about this story can be gained by focusing only on the
group of firms that had decreases in market-adjusted total shareholder return
in any particular year and dividing them into quartiles in order to see how
each quartile actually dealt with the increases in the CEO’s stock option
slice of the pie during that year. Table 9 below examines the 2,558
instances where market-adjusted total shareholder return went down over the
11 year period and the CEO was awarded a bigger piece of the entire

employee stock option pie in that year.

Table 9. Corporations Where Market-Adjusted Total Shareholder Return Went Up and Boards Of
Directors Increased The CEOs Portion of the Total Employee Stock Option Pie, 1992-2002.

Market Adjusted TSR The CEQOs Share of The Total Employee
Went Up By This Amount Stock Option Pie Went Up By This Number
Of Percentage Points At The:

Mean Median
I  Worse than -61.8% 9.51% 4.95%
II More than but not including —61.8% to -31.89% 9.65% 5.13%
I More than but not including -31.89% to —-13.3% 9.43% 4.7%
IV More than but not including -13/3% to 0% 9.81% 4.9%
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Source: Analysis of the entire universe of Standard & Poors Execucomp by Douglas Kruse and Joseph
Blasi of Rutgers University. This includes all cases of favorable total shareholder return in the year, for
example, such as a change a ~9% total shareholder return to a ~8% total shareholder return. Note that there
were 3828 instances of decreased TSR, however in only 2,558 of these cases did the corporation use stock

options, or award stock options in that year.

Thus, many boards of directors over the 1992-2002 period used
marginal increases of the portion of the stock option pie awarded to the
CEO both as a short-term perk or reward for total shareholder return during
the current year and as a short-term nudge perhaps to increase total
shareholder return in the future. We understand the logic that executives

should make money on their previously granted stock options when

shareholders are making money. (Although, as we write this some
shareholder advocates and corporate leaders are calling to temper this view
by requiring minimum holding periods for stock options to encourage a
more long-term perspective.’) We have questions about the logic of
increasing the CEQ’s share of the future incentive pie relative to all other
employees when the company just because the company doing well in any
particular year. These questions arise because stock options grants are not

supposed to be used as a short-term perk or nudge. But when a board of

% For example, in a March 10, 2004 editorial page essay for The Wall Street Journal entitled “The
Competitive Option,” David Pottruck, the CEO of Charles Schwab & Company, said “a CEO should be
required to hold at least 50% of his or her options for a minimum of 10 years (and perhaps this percentage
should be even higher). This will reduce the CEO's motivation to manage earnings for short-term results
simply to garner immediate personal financial gain from a quick exercise of the options, It also ensures
CEO commitment to the company for the long-term.” He also proposed that “stock options for a
company's five most senior executives should not be exercisable for a minimum of three years. Upon
receipt of stock options, each of these executives must select one of three sell strategies: (a) wait the three
years and then sell in equal annual installments over the subsequent five years; (b) agree to sell the entire
grant in a predesignated program after a minimum hold of five years; or (c) hold exercised or unexercised
options until retirement or for a minimum of 10 years and then sell the underlying stock as they see fit.
These approaches, similar to deferred compensation, require an upfront election, again reducing the
motivation to manipulate the company’s financial performance for personal benefit.” He alse proposed that
the top five executives not receive more than 10% of the stock options in a company with more than 1000
employees.

28



240

directors increases the top five executives portion of the total employee
stock option pie when Total Shareholder Return went down, this clearly
does not make sense for investors.

Using the perspective of individual CEQs, it also explains several
findings from a previous examination of the entire percentage of the stock

option pie that went to the top five executives as a group by the co-authors

of this article that compared firms not to themselves over time but to other
firms. One finding of that previous examination was that a significant
number of firms gave unusually high percentages of the stock option pie to
the top five executives. Indeed, a quarter of firms gave above 41% of all
employee options to the top five executives in certain years and some gave
50, 60.70. 80, even 90, and even 100% while others had boards which
allowed them to repeat this behavior year after year. Another finding was
that when the average percent of options given to the top five executives as a
unit went up above a certain threshold -- the median of 29% - over the
entire period (1992-2001), this was associated with average total shareholder
return being lower over the period. (See Blasi, Kruse, and Bernstein,
2003:200-202. Reported in Morgenson 2002)

Both of these perspectives on the problem of executive compensation
underline that there may be some usefulness of looking at the problem from
the perspective of how the entire employee stock option pie is divided.
Nevertheless, these findings raise other important issues. Do boards of
directors really conceive of stock options as a long-term versus a short term
reward. A review of the Executive Compensation Philosophy section of
recent proxy filings to the SEC of the ten largest corporations in the country

produces a clear picture of the stated goals of stock options (see Table 10)
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Table 10. Executive Compensation Philosophies In Major Fortune 50
Companies Proxy Filings To The SEC.

Company #1. “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. COMPENSATION, NOMINATING AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. Compensation
Phitosophy: The Company’s executive compensation program is designed to: (1) provide fair compensation
to executives based on their performance and contributions to the Company; (2) provide incentives to
attract and retain key executives; and (3) instill a long-term commitment to the Company and develop pride
and a sense of Company ownership, all in a manner consistent with shareholders’ interests... Equity
Compensation: Stock options generally are granted annually under s Stock Incentive Plan of 1998 to
link executives” compensation to the long-term financial success of the Company, as measured by stock
performance.” Proxy of April 15,2003,

Company #2. “REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE.... Stock Options --
Stock options were also granted under the provisions of the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. All executives are
eligible to be considered for stock option grants. Options are granted to emphasize the importance of
improving stock price performance and increasing stockholder value over the long-term and to encourage
executives to own ___ Stock.... Options are granted based on competitive long-term incentive
compensation practices. The size of these grants and other long-term awards is intended to

place executives in the third quartile of long-term incentives granted at comparator companies. In
determining the size of new grants to each Named Executive Officer, we consider the number of option
shares each executive has previously been granted. Options are denominated in Common Stock. An
additional option grant was made in February 2002 to executives in recognition of performance during
2001 in the areas of market share, quality, mamufacturing productivity, and new products, and to motivate
the leadership team to maintain the positive momentum going forward.” Proxy of April 14, 2003.

Company #3. “COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT. Long Term Incentives. The nature of the
business requires long-term, capital-intensive investments. These investments often take
years to generate a return to shareholders. Accordingly, we grant incentive awards with a view toward
long-term corporate performance. These awards may not fluctuate as much as year-to-year financial results.
Long term incentive awards are intended to develop and retain strong management through share
ownership and incentive awards that recognize future performance. Historically, has used stock
options as its primary long term incentive award. In 2002, restricted stock was used in place of stock
options. The Committee concluded that, at this time, in this industry, and in this Company, restricted stock
is more effective in aligning executives' interests with those of shareholders and in achieving the objective
of retention... For senior executives, the restrictions on 50 percent of the shares are lifted in
five years, and the remaining 50 percent are lifted after 10 years or retirement. whichever is later. See page
18 for more information on restricted stock. The number of restricted shares granted to executive officers is
based on individual performance and level of responsibility. For this purpose, the Committee measures
performance the same way as described above for short term awards. Restricted stock grants must be
sufficient in size to provide a strong incentive for executives to work for long-term business interests and
become significant owners of the business. The number of shares held by an executive is not a factor in
determining subsequent grants.” Proxy of April 17, 2003.

Company #4. “Executive Compensation Philosophy. Our key compensation goals are to hire, motivate,
reward and retain executives who create long-term investor value. We use a variety of compensation
elements to achieve these goals, including: “stock options and stock appreciation rights: we award these to
provide incentives for superior long-term performance and to retain top executives because the awards are
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forfeited if the executive leaves before they become fully exercisable five years after grant;” Proxy of
March 2, 2004

These excerpts have language similar to that in many proxy
statements. They almost uniformly point to a clear philosophy of executive
compensation that stock option awards are for future long-term performance.
Other portions of the executive compensation philosophy of all the
companies make clear that current year bonuses and multi-year cash and
stock incentive plans are used to reward short-term behavior. This does not
appear to be consistent with increasing the CEQ’s portion of all employee
stock options in a year when total shareholder return goes up in that year. In
most of the executive compensation philosophies that we examined was
there any statement that the CEQO’s portion of all employee stock options
would go up according to a philosophy that said that such an increase would
be used to drive future performance in a year when total shareholder return
was sub-par.

However, the issue of boards of directors decisions to increase the
percent of the total employee stock option pie in a previous year was meant
to drive total shareholder return over the long-term can be tested directly.
Now, we will examine this issue of long-term performance more directly by
looking at the impact of increasing the CEOs portion of the total employee
stock option pie on future 1, 3, and 5 year total shareholder return. Perhaps,
one can make a case at the board level that a marginal increase in stock
options in a certain circumstance will drive better TSR. Now, we’ll examine

the results.
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Do marginal percent increases of the entire employee stock option pie that
boards of directors allotted to CEOs or the top five executives during any

year predict total shareholder return in the next 1, 3, and 5 years?

In this case, the independent (predictor) variable is the percent of all
employee stock options in a particular year awarded to the CEQ or the top
five executives and the dependent (predicted) variable is total shareholder
return. The results are that each one percent increase in the annual percent
of the total option pie that went to the CEO in the current year predicts no
increase in TSR the next year, no increase in cumulative TSR over the next 3
years and no increase in cumulative TSR over the next 5 years.

In performing this regression in the case of the top five executives as
individuals, we took the average of the percent of options given to each of
the top five, so if CEO got 5% and next four top executives received 3%,
3%, 2%, and 2%, then the total percent of all employee stock options to the
top five in that year would be 15% and the average per executive would be
15%/5 or 3%. The results are that each one percent increase in the average
annual percent of the total option pie that went to each of the top five
executives as individuals in the current year predicts a 0.05% increase in
total shareholder return the next year. While there is a positive relationship
to total shareholder return in the next year, there is no relationship to average
total shareholder return over the next three or five years.

Thus, there is no meaningful evidence that increasing the marginal
share of the stock option pie to either the CEO or top five executives
systernatically drove higher total shareholder retum in the year after the
grant, or drove average total shareholder return over the next three years or

the next five years. Put differently, for top executives ramping up the
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proportion of stock options given to them relative to other employees within
companies has been used more as a perk for current year total shareholder
return than as a driver of future total shareholder return. The problem with
this finding is that stock options for executives were supposed to hold out an
incentive for future improvement in total shareholder return according to
both the theory and to explicit statements by major corporations in their
Securities and Exchange Commission filings.

This evidence does not test nor disprove that stock option grants play
a role in aligning top executives with total shareholder value. What it
questions and disproves however is whether increasing the pie going to
them proportionally over the period made much sense and affected future
total shareholder return performance. Stock options can still be a good
incentive to align executive wealth opportunity with shareholder
performance and it is good that executives make money when shareholders
make money. The optimal executive compensation package is not an issue

that this research addresses directly.

Total Shareholder Return and The Percent Increase In Total
Compensation Of The CEO or the Top Five (Using The Value Of
Stock Options Granted)

One question raised by these findings is the limitations of examining
the portion of the entire employee stock option pie when Execucomp makes
available information about the Black-Scholes value of actual stock option
grants in any year. As Tables 1-4 above indicate, stock options make up
most of executive compensation. Using the same methodology, the

following analysis looks at whether marginal increases over the 1992-2002
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period of total compensation from all sources for the CEO or the top five
predicts total shareholder return in 1 year into the future or the average over
the next 3 or 5 years. This total compensation measure includes the total
value of stock options granted at Black-Scholes value plus salary, bonus/ltip,
restricted stock value granted, other annual and all other as reported to the
SEC.5 The advantage of this variable is that we are looking at everything a
board gave a top executive in a particular year. In this case we’re examining
the consequences of thousands of boards of directors actions over the last
eleven years.

The result is that there is no evidence that marginal increases in the
total compensation percent (with value of options granted) for the CEO or
the top five systematically drove higher cumulative total shareholder return
in the next year, or average total shareholder return over the next three years
or the next five years. It just was not a significant driver of future total
shareholder return.”

Specifically, our findings are that a one percent increase in the percent
of total compensation (including Black-Scholes value of GRANTS) that
went to the CEO in the current year predicts a -0.17% decrease in TSR in
the next year, a -0.0067% decrease in average TSR over the next 3 years
and a —0.0019% decrease in average TSR over the next 5 years (this is not
statistically significant). A one percent increase in the percent of total
compensation (including Black-Scholes value of GRANTS) that went to
each of the top five executives in the current year predicts a -0.022%
decrease in TSR over the next year, a —0.012% decrease in average TSR

over the next 3 years, and an insignificant effect on average TSR over the

® The variable is called TDC1 in Execucomp and its annual increases is called TDC1 Percent Change.
7 Regressions are available from the authors.
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next five years. The negative relationship may reflect some regression to the
mean in which TSR falls after an especially good year. However, what we
think is most important in these findings is that we see no statistically
significant evidence of positive increases in prospective TSR.

Remember, in the previous regressions, that we are focusing on the
prospective impact of marginal increases. This does not mean that stock
options did not align the fortunes of the executive with the fortunes of the
firm looking back. Now we look at how current year performance affected
rewards, in this case for the CEO alone.

For the entire universe of companies and years, we examined whether
increases in the total shareholder return in any year predicted the percent
change in total compensation in that year. There is a strong positive
relationship that is highly statistically significant. When total sharecholder
return in a year goes up 1%, the total compensation percent (including value
of options granted) goes up 0.284%.% Our interpretation of this finding is
that it confirms once again that when companies do well, executives do well,
in this case in terms of their total compensation as defined.

As noted, this does not mean that it is not important to compensate
executives handsomely for excellent past corporate performance or to give
them handsome incentives for the future. It does suggest that the LEVELS
OF THE PERCENT INCREASES that took place did not necessarily drive

future performance when looking into the past over this period.

# Note that the top and bottom 1% of values of TDC1 Percent Change were trimmed because of extreme
values.
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Total Shareholder Return and The Percent Increase In Total
Compensation Of The CEO and the Top Five (Using The Value Of
Stock Options Profits)

Another question raised by these findings whether the ultimate result
of stock options granted to the CEO and the top five, namely, stock option
profits, drove future total shareholder return. As Tables 1-4 above indicate,
stock option profits make up most of executive compensation and they have
also grown enormously. Using the same methodology, the following
analysis looks at whether marginal increases over the 1992-2002 period of
total compensation (now including stock option profits rather than grants)
from all sources predicts total shareholder return in 1 year into the future or
the average over the next 3 or 5 years. This alternative measure of total
compensation measure includes the net value of stock options exercised (that
is, the option profits net of the exercise price in the proxy) plus salary,
bonus/ltip, restricted stock value granted, other annual and all other as
reported to the SEC.” The advantage of this variable is that we are looking
at everything that a CEO or the top five actually made from all sources as a
result of previous boards of directors actions. In this case we’re examining
the consequences of thousands of boards of directors actions over the last
eleven years.

The result is that there is no evidence that marginal increases in the
total compensation percent (with value of options profits) systematically

drove higher cumulative total shareholder return in the next year, or average

° The variable is called TDC2 in Execucomp and its annual increases is called TDC2 Percent Change.
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total shareholder return over the next three years or the next five years. It
just was not a significant driver of future total shareholder return."
Specifically, the results showed that, on average, a one percent
increase in the percent of total compensation (with stock option profits as the
typical major component) that went to the CEO in the current year predicts
a -0.019% decrease in TSR in the next year, a -0.01% decrease in
cumulative TSR over the next 3 years and a —0.009% decrease in
cumulative TSR over the next 5 years (this one not statistically significant).
On average, a one percent increase in the percent of total
compensation (including stock option profits as a major component) that
went to each of the top five executives in the current year predicts small
negative decreases in TSR in the next year, the next 3 and § years or
0.059%, 0.028%, and 0.013%. The negative relationship may reflect some
regression to the mean in which TSR falls after an especially good year.
However, what we think is most important in these findings is that we see no
statistically significant evidence of positive increases in prospective TSR.
Again, remember that with this previous analysis that we are focusing
only on the prospective impact of marginal increases. This does not mean
that stock options did not align the fortunes of the executive with the
fortunes of the firm looking back. The next regression looks at the impact of
current year TSR performance on current year total compensation percent
(including the value of stock option profits) for the CEO only. For the entire
universe of companies and years, we examined whether increases in the total
shareholder return in any year predicted the percent change in total
compensation in that year when option profits are added in. There is a

strong positive relationship that is highly statistically significant. When total

1 Regressions are available from the authors.
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shareholder return in a year goes up 1%, the total compensation percent
(including value of options profits) goes up 0.526%.'" Our interpretation of
this finding is that it confirms once again that when companies do well,
executives do well, in this case in terms of their total compensation as
defined, of which the major component is stock option profits.

As noted, this does not mean that it is not important to compensate
executives for excellent past corporate performance or to give them
significant incentives for the future. It does suggest that the LEVELS OF
THE PERCENT INCREASES that took place did not necessarily drive
future performance. Again, this particular research does not offer guidance

on the optimal executive compensation package.

Total Shareholder Return and The Percent Increase In The Black-
Scholes Value of Stock Options Granted To The CEO and the Top Five

One further question to explore is the impact of marginal increases in
the Black-Scholes value of stock options granted to the CEO or the top five
executives on prospective total shareholder return (TSR) in the next year,
and the average of the next 3 and the next 5 years. This is an important
refinement of the previous analyses for several reasons. One is that it
regularizes the dollar value of all the company’s options using a common
technique (about which there has been some level of disagreement as a
valuation technique for employee options). Another is that the measure
actually looks at dollar values. Two executives may have had a 100%

increase in total direct compensation (including the value of options granted)

' Note that the top and bottom 1% of values of TDC2 Percent Change were trimmed because of extreme
values.
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but for one the option granted part of this may have been worth $1. Million,
while for the other, it may have been worth $100,000. So, the reason why
this is salient is that a percent increase in the value of options granted as part
of Total Compensation in one of the ten largest Fortune 500 companies may
represent a very different kind of incentive than a percent increase in the
value of options granted in a one of ten smallest Fortune 500 companies.
This measure looks at each executive in the sample and analyzes the
relationship between increases in the same dollar values of annual option
grants and prospective shareholder return. To summarize, the results using
three different regression approaches indicates that marginal increases in the
Black-Scholes value of stock options offered this year do not predict current
year, next year, or average 3 and 5 year prospective increases in total
shareholder return. In fact, they predict small negative decreases in most of
the specifications in most of the periods.

The first approach is a fixed effects regression with an AR1
correction that looks at the CEO and top executives within their own
company. This allows us to address the problem that there may be that there
are some executives in companies with high total shareholder return and
some executives in companies with low total shareholder return. The results
are that for CEOs in the entire universe of Execucomp, a $1,000. increase in
the Black-Scholes value of options granted in the current year predicts a —
0.0009 decrease in TSR in the current year (although this is not statistically
significant), a —0.00036 decrease in TSR over the next year, a —0.00022
decrease in average TSR over the next three years, and a —0.00012 decrease
in average TSR over the next five years, all of which are highly statistically

significant.
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For the top five executives, in the entire universe of Execucomp, a
$1,000. increase in the Black-Scholes value of options granted in the
current year predicts a —0.0009 decrease in TSR in the current year, a -
0.00032 decrease in TSR over the next year, a—0.00015 decrease in average
TSR over the next three years, and a —0.0008 decrease in average TSR over
the next five years, all of which are highly statistically significant.

In a second approach, we also tested this relationship across the entire
economy using the entire universe of Execucomp by comparing all
companies to each other. This approach uses a no fixed effects OLS
regression. The results are that for CEOs in the entire universe of
Execucomp, a $1,000. increase in the Black-Scholes value of options
granted in the current year predicts a +0.0006 increase in TSR in the current
year (although this is not statistically significant), a ~0.00017 decrease in
TSR over the next year that is highly statistically significant, 2 —0.00011
decrease in average TSR over the next three years (statistically significant at
the 0.01 level), and a —0.0005 decrease in average TSR over the next five
years that is highly statistically significant.

For the top five executives, in the entire universe of Execucomp, a
$1,000. increase in the Black-Scholes value of options granted in the
current year predicts a +0.0004 decrease in TSR in the current year (that is
statistically insignificant) , a —0.00014 decrease in TSR over the next year
that is highly statistically significant , a —-0.0009 decrease in average TSR
over the next three years that is highly statistically significant, and a
+0.00001 increase in average TSR over the next five years that is
statistically insignificant.

In a third approach, we also tested this relationship across the entire

economy using the entire universe of Execucomp by comparing all
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companies to each other with a methodology that adjusted for outliers.
Perhaps, it is possible that a few companies with high values were driving
these results. This approach uses a median regression in the statistical
program STATA to correct for this concern. This specification also controls
for any general market movements. '

The results are that for CEOs in the entire universe of Execucomp, a
$1,000. increase in the Black-Scholes value of options granted in the current
year predicts a +0.0007 increase in TSR in the current year that is
statistically significant at the 0.05 level), a —0.00022 decrease in TSR over
the next year that is highly statistically significant, a —0.00017 decrease in
average TSR over the next three years that is highly statistically significant,
and a —0.00001 decrease in average TSR over the next five years that is not
statistically significant.

For the top five executives, in the entire universe of Execucomp, a
$1,000. increase in the Black-Scholes value of options granted in the
current year predicts a +0.0003 decrease in TSR in the current year (that is
statistically insignificant) , a —0.00017 decrease in TSR over the next year
that is highly statistically significant , a -0.00010 decrease in average TSR
over the next three years that is highly statistically significant, and a 0.0000
increase in average TSR over the next five years that is statistically

insignificant.

Executive Profit Sharing and Total Sharcholder Return

12 This is done using year dummies that are not shown in the regression table.
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Another key way that companies align executives with capitalism is
through profit sharing. This next section examines whether executive profit
sharing serves as a reward for previous total shareholder return and whether
it drives future total shareholder return. Executive profit sharing is fairly
widespread among public corporations. As Table 2 indicates, Profit Sharing
as a Percent of Salary for the top five executives averaged 78% over the
1992-2002 period (the median was 61%). When the value of Long-term
Incentive Plan payments is included , Profit Sharing as a Percent of Salary
for the top five executives averaged 93.9% over the 1992-2002 period (the
median was 67.1%). Appendix III provides detailed information on
executive profit sharing in the corporate economy.

The first analysis examined whether past total shareholder return in
the last 1, 3, or 5 years predicted profit sharing as a percent of salary. The
results are very positive and highly statistically significant. Indeed,
executive profit sharing does seem to be working as planned. When
shareholders have had past total shareholder return, boards of director
frameworks have in general assured that executives get high profit sharing
rates as a percent of their salary in the current year.

The average Bonus as a Percent of Salary over the period ranged from
80-110% of base salary per year over the entire 11 years. It crept up over the
1992-2002 period and was in fact highest after the stock market bust, 110%
in 2000 and it did not go down a lot the year after the crash in 2001. Now
going to total executive profit sharing, that is, cash Bonus + Long Term
Incentive Plan payouts (some of which is paid in stock) as a percent of base
salary, the average ranged from 64% to 84% over the entire 11 years
including all executives. (This means not just figuring the average with only

those executives who received profit sharing) and spiked at 87% in 2000
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and did not go down markedly in 2001 at 74%. The median ranged from
51% to 69%. If one just examines the executives who received such profit
sharing, the average ranged from 80-104% over the 11 years and it also
spiked in 2000 at 100% but only went down to 87% in 2001. The median
was at 57%-77% and it was also unusually high in 2000 at 70% and only
went down the second year of the crash to 61%. (Appendix III)

Next we look at any impact of any current year executive profit
sharing on the future total shareholder return. We examine whether
marginal increases in executive profit sharing drove future 1, or average 3
and average 5 year total shareholder returns. For CEOs, on average, when
Bonus as a percent of base salary went from 0-100% in the current year total
shareholder return in the next year went down —7.3%, average TSR in the
next 3 years went down 7.4%, and a verage TSR in the next 5 years went
down -3.5%. For CEOs, on average, when Bonus+LTIP as a percent of
base salary went from 0-100% in the current year total shareholder return in
the next year went down —5.6%, average TSR in the next 3 years, went
down -4.3% , and average TSR in the next 5 years it went down -3.5%.

For top five executives as individuals, on average, when Bonusasa
percent of base salary went from 0-100% in the current year total
shareholder return in the next year went down —10.8%,average TSR in the
next 3 years went down -11%, and average TSR in the next S years went
down -5.3%. On average, when Bonus+LTIP as a percent of base salary
went from 0-100% in the current year total shareholder return in the next
year went down —4.1%, average TSR in the next 3 years went down —3.9% ,
and average TSR in the next 5 years it went down —2.9%.

These predictions about the relationship between current year profit

sharing and future total shareholder return do not surprise us. They
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underline the short-term nature of profit sharing which has traditionally had
a strong look-back feature for executives. They also underline the
importance of finding a forward-looking incentive that drives total

shareholder return into the future.

Conclusion

Our interpretation of these findings is that they do not question the
prudence of using stock options to resolve the principal-agent problem, but
rather they question the ways in which boards of directors have made
decisions about marginal increases in the stock option pie to top executives
over this period. They raise principally questions of corporate governance.
Taken together with the evidence of how executive stock option grants and
profits have rapidly increased over this period and the evidence on how
many boards of directors use increases in the stock option pie as a short-
term perk under various scenarios, this further evidence on the zero impact
that these marginal increases in the pie have on future total shareholder
performance, lend credence to the argument that the corporate governance
implications of executive compensation merit further examination. As
noted, these findings provide a comprehensive examination of thousands of
boards of directors decisions regarding executive compensation over the last
11 years and their effect on investors and shareholders. It is also possible
that these results suggest a “leap-frog” phenomenon whereby executive
compensation was bid up over the period without a clear justification for
some of the marginal percentage increases.

One interpretation of these results is to blame top executives or to say

that they should not have significant pay. However, we do not agree with
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this interpretation. First, executives play an important leadership role in the
American economy and they do deserve to get pay increases if shareholders
gain. Second, realistically, it is not clear that every board of directors
understood the prospective impact of its decisions made in the past on total
shareholder return into the future. Third, like any employee a top executive
wants to be paid as much as they can for their job especially if they believe
that there is evidence that they have done their job well or that their effort is
at a high performance level. That is natural. It is not the institutional role of
top executives to police their own behavior. That role falls to the boards of
directors.

Boards of directors and those who design and regulate and monitor
the country’s corporate governance system need to take these results to
heart. With this historical perspective, more care and objective analysis
needs to go into the consideration of executive compensation going forward.
These results have some powerful implications for corporate governance
because they raise serious questions about the quality of many boards of
directors decisions over this entire period.

What makes boards make marginal reward decisions for top
executives that are not clearly tied to improving future total shareholder
value? We think that the answer is a lack of independence and objectivity.
They strongly suggest that many of the weak governance features of
corporate boards over this period which could undermine independence and
objectivity could certainly have played a role in this dysfunctional process.
As such, the findings lend powerful support for the efforts of Secretary
Donaldson of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission to allow more

involvement of shareholders in board of director nominations.
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One important point raised by these results is what should guide when
CEOQs and top executives should get marginal increases in their share of the
stock option pie. It is a fair question but one for which these data and results
do not have a detailed answer. As noted, the research does not offer a
specific design for an optimal executive compensation package. Our general
response is that the system of the last decade where boards often just laddled
out more stock option grants to executives in the short-term when the
company did well that year (presumably using one theory) or when the
company did poorly that year (presumably using another theory) was not a
good system. Also, the frameworks put in place allowed marginal increases
in option grants and option profits that drove increases in total
compensation, but apparently did not drive total shareholder return in many
companies. Furthermore, the notion — as expressed in so many executive
compensation sections of proxy filings — that a study of what other
corporations have done -- as supplied by a compensation consultant --
somehow justifies what the board decides, is not acceptable in retrospect.
More than a few observers have guessed whether many of these studies had
a role in driving the leap frog phenomenon. We have not directly measured
or studied the “leap-frog” phenomenon, but this study sheds some light on
discussions about its possible existence.

The results also suggest that the oft-repeated notion that “there is a
tight labor market for good executives” and their pay is what the market will
bear, is an insufficient explanation. Why, for example, does the market bear
marginal increases in the pay package that produce no marginal better results
for shareholders? Again, our response is that this is a broken and imperfect
market because the corporate governance mechanism that decides on the pay

is not sufficiently independent and objective. In many cases, corporate
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governors at the top might were more oriented to using the corporate
machinery to reward executives for short-term behavior rather than more
carefully and judiciously aligning them with shareholders to drive future
behavior. But the key piece of evidence is how any current year marginal
endowments in executive compensation apparently made no significant
difference for investors in the future. How boards of directors address this
situation in the future is a major problem that they face. The evidence
clearly suggests that maybe some of the largesse of increases in executive
stock options -- as a percent of the total employee pie and in terms of the
value of grants and profits -- were of no avail over the last 11 years. This
fits with comparative studies that show that other Western and Asian
countries apparently get by with less executive rewards than we do. (See
Murphy and Conyon 2000).

It is important to digest the fact that the employee stock option pie is a
pie that is divided by the board each year between top executives and all
other employees. When top executives get marginal increases, other
employees get less of the pie. These results relate to something we have
been saying for some time: the research evidence indicates that on average
broad-based stock option plans, employee ownership plans, and profit
sharing plans are associated with future improvements in total shareholder
return. (For a review of this evidence see, Blasi, Kruse and Bemstein,
2003:153-204; Sesil, Kroumova, Kruse, and Blasi,. 2000; Blasi, Kruse,
Sesil, Kroumova, and Carberry, 2000; Sesil, Kroumova, Blasi, and Kruse.
2002; Ittner, Lambert and Larcker, 2001)." Why then have many boards of

3 The results in this paper do not reflect the performance of broad-based plans since the Execucomp data
do not report on the number of employees in any corporation who actually receive stock options in any year
apart from the top five. A company could give a large or a small share of all employee stock options to the
top five and then include just a small sliver of executives below them or up to the entire work force.
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directors consistently focused marginal increases in their reward programs
on the top of the corporation rather than on the rest of the corporation?

The answer we think is fourfold. First, that there has not been a solid
awareness of the value of broad employee ownership. A gradual evolution
of broad-based plans has been taking place in both technology and non-
technology sectors of the economy that has not attracted as much attention
as the headlines on executive pay. Some companies do take a different
approach to dividing the incentive pie. (Whether their executives get too
much or too little is a separate issue.)'* Second, the executive compensation
philosophy that the board adopts has been overly influenced by the self-
interest of the CEO and the top executives who have more than a small
amount of self-interest in persuading the board that “we are the group that
affects total shareholder return” not these other less significant people.
Using a national random sample of the entire US working population
Freeman, Kruse, and Blasi (2004) have demonstrated that grants of profit
sharing and broad-stock options does appear to change the behavior of mid-
level and lower level managers, supervisors, and employees to impact the
operations of the corporation. So this “we are the group” approach may
have to be revised. Third, boards are not prominently involved in the
strategic design of the company’s work with its human resources, its
reward systems and the corporate culture of the entire company. In effect,
the boards are too “big man” and “big woman” focused on the human,
intellectual, problem-solving, and social capital of the corporation. A recent

book by Becker, Huselid, and Ulrich (2001) suggests how boards can do a

' For the whole economy the diffusion of these plans were measured in a recent survey designed by the
authors with Richard Freeman of Harvard University at hitp://www.rci.rutgers.edu/~blasi For the computer
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comprehensive strategic human resource management audit of human
capital. These researchers found that the companies that significantly
revised their corporation with a high performance workplace culture had
better productivity and returns. Part of this story was a broader sharing of
results documented in their empirical research. Fourth, if the board were to
adopt a broad program of employee ownership and profit sharing, research
evidence strongly suggests that it requires an ongoing attention to
participatory management to make it work. Many top executives and many
boards have been uncertain or unwilling to raise these questions as important
strategic policy questions at that level of the company.

These findings combine with a contemporary development to create a
serious quandry for boards of directors. At the end of March 2003, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board called for the expensing of stock
options on the income statement of corporations. Announcements by
companies of changes in their stock option programs, surveys of their likely
future behavior, and evidence from recent Securities and Exchange
Commission findings have all confirmed that companies are and intend to
reduce the number of employees who participate in their stock option
programs and concentrate the percent of the entire employee stock option pie
more at the top of the corporation. A recent issue brief provides a
comprehensive surnmary and analysis of this evidence. (NCEO 2004). If as
a response to expensing companies increase the percent of the annual stock
option pie going to the CEO and the top five executives, the data in our
study strongly suggest that this will be the absolutely wrong response and

will work against rather than for corporate reform for investors and will in

technology sector we docurnented this in Blasi, Kruse, and Bernstein (2003) and for the biotechnolgoy
sector we documented this in Blasi and Kruse (2004), See www.nceo.org for more on this sector.
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fact not help total shareholder return. It would be ironic if, what is
considered one of the most far-reaching reforms of executive compensation
in decades, stock option expensing, were to have the opposite effect on
corporate reform than it intended.”” We have had serious reservations about
the expensing of stock options for this reason. (Blasi, Bernstein, and Kruse
chapter 10). We are floating the policy idea that would provide only
companies with truly broad-based stock option programs a tax deduction or
tax credit that would offset the stock option expense that FASB plans to
require.

We recognize that just because marginal increases of shared
capitalism for top executives may not lead to better investor returns, that it
does not necessarily follow that marginal increases of shared capitalism for
middle and lower level employees necessarily will in some automatic way.
However, at the same time that this has been happening, there is a growing
evidence that broad-based employee ownership and profit sharing can
mmprove long-term corporate performance when combined with the proper
corporate culture. Moreover, there is comprehensive evidence that the
opposite of concentrating the top five employee stock option pie at the top
does have implications for investor returns. As noted, corporations with
significantly higher than average shares of all employee stock options going

to the top five executives as a whole have had lower average total

15 The authors intend to empirically measure the impact of FASB’s decision on these questions
by studying changes in the total percent of all employee stock options granted to the top five executives
using two methods. First, we will use U.S. SEC filings to measure this proportion before the
announcement of the FASB decision (between fiscal year 2002 and fiscal year 2003) — in expectation of
the decision — and after the announcement of the FASB decision (between fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year
2004) after the Exposure Draft was announced. Second, we are also planning to collaborate with other
scholars on conducting a nationwide random sample of the entire U.S. workforce on who is receiving and
holding stock options, in 2006.

50



262

shareholder returns over the last decade (Blasi, Kruse, and Bernstein, 2003:
200-201; Morgenson 2001). The authors are collaborating with Professor
Richard Freeman of Harvard University and others on a multi-year study of
shared capitalism among different employee groups of corporations of
various sizes and industries. This is funded by the Russell Sage Foundation
and the Rockefeller Foundation at the National Bureau of Economic
Research.

So what are the preliminary implications of these findings for the
issue of shared capitalism in general? Our study suggests that boards of
directors may have been paying too much attention to improving employee
ownership and profit sharing for one group of its employees when it might
make sense to focus on the role of broader employee ownership and profit
sharing for a wider group of employees. Perhaps, broad employee
ownership and profit sharing — within prudent limits with a participatory
corporate culture that supports the incentive -- should be expanded and
excessive emphasis on top executive compensation should be moderated.

Most boards have designed a system of partnership capitalism for the
top while ignoring the importance of independently assessing the role that
broader use of profit sharing and employee ownership could play throughout
the entire corporation, Shared capitalism should not be a system that boards
of directors are willing to design only for the top executives sitting around
the table with them. Boards need to start spending a lot more time on
strategic human resource management. This means benchmarking their
company with how leading firms divide the entire incentive pie more
broadly and build a corporate culture to drive shareholder return. (for how to
do this, see Becker, Huselid, and Ulrich 2001). If they can not do this then

serious issues of independence start to arise.
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Too many boards of directors think that only the top executives make
a difference in the company's value, and the rest of the employees are just
static factors of production like machinery. Buta growing body of evidence
shows that regular employees can really make a difference, and it's a mistake

to exclude them from programs that reward good company performance.
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Appendix 1. The Actual Number Of Corporations For Which
Execucomp Data Was Available From 1992-2002.

Year For The CEO For The Top Five Executives
1992 425 1567
1993 1142 1676
1994 1534 1745
1995 1580 1847
1996 1616 1972
1997 1634 2030
1998 1693 2066
1999 1750 1943
2000 1735 1818
2001 1609 1692
2002 1569 1607

Total Potential Boards of Directors

Decisions Studied: 19,963

Source: Analysis of Execucomp by Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, 2002-
2004.

Appendix 1. Co-efficients and t-statistics For Regressions.

This Appendix is attached in an Excel file in the electronic edition of this

paper.
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Appendix Hil. Profit Sharing For Chief Executive Officers.

Only Those Who Including Those Who Including Those Who
Got Profit Sharing Got/Did Not Get It Got/Did Not Get It
Mean Bonus As A Mean Bonus As A Bonus + LTIP As
Percent OF Salary Percent of Salary A Percent of Salary
(Median) Mean (Median)

1992 81% 68%(62%) 89%(69%)

1993 80% 64%(51%) 79%{57%)

1994 85% 69%(56%) 80%{60%)

1995 90% 73%{(58%) 80%(60%)

1996 97% 79%(62%) 97%(70%)

1997  100% 84%(69%) 104%(77%)

1998 101% 80%(63%) 98%(72%)

1999  106% 84%(67%}) 101%(74%)

2000 111% 87%{66%) 100%(70%)

2001  103% 74%{55%) 87%(69%)

2002 110% 84%(62%) 99%(67%)

Source: Analysis of Execucomp entire universe by Douglas Kruse and Joseph Blasi, 2002-4

END
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This is the Appendix to Corporate Governance, Executive Compensation, and Strategic Human Resource Management Fro

Appendix i, Coefficients and t.

For Regr

Each figure represents a coefficient (with t-statistics in parentheses) from a separate regression, using the dependent varia

Dependent variable: Current year TSR TSR in following year
Type of regression: oLs Median Fixed effects ARt OLS Median  Fixed effects AR
0 @ @ 0 ) ®
Independent variables
% Option Pie
CEC 0.092 0.002 0.212 -0.030 -0.034 0.029
3.18) (4.07) (5.38) (0.98) {1.18) {0.65)
TOP FiVE 0.017 0.023 0.104 -0.023 -0.016 0.050
(1.05) {1.66) (4.59) (1.33) (1.22) (2.08)
Option Profits as % of salary
CEO 1539 1.439 0.988 -0.202 -0.311 -1.180
{16.16) (17.25) (8.09) (1.99) (3.41) (8.69)
TOP FIVE 3.409 3.201 2.874 -0.751 -0.830 -3.627
{24.93) (26.96) (14.90) (5.22) (8.55) (17.60)
% change in Tot Comp1
CEOQ 0.080 0.056 0.048 0.003 -0.002 -0.017
{17.30) (16.68) (11.69) 0.77) (0.65) (3.83)
TOP FIVE 0.081 0.082 0.084 0.007 0.002 -0.022
(20.3%) (18.95) (15.16} (1.51) (0.63) (3.58)
% change in Tot Comp2
CEQ 0.054 0.052 0.043 -0.004 -0.006 -0.019
(22.56) {24.38) (15.27) (1.56) (2.81) (5.90)
TOP FIVE 0.137 0.128 0.128, -0.011 -0.018 -0.050
(38.76) (44.61) (29.82) (3.03) (5.34) (10.19)
Black Scholes value of SO grants
CEO -0.00008 0.00007 -0.00009 -0.00017 -0.00022 -0.000386
(1.51) (2.14) (1.87) (4.19) (8.51) (6.96)
TOP FIVE 0.00004 0.00003 -0.00009 -0.00014 -0.00017 -0.00032.
(1.83) (1.60) (3.08) {5.76) (8.95) {10.53)
Bonus/Salary
CEO 0,121 0.118 0.182 0.009 0.017 -0.073
(27.24) {30.70) (27.08) .77 (3.47) (8.68)
TOP FIVE 0.131 0.137 0.283, 0.540 0.025 -0.108
(24.02) (26.57) (28.43) (0.91) (5.32) (8.39)
(Bonus+LTiP)/Salary
CEO 0.077 0.075 0.119 0.004 0.014 -0.056
(22.30) (25.62) (21.84) (1.03) {3.69) 8.77)
TOP FIVE 0.060 0.078 0.101 0.001 0.014 -0.041
{16.39) (26.77) (17.09) (0.35) (4.47) (8.30)
% change in TCC
CEO 0.210 0.217 0.205 -0.002 -0.070 -0.028
(28.81) (34.01) (24.26) {0.28) (1.36) (2.85)
TOP FIVE 0.315 0.296 0.307 0.007 -0.017 -0.026
(30.32) (32.62) (26.01) (0.65) (1.67) (1.87)

Coefficients are expressed as the percentage point increase in TSR for a one percentage point increase in the independen
Coefficients on Black Scholes value are expressed as the percentage point increase in TSR for a $1000 increase in the Bla

The upper and lower 1% of exireme values of TSR were trimmed for the OLS and fixed effects regressions.

The upper and lower 1% of extreme values were trimmed for the following variables: option profits as % of salary, % chang
bonus/salary, (bonus+LTiP)/salary, and % change in TCC. The upper 1% of vaiues were frimmed for Black Scholes value
Total Comp1 includes value of option grants. Total Comp 2 includes value of option profits.
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om 1982-2002, A Portrait Of What Took Place.

ble at the top and contrelling for year effects,

Average TSR in next 3 years

Average TSR in next 5 years

oLs Median  Fixed effects AR oLs Median  Fixed effects AR1
ea) ®) 9 (19) an (12

-0.063 -0.031 -0.023 -0.094 -0.061 -0.009
(3.29) (1.59) (1.14) (5.22) (2.85) (0.61)
-0.056 -0.031 -0.004| -0.064 -0.044 -0.007
5.57) 311 (0.34) (7.19) (5.15) 0.93)
-0.238 -0.225 -0.620 -0.059 -0.143 -0.300
(3.63) (3.68) 9.59) (0.89) (2.08) (5.59)
-0.457 -0.473 -1.884 -0.032 -0.232 -1.148
4.81) (5.18) (17.31) (0.34) (2.36) (12,29
-0.017 -0.003 -0.004 0.003 0.003 -0.002
(3.83) (1.34) (171 (1.41) (1.10) (1.36)
-0.008 -0.011 -0.012 -0.001 -0.004 -0.003
2.73) (3.51) (4.73) 0.23) 1.49) (1.48)
-0.005 -0.004 -0.010 0.001 -0.001 -0.001
(2.99) 2.67) (7.52) (0.58) (0.69) (0.86)
-0.011 -0.014 -0.028 -0.002 -0.004 -0.013
(4.34) (5.37) (12.93) (0.89) (1.33) (7.14)
-0.00011 -0.00017 -0.00022 0.00005 -0.00001 -0.00012
(2.63) (4.66) (5.45) (1.03) (0.08) (3.66)
-0.00008 -0.0001 -0.00015 0.00001 [+] -0.00008
4.52) (5.59) (6.84) (0.20) ©.14) (3.98)
0.014 0.013 -0.074 0.019 0.010 -0.035
(4.39) (4.54) (16.00) (6.28) {3.23) (9.28)
0.013 0.018 -0.110 0.023 0.017 -0.053
(3.64) (5.36) (17.82) (6.78) (5.11) (10.61)
0.010 0.009 -0.043 0.012 0.008 -0.020
(4.12) (4.07) (13.08) (5.47) (4.16) (8.22)
0.008 0.010 -0.039 0.015 0.013 -0.029
(3.50) (4.76) (11.57) (6.48) (5.22) 9.62)
-0.021 -0.023 -0.049 0.001 -0.004 -0.015
(3.92) (3.98) (10.32) 0.12) (0.64) 4.30)
-0.018 -0.023 -0.062: 0.007 -0.002 -0.018
(2.42) {3.043 (9.86) {0.92) ©.21) {3.13)

t variable, except for coefficients on Black Scholes value.

ack Scholes value of a stock option grant.

ge in Total comp1, % change in Total comp2,
e of option grants.
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ROBERT H. HERZ
CHAIRMAN
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD
RESPONSES TO
POST-HEARING QUESTIONS
SUBMITTED BY SENATOR JOSEPH L. LIEBERMAN

Oversight Hearing on Expensing Stock Options: Supporting and Strengthening the
Independence of the Financial Accounting Standards Board

April 20, 2004

U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
Subcommiittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security

1. As you know, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has delegated
to FASB the authority to set accounting standards. If someone wishes to challenge
FASB’s adeption of a final standard, what are the procedures for doing so? Can
FASB standards — or the SEC acquiescence in them — be challenged in federal
court? If so, on how many occasions have actions been brought in federal court
challenging FASB standards? Please describe the outcome of each case.

We are not lawyers or legal experts, and fully and accurately responding to the question
involves a legal analysis of the federal securities laws and the procedures of the United
States (“US”) Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission™). It is our
understanding, however, that public enterprises affected by Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB” or “Board”) standards may obtain review of them through
several available SEC procedures, which may then result in a right to judicial review.

We are unaware of any party pursuing any of the available SEC procedures to challenge
an FASB standard and then seeking judicial review of the Commission’s actions.

2. Under the Securities Act of 1933, the SEC retains the ultimate authority te
set accounting standards and therefore can overrule or modify FASB standards.
Since FASB’s creation in 1973, in how many cases has the SEC overturned or
modified a FASB-adopted accounting standard? Please describe each circumstance
in which the SEC has done so.

As indicated in my testimony, for 30 years the SEC has looked to the FASB for
leadership in establishing and improving financial accounting and reporting standards.
As a result of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (*Act™), in April 2003, the SEC issued a
Policy Statement reaffirming this longstanding relationship. The Policy Statement,
consistent with the language and intent of the Act, reemphasizes the importance of the
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FASB’s independence to develop unbiased and credible standards of financial accounting
and reporting for the benefit of the business and investment communities.

The Commission’s willingness to look to the FASB for accounting standard setting and
to support the FASB’s independence always has been with the understanding that the
Commission may exercise its authority to modify, supplement, or otherwise amend
private-sector accounting standards. For example, the Commission maintains separate
accounting rules relating to oil and gas accounting. It also requires various financial
statement headings, footnote disclosures, and supplemental schedules and information
not required by FASB standards. In addition, the Commission staff has on occasion
provided interpretative advice on the application of FASB standards to specific facts and
circumstances.

With respect to oil and gas accounting noted above, in 1977, the Board issued FASB
Statement No. 19, Financial Accounting and Reporting by Oil and Gas Producing
Companies (“Statement 19”), which required oil- and gas-producing companies to use the
successful efforts method of accounting. Before Statement 19 became effective, the SEC
issued ASR No. 253, Adoption of Requirements for Financial Accounting and Reporting
Practices for Oil and Gas Producing Activities (“ASR 253), which permits the use of
either the successful efforts method or the full cost method of accounting for public
enterprises. The SEC took that action because it believed that neither the full cost
method nor the successful efforts method provided sufficient information on the financial
results of oil and gas companies. In response to the SEC’s actions, the Board issued
FASB Statement No. 25, Suspension of Certain Accounting Requirements for Oil and
Gas Producing Companies (“Statement 257). Statement 25 suspended the effective date
of Statement 19’s requirement to use the successful efforts method of accounting
because, as a result of ASR 253, the requirement would have been imposed only on
enterprises not subject to SEC reporting requirements and, therefore, the Board believed
that the requirements of Statement 19 would not achieve comparability.

3. Is the “intrinsic value” method you mentioned in your testimony that is
available to private companies the same “variable accounting” method that was
used under APB 257 If not, please explain the differences.

As indicated in my testimony, the FASB’s Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, Share-Based Payment (“Proposal”), contained several decisions intended to
mitigate the incremental costs nonpublic enterprises would incur in complying with the
provisions of the Proposal. Those decisions included permitting most nonpublic
enterprises (and other enterprises in limited circumstances) to measure equity-based
compensation cost using an “intrinsic value method,” rather than the fair-value-based
method that would generally be required for other enterprises. Under the Proposal’s
intrinsic value method, the compensation cost for each reporting period would be
measured based on the difference between any excess of the fair value of the enterprise’s
stock and the exercise price of the employee stock options granted. The final
measurement of compensation cost would occur when the options are exercised, lapse, or
are otherwise settled. The total amount of compensation expense reported under that
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method would generally be equivalent to the total amount of income tax deduction for
option grants presently reported by those enterprises.

The intrinsic value method described in the Proposal differs from the intrinsic value
method contained in APB Opinion No. 25, 4ccounting for Stock Issued to Employees
(“Opinion 25”). Unlike the Proposal, Opinion 25 permits under certain special
circumstances, compensation cost to be measured based on the difference between any
excess of the fair value of the enterprise’s stock and the exercise price of the employee
stock options granted at the date of grant without any further measurement of
compensation cost subsequent to that date. As a result, many enterprises have issued
employee stock options with the quoted market price of the stock at the date of grant
equal to the exercise price of the options and thereby avoided the reporting of any
compensation expense for those valuable economic transactions. If, however, the special
circumstances required by Opinion 25 are not met, the employee stock options are subject
to the same “variable accounting” as required by the Proposal’s intrinsic value method.

The Proposal’s Notice for Recipients contained two specific issues soliciting comments
on the intrinsic value method election. The Board received over 14,000 comments in
response to the Proposal including many comments addressing those issues.

Following the issuance of the Proposal, the Board solicited additional input about the
intrinsic value method election, including the costs of implementing and auditing that
method, at public and private meetings and in formal and informal discussions with many
valuation and compensation experts and with many users, auditors, and preparers of
public and nonpublic financial reports. Those meetings and discussions included:

e A public meeting of the FASB’s Small Business Advisory Committee

¢ Four public roundtables in which over 70 individuals participated

s Discussions with representatives of the FASB’s Option Valuation Group and
other valuation experts

» FASB staff interviews of users, auditors, and preparers of nonpublic financial
reports

* A meeting with representatives of the venture capital industry.

The Board’s public redeliberations of the Proposal include careful consideration of the
extensive amount of input received in response to the Proposal. Those public
redeliberations have resulted in many tentative improvements to the Proposal. Those
improvements are described on the FASB’s webpage at www.fasb.org.

The Board has yet to redeliberate at public meetings the Proposal’s intrinsic value
method election for nonpublic enterprises. Consistent with the FASB’s Rules of
Procedure, the input received on that issue will be carefully considered before the Board
makes any final decisions. The Board’s current plans are to complete its public
redeliberations and issue a final standard by year-end.
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4. Under the intrinsic value method set forth in the exposure draft, is the
estimated value of the option adjusted for each reporting period?

See response to question 3.

5. If yes, does that mean that the value of any given grant of employee stock
options could change every quarter or even more often if the company is required to
issue financial statements more often? Would private companies be required under
this method to estimate their stock price each time they are required to issue
financial statements, even though, by definition, their stock does not trade?

As indicated in response to question 3, if a nonpublic enterprise elected to measure the
cost of its employee stock options under the Proposal’s intrinsic value method, the
enterprise would be required to measure those options each reporting period that it issues
financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). Several factors are relevant in evaluating how often a nonpublic
enterprise would be required to estimate the value of its stock under the Proposal’s
intrinsic value method election. Those factors include:

o The vast majority of nonpublic enterprises do not issue employee stock options.

e Many nonpublic enterprises do not issue GAAP financial statements.

e Many nonpublic enterprises that issue GAAP financial statements only issue
those statements once a year.

o Existing GAAP requires that nonpublic enterprises estimate their stock price at
the date of each grant of employee stock options.

e Existing US tax law requires that nonpublic enterprises that issue nonqualified
employee stock options estimate their stock price at the date of each exercise of
those options in order to measure and report the income tax deduction available
for those options.

As indicated in response to question 3, the Board has yet to redeliberate at public
meetings the Proposal’s intrinsic value method election for nonpublic enterprises.
Consistent with the FASB’s Rules of Procedure, the input received on that issue will be
carefully considered before the Board makes any final decisions.

6. Have you done any analysis of the additional cost that would be incurred by
private companies of having to revalue their stock each time they are required to
issue financial statements? If so, please provide us with all of the data you have
gathered and any analysis you have completed.

Paragraph C70 of the Proposal states:

The Board understands that relatively few small,
nonpublic entities offer share options to their employees,
and many of those that do are emerging entities that intend
to make a future initial public offering, ... Even under
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Opinion 25’s grant-date intrinsic value method, an entity
had to determine the intrinsic value of share options
granted. If the entity granted options on a regular basis, it
had to measure intrinsic value at the date of each grant. In
addition, the variable accounting method required by
Opinion 25 for certain share options was the same as the
intrinsic  value method required by this Statement.
Moreover, the final measurement of compensation cost
under the intrinsic value method in this Statement is the
same as the measure of the related income tax deduction for
nonqualified options under current U.S. tax law. Thus, the
intrinsic value method in this Statement does not impose a
significant additional computation cost on a nonpublic
entity.

As indicated in response to question 3, the Proposal’s Notice for Recipients contained
two specific issues soliciting comments on the intrinsic value method election for
nonpublic enterprises. The Board received many comments addressing those issues.

Also as indicated in response to question 3, following the issuance of the Proposal, the
Board solicited additional input about the intrinsic value method election for nonpublic
enterprises, including the costs of implementing and auditing that method, at public and
private meetings and in formal and informal discussions with many valuation and
compensation experts and with many users, auditors, and preparers of public and
nonpublic financial reports.

Also as indicated in response to question 3, the Board has yet to redeliberate at public
meetings the Proposal’s intrinsic value method election for nonpublic enterprises.
Consistent with the FASB’s Rules of Procedure, the input received on that issue will be
carefully considered before the Board makes any final decisions.

Minutes to the FASB’s public Board meetings, minutes to the public meeting of the
FASB’s Small Business Advisory Committee, minutes of the public roundtables, public
meeting handouts, comment letters, the comment letter analysis summary, the cost-
benefit survey, and other information about the Board’s project to improve the
accounting for equity-based compensation, including various data, analysis, and other
materials about the Proposal’s intrinsic value method election for nonpublic enterprises,
are publicly available on the FASB’s webpage at www.fasb.org.

7. Have you done any analysis of the costs that auditors would charge to audit
the expense if the intrinsic value method is used? Is so, please provide us with all of
the data you have gathered and any analysis you have completed.

See response to question 6.



275

8. Please provide all memoranda, documents, and other written material
indicating whether or not FASB Board members or staff believe that private
companies would use the intrinsic value method set forth in the exposure draft.

Paragraph C74 of the Proposal describes the circumstances in which the Board believes
that nonpublic enterprises would likely elect the intrinsic value method:

The Board considered providing the same treatment
as in [International Financial Reporting Standard 2, Share-
based Payment (“IFRS 27)] IFRS 2 for share options
granted by a nonpublic entity, that is, to require fair value
unless it is not possible to reasonably estimate the fair value
of the options at the grant date. ... The Board notes that
the end result of this Statement’s requirements for
nonpublic entities and the related requirements of IFRS 2
may be the same. Nonpublic entities that are able to
develop a reasonable estimate of the fair value of their
share options will avoid the need to remeasure the options
at their current intrinsic value through exercise or other
settlement.  Nonpublic entities that cannot develop a
reasonable estimate of fair value will use the intrinsic value
method and remeasure their share options through the date
of exercise or other settlement.

As indicated in response to question 6, information about the Board’s project to improve
the accounting for equity-based compensation, including various data, analysis, and other
materials about the Proposal’s intrinsic value method election for nonpublic enterprises,
are publicly available on the FASB’s webpage at www.fasb.org.

9. You have indicated that you have been told that many companies believe that
they may be inclined to use the intrinsic value method or that they support the
method. Please list all supporters and opponents, of whom FASB is aware, of using
the intrinsic value method as propesed for private companies in the exposure draft.
Please provide us with any communications you have received from or sent to non-
FASB parties with respect to this issue.

As 1 stated in response to a question from the Honorable Senator Carl Levin at the
hearing, there has not been much support for the Proposal’s intrinsic value method
election for nonpublic enterprises from the preparers of financial reports. 1 added that
one reason for the lack of support was that many believe that the cost of employee stock
options should be determined on the grant date “because that is the date that the deal is
made. . ..” My assessment at the hearing of the views of preparers about the Proposal’s
election was later confirmed by many of the comment letters and other input the Board
received on this issue.
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As indicated in paragraph C72 of the Proposal, the intrinsic value method election for
nonpublic enterprises was not selected by the Board based on how many enterprises
would opt to make the election, but rather because the Board believed the election was
“responsive to comments . . . that it would not be feasible for some nonpublic entities to
estimate the fair value of their share options” and that the intrinsic value method election
was superior to other alternatives.

As indicated in response to question 3, the Board has yet to redeliberate at public
meetings the Proposal’s intrinsic value method election for nonpublic enterprises.
Consistent with the FASB’s Rules of Procedure, the input received on that issue will be
carefully considered before the Board makes any final decisions.

As indicated in response to question 6, information about the Board’s project to improve
the accounting for equity-based compensation, including data, analysis, and other
materials about the Proposal’s intrinsic value method election for nonpublic enterprises,
are publicly available on the FASB’s webpage at www.fasb.org.

10. Please explain FASB’s rationale for expensing employee stock options at
grant date, as opposed to vesting or exercise date?

In developing the Proposal, the Board concluded that grant date was the appropriate date
for measuring the transaction because that is the date that the employer and employee
come to a mutual understanding of the terms of the equity-based compensation award and
that is when the employee begins to render the service necessary to earn the award.
Measurement at that date appropriately bases the compensation cost stemming from the
award on the stock price at the date the parties agree to its terms.

The Proposal’s Notice for Recipients solicited comments on whether “grant date is the
relevant measurement date.” The Board received many comments addressing that issue.
Most preparers of financial reports supported grant date as the appropriate measurement
date for equity-based compensation as opposed to vesting or exercise date.

Following the issuance of the Proposal, the Board also solicited additional input on the
Proposal’s grant-date fair value measurement approach at public and private meetings
and in formal and informal discussions with many valuation and compensation experts
and with many users, auditors, and preparers of public and nonpublic financial reports.
After carefully considering the extensive input received in response to the Proposal, the
Board, at a public meeting, tentatively reaffirmed that the cost of employee services
received in exchange for equity instruments issued by public enterprises should be
measured based on the grant-date fair value of those instruments.

The Board’s grant-date fair value measurement approach is consistent with long-
established and generally accepted concepts and practices applied to other equity
instruments. Under those concepts and practices, changes in the price of an issuer’s stock
after the parties agree to the terms of a transaction in which the equity instrument or
award is issued generally do not affect the amount at which the transaction is recognized.
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As explained by the Congressional Budget Office in their April 2004 paper Accounting
for Employee Stock Options:

The use of employee stock options effectively
involves two types of transactions: the payment of
compensation in the form of employee stock options
(reflected on the income statement) and, when the options
are exercised, a financing transaction (reflected on the
balance sheet). That “hyrid” transaction requires
recognizing the value of the options when they are granted
as a cost on the income statement—but not any subsequent
gains and losses in that value. [page 8]

The Board’s grant-date fair value measurement approach also is generally consistent with
the decision adopted by the FASB in 1995 in connection with the preferable accounting
approach contained in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation (“Statement 123”). That approach has been applied by
thousands of enterprises in reporting equity-based compensation amounts in their audited
financial statement footnotes for eight years. Moreover, over 750 enterprises are
currently using that approach in reporting their equity-based compensation expense in
their audited and certified financial statements.

The Board’s grant-date fair value measurement approach also is generally consistent with
the approach adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) in 2004
in connection with IFRS 2. IFRS 2 will be adopted by companies in over 90 countries
beginning on January 1, 2005. Those enterprises will join enterprises in Canada, which
were required under the Canadian Accounting Standards Board’s (“AcSC™) Stock-Based
Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments, Section 3870 (“Section 3870"), to begin
expensing all equity-based compensation, generally consistent with the Board’s
approach, beginning in January of this year. We have been informed that there have been
no significant concerns raised about the implementation of Section 3870 by Canadian
enterprises, or by auditors or users of those enterprises’ financial reports.

11.  In FASB’s view, do employees provide services in exchange for stock options
at the time options are granted?

See response to question 10.

12.  If FASB believes that options that do not vest should not be expensed, why
has FASB not proposed expensing at vesting date as opposed to grant date?

In developing the Proposal, the Board concluded that compensation cost should be
recognized only for those equity-based instruments that vest. That decision is intended to
take into account the risk of forfeiture due to vesting conditions for purposes of
estimating the grant-date fair value of equity-based instruments. Thus, under the
Proposal, an enterprise is required to base its accruals of compensation cost on the
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number of instruments for which vesting is expected to occur and to adjust that estimate
if the actual number of instruments is expected to differ from previous estimates.

The Proposal’s Notice for Recipients solicited comments on whether “compensation cost
should be recognized only for those equity instruments that vest to take into account the
risk of forfeiture due to vesting conditions.” The Board received many comments
addressing that issue. Most preparers of financial reports supported grant date as the
appropriate measurement date for equity-based compensation as opposed to the vesting
date.

As indicated in response to question 10, following the issuance of the Proposal, the Board
also solicited additional input on the Proposal’s grant-date fair value measurement
approach at public and private meetings and in formal and informal discussions with
many valuation and compensation experts and with many users, auditors, and preparers
of public and nonpublic financial reports. After carefully considering the input received
in response to the Proposal, the Board, at a public meeting, tentatively reaffirmed that
compensation cost for an award of employee stock options or other equity instruments
should reflect the number of instraments that actually vest.

The Board’s grant-date fair value measurement approach is generally consistent with the
existing accounting for restricted stock, cash bonuses, and other forms of compensation
(other than fixed-plan eraployee stock options). That approach also is generally
consistent with the preferable approach adopted by the FASB in connection with
Statement 123. That approach has been applied by thousands of enterprises in reporting
equity-based compensation amounts in their audited financial statement footnotes for
eight years. Moreover, over 750 enterprises are using that approach in reporting their
equity-based compensation expense in their audited and certified financial statements.

The Proposal’s grant-date fair value measurement approach also is generally consistent
with the approach adopted by the IASB for accounting for equity-based compensation
that will be implemented by enterprises in over 90 countries beginning January 1, 2005.
It also is generally consistent with the approach for accounting for equity-based
compensation currently required and in use by enterprises in Canada.

13.  Assume that one company grants two different employees (Employees A and
B) stock options on January 1, 2004. The vesting date for all the options granted to
both employees is December 31, 2008. Please further assume that Employee A
leaves the company on December 29, 2008. Assume Employee B leaves the company
on January 3, 2009. Under the exposure draft, would the accounting treatment of
the options granted to Employees A and B be the same or different for each year? If
different, please explain how.

As explained in response to question 12, the Proposal requires a grant-date fair value
measurement approach in which compensation cost is recognized onty for those equity-
based instruments that vest. Thus, under the Proposal, an enterprise is required to base its
accruals of compensation cost on the number of instruments for which vesting is
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expected to occur and to adjust that estimate if the actual number of instruments is
expected to differ from previous estimates.

Under the Proposal’s requirements, the total compensation expense for Employee A and
Employee B would be different (the total compensation expense for Employee A would
be zero) because Employee A forfeited the award prior to the vesting date.

As indicated in response to question 12, the accounting result for Employees A and B is
generally consistent with the existing accounting for restricted stock, cash bonuses, and
other forms of compensation (other than fixed-plan employee stock options). It also is
generally consistent with the preferable accounting approach adopted by the FASB for
equity-based compensation in connection with Statement 123. That approach has been
applied by thousands of enterprises in reporting equity-based compensation amounts in
their audited financial statement footnotes for eight years. Moreover, over 750
enterprises are using that approach in reporting their equity-based compensation expense
in their audited and certified financial statements.

Also as indicated in response to question 12, the accounting result for Employees A and
B is generally consistent with the approach adopted by the IASB for accounting for
equity-based compensation that will be implemented by enterprises in over 90 countries
beginning January 1, 2005. It also is generally consistent with the approach for
accounting for equity-based compensation currently required and in use by enterprises in
Canada.

14.  Assume that a company granted 1,000,000 options on January 1, 2004, all
with a four year cliff vesting, and that the Black-Scholes value of those options is
estimated to be $100,000,000. Please further assume that 1,000,000 options never
vest because all of the employees who received them leave the company’s employ in
late December 2007.

15.  Does the exposure draft require companies to expense $25,000,000 in 2004,
2005, 2006, 2007?

As explained in response to question 12, the Proposal requires a grant-date fair value
measurement approach in which compensation cost is recognized only for those equity-
based instruments that vest. Thus, under the Proposal, an enterprise is required to base its
accruals of compensation cost on the number of instruments for which vesting is
expected to occur and to adjust that estimate if the actual number of instruments is
expected to differ from previous estimates.

Under the Proposal’s requirements, the total compensation cost for the company
described in the question would be $25,000,000 each year in years 2004 to 2006, In year
2007, the company would have an adjustment to compensation cost of $75,000,000
because all of the employees who received the options forfeited the award prior to the
vesting date. The hypothetical fact pattern described in the question, however, is unlikely
to occur in actual transactions because it assumes that the company expected 100 percent
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of the options to vest at the date of grant and at each reporting period thereafter until late
December 2007, and that 0 percent of the options actually vested.

As indicated in response to question 12, the accounting result for the company described
in the question is consistent with the existing accounting for restricted stock, cash
bonuses, and other forms of compensation (other than fixed-plan employee stock
options). It also is generally consistent with the preferable accounting approach adopted
by the FASB for equity-based compensation in connection with Statement 123. That
approach has been applied by thousands of enterprises in reporting equity-based
compensation amounts in their audited financial statement footnotes for eight years.
Moreover, over 750 enterprises are using that approach in reporting their equity-based
compensation expense in their audited and certified financial statements.

The accounting result for the company described in the question also is generally
consistent with the approach adopted by the IASB for accounting for equity-based
compensation that will be implemented by enterprises in over 90 countries beginning
January 1, 2005. It also is generally consistent with the approach for accounting for
equity-based compensation currently required and in use by enterprises in Canada.

16.  Onece it is determined that all the employees who received these options have
left, does the exposure draft require companies to add back in $100,000,000 in
earnings? Does the exposure draft effectively conclude that the $100,000,000 in
estimated Black-Scholes expense was, in fact, not an expense?

See response to questions 14 and 15.

17.  Have you done any analysis of the additional cost that would be incurred by
private companies of having to use the fair value method as proposed in the
Exposure Draft? Such costs would include, but not be limited to, software costs,
costs of experts to determine the various inputs used in the lattice model, increased
record-keeping costs, increased audit fees, increased internal staff hours, etc. and to
revalue their stock each time they are required to issue financial statements? If so,
please provide us with all of the data gathered and any analysis you have completed.
If you have not done so, please explain why.

As described in paragraphs C42, C46, and C47 of the Proposal:

Several procedures were conducted before the
issuance of the Exposure Draft to aid the Board in its
assessment of the expected costs associated with
implementing the required use of the fair-value-based
accounting method. Those procedures included a field visit
program, a survey of commercial software providers, and
discussions with Option Valuation Group members and
other valuation experts.

11
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Based on the findings of the cost-benefit
procedures, the Board concluded that this Statement will
sufficiently improve financial reporting to justify the costs
it will impose. .. ..

Several of the Board’s decisions are intended to
mitigate the incremental costs of complying with this
Statement. For example, a nonpublic entity is not required
to estimate the fair value of its share options; instead, such
an entity may elect to account for its share options and
similar instruments at intrinsic value, remeasured at each
reporting date until settlement. Also, transition costs have
been minimized by requiring that compensation cost for the
unvested portion of awards granted before the issuance of
this Statement be based on the grant-date fair values
previously estimated for recognition or pro forma
disclosure purposes under Statement 123.

As indicated in response to question 3, the Proposal’s Notice for Recipients contained
two specific issues soliciting comments on issues relating to nonpublic enterprises.
Following the issuance of the Proposal, the Board solicited additional input on issues
relating to nonpublic enterprises, including the costs of implementing the fair value
method, at public and private meetings and in formal and informal discussions with many
valuation and compensation experts and with many users, auditors, and preparers of
public and nonpublic financial reports.

Also as indicated in response to question 3, the Board has yet to redeliberate at public
meetings the Proposal’s applicability to nonpublic enterprises. Consistent with the
FASB’s Rules of Procedure, the input received on that issue will be carefully considered
before the Board makes any final decisions.

As indicated in response to question 6, information about the Board’s project to improve
the accounting for equity-based compensation, including various data, analysis, and other
materials about the potential costs for nonpublic enterprises in applying the Proposal’s
fair value method, are publicly available on the FASB’s webpage at www.fasb.org.

18.  FASB’s just released exposure draft urges companies to use a binomial, or
so-called “lattice” model to value employee stock options, althongh companies
would still be permitted to use the Black-Scholes method as well. It’s my
understanding that over the course of the last 9-10 years, nearly every public
company in the US has used the Black-Scholes model in its footnotes or, for the very
small number of companies who expensed, they, too, used Black-Scholes — is that
correct? Put another way, between the time FASB adopted the current standard on
stock options (FAS 123) and December 31, 2003, how many companies used a
binomial method?

12
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As indicated in response to question 10, the Proposal retains the same principle
established in Statement 123 that a public enterprise should measure the cost of employee
services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the fair value of
the instruments at the grant date. That principle encompasses several valuation
techniques, including a lattice model (an example of which is the binomial model) and a
closed-form model (an example of which is the Black-Scholes-Merton formula) with
appropriate adjustments to reflect the unique features of employee stock options. In
contrast to Statement 123, the Proposal indicated that a lattice model is preferable to a
closed-form model because it can, by design, better capture the effects of the unique
characteristics of employee stock options and similar instruments. The lattice model and
the closed-form model, however, are based on the same well-established financial
economic theory and with identical inputs will result in the same or substantially the
same valuation.

The lattice and the closed-form models are routinely used by valuation professionals,
dealers of derivative instruments, and others to estimate the fair values of options and
similar instruments related to equity securities, currencies, interest rates, and
commodities. Those models are also routinely used to establish fair market values for US
tax purposes, and to establish values in adjudications. Finally, those models are used
routinely by enterprises in estimating the fair value of financial instruments, including
derivatives, and convertible bonds, and reporting those amounts in their audited and
certified financial statements.

Although most enterprises have historically used a closed-form model in complying with
the requirements of Statement 123 over the last eight years, over a dozen enterprises have
used a lattice model. Hundreds of others have indicated that they are planning to adopt a
lattice model. Those enterprises include some of the more than 750 enterprises that have
voluntarily adopted expensing of all employee stock options in their audited and certified
financial statements.

The Proposal’s Notice for Recipients contained six issues soliciting comments on the
measurement issues raised by the Proposal, including whether respondents agreed with
the Board’s conclusion “that a lattice model . . . is preferable because it offers greater
flexibility needed to reflect the unique characteristics of employee share options and
similar instruments.” The Board received many comments addressing those issues.

Following the issuance of the Proposal, the Board solicited additional input about the
measurement issues raised by the Proposal, including issues relating to the lattice and
closed-form models, at public and private meetings and in formal and informal
discussions with many valuation and compensation experts and with many users,
auditors, and preparers of public and nonpublic financial reports.

After carefully considering the input received in response to the Proposal, the Board, at a
public meeting, tentatively decided to eliminate the explicit preference in the Proposal for
the lattice model. That decision was based, in part, on the arguments made by some
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respondents that the Proposal’s preferability designation was too prescriptive and might
inhibit the continuing evolution of fair value measurement techniques.

19.  Why has FASB refused to conduct field tests of actual valuation models with
a cross industry sampling of companies?

As indicated in response to question 17, the Board conducted a field visit program with a
broad range of enterprises and many other due process procedures in the development of
the Proposal. As explained in paragraph C43 of the Proposal:

The Board concluded that field visits were an
appropriate means of gathering information about the
perceived costs of the proposed changes to Statement 123,
The Board noted that a field test was conducted before
issuance of Statement 123 and that field tests are more
important for standards that require new methods of
accounting. That is not the situation with this Statement,
which revises the fair-value-based method in Statement 123
rather than requiring an entirely new accounting method.
Further, thousands of public entities have had several years
of experience in developing fair value estimates for their
share-based payment arrangements with employees—
estimates that Statement 123 required for either recognition
or pro forma disclosure purposes.

Examples of the other types of input, data, and evidence that the FASB considered in
developing the Proposal’s measurement guidance include:

» Results of discussions with a variety of parties including the Financial
Accounting Standards Advisory Council, the User Advisory Council, and many
other groups representing preparers of financial reports, and auditors, and
investors, and other users of financial information.

* Results of discussions with many valuation experts and compensation
consultants, including those on the FASB’s Option Valuation Group.

» Results of surveys and discussions with equity-based compensation software
providers.

» Information and views in the many comment letters received in response to the
FASB’s November 2002 Invitation to Comment, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation: A Comparison of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, and Its Related Interpretations, and IASB Proposed
IFRS, Share-based Payment.

*  Work done on this subject by other accounting standard setters, including the
1IASB and the AcSC.
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As indicated in response to question 18, the Proposal’s Notice for Recipients contained
six issues soliciting comments on the measurement issues raised by the Proposal. The
Board received many comments addressing those issues.

Following the issuance of the Proposal, the Board solicited additional input about the
measurement issues raised by the Proposal at public and private meetings and in formal
and informal discussions with many valuation experts and with many users, auditors, and
preparers of financial reports.

After carefully considering the input received in response to the Proposal, the Board, at a
public meeting, tentatively decided that the cost-benefit procedures that have been
conducted by the Board provided a sufficient basis to conclude that the benefits from the
improvements in financial accounting and reporting outweighed the related costs
associated with the application of the Proposal’s provisions, and that additional cost-
benefit procedures, including additional field testing, was not warranted.

The Board’s public redeliberations have resulted in many tentative improvements to the
measurement approach contained in the Proposal. Those improvements are described on
the FASB’s webpage at www fasb.org.

The Board has yet to complete its public redeliberations of the Proposal. Consistent with
the FASB’s Rules of Procedure, the input received on the Proposal will be carefully
considered before the Board makes any final decisions. The Board’s current plans are to
complete its public redeliberations and issue a final standard by year-end.

20.  To what extent is the FASB concerned that the proposed standard, if adopted
as is, will lead to a situation where companies will use a binomial method and some
will use Black-Scholes. Do you believe that investors find it more challenging te
compare financial statements when different companies use different valuation
models?

See response to question 18.

15
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POST-HEARING QUESTIONS
SUBMITTED BY SENATOR JOSEPH 1. LIEBERMAN

Oversight Hearing on Expensing Stock Options: Supporting and Strengthening the
Independence of the Financial Accounting Standards Board

April 20, 2004

U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security

Questions for Chairman Volcker

1. What kind of feedback have you gotten about the IASB’s process for considering
divergent views?

2. I’s my understanding that the [ASB has received several requests that it re-expose its
standard on employee stock options on the ground that a number of key issues were
changed from the original proposal. Yet the Board has refused to re-expose. Why?

3. The European Commission has raised numerous, serious questions about the IASB’s
proposed standard on derivatives — to the point where the Commission refused to adopt
the IASB’s proposal. Is it correct that when the IASB proposes a standard, that is simply
to beginning of a lengthy process of review at the technical, policy and political level?

4. Do you subscribe to the view that the European Commission — or Congress, for that
matter — should stay out of the review process? Would you characterize the
Commission’s involvement as “political interference,” as Chairman Herz and others seek
to characterize congressional interest in the subject of stock options?
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Responses of Paul A. Volcker to Questions of Sepator Lieberman

Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International
Security
U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs

august 17, 2004

1) The Trustees of the IASC Foundation, who are responsible for
oversight of the IASB, are not inveolved in the technical decision-
making of the IASB. It is our responsibility, however, to assure that
the IASB develops its standards through a fair and deliberate
decision-making process.

Under our oversight, the IASB has established “due process”
procedures similar to those of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board {(FASB). In the case of developing its standard on share-based
payments, the IASB provided interested parties with several
opportunities for comment on proposals. This process took over three
years to complete, and the IASB:

» Before beginning its own work in 2001, asked for comment on a
previously released paper, drafted jointly by the G4+1 group of
national standard setters (Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the
United Kingdom, and the United States) and the IASC, the IASB’'s
predecessor. The IRSB received 270 comment letters.

¢ Established an advisory group.

e Held a public roundtable, in New York, to discuss valuation
methodologies

® Publighed an Exposure Draft, on which the IASB received 240
letters.

The IASB finally adopted its standard in February 2004. The
IASB’s decision-making process and the IASB’s standaxd itself has not
been nearly as controversial as that with respect to the proposed FASB
standard.

In terms of formal feedback to the IASC Foundation Trustees, one
organization did request a public hearing on valuation issues and
called for the synchronization of project timetables with the FASB.
Holding public hearings is one option available to the IASB in seeking
public comment, but is not required under the procedures that the
Trusteeg of the IASC Foundation and the IASB approved.

The IASB concluded that an additional round of hearings would not
add much to what had been an intensive process. The Trustees were
satisfied that the IASB followed a rigorous process. The [ASB paid
particular attention to the valuation issue that was raised as the
proposed issue for discussion. As T alluded to above, the IASB
reqgularly consulted with an expert advisory group, comprised of
individuals from the investment, corporate, audit, academic,
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compensation consultancy, valuation and regulatory communities. The
IASB received further assistance from other valuation experts at a
public panel discussion held in New York in July 2002 and also
followed deliberations at the FASB closely.

It is clear not all decisions of the IASB or the FASB will be
universally popular. Experience has indicated that any decision
related to share-based payments will engender criticism. At the end of
the day, standard-setters must be able to make difficult and possibly
controversial decisions. In this case, the Trustees of IASC
Foundation are confident that the IASB worked to reach a well~reasoned
solution to this complex problem.

2} Under the criteria that the IASB uses to determine the need for
re-exposure of a proposed standard, the IASB determined changes made
after the initial Exposure Draft were not so significant to require
re-exposure. The IASB re-exposes issues for public comment only if
they are recommending a2 significant change from the original Exposure
Draft. 1In the final Standard, IASB did not change the three most
important aspects of the Exposure Draft: 1) recognition of an expense
would be mandatory; 2) fair value would be the basis of measurement of
the expense; and 3) the value of shares or share options should be
taken at grant date.

There were some changes made to the more technical aspects of the
standard, but the IASB had already solicited comment on those issues.
For example, IASB technical staff informs me that IASE changed its
initial proposal to adopt the “modified” grant-date accounting
methodology used in the US Standard, SFAS 123 Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation. The change was made in response to respondents'
comments about the practicality of the units of service method. When
the IASB issued its Exposure Draft, the IASB pointed out the
differences between the two methods and asked for respondents’ views
on the different methodologies.

3) It is worth clarifying the status of the IASB'S standard on
financial instruments, IAS 39, and the position of the European
Commission. The IASB’s predecessor adopted IAS 39, and many
companies, including large financial institutions in Furope, have used
the standard since January 2000, the effective date for the standard.
IAS 39 is similar to the US standard, SFAS 133.

When the IASB came into existence in 2001, it adopted all of the
standards of its predecessor, including IAS 39. At the same time, the
IASB recognized that the standard was complex and that implementation
could be improved with some amendments and this began a discussion
regarding the scope and substance of the improvements.
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During this “improvements” process, initiated in 2001, the
European Union decided to commit, in principle, to adopt the IASB's
standards. However, consistent with the EU’s legal requixements, the
EU established a system for endorsement of the IASB’s standards into
European law. This process is separate from the IASB's due procegs,
only applies to FU Member-States, and does not have a direct bearing
on the accounting rules of other countries (now totaling nearly 70)
requiring or permitting the use of international accounting standards.

The combination of the IASB’s initiating its round of
improvements and the EU’s decision to adopt the IASB's standards
clearly focused attention not only on the limited amendments being
proposed on IAS 39, but on IAS 39 and the issue of fair value
accounting more generally. Opposition to IAS 39's requirements has
been strongest among some of the EU’s financial institutions. Because
the standards have to be formally approved by the European Commission
for use in the EU beginning in 2005, those who obiject to elements of
IAS 39, as “improved,” have strongly urged the European Commission to
withhold approval.

The IASB has worked closely with those in the banking community,
the European Commission, and others to address these concerns, has
made some tachnical amendments, and bas provided explanatory materials
and presentation clarifications. This has been done while maintaining
the integrity of the principles involved. At the same time, the IASB
recognized the need to bring closure to the debate so that there could
be certainty before January 1, 2005, the European Union mandatory
requirement date. Ffor that reason, the TASB adopted its improved 1AS
39 in Maxch 2004. 1In response to the discussions, one limited
proposed amendment on the so-called “fair value option” remains
outstanding.

This has been an extraordinary effort to reach the widest degree
of consensus possible consistent with the basic need for exposure of
the value of financial instruments. There is no doubt that IAS 39
touches vpon broader issues of the extent and practicality of fair
value accounting for some businesses. Consequently, the IASB has
emphasized its desire for intensive discussions with the affected
parties on the underlying questions over the next year or two. In
general, publication of an Exposure Draft is designed to elicit a
proceas of comments as to the proposal’s application, as well as any
remaining questions of policy and principle. Given the process of
consultation before the Exposure Draft, normally this comment period
will be limited. One of the responsibilities of the Trustees is to
insulate the IASB from political pressures.

Meanwhile, the IASB firmly believes that IAS 39 provides a
workable transitional model, broadly converged with the United States
and ready for adoption. The question before the European Commission
is now whether it wishes to require the use of IAS 39, in whole or in
part, by EU companies in 2005.
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4) Before I respond directly to the questions, I would emphasize
that my interest in accounting standard-setting and the reason behind
my involvement with the IASB is my desire to have convergence of
accounting standards internationally. As the world’s capital markets
integrate, the logic of a single set of accounting standards is
evident. A single set of international standards will enhance
comparability of financial information and should make the allocation
of capital across more efficient. The develaopment and acceptance of
international standards should also reduce compliance costs for
corporations and improve consistency in audit gquality.

In response to your gquestions regarding “political interference”,
I would repeat what I said in my written testimony. Sheer political
pressures in a national context will not, and cannot, lead to either
consistency or quality. The net result of politicized national
decisions would be to weaken, perhaps irreparably, one of the
foundation stones of effective accounting practices in a rapidly
globalizing world economy.

In both the United States and internatiocnally, we have
established systems that delegate the difficult decisions of
accounting standards to a group of professionals, under the oversight
of 3 representative body of Trustees committed to the public interest.
As a Trustee of the IASC Foundation, it is the responsibility of my
colleagues and me to ensure that the decision of the IASB is taken
with due care, only after extensive consultation, and using the
Board’s best professional judgment.

This is a carefully conceived process. 1 recognize that both in
the United States and in the European Union, there are lawful
procedures by which the SEC or the European Commission is able to deny
approval of a proposed standard. But to make accounting standards
subject to raw pelitical pressures in legislative bodies would, I
believe, undercut all that is being achieved toward convergence in
accounting standards around the world, a key ingredient of a well
functioning system of international finance.
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R.G. Associates, Inc.
Investment Research/ Investment Management
201 N. Charles Street, Suite 806
Baltimore, MD 21201
Jack T. Ciesielski, CPA, CFA Phone: (410)783-0672
President Fax: (410)783-0687

August 3, 2004

Senator Joseph Lieberman
706 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, DC 20510

Senator Lieberman,

1 understand that you have some questions relating to my testimony at the Oversight Hearing on Expensing
Stock Options. To the best of my ability, I have answered them below.

1. Ina comment letter you submitted to FASB in Junuary 2003, you endorsed putting the volatility input at zero
when using an oprion pricing model to value employee stock options. Why do you believe that stock price volatility
should be set at zero?

My January 2003 remarks to the FASB’s “Invitation to Comment” have been taken completely out of
context. At that time, I did not believe that stock price volatility should be set at zero without concurrently using
the full contractual life of the option in the valuation process. That way, the full time value contained in the option
given to the employee is being accounted for. This was a key component of what [ proposed.

In that letter, | refer to recalculations of the option grant fair values for 236 companies in the S&P 500 in
accordance with the suggested methodology. These were the companies in the index whose footnotes contained
sufficient disclosures to permit recalculation. Note that 10% of the firms showed an increase in the fair value of
their options versus the Black-Scholes method.

When faced with new information that contradicts a held belief, it is illogical to defend an incorrect belief.
Since I wrote that letter, | have found that my proposed method has a flaw. A firm could manipulate the option
value to always equal zero simply by issuing options bearing a strike price that increases each year at the same rate
as the discount rate. My hope was to present a methodology that would eliminate such flawed results, but my
January 2003 proposal was not robust enough.

Note also that 1 responded to the FASB’s exposure draft, “Share-Based Payment” in June of this year, which
was a draft of an actual standard and not simply an “invitation to comment.” (An invitation to comment is an
opportunity to trade ideas and thoughts on accounting matters; an exposure draft of a proposed standard matters
much more when it comes to setting accounting standards. The former is tantamount to a theoretjcal brainstorming
session,; the latter is similar to drafting legisfation that will have real effects.) In my June comment letter, 1 did nor
endorse the model I proposed in January 2003. Below, an excerpt from the letter which conveys my more current
thinking about the FASB proposal:

Universality. The standard must produce the same results for instruments that are of the same substance, and
not provide reporting exemptions for certain stock based instruments that are equity instruments, 1 speak of the situation with
fixed price stock options granted to employees, for which the retated compensation has gone unrecorded by the vast majority
of firms. An effective standard would require that these instruments be valued at the grant date and their expense be recorded
as the employees earn the rights to the instruments. Instruments given to non-employees deserve the same treatment.

Usefulness to users. Those who use financial statements have a certain burden upon them to be sophisticated enough
in finance to understand just what it is that they’re reading, While there are times that [ would prefer to be a brain surgeon
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instead of a financial analyst, I know that brain surgery is a difficult subject that cannot be “dumbed down’ to 1 level that |
might be able to grasp. So it is with stock-based compensation: by nature the compensation packages awarded are complex
structures, and valuing them and recording them in the financial statements wili not be as simple a transaction to report and
discuss as would be, for instance, the purchase of goods for cash consideration...

1 believe the FASB has fulfilled these criteria in its exposure draft. For the first time, companies will be universally
required to account for employee stock options like the equity instruments that they are - and will merit the same kind of
expense recognition as other equity instruments like restricted stock. This standard should go far toward improving the
consi y and rep tational faithfulness of financial statements.

In a brainstorming session, I floated an idea that might improve financial reporting, and I later found it to
be flawed. In drafting a real standard, I supported the FASB’s plan as proposed.

2. What are the ramifications of not setting volatility at zero? What are the downsides, in other words, of requiring
companies to estimate volatility?

I believe that there are no direct ramifications of “not setting volatility at zero.” The only downside to having
companies estimate volatility is that they might calculate - and rationalize - volatility inputs that are more favorable
than others.

Does that mean the model presented by the FASB is unworkable? Absolutely not. Given sufficient
information about the volatility estimate, market participants should be able to evaluate the reasonableness of such
estimates and make their own judgments. I believe the current FASB proposal provides sufficient information.

3. Do you think stock price volatility is the most difficult thing to estimate when option pricing models are used?

In terms of the various inputs to option pricing models, stock price volatility takes the most effort to
calculate, but it is not “difficult” to estimate. An undergraduate student, having completed Statistics 101, could
calculate it with a spreadsheet and access to stock prices on Yahoo!

4. FASB has not agreed with your recommendation to set volatility at zero, correct?

I commend FASB for not agreeing with my January 2003 recommendation to set volatility at zero. As my
June 2004 letter implies, 1 believe they have a better idea in their exposure draft,

5. Do you think they will reconsider their valuation approach during the comment period and adopt a final
standard that allows for setting volatility at zero? Should they?

[ do not think FASB will reconsider the valuation approach [ suggested, nor should they. As I stated in my
answer to question 1, I believe the approach I suggested can be manipulated to yield results (zero values) that do
not represent anything close to an estimated fair value for option grants. Any approach that yields such a result
should not be institutionalized in a standard, in my view.

6. If a company uses the Black-Scholes method or a binomial method, is it correct that they will be required to
estimate volatility?

If a company uses the Black-Scholes or binomial method, they will be required to estimate volatility,

7. If, as you said inyour January 2003 comment letter, that the “right” volatility input can be “whatever one wants
it fo be,” how reliable do you think the stock option expense numbers will be if companies are required to use a
pricing model that requires them 1o estimate volatility?

While companies certainly may manipulate volatility inputs to be “whatever one wanis it to be,” | believe
that there are enough market participants who possess enough discriminatory ability to detect when gamesmanship
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has occurred if they are provided sufficient information about the inputs.

Companies have their reputation at stake when they publish financial statements; the disclosures surrounding
the volatility estimates should provide market participants with the information to keep companies honest. If firms
try to manipulate the volatility estimates, they’ll risk losing their reputational capital. In the post-Enron era,
reputational capital matters a great deal. Incidentally, Enron was a company where testimony by former executive
Jeffrey Skilling indicates that his judgments were warped by the lack of investor visibility about stock options.

8. Do you think stock option expense estimates would be more correct using zero volatility, or more correct when
companies are required, in every instance, to predict stock price volatility?

To quote John Maynard Keynes, I would rather be vaguely right than exactly wrong. Using a model where
companies are required to estimate volatility in order to arrive at an estimate of option fair value corresponds to
“vaguely right.” Using a model where companies always employ zero volatility and can always arrive at a zero
value for an estimate of options value is exactly wrong.

That said, I'd prefer a model that requires companies to estimate their volatility,

9. Let’s assume a company issues 10,000 employee stock options today, and let’s also assume that each of the
options, for any number of reasons, is never exercised. Let's also assume that a new rule requiring the expensing
of all options at grant date is into effect. Do you believe the company has incurred a cost for those 10,000 options?
If so, what is the cost and how would you calculate it?

In a world where expensing of stock options s the rule, a company issuing options that are never exercised
has still incurred a cost. The successful exercise of stock options is not what determines the cost to the issuer. The
issuer receives services from employees in return for options; it’s simply another form of remuneration. The options
are equity instruments that have a value at the time of grant; they're a form of currency that employees accept for
rendering their service. The company could issue them for payment of external goods or services, and their
estimated value would be recorded. The same should be true for options granted to employees.

The fact that the options are not exercised simply means that the employees would have been better off had
they been paid in cash.

10. How can it be that the company incurred a cost for those 10,000 options when they were granted? Did any cash
leave the company? Was any employee ever able 10 buy anything with the options they received?

The company incurred a cost for those options when they were issued because they are a resource of the
firm. They have a value, just like the options traded on exchanges every day - most of which go unexercised. The
employees may not “buy anything with the options they received,” but that's not what makes it an expense. To be
an expense, cash does not have 1o leave a company. A simple example: a firm buys a machine that is used to
produce books. The form of currency used to pay for the machine is a grant of non-tradeable options, and the
estimated value of the options is recorded as the cost of the machine. Whether the machine-seller successfully
exercises the options is not known to the purchaser, nor does it make a difference for the purchaser to record the
economics of what has transpired; it knows it has spent resources to acquire a production input, and it has recorded
that expenditure of resources.The machine is expected to produce books over the next three years and it is
depreciated evenly over the next three years as it produces books. The depreciation expense is not a cash expense -
but it is a component of the income stream related to the machine. The books are sold each year and the depreciation
expense of the machine is matched against it. The management of the firm that made the machinery investment is
not faisely lulled into believing that they are producing revenue out of thin air: the non-cash expense associated with
the machinery makes them aware of the net costs of production. Note that no cash left the firm in either acquiring
the machine or in depreciating the machine - and management knows their costs better than if they had ignored the
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cost of the machine because it paid for it with options.

To say that options granted to employees have no value denigrates the workers receiving them, for it is
equivalent to saying that the value of their services is zero.
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[ hope that my answers help you. If you have any other questions, don't hesitate to contact me. Best regards.
Sincerely,

&&u Cite

Jack Ciesielski

jeiesietski@accountingobserver.com
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